Department of Radiation Biology



FACULTY OF HEALTH AND MEDICAL SCIENCES UNIVERSITY OF COPENHAGEN

PhD thesis Karina Kristoffersen, MSc

A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme

"In questions of science, the authority of a thousand is not worth the humble reasoning of a single individual"

Galileo Galilei

Author

Karina Kristoffersen, MSc Human Biology Department of Radiation Biology, Finsen Center Copenhagen University Hospital, Section 6321 Blegdamsvej 9, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark e-mail: karina.kristoffersen@mail.com

Supervised by

Hans Skovgaard Poulsen, MD, DMSc (Head Supervisor) Department of Radiation Biology Copenhagen University Hospital, Denmark

Marie-Thérése Stockhausen, MSc, PhD Department of Radiation Biology Copenhagen University Hospital, Denmark

Ulrik Lassen, MD, PhD Department of Oncology Copenhagen University Hospital, Denmark

Opponents

Mikael Rørth, Professor, MD, DMSc (Chairperson) Section of Surgery and Internal Medicine Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Michael Horsman, Professor, PhD, DMSc Department of Clinical Medicine Department of Experimental Clinical Aarhus University, Denmark

Håkan Axelson, Professor, PhD Department of Laboratory Medicine Lund University, Sweden

Submitted

March 27th, 2013; to the Graduate school of the Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Public Defense

October 7th, 2013; at Auditorium 2, Copenhagen University Hospital, Denmark

Preface

This thesis, entitled "A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme" is submitted to the Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences at the University of Copenhagen, Denmark, in order to fulfill the requirements for obtaining the PhD degree in health and medical science.

The work was carried out in the period from January 2010 to March 2013 under the supervision of Principal Supervisor, Head of Department, MD, DMSc Hans Skovgaard Poulsen, Project Supervisor MSc, PhD Marie- Thérése Stockhausen, at the Department of Radiation Biology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Denmark, and Co-Supervisor MD, PhD Ulrik Lassen, Department of Oncology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Denmark.

The majority of the experiments were conducted at the Department of Radiation Biology, The Finsen Center, Copenhagen University Hospital. The animal experiments were carried out at the Department of Experimental Medicine, The Faculty of Health and Medical Science, University of Copenhagen. The flow cytometric analyses were conducted at the Bartholin Institute, Copenhagen University Hospital. The immunohistochemical staining were performed at the Erler Group, the Biotech Research & Innovation Centre, University of Copenhagen, with technical assistance from the Department of Neuropathology, Copenhagen University Hospital. Finally, the global gene expression experiments and analyses were conducted at the Center for Genomic Medicine, Copenhagen University Hospital.

Financial support was received from The Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Copenhagen (211-0610/09-3012); The Danish Cancer Society; Dansk Kraeftforsknings Fond; Kong Christian den Tiendes Fond; Civilingenioer Frode V. Nyegaard og Hustrus Fond; Harboefonden; Danish Graduate School in Clinical Oncology; and Copenhagen University Hospital.

Acknowledgement

There are a number of people who have been important to me during my PhD-project and to whom I would like to express my sincere gratitude:

Hans for giving me the opportunity to perform my PhD studies at the Department of Radiation Biology, for his continuous supervision and support ever since I performed my master's thesis at his department and for encouraging me to present my work at international meetings, and introducing me to his enormous scientific network.

Marie for being my ever supporting supervisor throughout the years. For sharing her endless knowledge, for consolation when I needed comforting, for pushing when I needed to be pushed, for agreeing *and* disagreeing with me, for getting exited on my behalf, for seeing the bigger picture and still keeping a sense of perspective and for always having time for a scientific discussion despite of maternity leaves, crying babies and 117 other students and projects also demanding her time. This thesis would not have seen the day without her!

Ulrik for stepping in as a supervisor, even though the project was out of his field of expertise, for answering urgent mails at obscure hours where I thought only PhD students writing together their thesis were awake and for being a very experienced AACR and Chicago tour guide.

Frederik for many years of being my confidential study- and office mate, always available for discussing big and small issues regarding science, life, the universe and everything.

Mette K for being head over heel helpful and for making the many many hours in the stable and PET-basement not always spin around science.

Mette V and *Pia* for their technical guidance, for their pedagogical answers to, sometimes very basic, technical questions and for boosting my laboratory self-confidence letting me know that even they, on rare occasions, can make mistakes and off curse for making the laboratory run smoothly. I am moreover especially grateful to *Mette V* for her valuable experimental help during the last part of my PhD studies.

Babloo for stepping in at the 11th hour helping with the immunohistochemical staining, when every other options were emptied and *Helle* for shearing her immunohistochemical expertise helping with the evaluations.

Additional past and present colleagues at Department of Radiation Biology: *Benedikte*, *Alice*, *Camilla*, *Roza*, *Thomas T*, *Chris*, *Torben*, *Kirsten*, *Signe*, *Louise and Thomas U* for creating a scientific, supportive and social atmosphere during the daily work and for many collegial gatherings outside of the laboratory walls such as Christmas parties, DHL (I know you think I hated it – but it was only the running part), X-factor nights, barbecues or just a general afternoon or night out with you guys. Thank you for five fantastic years at "Strålelab" and for nursing me through the first part of my academic life - I will miss you!

Family and friends, I love you, simply for being there, supporting me and putting up with my narrow and preoccupied mind in particular the last couple of months. Just because you're not mentioned doesn't mean you are forgotten ©

"Tegnefilmsklubben": *Mette* \emptyset , *Susanne*, *Rikke*, *Gedske*, *Mette J* and *Mette A* for keeping in touch and always providing good company and gossip. In particular I need to thank *Mette* \emptyset , for being the smartest person I know, for our many "coffee"-dates and for being my friend in every sense.

My oldest friend *Lene*, for being there when I needed it the most.

My brother *Klaus*, for above providing invaluable IT-support also act as my personal dictionary, when my own dictionary failed to understand me, and for being supporting in his very own way.

My *mom* and *dad*, for their endless support, their whole-hearted faith in me and for dropping whatever in their hands to help me with everything from furniture shopping to renovating my bathroom.

And last but defiantly not least, my love *Lasse*, for accepting being left home alone in a new house at many late hours and still have the dinner ready when I got home. For taking care of me and for keeping me in touch with the world outside especially during the thesis writing process and for bringing the light back into my life.

I am also very grateful for the financial support from The Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Copenhagen who provided me with a PhD-scolarship and The Danish Cancer Society; Dansk Kraeftforsknings Fond; Kong Christian den Tiendes Fond; Civilingenioer Frode V. Nyegaard og Hustrus Fond; Harboefonden; Danish Graduate School in Clinical Oncology; and Copenhagen University Hospital who supporting my daily research and meeting attendance.

To you all: THANK YOU

Karina Kristoffersen Copenhagen, March 2013

List of papers

This thesis consists of four original manuscripts included in the results section and one review and one book chapter not included in the book edition of the thesis. The manuscripts are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Marie-Thérése Stockhausen, Helle Broholm, Mette Villingshøj, Maria Kirchhoff, Tommy Gerdes, <u>Karina Kristoffersen</u>, Michael Kosteljanetz, Mogens Spang-Thomsen and Hans Skovgaard Poulsen: "Maintenance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expression in an *in vivo* and *in vitro* model of human glioblastoma multiforme". *Experimental Cell Research*, 317(11): 1513-26, 2011
- **II** Marie-Thérése Stockhausen, <u>Karina Kristoffersen</u>, Marie-Louise Stobbe Olsen and Hans Skovgaard Poulsen: "Differentiation of human glioblastoma multiforme stemlike cells leads to down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII expression and decreased tumorigenic and stem-like cell potential". *Submitted*.
- III <u>Karina Kristoffersen</u>, Mette Villingshøj, Marie-Thérése Stockhausen, Hans Skovgaard Poulsen: "Level of Notch activation determines the effect on growth and stem cell-like features in glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cultures". *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 14(7): 625-37, 2013
- IV <u>Karina Kristoffersen</u>, Mette Kjølhede Nedergaard, Mette Villingshøj, Rehannah Borup, Andreas Kjær, Hans Skovgaard Poulsen and Marie-Thérése Stockhausen: " Inhibition of Notch signaling alters the phenotype of orthotopic tumors formed from glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cells but does not hamper intracranial tumor growth". Submitted.

Marie-Thérése Stockhausen, <u>Karina Kristoffersen</u>, and Hans Skovgaard Poulsen: "The functional role of Notch signaling in human gliomas". *Neuro-Oncology*, 12(2): 199-211, 2010. (Not included in this edition)

Marie-Thérése Stockhausen, <u>Karina Kristoffersen</u>, and Hans Skovgaard Poulsen: "Notch signaling in brain tumors". Book chapter in: Reichrath J, Reichrath S red., "Notch signaling in embryology and cancer". *Landes Bioscience*, s. 289-304, 2012. (Not included in this edition)

Dansk resumé

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) er den mest almindelige og aggressive hjernetumor hos voksne, med en median overlevelse for nydiagnosticerede GBM patienter på under 1,5 år. Trods en intensiv indsats i behandlingen, vil langt de fleste patienter opleve tilbagefald, og en stor del af forskningen i dag er derfor rettet mod nye molekylære og cellulære targets, der kan forbedre prognosen for GBM patienter. Et sådant target er de hjernecancer stamcelle-lignende celler (hCSC), som menes at være ansvarlige for tumor-initiering, -progression, behandlingsresistens og i sidste ende tilbagefald. hCSC identificeres på baggrund af deres lighed med normale neurale stamceller (NSC) og deres tumorigene potentiale. Som det er tilfældet for NSC, menes den epidermale vækstfaktor-receptor (EGFR) og Notch receptor signalering at være vigtig for opretholdelse af hCSC. På den baggrund udgør disse signaleringsveje et lovende target i en fremtidig anti-hCSC GBM behandling.

Det overordnede formål med dette PhD-projekt har været, at undersøge den funktionelle rolle af EGFR og Notch aktivitet i hCSCs stamcelle-lignende egenskaber og tumorigene potentiale med henblik på at uddybe vores viden omkring disse signaleringsveje i hCSC populationen i GBM.

Ved at etablere og dyrke humane GBM xenograft celler under NSC forhold opnåede vi neurosfære kulturer, der indeholdt celler med stamcelle-lignende og tumorigene egenskaber. Endvidere karakteriserede vi de forskellige kulturer baseret på deres ekspressionsniveau af EGFR og Notch receptoren samt ekspression af den muterede receptor EGFRvIII, en ekspression, der blev opretholdt fra patientmateriale til xenograft tumorer og cellekulturer. I en kultur, der overudtrykte EGFR samt udtrykte EGFRvIII, fandt vi, at EGFR inhibering førte til differentiering, mens forceret differentiering førte til nedregulering af EGFR og EGFRvIII. Derudover viste vi, at EGFR/EGFRvIII nedregulering, enten som følge af forceret differentiering eller EGFR inhibering resulterede i nedsat in vitro tumorigent og stamcelle-lignende potentiale. I kulturer, der udtrykte højt niveau af Notch-1 receptoren, fandt vi, at Notch inhibering nedsatte det in vitro tumorigene potentiale, mens det af de stamcelle-lignende egenskaber, kun var den primære sfære formation, der blev hæmmet. Kulturer med lav Notch ekspression blev ikke påvirket af Notch inhiberingen. Omvendt fandt vi, at kunstig aktivering af Notch signaleringen resulterede i øget in vitro tumorigent potentiale samt indikationer på et øget stamcelle-lignende potentiale i alle kulturer. Sammenlagt tyder disse in vitro resultater på, at aktiv EGFR og Notch signalering er vigtig for at opretholde hCSC populationens stamcelle-lignende og tumorigene potentiale. Da vi testede effekten af Notch inhibering på intrakraniel tumorvækst, observerede vi ikke øget overlevelse for mus injiceret med Notch-inhiberede celler, uanset cellernes oprindelige Notch aktivitet. Vi fandt imidlertid, at tumorer etableret fra kulturer med højt Notch udtryk og behandlet med en Notch inhibitor havde øget angiogent potentiale og en tendens til øget differentiering. Slutteligt fandt vi, at de neurosfære kulturer, der har været brugt i dette projekt, kunne yderligere karakteriseres på baggrund af deres globale gen-ekspressionsprofil, og at denne profil, i nogen grad, kunne korreleres med respons på Notch inhiberende behandling.

På baggrund af de, i dette projekt, opnåede resultater, mener vi, at det er muligt at targetere hCSC populationen ved hjælp af EGFR og/eller Notch inhibering og fremtidige studier vil vise om antihCSC behandling kombineret med den nuværende behandling kan forbedre prognosen for GBM patienter der udtrykker en specifik gen-ekspressionsprofil.

English summary

Glioblastoma Multiforme (GBM) is the most common and aggressive brain tumor in adults with a median survival for newly diagnosed GBM patients at less than 1.5 year. Despite intense treatment efforts the vast majority of patients will experience relapse and much research today is therefore searching for new molecular and cellular targets that can improve the prognosis for GBM patients. One such target is the brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC) that are believed to be responsible for tumor initiation, progression, treatment resistance and ultimately relapse. bCSC are identified based on their resemblance to normal neural stem cells (NSC) and their tumorigenic potential. Like for NSC, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and Notch receptor signaling pathways are believed to be important for the maintenance of bCSC. These pathways as such present promising targets in a future anti-bCSC GBM treatment.

The overall aim of the present PhD project has been to study the functional role of EGFR and Notch activity in bCSCs stem cell-like features and tumorigenic potential with the purpose of deepen our knowledge about the significance of these pathways in the bCSC population in GBM.

By establishing and culturing human derived GBM xenograft cells under NSC conditions we obtained neurosphere cultures that contained cells with stem cell-like and tumorigenic properties. We moreover characterized the different cultures based on their expression level of the EGFR and Notch receptor as well as the expression of the mutant receptor EGFRvIII, an expression that was maintained from patient material to the xenograft tumors and cell cultures. In a culture expressing EGFR and EGFRvIII we found that EGFR inhibition induced differentiation, while forced differentiation led to down-regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII. In addition, we showed that EGFR/EGFRvIII down regulation either as a result of induced differentiation or EGFR inhibition led to decreased *in vitro* tumorigenic and stem cell-like potential. In cultures expressing high levels of the Notch-1 receptor we found that Notch inhibition decreased the in vitro tumorigenic potential while, of the stem cell features, only the primary sphere forming potential was inhibited. Cultures with low Notch expression were not affected by Notch inhibition. In opposite, we found that artificial Notch activation resulted in increased in vitro tumorigenic potential along with indications of increased stem cell-like potential in all cultures. Taken together, these in vitro results suggest that EGFR and Notch activity are important for maintaining the stem cell-like and tumorigenic potential of the bCSC population. When we tested the effect of Notch inhibition on intracranial tumor growth, we did not observe increased survival for mice injected with Notch inhibited cells regardless of the cells initial Notch activity. However, we found that tumors grown from high Notch expressing cultures treated with a Notch inhibitor displayed augmented angiogenic potential and a tendency to increased differentiation. Finally, we found that the neurosphere cultures used in this project could be further characterized based on their global gene expression profile and that this profile, to some degree could be correlated with response to Notch inhibitory treatment.

Based on the results obtained throughout this thesis project, we suggest that targeting a bCSC population by EGFR and/or Notch inhibition is feasible and future studies might prove if anti-bCSC therapy in combination with conventional therapy can improve the prognosis for GBM patients displaying a specific gene expression profile.

Abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
AKT	"AK" was a temporary classification name for a mouse strain developing spontaneous thymic lymphomas. "T" stands for transforming, also known as protein kinase B (PKB)
AML	acute myeloid leukemia
APL	acute promyelocytic leukemia
ASLV	avian sarcoma-leukosis virus (-A)
ATCC	american type culture collection
ATP	adenosine triphosphat
BBB	blood brain barrier
bCSC	brain cancer stem-like cells
bFGF	basic fibroblastic growth factor
bHLH	basic helix-loop-helix
CDKN2A	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A
CoA	co-activator complex
CoR	co-repressor complexes
crh	chromosome
CSL	CBF, Suppressor of Hairless, LAG-1; also referred to as RBP-Jĸ
Dlk-1	delta-like ligand-1
Dll	delta-like
D. Melanogaster	Drosophila Melanogaster
DMEM	dulbecco's modified eagle medium
EC	endothelial cell
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
ErbB/HER	avian homolog erythroblastic leukemia viral (v-erb-b) oncogene, human homolog named HER
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FCS	fetal calf serum
FDG	2-deoxy-2- ¹⁸ F-flouro-D-glucose
FET	O-(2-[F]flouroethyl)-L-tyrosine
FLT	¹⁸ F-3'-fluoro-3'-deoxy-L-thymidine
Gab1	Grb2-associated protein 1
Grb2	Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2
GBM	glioblastoma multiforme
GDP	guanine dophosphate
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GSI	γ-secretase inhibitor
GTP	guanine triphosphate
HAT	histone acethyltransferase
Hash	human achaete-scute homologue

HB-EGF	heparin binding EGF-like growth factor
HDAC	histone deacetylase
Hes	hairy/enhancer of split
Hey	hairy/enhancer of split related with YRPW motif protein
<i>i.v.</i>	intravenously
ICN	intracellular Notch domain
ICN-1	intracellular Notch-1
IDH	isocitrate dehydrogenase
IHC	immunohistochemistry
Jag	jagged
LIF	leukemia inhibitory growth factor
LOH	loss of heterozygosity
loxP	locus of X-over P1
mAbs	monoclonal antobody (chimeric)
MAML	mastermind-like
MAPK	mitogen activated protein kinase, also named ERK
Mash	mammalian achaete-scute homologue
MEK	MAPK/ERK kinase
MGMT	O-6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase
miR	micro-RNA
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NB	neurobasal media with defined additives
NES	nestin
NF1:	neurofibromin 1
NMRI-nu	spontaneous mutant t-cell deficient mice
NSC	neurol stem cells
OX	orthotopic xenograft
PBT	primary brain tumor
PDGF:	platelet derived growth factor
PDK1	3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase-1
PET	positron emission tomography
PI3-K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PIP-2	phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate
PIP-3	phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate
РКВ	protein kinase B
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
RA	all-trans-retinoic acid
RAF	serine/threonine kinase
RAS	GTPase
RCAS	replication competent ASLV long terminal repeat with splice acceptor
RNAi	RNA interference

RT	radiation therapy
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
SCID	severe combined immunodeficiency (spontaneous mutant T & B cell deficient mice)
SHH	sonic hedgehog
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SVZ	subventricular zone
SOS	son of sevenless
SX	subcutanous xenograft
T-ALL	acute T cell lymphoblastic leukemia
TCGA	the cancer genome atlas
TGF-α	transforming growth factor a
TKI	tyrosine kinase inhibito
TMZ	Temodal®, temozolamide
TVA	member of the low-density-lipoprotein receptor family, encoded by the <i>tv-a</i> gene and acts as the receptor for ASLV-A in avian cells
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitor
VZ	ventricular zone
WB	western blot
WHO	world health organization

Table of contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Background	2
2.1 Glioblastoma Multiforme	
2.1.1 GBM sub-types and intratumoral heterogeneity	3
2.2 Glioblastoma Multiforme models	6
2.2.1 In vitro models	6
2.2.2 In vivo models	8
2.3 Brain cancer stem-like cells	10
2.3.1 Development of the CNS	10
2.3.2 Definition and origin of bCSC	10
2.3.3 Role in GBM	11
2.3.4 Implication in treatment of GBM	12
2.4 EGFR signaling	13
2.4.1 The pathway	14
2.4.2 Mutations of EGFR and downstream mediators	16
2.4.3 Inhibitors and clinical implications for GBM	17
2.5 Notch signaling	19
2.5.1 The canonical pathway	19
2.5.2 The role of Notch in normal development.	21
2.5.3 Notch in GBM and bCSC	
3. Aim of the project	26
4. Results - Manuscript I	27
5. Results - Manuscript II	42
6. Results - Manuscript III	69
7. Results - Manuscript IV	87
8. Summarizing discussion and perspectives	117
8.1 Establishing and characterizing an in vivo/in vitro model of glioblastoma multiforme	117
8.1.1 Establishing an experimental GBM model	118
8.1.2 Characterization of GBM neurosphere cultures	120
8.1.3 Going back in vivo – can differences in the cultures explain differences in growth pattern?	121
8.1.4 Visualizing the orthotopic GBM model	123
8.2 Studying the role of EGFR and Notch signaling in bCSC	125
8.2.1 Expression of EGFR and Notch in the in vivo/in vitro GBM model	126
8.2.2 Are there similarities between the role of EGFR and Notch in the in vitro model?	128
8.2.3 Functional role of Notch in the in vivo model	132

8.3 Perspectives - combination of targeted therapy	
8.3.1 EGFR-Notch interactions	
8.3.2 Implementation in the clinic	
9. Conclusion	
10. References	
Appendix 1a: Glioma gene expression in NB cultures	157
Appendix 1b: Glioma gene expression in DMSO and DAPT treated cultures.	158
Appendix 2a: Notch pathway gene expression in NB-cultures	159
Appendix 2b: Notch pathway gene expression in DMSO and DAPT treated cultures	
Appendix 3: Neurogenesis gene expression in NB- cultures.	
Appendix 4: Bio-luminescence detection of an intracranial xenograft tumor	
Co-Author Declarations	

1. Introduction

Brain tumors are among the most lethal malignancies in adults. They can be of primary-, intracranial origin, or secondary-, metastatic origin. Primary brain tumors (PBT) are classified according to the World Health Organization (WHO) as either low-grade (non-anaplastic, WHO Grades I-II) or high-grade (anaplastic, WHO Grades III-IV). PBT are mainly of neuroepithelial (neuroectoderm) origin and are traditionally distinguished based on their histological appearance of which gliomas is the most common PBT (50-70%) with a yearly incidence of approximately 5.5/100,000 in western countries^{4,5}. Gliomas include oligodendrogliomas, mixed oligoastrocytomas, ependymomas and astrocytomas, whereof the most malignant form, the astrocytic glioblastoma multiforme (GBM, WHO Grade IV) accounts for approximately 70% of all high-grade gliomas⁴. In Denmark 900-1000 people are affected with PBT every year, 50% are gliomas and of them, approximately 260 are GBM^{6,7}. In western countries the yearly incidence of GBM is 3.5/100,000⁴ and the incidence has been increasing since the 1960s, probably due to refined diagnostic tools⁸. Treatment of GBM today consists of debulking surgery followed by chemo- and radiotherapy⁹. But despite this multimodal treatment the vast majority of patients experience relapse¹⁰, thus GBM is still considered incurable and new treatments are in urgent need.

Today, much anti-GBM research is focusing on finding new targets that play a role in tumor formation and relapse. One such target is the so called brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC). They are a population of cancer cells that shows great resemblance to normal neural stem cells (NSC)^{11,12} and display resistance towards standard chemo- and radiation therapy^{13,14}. They furthermore harbor angiogenic potential and tumorigenic ability¹⁵⁻¹⁷. One way to target the bCSC population could be through pathways known to be important for the normal NSC. Examples of these are the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and Notch signaling pathways which have been shown to play a role in both NSC and bCSC. EGFR is expressed in NSC, where it is involved in the activation of several downstream intracellular signaling pathways, which in turn regulate multiple cellular processes, such as proliferation, migration and survival¹⁸. Notch signaling is mediated through the Notch receptors, that likewise are expressed in NSC and is believed to influence the balance between the normal NSC pool and its differentiated progeny¹⁹. Both pathways have been found aberrantly activated in GBM²⁰⁻²² and EGFR mutations and over expression are furthermore hallmarks of GBM^{23,24}. Recent data moreover suggest that the EGFR and Notch signaling pathways play a role in bCSC growth and survival^{25,26}. As such, the EGFR and Notch signaling pathways present interesting targets for bCSC directed therapy for GBM and in the present thesis project we have therefore focused on further dissecting the role of these pathways in bCSC.

2. Background

2.1 Glioblastoma Multiforme

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) can develop as secondary GBM from lower grade gliomas or arise as *de novo* primary GBM that accounts for 95% of all GBM⁴. As it is a neurological tumor the symptoms vary greatly, with the most common being paresis and aphasia^{27,28}, but also include headaches, seizures, cognitive or personality changes, eye weakness and nausea or vomiting²⁷⁻²⁹. However, development of high intracranial pressure is the most threatening feature of GBM²⁸. GBM is diagnosed histologically based on the high grade of cytological atypia, anaplasia, mitotic activity, necrosis and microvascular proliferation³⁰ (Figure 1A and B). The tumor is often located in the cerebral hemispheres with occasionally contralateral invasion and in association to the lateral ventricles and the basal ganglia^{28,31,32} (Figure 1C) and due to the very invasive growth pattern total resection is often not possible³³. The standard treatment today, known as the "Stupp-regime", consists of debulking surgery, followed by radiotherapy (RT) plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide (TMZ, Temodal®, an alkylating agent)^{34,35}. When RT was introduced to the standard treatment in the late 1970s, the survival of GBM patients improved for the first time, and in 2005, when Stupp published the addition of TMZ, the median survival further increased from 12.1 months to 14.6 months³⁴ and the five year overall survival from 1.9% to 9.8%³⁵ (and reviewed in Perry et al. (2012)⁹). Despite improvement of survival during the last decades, more than 90% of GBM patients experience relapse^{5,36} where the prognosis is even worse (average survival 3-9 month³⁷), and a plethora of different targeted therapies have consequently been tested on patients with recurrent GBM. As of today, the most promising results for treatment of recurrent GBM have been obtained with the anti-angiogenic agent bevacizumab (Avastin®)³⁸ which has been shown to increase progression free survival³⁷. However, the effect could only be attributed to responding patients³⁹ and the overall survival remained almost unaffected³⁷.

It has been attempted to divide GBM patients into groups depending on how they are expected to benefit from a certain treatment. As an example it has been shown that GBM patients with methylation of the MGMT (*O*-6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase) promoter to a higher degree benefit from TMZ treatment and as such have a better prognosis^{35,40}. There are thus several indications that GBM patients are a heterogeneous population, and have to be treated accordingly.



Figure 1: Histology and localization of GBM. Two main histological features are essential for the diagnosis of GBM: Necrosis and excessive vasculature. A) H&E staining showing necrosis with pseudo palisading cells around necrotic foci (see arrows). B) IHC staining of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) where negative areas represent proliferating endothelial cells (arrows). C) T1 weighted Magnetic Resonance Image (MRI) showing a GBM as a contrast enhanced tumor with necrotic black centre in association with the lateral ventricle. The histological images are kindly lend from Helle Broholm and the MR image is kindly lend from Ulrik Lassen.

As a consequence, several reports are emerging on how to distinguish GBM patient as will be outlined in the following.

2.1.1 GBM sub-types and intratumoral heterogeneity

GBM tumors can be grouped by more markers than MGMT promoter methylation. Over expression of the oncogene *EGFR* and mutations of the tumor suppressor gene p53 were among the first molecular characteristics that were used to classify GBM, in this case distinguishing between primary and secondary GBM respectively⁴¹. In fact, p53 mutations can be tracked from lower grades of gliomas to the progression of secondary GBM²³. It has subsequently been demonstrated that primary GBM can be further characterized by loss of heterozygosity (LOH) of 10q and mutations in the phosphatase and tensin homolog (*PTEN*) gene^{4,42}, a negative regulator of the PI3K/AKT pathway downstream of EGFR (see section 2.4.1). It should, however, be emphasized that it is not a black and white picture. E.g. *p53* mutations are also observed in a subset of primary GBM and *PTEN* mutations can be found in some secondary GBM²³.

During the past decade global gene expression analysis has enabled scientists to sub-group GBM with regard to a wide panel of molecular markers. Although there are some discrepancies between the groupings in each study, there are several coincidences. In a study by Verhaak *et al.*¹ 200 GBM samples from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA)⁴³ were analyzed and the grouping was validated by comparison with previously published gene expression data sets (Phillips *et al.* (2006)²², Sun *et al.* (2006)⁴⁴, Beroukhim *et al.* (2007)⁴⁵ and Murat *et al* (2008)⁴⁶). On this basis, Verhaak and colleagues divided GBM into four main sub-types (see also Figure 2): the Classical, the Mesenchymal, the Proneural and the Neural sub-type. <u>The Classical sub-type</u> is characterized by high frequency of chromosomal rearrangements since chromosome (chr.) 7 amplification together with chr. 10 loss were detected in 100% of the classical sub-type tumors. As a result, *EGFR* gene



Figure 2: Integrated view of gene expression and genomic alterations across glioblastoma sub-types. Gene expression data (ge) was standardized (mean equal to zero) across 202 dataset. Data are shown for 116 samples with both mutation and copy number data. Mutations (mut) are indicated by a red cell, a white pipe indicates loss of heterozygosity, and a yellow cell indicates the presence of an EGFRvIII mutation. Copy number events (cn) are illustrated by bright green for homozygous deletions, green for hemizygous deletions, black for copy number neutral, red for low level amplification, and bright red for high level amplifications. A black cell indicates no detected alteration. Reprinted with permission from Elsevier publishing (Verhaak *et al.* (2010)¹).

amplification together with loss of the CDKN2A gene (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A encoding both the *p16INK4A* and *p14ARF* tumor suppressor genes⁴⁷) was observed in 97% of the classical tumors. This sub-type also demonstrates elevated expression of NES (Nestin, a neural stem cell marker) as well as components of the Notch and Sonic hedgehog (SHH) signaling pathways. The Mesenchymal sub-type is named so due to the high expression of mesenchymal markers such as CHI3L1 (also known as YKL40), CD44 and MET together with the astrocytic marker MERTK. Moreover, up-regulation of genes involved in the TNF super family- and NFkB signaling pathways have been observed is this sub-type and, as the author suggests, this might result from the high degree of necrosis and associated infiltrating inflammatory cells seen in this sub-type. Concurrent mutations in the neurofibromin 1 (NF1) and PTEN genes are also frequently observed. The expression pattern of the Proneural sub-type resembles that of a neural development profile, with the two major alterations being alpha-type platelet derived growth factor receptor (PDGFRA) amplification and isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1) point mutations. TP53 mutations and LOH were also frequent events. Similar to the classical sub-type, but less frequent, chr. 10 loss paired with chr. 7 amplification were observed (54%). Expression of the oligodendrocytic marker OLIG2 and other proneural developmental genes such as DLL3 (encodes Delta-like 3, a Notch ligand, see section 2.5.1), ASCL1 and SOX also characterize the proneural sub-type. Finally, the Neural sub-type is not well defined, but it can be recognized by the expression of neuronal markers. To summarize, Verhaak and collogues concluded that aberrations and gene expression of EGFR, NF1 and PDGFRA/IDH1 each defined the Classical, the Mesenchymal and the Proneural sub-types respectively¹. Although there was no clear correlation between sub-type and survival, there was a trend towards an increased survival for patients with the Proneural sub-type¹.

By comparing the expression of a pre-defined panel of glioma relevant proteins in 27 GBM surgical specimens and relating them to the TCGA data, Brennan and co-workers defined three groups based on the expression and activation of distinct pathways and named the groups accordingly: the EGFR core, the PDGF core and the NF1 core⁴⁸. The EGFR core showed increased levels of total- and phosphorylated EGFR and was named accordingly. It further resembles the Classical subtype from Verhaak et al. as it displayed high levels of the activated intracellular Notch-1 domain (ICN-1), the Notch ligands Jagged-1 (Jag-1) and Delta-like 1 (Dll-1) and the Notch downstream target hairy/enhancer of split-1 (Hes-1). Moreover, genomic analysis revealed that most tumors in this group had chr. 7 gain, EGFR amplification and mutation as well as deletion of Ink4a/ARF and either chr. 10 loss or PTEN mutations in all tumors. The PDGF core showed some correlation with the Proneural sub-type from Verhaak et al. Compared to the other core-groups it displayed up regulation of PDGFB, phospho-PDGFRß and phospo-NFKB1. Also an increased level of PTEN was detected as well as increased activation of the Ras pathway as evident by increased levels of phosphor-MEK and -ERK. Moreover it showed expression of the marker OLIG2 which is involved in oligodendrocytic development⁴⁹. None of the tumors in this core group, however, showed amplification of the PDGFR or its ligands. The NF1 core was strongly associated with low levels of NF1 and showed over expression of YKL40 and as such resembles the Mesenchymal sub-type from Verhaak et al. It further showed chr. 7 gain, although no EGFR amplification was detected. It should be mentioned that the specimens from Brennan et al. included a few Grade III glioma samples, however, the GBM samples were represented in all three core groups.

In an earlier study by Phillips *et al.*, which represents one of the four data-sets, utilized in the Verhaak study described above, Grade III and IV gliomas were assigned one of three sub-types: Proneural, Mesenchymal and Proliferative, based on gene expression²². The Proneural- and Mesenchymal subtypes were similar to the ones described by Verhaak *et al.*, whereas the Proliferative sub-type, when grouped together with some traits from the Mesenchymal sub-type, could be compared to the Verhaak Classical sub-type. (A comparison of the Verhaak, Brennan and Phillips study is presented in Figure 3).

It has been suggested that gene profiling is a superior prognostic marker for malignant gliomas when compared to histological grade or age⁵⁰. Likewise, Phillips et al. were able to correlate prognosis with sub-type. The Mesenchymal and Proliferative sub-types were primarily Grade IV gliomas, while the Proneural sub-type comprised gliomas of both Grade III and IV²². As the Verhaak study detected frequent *TP53* and *IDH1* mutations in this sub-type¹, and as these features also are common events in secondary GBM^{41,51,52}, this could indicate that at least some tumors within the Proneural sub-type could represent secondary GBM. And three out of four tumors in the proneural sub-type from the Verhaak study were in fact secondary GBM¹. In general, Phillip and co-workers stated that tumors with a Proneural signature predicted a better prognosis as compared to tumors with a Mesenchymal or Proliferative signature²². Furthermore, it has been suggested that apart from prognosis, sub-type might be correlated to treatment outcome as well (reviewed in Woehrer *et al.* $(2013)^2$). It should, however, be considered that in most cases, patient tumor samples used for scientific purposes only represent a small portion of the whole tumor mass, and as GBM tumors are highly heterogeneous, one could speculate that different sub-types might co-exist within the same tumor^{46,53}. Moreover, transition between sub-types upon recurrence has been reported^{22,46,54}. Still, as the sub-types to some extent can be correlated to prognosis and treatment outcome, they might prove usable in the clinic when stratifying patients to the most optimal treatment. However, until a sub-type specific therapy package is available, full scale sub-typing of GBM patients might be overstated in terms of stratification although individual markers such as MGMT methylation have proven its worth.



Figure 3: Comparison of sub-type studies. Molecular subtyping of GBM based on gene expression (Verhaak *et al.* and Phillips *et al.*) and protein expression (Brennan *et al.*). Direct comparison across the datasets shows good agreement for Vehaaks and Phillips Proneural sub-type and Brennans PDGF core as well as for the Mesenchymal subtype from Verhaak and Phillips and the NF1 core from Brennan, demonstrated by the black arrows. There is also a good correlation between Brennans EGFR core and Verhaaks classical subtype, black arrows. There is less concordance for Proliferative and Neural/Classical sub-types between Verhaak and Phillips, represented by the grey arrows. Overall, there is an agreement that survival decreases from the Proneural towards the Mesenchymal sub-type. Illustration modified from Woehrer *et al.* (2010)².

2.2 Glioblastoma Multiforme models

2.2.1 In vitro models

In vitro cancer models are simple to work with, and offer great insight into cellular pathways and mechanisms involved in cancer cell growth. In addition, they are usually the first step when identifying new therapeutic targets and when testing potential new anti-cancer drugs. Traditional in vitro culturing of mammalian cells occurs in the presence of fetal calf serum (FCS) as it contains many important mitogenes and other components that support cell survival and growth. Serum containing cultures have also been widely used for culturing of cancer cells, such as high-grade glioma cells and thus GBM cells. However, when established and cultured in the presence of serum, GBM cells lose important tumor hallmarks, and fail to resemble the original patient tumor, already after a few *in vitro* passages^{3,55,56}. As a consequence, commercially available cell lines established and cultured the traditional way are poor experimental models for GBM and have therefore been modified to express GBM hallmarks such as EGFR amplification and mutations. As an example of this is the U87MG cell line that has been modified to contain amplified EGFR and the mutant EGFR variant, EGFRvIII (see section 2.4.2). It should be noticed that the U87MG cell line is of glioma grade III origin (anaplastic astrocytoma, AA), although it has been classified by the American Type Culture Collection^a (ATCC) as a GBM. As of today, there are no commercially available GBM cell lines with endogenous EGFRvIII expression, and only one GBM cell line, the SKMG3, has been reported to contain endogenous EGFR amplification^{57,58}.

During the past decade, it has become more common to culture glioma cells in serum-free media, as has been standard when establishing and culturing normal NSC since the mid 1990s. In that context, it has been shown that culture conditions composed of a well defined media with the addition of growth factors such as the epidermal growth factor (EGF) and the basic fibroblastic growth factor (bFGF) support NSC growth and maintainance⁵⁹⁻⁶¹, whereas serum addition or growth factor withdrawal induces differentiation of NSC^{60,62-64}. In 2006, Lee and colleagues showed that GBM cells cultured as NSC exhibited an expression profile similar to that of the parental patient tumor and normal NSC, while GBM cells established and cultured in the presence of serum showed resemblance to traditional serum cultured, and commercially available GBM cell lines (see Figure 4). Moreover, xenograft tumors derived from NSC cultured GBM cells better recapitulated the pheno- and genotype of the patient tumor, than xenograft tumors derived from serum-containting cultures³. The study by Lee and co-workers has subsequently been supported by the demonstration that serum-free GBM cell cultures reflect the cytogenetic of the parental tumor, even after several passages⁵⁶. With the serum-free cell culture media as a base, there have been several attempts to improve the growth of glioma and GBM cells in vitro. Above EGF and bFGF also the leukemia inhibitory growth factor (LIF) is believed to act as a mitogen for neural stem- and progenitor cells^{65,66}, the supplement B27 is thought to improve survival of neural cells⁶⁷ and the N2 supplement is by the manufacture recommended for growth of neuroblastomas as well as postmitotic neurons^b. As a result, almost every laboratory working with establishing *in vitro* cultures from GBM tumors have more or less developed their own serum-free culturing formula⁶⁸.

^a https://www.atcc.org/

^b www.invitrogen.com



Figure 4: GBM cells cultured in serum-free condition better mimics the gene expression profile of the parental tumor than corresponding serum-cultured GBM cells. Principal component analysis (PCA) of the Lee *et al.* data sets based on global gene expression analysis. Small balls: *in vitro* samples. Large balls: *in vivo* xenograft samples. Colors of balls indicate the origin of samples: Parental patient tumors are marked as balls with red circle, two different tones of blue represent two different parental tumors (1228 and 0308) and thereof derived cultures. Red tone marks commercial GBM cell lines and xenografts (both intracranial and subcutaneous). Yellow balls represent normal NSC samples. NBE_IC indicates intracranial xenograft generated from neurosphere cultures. 1228_S_p3 are 1228 cells at passages 3 in serum containing media. x, y, and z axes represent three major principal components (PC). Note two distinct clusters: one cluster consists of serum-free cultured (NBE) GBM cells and their derivative xenograft tumors, NSCs, and parental patient tumors, whereas the other cluster consists of serum cultured GBM cells, ten commonly used glioma cell lines, and their derivative tumors. Reprinted with permission from Elsevier publishing (Lee *et al.* (2006)³).

When cultured during the serum-free NSC conditions, NSC and glioma/GBM cells grow as nonadherent, proliferating cell aggregates called neurospheres, that consist of neurosphere forming cells with multipotent potential as well as more differentiated cells^{3,59,60,69-74}. When the neurospheres are dissociated and passaged, the neurosphere forming cells are able to form new neurospheres, which demonstrates their self-renewing ability^{72,75}, the ability to maintain (or expand) their own population. Upon serum addition or growth factor withdrawal the neurosphere cells become adherent and grow with a more differentiated morphology. The changes in morphology are accompanied by expression of neural differentiation markers, and it has as such been concluded that multipotent cells are present within the neurosphere^{3,11,62,63,70-72}. Finally neurosphere cells of both NSC and glioma/GBM origin have been demonstrated to express stem cell markers such as the cell surface glycoprotein CD133^{76,77} and the intermediate filament Nestin^{69,78}. Because glioma neurosphere forming cells harbors NSC characteristics and moreover have tumorigenic potential^{56,70,71,79}, they are commonly referred to as brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC, see section 2.3.2.). The implication of bCSC in GBM tumorigenesis and treatment will be discussed in section 2.3.3.

Although it's many applications, it is important to emphasize that *in vitro* models cannot be representative for all processes within a multi cellular organism, and especially the interaction between a tumor and its surrounding microenvironment require valid *in vivo* models.

2.2.2 In vivo models

In vivo models of tumor growth is pivotal in cancer research as it offers insight into the tumor-host interaction. They are as such essential when studying molecular and genetic events that lead to tumor formation in e.g. the nervous system and serves as indispensable tools when evaluating potential new anti-(brain) cancer treatment strategies. However it should be held in mind that there are some pitfalls when working with animal tumor models: 1) the tumor model may not reflect the biological properties of the patient tumor, 2) the animals used may not display the same pharmacokinetics as humans and 3) the established tumor may not mimic the cellular heterogeneity and properties of the human counterpart (reviewed in Huszthy *et al.* $(2012)^{80}$). There are three main brain tumor animal models: the chemically induced, the genetically engineered and the xenograft model, which will be described below.

The rat is the most popular animal used for chemically induced glioma models. It has been shown that tumors in the rat brain can be induced by administrating methylnitrosourea or ethylnitrosourea compounds^c either intravenously, orally, locally or transplacentally to the adult or pregnant rat (reviewed in Huszthy *et al.* (2012)⁸⁰ and Barth *et al.* (2009)⁸¹). Chemically induced glioma models may offer insight into chemically initiated human gliomagenesis caused by chemical exposure. However, the exposure time, dose and kinetics of the carcinogenic compound differs between rat and human and moreover no single chemical agent has been implicated in human brain tumor development ^{82,83}. Furthermore, when intracranial engrafted, rodent glioma cell lines derived from chemically induced tumors show only modest resemblance to human gliomas with regard to morphology and histology^{84,85}. As example, no single cell infiltration to the contralateral hemisphere and microvascular abnormalities, characteristic for human GBM, are present in these models, although some invasion can be detected (reviewed in Huszthy *et al.* (2012)⁸⁰).

Increasing knowledge about genomic alterations that possibly play a role in human gliomagenesis has led to generation of genetically engineered glioma mouse models (reviewed in Huszthy *et al.* (2012)⁸⁰ and Fomchenko *et al.* (2006)⁸⁶). These models reflect the human tumor histology, biology and etiology⁸⁷. Genetically engineered models are based on either gain or loss of specific genes, in a specific cell type, and at a specific time point in development. This is accomplished by inducing genetic changes in the cell type of interest, e.g. by the cre-lox recombinase or tv-a systems under the influence of a cell specific promoter. One such example is the RCAS/TVA system published by Holland and co-workers^{88,89}. Here *RAS* and/or *AKT* were introduced into the viral vector RCAS^d, which subsequently was injected intracranially into the brain of newborn transgenic mice expressing TVA^e downstream from the *Nestin* promoter. TVA acts as a receptor for the viral vector and as a result, the viral gene construct will only be incorporated into the genome and transcribed in cells where the *Nestin* promoter is active, such as neural progenitor cells, and where TVA is expressed. Using this approach, Holland and colleagues showed that combined activation of RAS and AKT in neural progenitors induced GBM formation in mice⁸⁹. Taken it further, by combining the above described RCAS/TVA system with the cre-lox system Hu *et al.* obtained a similar TVA

^c Nitrosourea are alkylating compounds with mutagenic and carcinogenic properties. http://www.reference.md/files/D008/mD008770.html

^d Replication Competent ASLV long terminal repeat with Splice acceptor, derived from the avian sarcoma-leukosis virus-A (ASLV-A).

^e Member of the low-density-lipoprotein receptor family, encoded by the *tv-a* gene and acts as the receptor for ASLV-A in avian cells.

mouse, although this mouse had *loxP*-sites^f flanking the *PTEN*-gene. By injecting a RCAS vector containing the Cre recombinase protein gene fused with the green fluorescent protein (GFP), knock out of *PTEN* was obtained in the Nestin expressing cells. This was however, not sufficient to induce lesions, but when combined with RAS activation, GBM was formed⁹⁰.

The genetically engineered models have helped scientists to understand the molecular events leading to GBM initiation, progression and metastasis. They are furthermore good models for the tumor-stroma interaction that contribute to malignancy, including angiogenic processes, and as such have expanded our knowledge about the tumor micro-environment and provided insight into the sequence of genomic events that follow a specific genetic alteration. It is however still an open question whether the genetic events that result in tumor formation in experimental animals truly mirror the initiating events in human gliomagenesis (reviewed in Huszthy *et al.* $(2012)^{80}$).

Although both the chemically induced and the genetically engineered glioma animal models provide insight into the events of gliomagenesis, growth and progression as well as the interaction with the surrounding brain parenchyma, these models lack one fundamental feature: the cancer cells are not of human origin. In the xenograft model, human cancer cells are transplanted or grafted onto immunocompromised mice or rats. There are two types of tumor xenografts: the subcutaneous xenograft (SX) were the tumor-cells or tissue are injected or inoculated respectively onto the flanks of the experimental animal, and the orthotopic xenograft (OX), which in the case of brain tumors is established by injecting human brain cancer cells intracranially into the brain of the model animal. Both the SX and the OX model can be established either directly from patient tumor tissue or from in vitro cell cultures. The SX model is simple to work with and tumor formation and growth are easy to monitor. However, the OX model is a clinically more relevant model, as the tumor is located in the proper anatomic site, and as such, in the case of gliomas, offers insight into the tumor-brain parenchyma interaction⁹¹ and it has been stated that the micro-environment in the OX model is more comparable with that observed in GBM patients, than the micro-environment in the SX model⁹². Compared to SX, OX are laborious to establish and monitor and require expensive equipment and technical expertise such as MR- and/or CT-PET-scanners. However, the monitoring of OX will on the other hand enable testing of novel imaging methods and different isotopic tracers for PET scans. One major drawback to the xenograft model is the requirement of immunedeficient mice as the immune system is thought to play a significant role in tumor progression and response to the rapy 9^{2} .

All three types of *in vivo* glioma/GBM models described above, offer possibility for studying signaling pathways and cell-cell- and tumor-stroma interactions important for tumor formation, maintenance and recurrence as well as tumorigenic processes such as angiogenesis and migration/invasion. However, the chemically induced and the genetically engineered models are more relevant for studying events leading to brain tumor initiation and growth, whereas the xenograft model is more suitable for investigating processes involved in tumor maintenance and testing of new therapeutic approaches, as this model is based on naturally transformed human cancer cells. Moreover *in vivo* models are crucial when testing potential new anti-cancer therapies,

^f Locus of X-over P1, a sequence that serves as binding site for the Cre recombinase protein.

as one can study the effect of the treatment on the whole organism. However species to species differences needs to be taken into account as described above.

2.3 Brain cancer stem-like cells

2.3.1 Development of the CNS

During the fourth week of human embryogenesis, the *craniocaudal* neural tube is formed from invagination of the neural plate consisting of neuroepithelial cells (also designated neuroectodermal cells). This process is known as neurulation and is the first step in development of the CNS comprising the brain and the spinal cord. At this early stage of embryogenesis the vesicles that eventually will give rise to the different regions of the brain are visible. When the neural tube has formed it is lined with proliferative neuroepithelial cells. Most of the cells comprising the future CNS, are produced from these cells present in zones adjacent to the ventricles, namely the ventricular zone (VZ) and the subventricular zone (SVZ) (reviewed in Nowakowski *et al.* (1999)⁹³). Thus, the neuroepithelial cells lining the VZ and the SVZ can be considered as multipotent NSC, and are the common precursors for cell types such as neurons, glial and ependymal cells. Importantly, in the adult brain a small SVZ is still detectable and some of its cells continue to proliferate throughout life^{94,95} and give rise to neurons and glial cells^{73,96}.

2.3.2 Definition and origin of bCSC

Growing evidence supports the idea that malignant tumors are initiated and maintained by a population of tumor cells with similar biological properties as normal adult stem cells^{17,32,97-99}. The cancer stem cell theory was first demonstrated from research with acute myeloid leukemia (AML)¹⁰⁰ and subsequently cancer stem-like cells have been identified in different solid tumors such as gliomas and GBM. Normal stem cells maintain their population through asymmetric cell division that gives rise to one daughter stem cell (self-renewal) and one cell that displays a more differentiated phenotype, namely a progenitor cell. The progenitor cell will proliferate and give rise

to several new identical progenitor cells through symmetric cell division before they become proliferative exhausted and begin to terminally differentiate^{75,101-104}. The cancer stem cell hypothesis states that the cancer stem-like cell is able to selfrenew as well as give rise to all the differentiated progenies that eventually make up the heterogeneous cell mass of the tumor (see Figure 5). To support this hypothesis, the bCSC have been demonstrated to hold NSC potential as they are able to maintain their own population through self-renewal, able to give rise to cells of the three neural lineages (neurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes) and moreover express different NSC markers such as CD133 and Nestin, as mentioned above (section 2.2.1). Besides from their NSC-like characteristics, bCSC are



Figure 5: The brain tumor cell hierarchy. In the cancer stem cell model, the bCSC (red) have the ability to maintain its population through self-renewal (circular arrow) and give rise to more differentiated tumor cells (green, yellow, blue), that make up the majority of the tumor bulk.

tumorigenic and able to form xenograft tumors resembling the parental tumor when transplanted onto immunocompromised mice^{3,79,105-109}.

It has, however, not yet been established whether bCSC originate from normal undifferentiated cells such as NSC and progenitor cells or from de-differentiation of more mature tumor cells, and as such, are a result of tumor progression instead of the initiator. As described in section 2.1, human brain tumors are known to frequently arise near the SVZ and other neurogenic areas of the brain and it has been reported that cells in these areas, including NSC, are more sensitive to transformation than differentiated cells and hence more likely to form tumors upon mutagenic exposure or oncogene activation^{89,90,110-112}. As an example, using the RCAS/TVA model outlined above, Holland and co-workers showed that when the TVA gene expression was under control of the astrocytic glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) promoter no tumor formation was observed upon transfection with RCAS-AKT or -RAS, while gliomas with histological features of GBM arose when the TVA gene was downstream from the Nestin promoter and hence specifically expressed in the NSC population⁸⁹. In addition, *in vitro* spontaneous transformation of non-tumorigenic lowgrade glioma cells and SVZ derived NSC into highly tumorigenic immortal cell lines resembling bCSC has also been reported^{97,98,113}. So even though the cancer stem cell hypothesis does not require bCSC to evolve from normal NSC, there are several indications that this could be the case. Nevertheless, the hypothesis that bCSC represent a highly potential therapeutic target for novel anti-GBM treatment is increasingly being accepted.

2.3.3 Role in GBM

It has been suggested that present glioma treatment fails because it only kills the bulk of the tumor, whereas the tumor initiating bCSC escape and are able to regenerate the tumor and cause relapse, as reviewed in Massard *et al.* $(2006)^{114}$. One reason for the inadequate effect of treatment is ascribed to the fact that most cytotoxic treatment is aimed at fast dividing cells (corresponding to tumor progenitor cells¹¹⁵), while the bCSC are spared as they are normally quiescent^{116,117} or slowly cycling¹¹⁸. Furthermore, CD133 positive (CD133+) cells have been demonstrated to have an elevated expression of multi-drug resistance genes, DNA mismatch repair genes and genes inhibiting apoptosis ^{14,119} as well as decreased radio-sensitivity¹²⁰ as compared to CD133 negative (CD133-) cells. In fact, in response to radiation, bCSC have been shown to activate the DNA damage checkpoint response and increase their DNA damage repair activity, thus decreasing apoptosis¹³. Together these findings support the idea that bCSC contribute to chemo- and radioresistance. Moreover, recurrent GBM have been reported to have an increased level of CD133+ cells as compared to newly diagnosed GBM tumors¹⁴, and cell cultures have been found to be enriched with CD133+ cells after radiation¹³, suggesting that traditional anti-GBM treatment selects for a bCSC population and it could be speculated that bCSC are responsible for recurrence of the tumor after therapy with increased aggression. It should however be held in mind that CD133 may not serve as a distinct bCSC marker as also CD133- glioma/GBM neurosphere cells are able to form xenograft tumors¹²¹⁻¹²³.

In the adult mammalian brain, NSC have been demonstrated to produce progenitor cells that migrate away from the stem cell niche, along well-defined streams, to undergo terminal differentiation in a different CNS area, both under normal conditions and as a response to tissue

injury^{102,124}. This ability seems to be conserved in the bCSC progeny as they are able to migrate unorganized throughout the brain parenchyma and initiate tumor formation in adjacent brain regions⁹⁹. It is thus likely that bCSC are present in areas of great invasiveness and were the resection is not optimal. As a consequence some bCSC will remain in the brain after surgery were they are able to avoid chemo- and radiation therapy and will continue to produce migrating progenitors that repopulate the tumor and ultimately cause relapse. In fact, recurrent gliomas can be found at the initial tumor bulk site, or anywhere ells throughout the brain parenchyma, including the ventricles¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸.

Finally, bCSC might also be involved in tumor angiogenesis ^{15,44} possibly by producing the proangiogenic vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Angiogenesis is pivotal for tumors to grow more than a couple of millimeters in diameter. It is initiated by hypoxia that also is known to support survival and proliferation of NSC and progenitor cells and it has been shown that low O₂ tension inhibit differentiation and thus maintain stem cell characteristics¹²⁹⁻¹³¹. Several studies suggest that hypoxia has a crucial role in glioma growth and tumorigenecity¹³²⁻¹³⁵, and that the mechanism behind is shared between NCS and bCSC (reviewed in Diabiri *et al.* $(2008)^{136}$). In line with this, Bao et al.¹⁵ detected massive angiogenesis, necrosis and haemorrhage when transplanting bCSC into severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) mice, in contrast to when transplanting nonbCSC. They further measured the expression of a panel of angiogenic factors and found that bCSC consistently secreted an elevated level of VEGF. By culturing endothelial cells (EC) in bCSC conditioned media, they found significant increase in EC migration and tube formation when compared to non-bCSC conditioned media. Taken together, bCSC might prove crucial for GBM angiogenesis possible by responding to low oxygen levels by secreting VEGF and thus increasing angiogenesis, which would merely substantiate the need for developing bCSC targeted anti-GBM therapy.

2.3.4 Implication in treatment of GBM

If bCSC are responsible for tumor initiation, progression, chemo- and radio resistance and hence tumor relapse they might be thought of as the "mother population" of the tumor and as such serve as a potential powerful new target for GBM treatment. The hypothesis is that if the tumor bulk needs to be maintained by generation of cancer cells from the bCSC population, elimination of the bCSC will lead to shrinkage and ultimately eradication of the tumor. In addition, if the bCSC are eliminated together with traditional chemo- and radiation therapy that targets the bulk of the tumor, there will be no regeneration of more differentiated tumor cells that constitutes the tumor bulk and, moreover, the risk of dedifferentiation of the more mature tumor cells into new bCSC, as described in 2.3.2, is minimized (see Figure 6.). Targeting the bCSC could either lead to killing the cells or prevent them from regenerate the heterogenic tumor mass. The latter could be accomplished by forcing the bCSC to differentiate. Differentiating therapy has been utilized for treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), in which poorly differentiated leukemia cells populate the bone marrow, hindering the production of normal blood cells. Using *all*-trans-retinoic acid (RA) the immature cancer cells are forced to differentiate and thereby lose their malignant potential^{114,137}. In the study be Lee and co-workers (see section 2.2.1), they demonstrate that when GBM neurosphere cells are cultured in the presence of RA they express differentiation markers at similar level as



Figure 6: Targeting the bCSC in GBM therapy. According to the bCSC hypothesis, traditional therapy (top row) will only hit the tumor bulk leaving the bCSC to re-generate the tumor and cause relapse. Targeting the bCSC (middle row) will lead to gradual elimination of the tumor but will not eliminate the risk of dedifferentiation of more mature tumor cells into new bCSC. Therapeutic targeting of both the bCSC population and the more differentiated tumor bulk cells (bottom row) is thus important in order to fully eliminate the tumor and prevent relapse.

GBM cells grown in serum-containing media³. It has likewise been demonstrated that U87 derived neurosphere cultures differentiate when treated with low concentrations of RA¹³⁸. It might as such be feasible, using this or similar differentiation approaches, to force the bCSC population to differentiate and hinder them from (re-)populate the tumor bulk.

Another approach to target the bCSC could be through signaling pathways known to be important for the maintenance of the normal NSC population such as the SHH, Wnt, TGF- β , BMP, EGFR and Notch pathways, of which the latter two are described below.

2.4 EGFR signaling

Growth factors and their receptors play a central role in the regulation of a number of cellular processes including cell survival, metabolism, proliferation, differentiation and migration. Among the best described growth factor regulated pathways are those mediated by receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) which are multifunctional proteins with comparable structural features. These include an extracellular ligand binding domain, composed of four sub-domains (I-IV), that is usually glycosylated, a single transmembrane helix domain, and an intracellular domain containing a conserved protein tyrosine kinase domain and regulatory sequences that are subjected to autophosphorylation and phosphorylation (reviewed in Hunter *et al.* (1998)¹³⁹, Hubbard *et al.* (1998)¹⁴⁰, Schlessinger *et al.* (2000)¹⁴¹ and Zandi *et al.* (2007)²⁰). The first RTK to be discovered was the 170 kDa EGFR^{20,142} (ErbB1/HER1, see Figure 7) that belongs to the ErbB/HER (avian homolog erythroblastic leukemia viral (v-erb-b) oncogene, human homolog named HER¹⁴³) family of ligand activated tyrosine kinase receptors which also comprise ErbB2 (HER2/Neu), ErbB3 (HER3) and ErbB4 (HER4) (reviewed in Holbro *et al.* (2003)¹⁴⁴, de Bono *et al.* (2002)¹⁴⁵ and Burgess *et al* (2008)¹⁴⁶).

In the normal brain, EGFR is expressed in neurogenic areas where also NSC are abundant^{18,147,148} and it has been shown that EGFR is involved in regulation of the developmental and adult stage of NSC proliferation, migration and differentiation^{18,148-153}. Both NSC and bCSC proliferate *in vitro* in response to EGF and other EGFR-ligands ^{3,61} and recent studies have moreover demonstrated that a bCSC population can be isolated based on the expression of EGFR¹⁵⁴ and that GBM neurosphere cultures are sensitive to inhibition of EGFR signaling^{25,155,156}. Furthermore, EGFR expression together with bCSC signature has been associated with chemo- and radiation resistance⁴⁶.

2.4.1 The pathway

It has been proposed that RTKs, like the EGFR exist as monomers in the cell membrane perhaps in equilibrium with partly dimerized and partly activated receptors^{20,157-160} (Figure 7). Ligand binding (i.e. EGF, transforming growth factor (TGF) - α , amphiregulin, betacellulin, epiregulin, heparin binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF) (reviewed in ^{146,161})) induces conformational change and receptor dimerization and/or stabilization of the already existing dimers^{157,159,160,162}. Dimerization can occur as homodimerization in where i.e. EGFR dimerizes with another EGFR, or heterodimerization where i.e. EGFR dimerizes with another EGFR, or heterodimerization where i.e. EGFR dimerizes with another ErbB/HER family member¹⁶². Ultimately this will result in activation of intrinsic tyrosine kinases in the cytosolic domain of the receptor. When no ligand is bound, the tyrosine kinase domain is intrinsically inhibited¹⁶¹. But upon ligand binding and conformational change the tyrosine kinase is activated and catalyzes the transfer of a phosphatase group from donor adenosine triphospate (ATP) to an acceptor hydroxyl group of tyrosine residues residing near the catalytic site on the dimer neighbor^{139,141}. This tyrosine phosphorylation subsequently leads to phosporylation of additional tyrosine residues in the tail of the cytosolic EGFR domains, with the two cytoplasmic domains acting simply as substrate and



Figure 7: Schematic structure of EGFR. The EGFR receptor is composed of three main domains: an extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain. The extracellular ligand binding domain is made up of four sub-domains, designated I-IV and the intracellular domain holds the tyrosine kinase. It is proposed that the monomer and dimer receptor exist in equilibrium and ligand binding induces conformational change of the receptor and stabilization of the dimer leading to phosporylation and activation of the intracellular domain that now can serve as docking site for downstream signaling molecules. See text for details.

enzyme for one another^{139-141,159,161} (Figure 7). These phosphorylated tyrosine residues then serve as docking sites for adapter and signaling molecules leading to the activation of several signaling pathways downstream from the receptor^{159,162,163}. For an overview, see figure 8.

One of the best characterized EGFR effector pathways is the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK, also named extracellular signal-regulated kinase, ERK) signaling cascade, composed of, among others, the mediators RAS (GTPase), RAF (serine/threonine kinase), MEK (MAPK/ERK kinase), and ERK. Phosphorylated tyrosine residues within the EGFR cytosolic domain recruit the growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 (Grb2) which facilitates the binding of the guanidine exchange factor Son of Sevenless (SOS) that exchange the RAS-bound guanine diphosphate (GDP) for guanine triphosphate (GTP) and thus activate the G-protein RAS. RAS then phosphorylates and activates RAF that in turn phosphorylates and activates MEK. Finally MEK phosphorylates and



Figure 8: Downstream signaling pathways induced by EGFR activation. Schematic overview of two of the most prominent signaling cascades activated by EGFR. RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK pathway (green) and the PI3-K/AKT pathway (red). Both signaling pathways can be thought of as phosporylation cascades initiated by the docking of an adaptor molecule to the phosporylated tyrosine residues in the intracellular receptor domain and subsequently one intracellular signaling molecule phosporylating the next culminating with regulation of the activity of target molecules and/or alteration of gene expression. EGFR signaling has a wide range of effects including cell survival by evasion of apoptosis and cell growth and proliferation. AKT: Protein kinase B, ERK: Extracellular regulated kinase, Gab1: Grb2-associated protein 1, Grb2: growth factor receptor-bound protein 2, MEK: MAPK/ERK kinase, mTOR: mammalian target of rapamycin, PDK1: 3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase-1, PI3K: phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, PIP2: phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate, PIP3: phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate, PTEN: Phosphatase and Tensin homolog, RAF: serine/threonine kinase, RAS: G-protein, SOS: son of sevenless, TK: Tyrosine kinase. See text for details.

activates ERK/MAPK that subsequently translocates to the nucleus were it phosphorylates and activates many target proteins including nuclear transcription factors that subsequently activate transcription of target genes¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵. The biological effects of the MAPK pathway are many, but mainly they lead to cell growth and proliferation (Figure 8, green pathway).

Another pathway downstream of EGFR involves the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K), which binds to the phosphorylated EGFR through another adapter protein, the Grb2-associated protein 1 (Gab1). PI3-K phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate (PIP-2) to form phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PIP-3) that in collaboration with PDK1 (3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase-1) recruits and activate AKT ("AK" was a temporary classification name for a mouse strain developing spontaneous thymic lymphomas. "T" stands for transforming, also known as protein kinase B (PKB)), by phosphorylation. The PI3-K/AKT pathway is regulated by the tumor suppressor PTEN, which antagonizes the action of the PI3-K, by dephosphorylation of PIP3 to PIP2¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵. Activated AKT has many downstream targets such as the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR, a serine/threonine kinase), and has been shown to promote cell survival by inhibiting apoptosis (Figure 8, red pathway).

2.4.2 Mutations of EGFR and downstream mediators

EGFR has frequently been implicated in various forms of human cancers of epithelial origin including brain, lung, breast, head and neck, gastric, colorectal, esophageal, prostate, bladder, renal, pancreatic, and ovarian cancers¹⁶⁶. The mechanisms by which EGFR becomes oncogenic are several and include autocrine growth factor loops, over expression of EGFR, and gene mutations giving rise to constitutively active variants of EGFR^{20,161,166,167}. The events leading to over expression, as seen in approximately 50-60% of GBM (reviewed in^{9,168}), can be increased activity of the EGFR promoter, amplification of the EGFR gene or deregulation at the translational and post-translational level²⁰. EGFR mutations are present in 40-50% of GBM. At least nine mutation variants have been identified, of which with the constitutively activated EGFRvIII is the most common^{20,164,169,170}. EGFRvIII is a result of an in-frame deletion of 801 base pairs, corresponding to exons 2-7 in the EGFR gene¹⁷¹. The deletion eliminates 267 amino acids (amino acid 6-273) from the extracellular domain and results in a 145 kDa truncated receptor with a distorted ligand binding area^{143,169,171}. As a result, EGFRvIII is unable to bind any EGFR ligands, but is still properly embedded in the membrane were it exhibits a constitutively low activation of the tyrosine kinase and thus is able to activate downstream signaling pathways^{161,172-174} (Figure 9). In that context it has been shown that EGFRvIII has a higher signaling trough the PI3-K/AKT pathway, than wild type EGFR^{173,175}. Despite the lack of ligand binding, EGFRvIII is able to form not only homodimers with itself, but also heterodimers when co-expressed with EGFR and interestingly EGFRvIII expression almost exclusively occurs in tumors with EGFR amplification (~40% of tumors with amplified EGFR¹⁷⁶, while EGFR amplification often is observed alone^{55,171,176}).

Downstream from EGFR, constitutively active RAS mutations have been reported in a variety of tumors but are rare in GBM. However, increased RAS-activity is a frequent phenomenon in GBM possibly due to increased activation of the upstream RTK¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁷⁹. In addition, several studies have shown mutations in the AKT-interacting regions of PI3-K, which could contribute to increased activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway in GBM^{180,181}. The same is the case with inactivation of PTEN



Figure 9: Schematic structure of EGFRvIII. The mutated receptor EGFRvIII is a result of an inframe deletion of exons 2-7 and therefore it lacks amino acid 6-273 corresponding to subdomain I and most of subdomain II. Thus, EGFRvIII is unable to bind a ligand but is located in the cell membrane were it demonstrates a low but constitutive activation.

due to *PTEN* mutations or loss (see section 2.1.1), which on top of increased EGFR signaling, contributes the abnormal high activity of the PI3K/AKT pathway, often seen in primary GBM^{42,170,182} and has been correlated to the dismal prognosis of patients with GBM^{23,183}. Taken together, multiple alterations of the EGFR signaling pathway have been reported in GBM and other cancer types, and this pathway thus serves as a potential target for anti-GBM therapy.

2.4.3 Inhibitors and clinical implications for GBM

As outlined above, there exist several indications that alteration of EGFR signaling is involved in the pathogenesis of GBM. This is further supported by observations that over activation and/or mutation of the EGFR pathway results in cell proliferation, increased tumor invasiveness, motility and angiogenesis^{170,172,177} and has led to an extensive interest in the search for of therapeutic strategies targeting EGFR. The clinically most advanced strategies for inhibition of EGFR signaling are small molecule inhibitors directly targeting the highly conserved tyrosine kinase domain in the intracellular region (tyrosine kinase inhibitors, TKI) and the use of monoclonal antibodies (mAb) targeting the extracellular ligand binding domain. But also inhibition of downstream mediators, ligand- and mAb conjugated toxins and RNA-based therapies are being tested (reviewed in Nedergaard *et al.* (2012)¹⁶¹ and Karpel-Massler *et al.* (2009)¹⁸⁴).

TKIs are ATP-competitive inhibitors of the tyrosine kinase located at the intracellular part of the EGFR that result in inhibition of EGFR phosphorylation. Gefitinib (Iressa[®]) and erlotinib (Tarceva[®]) are examples of first generation TKIs that have been used in phase I and phase II clinical trials for high grade gliomas, either as monotherapies or in combination with conventional chemotherapy. Although there were some indications of a modest effect of the EGFR targeting TKI, the results from these studies were conflicting (reviewed in Karpel-Massler *et al.* (2009)¹⁸⁴). Moreover, contraindicating results regarding the possibility to predict the response to TKIs by EGFR expression level exist. E.g. response to gefitinib could not be predicted by EGFR expression level or mutation¹⁸⁵, while a study from our laboratory has demonstrated that EGFRvIII positive GBM cells showed insensitivity towards gefitinib compared to wild-type EGFR cells¹⁸⁶ and others have correlated EGFR amplification to erlotinib response^{187,188}.

As mAbs usually are generated in mice, the issue of an immune response in patients upon repeated administration has led to the development of chimeric mAbs for therapy purposes. A chimeric mAb is a fusion between the antigen recognizing variable part of the murine derived mAB and the constant part of a human antibody¹⁸⁹. Cetuximab (Erbitux[®]) is a chimeric mAb of the IgG1 type that binds to the extracellular domain of the EGFR with high affinity and competes for ligand binding as well as hindering the formation of EGFR dimers^{190,191}. In addition, Cetuximab also recognizes EGFRvIII despite the lack of the ligand binding domain and for both EGFR variants, cetuximab inhibits phosporylation as well as induces down regulation of the receptors on the cell surface by promoting internalization^{190,192-194}. Only a limited number of studies have tested cetuximab for high grade glioma patients. Belda-Iniesta and co-workers showed some durable responses when using cetuximab in three heavily pre-treated patients with recurrent GBM. Compared to the median survival of patients with recurrent GBM, which is three to nine months when treated with traditional therapeutic agents^{195,196}, these three patients remained clinically and radiologically stable for 14, 13, and 11 months, respectively. In a phase II study from Copenhagen by Hasselbalch and colleagues, the combination of cetuximab, bevacizumab (VEGF inhibitor) and irinotecan (topoisomerase I inhibitor) resulted in durable response, including two complete responses. However, the response rate and survival data did not seem superior to treatment without cetuximab, and the authors concluded that the combination of cetuximab, bevacizumab and irinotican could not be recommended for treatment of recurrent GBM¹⁹⁷. Data from *in vitro* and *in vivo* preclinical studies with cetuximab using glioma cell lines with EGFR over expression and/or mutations show contradictive results. Some studies show reduced cell viability upon treatment¹⁹⁸⁻²⁰⁰, whereas others have demonstrated that cetuximab was insufficient in inhibiting glioma cell growth most likely due to maintained signaling downstream from EGFR²⁰¹. In that regard it has been suggested that increased AKT activity predicts decreased response to the TKI erlotinib, as low levels of phosphor-AKT was seen in patients responding to treatment^{187,188}. These studies also suggest EGFR overexpression and amplification as a positive determinant for erlotinib treatment. Also the EGFR mutational status has been suggested to predict the outcome of cetuximab in combination with TMZ and/or RT, as xenografts bearing EGFRvIII positive tumors were more sensitive to the treatment than xenografts expressing wild-type EGFR²⁰². In consensus, by analyzing 500 epithelial derived cancer cell lines it was found that cells sensitive to EGFR or HER2 inhibitors were characterized by activating mutations of the target gene²⁰³.

The inconsistent results from studies targeting EGFR signaling, both by means of TKIs and mAbs, in GBM leads to speculations whether GBM patients could be stratified to an EGFR targeted anti-GBM treatment, and the effect of EGFR inhibition in GBM still needs to be clarified. There are as such, ongoing *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies using TKIs or mAbs looking at the various cellular and molecular effects of EGFR inhibition. With a deeper understanding of how and when EGFR inhibition has an effect in combination with the development of sub-type grouping of GBM tumors, stratification of patients that will benefit from an EGFR targeted anti-GBM treatment might be feasible.

2.5 Notch signaling

The Notch gene locus was first described in 1917 in *Drosophila Melanogaster* (*D. Melanogaster*) where the mutant allele gave rise to flies with "notched" wings²⁰⁴. The Notch signaling pathway is evolutionary conserved and plays a fundamental role in several developmental processes all the way from the four cell stage, through formation of the three germ layers to development of adult organ systems such as the central nervous system²⁰⁵. Notch signaling has a diverse impact on several cellular pathways and functions depending on the cellular context, the activating ligand as well as intervention from additional signaling pathways. In the brain, Notch signaling is believed to influence the balance between the NSC pool and its differentiating progeny both during development and in the adult (reviewed in Androutsellis-Theotokis *et al.* (2006)²⁰⁶ and Imayoshi *et al.* (2010)²⁰⁷). Clinically, GBM are often located in close association to neurogenic areas of the brain, such as the SVZ^{28,31,32} as dexribed in section 2.1, where NSC are abundant⁶⁹ and as such, it is no surprise that that Notch pathway components often are found aberrantly expressed in GBM and thereof derived neurosphere cultures^{3,11,105,208-211}, indicating a role for Notch signaling in bCSC.

2.5.1 The canonical pathway

The Notch receptors (Notch 1-4 in mammals) are synthesized as 300 kDa proteins, which are cleaved by the furin-like convertase (Figure 10, S1) in the *trans*-Golgi apparatus of the secretory pathway, generating a 180 kDa extracellular ligand binding domain and a 120 kDa transmembrane/intracellular domain²⁰⁵. Remaining non-covalently bound to each other, the domains are embedded into the plasma membrane as heterodimeric receptors with the transmembrane domain extending into the cytoplasm^{212,213}. Activation of the Notch receptors is initiated through juxtacrine binding of a ligand (Delta-like (Dll) 1, 3-4 and Jagged 1-2 in mammals) located on a neighboring cell. Through a conformational change the receptor is then sensitized to two additional proteolytic events (Figure 10, S2 and S3), mediated by members of the ADAM and y-secretase families of proteases respectively 214,215 . The second cleavage (S2) is thought to be crucial for removing inhibitory components of the extracellular domain and exposure of the third and activating cleavage site present in the transmembrane domain. The third cleavage (S3) results in activation of the receptor and release of the intracellular Notch domain (ICN). ICN is translocated to the nucleus where it binds to the CSL (CBF, Suppressor of Hairless, LAG-1; also referred to as RBP-J κ) transcription factor²¹⁴. In the absence of ICN, CSL binds to at least two co-repressor complexes (CoR): the SMRT/Nco-R/histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) complex and the CIR/HDAC2/SAP30 complex (reviewed in Mumm et al. (2000)²¹⁶). The association between ICN and CSL mediates the exchange of the CoR with a co-activator complex (CoA)²¹⁷, converting CSL from being a transcriptional repressor to an activator that initiates transcription of Notch target genes. Besides CSL and ICN, the transcriptional activator complex is thought to be composed of the co-activators Mastermind-like (MAML-1, 2 and 3) and the histone acetyltransferase (HAT) p300/CBP^{216,218,219} and possibly the HATs pCAF and GCN5^{216,219}. Many target genes of Notch signaling have been shown to contain DNA binding sites for CSL (GTGGGAA^{220,221}) in their promoter regions^{222,223} and CSL is thought to mediate the majority of the downstream effects of the Notch pathway, although CSL independent gene expression has been reported^{224,225}.

Members of the Hairy/enhancer of split (Hes-1-7) family of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcriptional repressors are some of the best characterized effectors of Notch activation. They are known to repress the transcription of, among others, the pro-neuronal bHLH protein mammalian achaete-scute homologue 1 (Mash-1, Hash-1 in humans)^{226,227}. In addition to Hes also the bHLH transcriptional repressor hairy/enhancer of split related with YRPW motif protein (Hey-1, -2, L)²²², which functions similar to Hes, the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)²²³ that, besides from being an astrocytic marker, also is expressed in postnatal NSC^{73,228,229}, the NSC marker Nestin^{78,230} and the cell cycle regulators p21 and Cyclin D1²³¹⁻²³³, have been suggested as Notch transcriptional targets and the list is still growing.



Figure 10: Schematic overview of Notch receptor activation and the down-stream signaling pathway. The Notch receptors are synthesized as large proteins that are cleaved (S1) and inserted in the membrane as heterodimers. Interaction of the Notch receptor with one of its ligands, leads to two consecutive cleavages (S2 and S3) and ultimately release of the ICN. In the nucleus, ICN associates with the transcription factor CSL, which displaces a corepressor complex (the SMRT/Nco-R/HDAC1 complex and the CIR/HDAC2/SAP30 complex) and recruits a coactivator complex composed of, among others MAML and p300/CBP, leading to transcription of target genes. S1 is mediated by furin-like. S2 is mediated by ADAM. S3 is mediated by γ-secretase. CoA: Co-activator, CSL: CBF - Suppressor of Hairless - LAG-1, HDAC: histone deacethylase, ICN: intracellular Notch domain, MAML: Mastermind-like, p300/CBP: histone acetyltransferase (HAT). See text for further details.

2.5.2 The role of Notch in normal development Notch signaling during brain development

The importance of Notch signaling in restricting cell fate decisions throughout neurogenesis was initially described by loss-of-function mutations in D. Melanogaster generating a "neurogenic" phenotype in which excessive neuronal differentiation was observed at the expense of epidermis²³⁴. Notch has been associated with undifferentiated cells of the embryonic CNS whereas its expression is reduced in the adult²³⁵. In the CNS, Notch signaling is thought to maintain a pool of undifferentiated progenitors by inhibiting neuronal commitment and thereby differentiation into neurons²¹². As such, Notch is expressed in proliferating cells of the neural tube, whereas Delta expression is detected in cells eventually becoming neurons²³⁶⁻²³⁸. Studies in mice, chicken and frogs have shown that *Notch-1* and *RBP-J* κ mutants, which die early during embryogenesis, lack neuroblasts and show premature neuronal differentiation of the neural tube, indicating a role for active Notch signaling in preventing neurogenesis²³⁹⁻²⁴². In opposite, gain-of-function studies have demonstrated that forced Notch signaling can prevent progenitors from undergoing neurogenesis^{240,241}. Furthermore, the Notch target Hes-1 has been associated with neuronal precursor cells whereas its expression is absent in mature neurons ²⁴³. The knowledge of Hes-1 in neuronal differentiation came from over expression and deletion studies in mice showing that persistent Hes-1 expression inhibits neuronal differentiation and migration of neurons from the VZ whereas lack of Hes-1 leads to premature neuronal differentiation and open brain anencephaly as a result of failure to close the neural tube^{226,243,244}. Similar results have been obtained with other Notch targets in the nervous system, such as Hes-5, Hey-1 and Hey-2²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁷. These effects are most likely a consequence of persistent expression of pro-neuronal proteins such as Mash-1. Knock-out studies have shown that Mash-1 is involved in promoting neuronal differentiation of already committed cells, as neuronal precursor cells still can be detected even though terminal differentiation into neurons is blocked²⁴⁸.

Lateral inhibition and inductive signaling – a role for Notch in cell type specification

One process, by which Notch inhibits cells from adapting a default cell fate and maintaining a pool of multipotent progenitor cells is called lateral inhibition (Figure 11A) and was originally described in *D. Melanogaster*. In this model, Notch signaling occurs between adjacent cells in an initially homogenous progenitor pool expressing both Notch receptors and ligands. Undefined stochastic events will lead to increased ligand levels on one cell that will then activate Notch signaling in its neighbors. As Notch signaling is inhibitory for endogenous ligand expression, initially small differences in the receptor:ligand ratio will be amplified by a feedback mechanism and one cell will become signal sending (ligand expressing) and the other one signaling receiving (receptor expressing). In case of neural development, the signal sending cell will differentiate into a neuronal precursor cell whereas the signal receiving, and thus Notch expressing cell, will remain undifferentiated^{212,235,249}.

Another process by which Notch signaling inhibits a default cell fate is called inductive and restrictive cell fate determination. Apart from inhibiting neuronal differentiation and maintaining an undifferentiated progenitor pool, Notch activation in some contexts actually promotes a particular cell fate^{205,250-252}, thus instructing cells towards a specific cell fate (Figure 11B). This event occurs
between two developmentally distinct cells, one ligand and one receptor expressing cell, where ligand induced Notch activation instructs the latter to adopt a certain cell fate. It has as such been proposed that differentiation of certain types of glia such as radial glia and astrocytes are induced by Notch activation^{251,253,254} during embryogenesis²⁵⁵ or in the adult brain²⁵⁶, respectively. In opposite, differentiation towards oligodendrocytes seems to be the default cell fate, as it is inhibited by Notch activation^{251,252}.

Taken together, activation of Notch can either act through lateral inhibition to inhibit a neuronal fate and maintain an undifferentiated progenitor pool or through instructive signaling to induce differentiation towards astrocytes while the lack of Notch activation results in oligodendrocytic differentiation. However, it is at present still not clear whether Notch acts sequentially on the same cells of the progenitor pool such as it first inhibits the neuronal fate and then instructs the remaining progenitor cells to become astrocytes or whether there are predetermined progenitors namely neuroblasts and glioblasts on which Notch acts²⁵⁷. Nevertheless, it is critical to note that timing is important in the outcome of Notch signaling, and as such it is only during certain phases of development that Notch activation supports the maintenance of undifferentiated progenitor cells at the expense of neurons, and generate astrocytes instead of oligodendrocytes^{212,254,258}.



Figure 11: The role of Notch signaling in binary cell fate decisions. A) Lateral inhibition occurs between developmentally identical cells expressing equal amounts of both the Notch receptor (N) and the ligand (L). Stochastic events result in enhanced expression of either receptor or ligand in one of the cells, ultimately producing a Notch receptor expressing cell and a ligand expressing cell. The former will remain uncommitted and thus maintain the NSC pool, while the latter will be committed to the neuronal lineage. B) Inductive signaling occurs between two different cell types. A bi-potential, Notch expressing, progenitor cell is instructed to adopt a particular cell fate, e.g. astrocytic, upon interaction with a ligand expressing cell. In the absence of ligand induced Notch signaling, the bi-potential cell will adopt a default cell fate e.g. oligodendrocytic.

2.5.3 Notch in GBM and bCSC

Notch was first associated with tumorigenesis by the discovery of a constitutive activated mutated Notch receptor in acute T cell lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL)²⁵⁹. Although loss of function mutations of the Notch-2 receptor have been reported in a minor subset of GBM patients²⁶⁰, mutations in the Notch receptors do not seem to be common event. Moreover, combined activation of KRAS and Notch using the RCAS/TVA model described in section 2.2.2 Holland et al. generated lesions along the SVZ, while activation of Notch alone failed to do so²³⁰. Nevertheless, components of the Notch pathway are often found aberrantly expressed in GBM and thereof derived in vitro cultures. Notch-1 and the corresponding intracellular Notch-1 domain (ICN-1) have generally been found up regulated in glioma cell lines and primary glioma samples as compared to normal non-neoplastic brain tissue^{97,209,261,262}. Furthermore, the general expression levels of Notch-2 and -4, ligands and downstream target genes in glioma cell lines and primary glioma samples have been reported aberrant as compared to normal brain tissue^{209,262,263}. However, the overall ligand expression has, not been found significantly elevated, most likely due to the highly variable ligand levels between different glioma grades ²⁶⁴. Moreover, in the study by Lee et al. outlined in section 2.2.1, the cluster containing normal NSC and GBM neurosphere cultures intriguingly expressed high levels of genes involved in CNS function and development as well as stem cell associated genes such as Notch-1 and Dll-1 and -3^3 . By additional gene expression profiling, Günther *et al.* divided nine glioma cell lines established from GBM under serum-free conditions into two clusters: Cluster-1 was classified as having multipotent and sphere-forming potential, CD133 expression and high invasiveness, whereas cluster-2 had restricted differentiation potential, showed little or no CD133 expression and was less tumorigenic. The differently expressed transcripts were grouped with regard to their association to specific signaling pathways. Two of the transcripts over expressed in cluster-1 belonged to the Notch cascade whereas none of the cluster-2 cell lines showed increased expression of these genes¹⁰⁵. In line with this, Mizutani *at al.* showed that a high in vitro Notch expression resulted in a higher frequency of sphere formation from normal NSC than when Notch expression was low²²⁴. The role of Notch signaling in bCSC maintenance is further supported in a study by Ignatova et al. By culturing cells from glioma grade III and IV tumors under NSC conditions they found a subset of cells able to form clonal spheres. During these serumfree culture conditions, the sphere cells were negative for the expression of Delta^g. On the contrary when the cultures were exposed to serum and allowed to adhere, indicating differentiation, they gained Delta expression¹¹. However, no change in Nestin expression was observed between the two culture conditions. As described above, Dll expression is seen in cells committed to the neuronal lineage²⁴¹, in line with the concept of lateral inhibition, and is in this case likely to be associated with a more differentiated phenotype. Taken together, there are several reports on expression of Notch pathway components in GBM cell lines, primary tumors and bCSC. And from the above outlined studies, it is tempting to speculate, that inhibition of Notch signaling leads to increased differentiation and decreased tumorigenecity by reducing the bCSC pool while an increased Notch activity is linked to a more undifferentiated phenotype and increased tumorigenecity.

^g The authors use only this description

In the latter years, a number of studies have investigated the functional relevance of Notch signaling in gliomas and bCSC. Purow and co-workers showed for the first time that glioma cells were dependent on Notch-1, Dll-1 and Jagged-1 expression as knock-down of either the genes induced apoptosis and inhibited proliferation as well as prolonged the survival in an orthotopic mouse model²⁶⁴. In another study by Yin et al. glioma cell lines were stably transfected with delta-like ligand-1 (Dlk-1)²⁶⁵, which is an atypical Notch ligand that shares homology with Dll-1, but lacks a critical receptor-binding domain²⁶⁶. Nevertheless, expression of Dlk-1 protein resulted in increased proliferation, loss of contact inhibition, enhanced anchorage-independent growth in soft agar and significantly greater capacity to migrate, together indicating increased aggressiveness. By using a Dlk-1 antibody they could block the Dlk-1 induced proliferation²⁶⁵. Similar results were obtained by Kanamori *et al.* who used an additional approach to modulate Notch signaling²⁰⁹. In this study they found that inhibition of Notch signaling in glioma cell lines, either by inhibiting the γ -secretase or exposing the cells to antisense Notch-1 or Notch-1 small interfering RNA (siRNA), resulted in suppressed growth, induced change in the morphology and induced expression of differentiation markers in cells exhibiting Notch pathway deregulation. However, no increase in apoptosis was detected therefore increased cell death could not account for the observed growth suppression²⁰⁹. By examining the level of the Notch-1 intracellular domain, Zhang et al. found the active receptor highly expressed in the SHG-44 glioma cell line, which also was the only cell line investigated that expressed Hes-5²⁶¹. In vitro adherent growth of four glioma cell lines including SHG-44 revealed a higher proliferation rate for those cell lines that expressed ICN-1. By stably transfecting SHG-44 with ICN-1 they obtained a cell line, which grew significantly faster and had a significantly higher colony forming potential and generated more spheres when plated in serum-free media as compared to the parental and control cell lines transfected with an empty vector. The spheres formed in the assay were tested positive for Nestin, and could differentiate into the three neural lineages, indicating the presence of bCSC. This study was the first to examine the functional role of Notch signaling in glioma derived bCSC characteristics²⁶¹.

The above outlined studies were primarily performed on commercial glioma cell lines grown in the presence of serum, which according to Lee et al. is a rather poor model of human GBM. It has, however, been increasingly more common to establish and culture GBM cells during NSC conditions as described above. A commonly used approach for targeting Notch signaling, especially in pre-clinical studies is the use of γ -secretase inhibitors (GSI) that hinder the release of the intracellular Notch domain and thus transcription of target genes. In a recent study, Hu and colleagues showed that GSI treatment of both normal NSC- and patient derived glioma neurosphere cultures resulted in decreased formation of primary and secondary spheres as well as increased differentiation, possibly due to hampered proliferation and self-renewal of the sphere forming cells²⁶⁷ together indicating Notch as an important player in maintaining the undifferentiated and tumorigenic potential of bCSC. By siRNA knock-down of the Notch-1 receptor in GBM cell lines grown as neurospheres Wang et al. were able to inhibit in vitro viability as well as in vivo subcutaneous tumor growth both when evaluating the tumor growth of cells treated prior to engraftment and when the siRNA was administered locally after the tumor had formed²⁶⁸. The effect of Notch inhibition on GBM cell viability is further supported in a study that targets the Notch downstream mediator Hes-3 using RNA interference (RNAi) resulting in reduced cell number²⁶⁹. Taken together, these data suggest that the effect observed when inhibiting the Notch receptor, either by means of GSI or on a translational level, is most likely a consequence of abolishing signaling downstream from the receptor and thus the transcription of target genes. Fan and co-workers have previously shown that they could deplete CD133+ cells from an embryonal brain tumor medulloblastoma model by GSI treatment²⁷⁰. Using the same GSI (GSI-18) on GBM derived neurosphere cultures they obtained similar results as GSI treatment reduced cell viability and xenograft tumor growth both subcutaneously and orthotopic. In opposite, activating the pathway by transfection with the intracellular Notch-2 domain showed increased cell viability and tumor growth²⁶.

In conclusion, there are several lines of evidence indicating a functional role for Notch signaling in GBM, bCSC and glioma aggressiveness as studies indicate that an active Notch pathway is important for proliferation and maintenance of the undifferentiated tumorigenic phenotype of bCSC. In addition, Notch signaling has been implicated a role in bCSC radioresistance²⁷¹ and tumor angiogenisis^{272,273} verifying the importance of Notch signaling in GBM tumorigenisis. Thus, Notch serves as a potential target for bCSC directed anti-GBM therapy as inhibition of Notch signaling has been demonstrated to abolish proliferation and induces differentiation in the bCSC and thereby eradicating this cell population.

3. Aim of the project

Objectives

GBM is today considered to be incurable as nearly all patients will experience relapse and die. Several indications appoint bCSC as the GBM cells responsible for tumor initiation, progression, treatment resistance and ultimately recurrence of the tumor. The EGFR and Notch signaling pathways are known to be important for maintaining the normal NSC population. These two pathways are often found aberrantly activated in GBM and recent reports suggest that they play a significant role in bCSC as well. However little is known about the specific function of the pathways in bCSC.

Hypothesis

By utilizing GBM neurosphere cultures established during stem cell culture conditions a representative *in vitro* GBM model for studying the functional role of EGFR and Notch activity in bCSC can be obtained.

Specific aims

- 1. Establish and characterize GBM neurosphere cultures based on their NSC-like characteristics and expression of EGFR and Notch pathway components
- 2. Establish an orthotopic GBM model by injecting neurosphere cells stereotactically into the brains of immunocompromised mice.
- 3. Investigate the functional relevance of EGFR and Notch activity in the neurosphere cells and identify possible predictive markers for response.

4. Results - Manuscript I

Maintenance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expression in an *in vivo* and *in vitro* model of human glioblastoma multiforme

Running title: EGFR and EGFRvIII expression in a GBM model

By:

Marie-Thérése Stockhausen^a, Helle Broholm^b, Mette Villingshøj^a, Maria Kirchhoff^c, Tommy Gerdes^c, Karina Kristoffersen^a, Michael Kosteljanetz^d, Mogens Spang-Thomsen^e and Hans Skovgaard Poulsen^a

^aDepartment of Radiation Biology, The Finsen Center, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark ^bDepartment of Neuropathology, The Diagnostic Center, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark ^cDepartment of Clinical Genetics, The Juliane Marie Center, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark ^dDepartment of Neurosurgery, The Neuro Center, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark ^eDepartment of Biomedicine, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Experimental Cell Research, 317(11):1513-26 2011



1514

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2 0 1 1) 1 5 1 3 - 1 5 2 6

The importance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in tumorigenicity and GBM malignancy has been verified in several in vivo and in vitro studies. EGFR and EGFRvIII have been shown to increase malignancy and cell motility in animal models, and cells expressing EGFRvIII have also been shown to be more resistant to radiation therapy and EGFR inhibitors [7-13]. Thus, it is believed that EGFR and EGFRvIII might be involved in the genesis and/or progression of GBM, and EGFR is therefore considered to be an attractive target in GBM therapy. The two main approaches to target EGFR is through tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) that bind to the intracellular domain of the receptor and inhibits its kinase activity, and humanized monoclonal mouse anti-EGFR antibodies that hinders ligand binding and receptor dimerization, which is crucial for its autophosphorylation and activity [14]. Although EGFR inhibition has been shown effective in several other cancer forms, studies regarding the prognostic and predictive role of EGFR and EGFRvIII in GBM have been inconclusive [15-22], and clinical studies with EGFR inhibitors in GBM have shown inconsistent results [23-25]. As such there is a need for further clarification of the role EGFR and EGFRvIII in GBM malignancy. One of the major concerns in evaluating the effect of EGFR inhibitors in GBM is the lack of an appropriate tumor model. GBM tumor cells grown in vitro invariably lose their EGFR amplification and overexpression as well as their EGFRvIII expression [26,27]. As such, the majority of studies on EGFR are performed with established GBM cell lines exogenously transfected with EGFR and EGFRvIII. Although these cells have revealed important information regarding the function of EGFR and EGFRvIII, they might not be suitable for studies investigating the response to targeted treatment, as these cells obviously are not dependent on EGFR amplification/overexpression or EGFRvIII expression for their survival.

During the last couple of years the concept of brain cancer stem-cells (bCSC) has gained much attention in GBM malignancy. These cells show profound similarity to normal neural stem cells (NSC) as they express NSC markers and are able to differentiate into the three neural lineages, namely astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and neurons [28-32]. When grown in a defined stem cell media, the bCSC form neurospheres, as a result of their selfrenewing capacity. Several studies have shown that the bCSC are responsible for tumor growth and relapse, and as such are an interesting target in GBM therapy [28,30,31]. Furthermore, in a recent study by Lee et al., it was shown that GBM cell cultures established in stem cell media were more representative for the original patient tumor than cell lines established in the presence of serum [33]. Thus it is feasible that cultures established in stem cell conditions enrich for the bCSC population, and as this population of cells has been implicated in the tumorigenesis of GBM, these cells would also maintain important characteristics of GBM tumors that are otherwise lost in traditionally grown cell cultures.

In this study we report the establishment of a representative GBM model retaining the EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions of the original patient tumor even after several *in vivo* and *in vitro* passages. Tumor material obtained at routine operation was subcutaneously transplanted into the flanks of nude mice. Once established as serially transplantable xenografts, tumors were analyzed for EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions and found to maintain the expression even after several passages. These xenografts were subsequently used to establish cell cultures *in vitro*. We show that cell cultures established in stem cell conditions maintain the EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions even after several months in culture.

These cells, in combination with the xenograft tumors can now be used as a representative *in vivo* and *in vitro* model for GBM to further elucidate the role of EGFR and EGFRvIII and to study the response to targeted EGFR therapy.

Materials and methods

Patients and in vivo growth

Tumor material was obtained during surgery at Copenhagen (CPH) University Hospital, Denmark and was approved by the Scientific Ethical Committee for Copenhagen and Frederiksberg (KF 01-034/ 04). Tumors were diagnosed as GBM according to the WHO 2000/ 2007 guidelines. Tumor xenografts were generated by subcutaneous transplantation of approximately 1 mm³ pieces of tumor tissue into the flanks of 6-week-old female NMRI nude mice (Taconic, Ry, Denmark). This was called xenograft passage 1 (p1). When reaching maximal size, the tumors were passaged by cutting the tumor into 1 mm³ pieces and transplanted subcutaneously (p2, p3, etc....). Simultaneously, tumor tissue was collected for further analyses and verification of tumor tissue. For in vivo evaluation of tumorigenicity of in vitro cultured cells, 2×10^6 cells were subcutaneously inoculated into the flanks of nude mice (NMRI nude mice, Taconic, Ry, Denmark). At the end of experiment, tumor tissue was collected for further analyses. For assessment of tumor growth, tumors were measured in two perpendicular dimensions (d1 and d2) and tumor area, $A\!=\!d1^*d2$ was calculated. Tumor volume was then calculated using the formula: $V = \Pi/6^* A3/2^* k$, where k is a constant that describes the relationship between d1 and d2 and the third dimension ("height") of the tumor. Tumor growth curves were established using the Gompertz function as has been described earlier [34].

Tumor xenografts were passaged over nude rats (RNU Nude Rat, Charles River Laboratories International, Inc., Wilmington, MA) in order to exterminate mouse hepatitis infection. All xenografts were tested with the Mouse RapidMAP 27 test (Taconic, Ry, Denmark), before they were again maintained as xenografts on the flanks of nude mice. Hereafter the tumors were assigned the prefix "N". Tumor xenografts free of mouse hepatitis infection were: GBM_CPH014, GBM_CPH017, GBM_CPH029, GBM_CPH036, GBM_CPH047 and GBM_CPH048.

Cell culture

In vitro cultures of GBM cells were established from xenograft GBM tumors free of mouse hepatitis infection. Xenograft GBM tumors were mechanically cut into small pieces (explants) that were covered with one drop of Neurobasal media (NB) (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) with additives: N2, B27, bFGF (10 ng/ml), EGF (10 ng/ml), L-glutamine, penicillin (50 U/ml) and streptomycin (50 µg/ml) (all from Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) per piece and allowed to adhere to the tissue culture dish surface. For NGBM_CPH036p7 and NGBM_CPH048p6, enzymatic dissociation using 1× Accutase (Millipore, Copenhagen, Denmark) into single cells was additionally performed prior to plating and LIF (10 ng/ml) (Millipore, Copenhagen, Denmark) was used instead of N2. When migrating cells were detected, both adherent cells and cells in suspension were collected and called passage 1. Fresh media was added twice a week and spheres were mechanically dissociated at

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2011) 15 13 - 15 26

every passage. The U87MG cell line was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. U87MGvIII and U87MG-EGFR cell lines were kindly provided by Dr. Webster Cavanee (Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, San Diego, CA). The NR6M and NR6W cell lines were a gift from Dr. Darrell Bigner (Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC) and the NR6WA cell line was a gift from Dr. Alan Wells (University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA). The U87MG, U87MG-U87, NR6M, NR6W and NR6WA cell lines were used as positive controls for expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII.

Western blotting

Whole cell protein lysates (5 µg) were separated on 3-8% NuPAGE TA gels (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) and electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark). The membranes were then blocked for 1 h at room temperature (RT) and incubated with primary antibodies in 5% non-fat milk overnight (ON) at 4 °C followed by secondary antibodies for 1 h at RT. Blots were developed using the SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL) and the Biospectrum Imaging System (UVP, Upland, CA). Primary antibodies used: goat polyclonal anti-EGFR (20-ES04, Fitzgerald Industries International, Concorde, MA), mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII (clone DH8.3, Novocastra, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK), mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII (L8A4, a kind gift from Dr. Darrell Bigner, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC) and rabbit anti-GAPDH (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA). EGFR expression was graded on a scale from 0 to 3 where neg = noexpression; x = low expression; xx = medium expression and xxx = high expression, as judged from band intensity.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Total RNA was purified with the RNeasy Mini kit and QlAshredder (both from Qiagen Denmark, Copenhagen, Denmark) as described by the manufacturer. RNA from tumor tissue samples was extracted with TRIzol®Reagent (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) prior to purification with the RNeasy kit. All RNA was DNase treated using

the RNase-Free DNase Set from Qiagen Denmark (Copenhagen, Denmark) according to the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was synthesized using the SuperScript™ III Platinum® Two step qRT-PCR kit with SYBR® Green (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) which was also used for quantitative real-time PCR (Q-RT-PCR) reactions. For non-quantitative PCR reactions Platinum Taq Polymerase (5 U/µl) (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) was used. Relative quantification of Q-RT-PCR expression levels was performed according to the comparative Ct method including the efficiency of the primers. All data was normalized to the expression of three housekeeping genes (TOP1, EIF4A2 and CYC1) included in the human geNorm housekeeping gene selection kit (Primerdesign, Southampton, UK). PCR reactions were optimized to distinguish between EGFR and EGFRvIII and to be specific for human genes, if not stated otherwise. Genes analyzed were: EGFR forward, 5'-TCC TTG GGA ATT TGG AAA TT-3': EGFR reverse, 5'-GGC ATA GGA ATT TTC GTA GTA CAT-3'; EGFRvIII forward, 5'-ATG CGA CCC TCC GGG ACG-3'; EGFRvIII reverse, 5'-ATC TGT CAC CAC ATA ATT ACC T-3' [16]; GFAP forward, 5'-CGC TGG TAG AGA TGG AGG AG-3'; GFAP reverse, 5'-CTG GGG TTA AGA AGC AGC AG-3'; mouse ACTIN forward, 5'-TTT GTT TTG TTTT GGC GCT T-3'; mouse ACTIN reverse; 5'-GGG CCA TTC AGA AAT TAA AA-3', ACTIN forward, 5'-GTC GAC AAC GGC TCC GGC ATG TGC A-3'; ACTIN reverse, 5'-GCC AGC CAG GTC CAG ACG CAG GAT G-3'; CD31 forward, 5'-CCC GAA GGC AGA ACT AAC TG-3'; and CD31 reverse, 5'-GGG TCA GGT TCT TCC CAT TT-3'.

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) and immunocytochemistry (ICC)

Patient tumor tissue and tumor xenografts were formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded. All tumors were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE) to verify tumor diagnosis. For immunocytochemistry (ICC), cells were washed in PBS and centrifuged at $350 \times g$ for 5 min. The resultant pellet was formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded. Formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded slides (4 μ m) were melted for 1 h at 60 °C, followed by de-paraffination in xylene and ethanol. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked in hydrogen peroxide 3% for 10 min. Afterwards the slides were de-masked in MBO-TEG for 15 min (except for TissuGnost® EGFR (E30) for which Proteinase K



Fig. 1 – EGFR expression in GBM tumors. Representative EGFR IHC stainings of patient GBM tumors included in the study. EGFR is visualized as a brown staining, whereas nuclei are stained blue. GBM_CPH043 = neg; GBM_CPH047 = xx and GBM_CPH048 = xxx. HE staining was used to confirm diagnosis and presence of tumor tissue. ×200 magnification.

1516

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2 0 1 1) 1 5 1 3 - 1 5 2 6

was used for 5 min). Incubation with the following primary antibodies: TissuGnost® monoclonal mouse anti-EGFR (E 30) (1:200 dilution, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany), rabbit monoclonal anti-EGFR (15F8) (1:50 dilution, Cell Signaling Technology, Inc., Danvers, MA) (used for detection of EGFR in tumor xenografts), polyclonal rabbit anti-GFAP (1:6400 dilution), monoclonal mouse anti-Vimentin (1:1600 dilution), and monoclonal mouse anti-Neurofilament (NF) (1:4000 dilution), all from DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark, monoclonal mouse anti-Nestin (1:800 dilution). and monoclonal mouse anti-NeuN (1:200 dilution) from Millipore, Copenhagen, Denmark and monoclonal mouse anti-CD56 (NCAM) (1:200 dilution, Novocastra, TriChem Aps-interkemi, Skanderborg, Denmark) was performed for 30 min at RT, for EGFR 15F8, blocking in 2% BSA was performed prior to addition of the primary antibody. Subsequently, EnVision + System-HRP Labelled Polymer (antimouse or anti-rabbit) was applied for 30 min followed by DAB+chromogen for 10 min, both from DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark. Enhancement was performed with 0.5% CuSO₄. All sections were counterstained with Mayer's Haematoxylin and were performed on a DAKO Cytomation Autostainer Plus (DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark). Evaluation of the slides was performed independently and under blind conditions by H.B. (Neuropathologist, MD) and M.T.S (Senior Scientist, PhD). Staining of cells was graded as follow: neg = 0%; x = 1%-10%; xx = 11%-50%, xxx = >50% of the cells stained positive.

Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)

EGFR fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) on paraffin sections from patient tumors and xenografts was performed by Medical Solutions, UK. In brief, samples were hydrolyzed in HCL acid for 29 min before being placed in pre-treatment solution for 45 min at 87 °C, and digested with protease solution for 30 min at 37 °C. Slides were allowed to dry where after the EGFR/Chromosome 7 (CEP7) probe was added and allowed to hybridize for at least 14 h. Posthybridization wash was performed in a water bath at 69 °C where after the slides were allowed to dry at 70 °C for 5 min. Tissue sections were covered with 4'6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for chromatin counterstaining before microscopy. Analyses were done with a fluorescence microscope (Leica DMLB) (manual scoring—no image analysis). EGFR was visualized as a red signal with a Spectrum Orange filter, CEP7 as a green signal with a Spectrum

Patient	Diagnosis	EGFR IHC	EGFR WB	EGFRvIII WB	Xenograft	In vitro growth
GBM_CPH001	GBM	xxx	xx	neg	-	_
GBM_CPH002	GBM	neg	х	neg	_	
GBM_CPH003	GBM	neg	х	neg		-
GBM_CPH004	GBM	neg	xx	neg	_	1 <u></u>
GBM_CPH006	GBM	XXX	XXX	pos	_	-
GBM_CPH009	GBM	neg	х	neg	-	-
GBM_CPH011	GBM	xx	х	neg	-	-
GBM_CPH014	GBM	neg	х	neg	+	
GBM_CPH017	GBM	х	х	neg	+	+
GBM_CPH018	GBM	XX	х	neg	-	-
GBM_CPH019	GBM	XX	XX	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH020	GBM	neg	neg	neg	-	_
GBM_CPH021	GBM	XX	х	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH022	GBM	х	XX	neg	-	-
GBM_CPH023	GBM	neg	х	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH024	GBM	xxx	XXX	pos	+	n.a
GBM_CPH025	GBM	х	neg	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH028	GBM	XXX	XXX	pos	+	n.a
GBM_CPH029	GBM	XX	х	pos	+	+
GBM_CPH031	GBM	neg	neg	neg	-	
GBM_CPH033	GBM	XXX	XXX	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH035	GBM	xxx	XXX	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH036	GBM	neg	х	neg	+	+
GBM_CPH037	GBM	neg	х	neg	—	-
GBM_CPH038	GBM	XXX	XX	neg	-	_
GBM_CPH040	GBM	XXX	XX	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH042	GBM	neg	х	neg	_	_
GBM_CPH043	GBM	neg	neg	neg	-	_
GBM_CPH045	GBM	neg	XXX	neg	-	-
GBM_CPH046	GBM	xxx	XXX	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH047	GBM	xx	neg	neg	+	+
GBM_CPH048	GBM	XXX	XXX	neg	+	+
GBM_CPH049	GBM	neg	neg	neg	-	_
GBM_CPH051	GBM	neg	х	neg	-	-
GBM_CPH052	GBM	xx	xx	neg	+	n.a
GBM_CPH053	GBM	х	XX	neg	+	n.a

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2 0 1 1) 1 5 1 3 - 1 5 2 6

Green filter and nuclei as a blue signal with a DAPI filter. Up to 200 nuclei in five different fields were enumerated, $\times 100$ Magnification.

Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA)

Results

EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in patient material

DNA was extracted from patient tumors, xenografts and cell cultures using TRIzol®Reagent (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, Trizol was added to the samples and homogenized with Qiagen Tissue Lyser (Qiagen Denmark, Copenhagen, Denmark). After lysis, chloroform was added and DNA isolation continued from the inter- and phenol phases. DNA was precipitated using 100% ethanol, centrifuged and the resultant pellet was washed in 0.1 M Sodium citrate in 10% ethanol. After a final wash in 75% ethanol, the pellet was air-dried and resuspended in TE buffer. DNA was extracted from peripheral blood from healthy donors using the same procedure with the exception for an additional step including removal of red blood cells from the samples by lyzing with RIPA-buffer followed by centrifugation, before addition of the TRIzol®Reagent. Multiplex Ligation-Dependent Probe Amplification (MLPA) reactions were performed on genomic DNA using the commercial SALSA MLPA kit P105-C1 Oligodendroglioma-2 according to the manufacturer's instructions (MRC-Holland, Amsterdam, The Netherlands). PCR products were analyzed on a 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The resulting electropherogram data were quantified by GeneMapper Software 4.0 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA), and the final quantified MLPA data were analyzed by an in-house developed software [35] (details and downloads of the software are available on www. chromosomelab.dk). DNA from 9 normal controls was included for normalization of the samples and DNA extracted from mouse muscle was initially tested to ensure specificity for human DNA.

Tumor material obtained at routine surgery was subcutaneously xenografted into the flanks of nude mice. In parallel, the tumor tissue was verified as GBM by histological evaluation and stained for the expression of EGFR by immunohistochemistry (IHC). HE and EGFR stainings of representative GBM tumors are shown in Fig. 1. GBM_043 was scored to be negative for EGFR expression whereas GBM_CPH047 and GBM_CPH048 were scored as positive. In high expressing tumors such as GBM_CPH048, the expression of EGFR was uniform and could be detected in almost all tumor cells whereas infiltrative vessels were negative. In contrast, EGFR distribution in tumors that expressed medium levels of EGFR, such as GBM_CPH047, was heterogeneous. Expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII were also analyzed by Western blotting (WB), and the results of the IHC stainings and WB analyses are presented in Table 1. In most cases the IHC and WB results are well corresponding: however in some cases they do not correlate. This is most probably due to the observed heterogeneity of EGFR expression as mentioned above.

GBM xenograft tumors maintain the expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII

Out of 36 evaluable patients in the study, 18 tumors were established as xenografts on mice resulting in a 50% take-rate (Table 1). The xenografts were maintained by serial passaging and the growth of each tumor was monitored by measuring its size in two perpendicular dimensions, and tumor area was calculated.



Fig. 2 – Growth curves of representative tumor xenografts. Tumor size was measured in two perpendicular dimensions and tumor volume was calculated as described in the Materials and methods section. Tumor growth curves were established using the Gompertz function. p1 = xenograft passage 1, p2 = xenograft passage 2, etc....

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2011) 1513 - 1526

Growth curves were established as described in the materials and methods section. Fig. 2 shows representative growth curves from four different xenografts. In most cases the lag-period before visible tumors were detected decreased, and the tumor growth rate increased, with increasing passages. In most cases the tumor growth was stabilized after repeated serial passaging, however xenografts derived from different patient tumors continued to show substantial variation in growth rate. This is consistent with what has been reported by others [27].

At the time of passaging, xenograft tumor tissue was collected for analysis of EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions by WB, IHC and Q-RT-PCR, and the tumors were confirmed to be GBM by histological analysis. As shown in Fig. 3A, EGFR and EGFRvIII protein expressions were maintained over several *in vivo* passages. In GBM_CPH048 a rearrangement of EGFR could be detected as shown by increased protein size. IHC stainings of EGFR were very well corresponding to the WB results and are presented in Table 2. We furthermore analyzed *EGFR* and *EGFRvIII* mRNA expressions (Figs. 3B and C). For this purpose EGFR and EGFRvIII specific primers were developed, ensuring that a) only human transcripts were detected and b) that the reactions were specific for either *EGFR* or *EGFRvIII* transcripts [16]. The results confirmed the results obtained from the WB and IHC analyses, showing that *EGFR* and *EGFRvIII* expressions were maintained even after several passages *in vivo* (Figs. 3B and C). In some cases, *EGFR* and *EGFRvIII* expressions were lower in the patient material than in the xenografts. This is most likely due to that the tumor tissue obtained from the patients contain a mixed cell population composed of both tumor cells and surrounding stroma, whereas the xenografts are solid tumors, with little or no infiltration of normal tissue. However, it could also reflect differences in the handling time between the xenograft tissue and the patient material.

High expression of EGFR and response to EGFR inhibitors has been associated to amplification of the *EGFR* gene [21,36–40]. As such it is of importance that the xenograft tumors maintain the *EGFR* amplification, if any, present in the patient tumor. Therefore we investigated the amplification status of *EGFR* in the diagnostic patient material and derived GBM xenografts by FISH analysis. Fig. 4 shows a representative picture of *EGFR* amplification in GBM_CPH017 patient material. In all cases analyzed, the *EGFR* amplification observed in the patient tumor was maintained in the xenografts (Table 3).

Cells from GBM xenografts grow as spheroids in stem cell media

As mentioned above, GBM cell cultures established in a welldefined stem cell media are more representative for the original patient tumor than cell cultures established in traditional serum containing conditions [33]. Therefore, once established as growing



Fig. 3 – EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions are maintained *in vivo*. EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in patient material and derived xenografts from several passages as assessed by A) Western blotting and B) and C) Quantitative Real-Time PCR (Q-RT-PCR). White bars = patient tumor, gray bars = xenografts. Q-RT-PCR reactions are presented as mean ± SD. "N" = xenograft tumors that have been passaged over nude rats. For detection of EGFRvIII by Western blotting in GBM_CPH014, GBM_CPH017, GBM_CPH029, GBM_CPH036 and GBM_CPH048 tumors, the mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII clone DH8.3 from Novocastra was used and for GBM_CPH047 tumors, the mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII L8A4 antibody was used.

33

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2 0 1 1) 1 5 1 3 - 1 5 2 6

Table 2 – IHC of EGFR in GBM tumors and xenografts.			
Patient	Passage	EGFR	
GBM_CPH014	Patient	neg	
	P1	neg	
	P4	х	
	P1 N	neg	
GBM_CPH017	Patient	х	
	P1	neg	
	P5	neg	
	P3 N	neg	
GBM_CPH029	Patient	xx	
	P1	XX	
	P3	XX	
	P1 N	xx	
GBM_CPH036	Patient	neg	
	P1	х	
	P3	х	
	P4 N	х	
GBM_CPH048	Patient	XXX	
	P1	XXX	
	P2	XXX	
	P4 N	ххх	

xenografts, tumor explants were seeded in supplemented neurobasal media (NB) in order to allow cells to grow *in vitro*. Cells were found to grow either as spheres in suspension or as mixed cultures with spheres and adherent cells, which has also been observed by others [41] (Fig. 5A and data not shown).

One could argue that also infiltrating mouse cells, present in the xenograft tumors, would grow *in vitro*. Therefore primers specific for mouse *ACTIN* were developed and all cultures were analyzed with RT-PCR. As seen in Fig. 5B, the positive control, mouse muscle, was clearly positive for mouse *ACTIN*, whereas the negative controls, HMVEC (human microvascular endothelial cells) and CCD32lu (non-transformed human lung fibroblasts) were negative.





Fig. 4 – ECFR is amplified in GBM tumors. Representative pictures of GBM_CPH017 patient material showing amplification of the *EGFR* gene as detected by FISH analysis. Table 3 – Summary of EGFR FISH analysis. GBM_CPH014 patient Low polysomy Low trisomy NGBM_CPH014 xenograft p1 High polysomy-gene amplification GBM CPH017 patient NGBM_CPH017 xenograft p3 Low polysomy-gene amplification GBM_CPH029 patient Low polysomy-gene amplification NGBM_CPH029 xenograft p1 High polysomy-gene amplification GBM_CPH036 patient Low trisomy NGBM_CPH036 xenograft p4 Low trisomy GBM_CPH048 patient High polysomy-gene amplification NGBM CPH048 xenograft p4 High polysomy-gene amplification $Disomy - (\leq 2 \text{ copies} > 90\% \text{ of cells}).$ Low trisomy $-(\le 2 \text{ copies} \ge 40\% \text{ of cells}; 3 \text{ copies in } 10-40\%; \ge 4 \text{ copies in}$ <10%). High trisomy–(≤ 2 copies $\geq 40\%$ of cells; 3 copies in >40%; ≥ 4 copies in <10%).

1519

Low polysomy—(≥ 4 copies in 10–40% of cells).

High polysomy–(\geq 4 copies in \geq 40% of cells).

Gene amplification (presence of tight EGFR gene clusters and gene to chromosome ratio of ≥ 2 or ≥ 15 copies per cell in $\ge 10\%$ of cells).

tive. A slight positive result was seen in human brain, however this was probably due to contamination of the sample. Importantly, all GBM cell cultures established in NB were negative for mouse *ACTIN*, showing that these cells are indeed of human origin. Furthermore, all cell cultures were negative for *CD31*, optimized to be specific for human endothelial cells. Thus the cell cultures established are most likely not derived from neither mouse nor human endothelial cell origin. In addition, all cell cultures investigated were positive for *glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)*, an intermediate filament of astrocytes that is highly expressed in astrocytic tumors such as GBM but that also is expressed by neural stem cells [42] (Table 4 and data not shown).

To further characterize the cells as GBM derived, we performed immunocytochemical (ICC) stainings of markers known to be expressed by gliomas and cells of the neuronal lineages. As summarized in Table 4, all cell cultures were positive for Vimentin, CD56 and Nestin, and all except for NGBM_CPH048p6 NB were positive for NeuN, whereas they were all negative for Neurofilament (NF). In addition to the RT-PCR analysis of *GFAP* described above, we also stained the cells for the expression of GFAP. As can be seen in Table 4, all cultures except for NGBM_CPH017p4 NB were positive for GFAP. Representative stainings of the different markers are shown in Fig. 5C. Expressions of Vimentin and Nestin were detected in almost all cells whereas GFAP, NeuN and CD56 expressions were more heterogeneous. Taken together these results show that the cell cultures established indeed are of GBM origin.

Cell cultures established in stem cell media maintain the expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII

One major concern of GBM cell lines is that they lose their expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII present *in vivo* when grown *in vitro* [26,27]. Therefore we tested the expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII by Q-RT-PCR in our established cell cultures and the corresponding xenograft tumors from which they were derived. As can be seen in Fig. 6A all cell cultures investigated expressed EGFR at the same level as the matched xenografts, except for NGBM_CPH048p5 in which EGFR expression was much higher in the cell culture than in the parental xenograft. Furthermore,



markers of the neuronal and astrocytic lineages on neurospheres derived from NGBM_CPH036p6NBp2 showing spread positivity for GFAP, NeuN, and CD56, whereas staining for Vimentin and Nestin was detected in almost all cells. Staining for Neurofilament was negative. ×400 magnification. NB = cells grown in Neurobasal media as described in the Materials and methods section.

EGFRvIII expression was maintained in cell cultures established from EGFRvIII positive xenograft tumors (Fig. 6B). By WB we could also show that NGBM_CPH048 xenografts expressed a rearranged EGFR protein of two different sizes, as is shown in Fig. 6C. Cell cultures established from these xenografts seemed to favor the expression of one of the rearranged proteins (Fig. 6C). In addition, we also investigated the protein expression of EGFRvIII in NGBM_CPH047 xenografts and derived cell cultures. As shown in Fig. 6D, all xenografts and cell cultures investigated expressed

EGFRvIII at comparable levels. By MLPA it is possible to screen for deletions and gains of specific genes. To investigate whether amplification of EGFR was maintained in vitro we thus analyzed our GBM cell cultures and their corresponding xenograft tumors with MLPA. From the results presented in Table 5 it is clear that cell cultures established from xenograft tumors with EGFR amplification also had gain of EGFR in vitro as exemplified by NGBM_CPH048p4 and p5. Even though in most cases the EGFR ratio was lower in vitro than in vivo. These results are also in good

EXPERIMENTA	L CELL RESEARCH	317 (2011)	1513-1526
-------------	-----------------	------------	-----------

Table 4 – Characterization of established cell cultures.									
Cell culture	Mouse actin (PCR)	CD31 (PCR)	CD133 (PCR)	GFAP (PCR/IHC)	Vimentin (IHC)	NeuN (IHC)	CD56 (IHC)	Nestin (IHC)	NF (IHC)
NGBM_CPH017p4 NBp9	neg	neg	pos	pos/neg	pos	pos	pos	pos	neg
GBM_CPH029p7 NBp10, p11	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH036p6 NBp2, p8	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH036p7 NBp2, p12	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	neg	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH047p2mousel NBp6	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH047p3mousel NBp6	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH047p3mouse2 NBp7	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	(pos)	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH047p4mousel NBp5	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH048p4 NBp16	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH048p5 NBp9	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	(pos)	pos	pos	neg
NGBM_CPH048p6 NBp12	neg	neg	pos	pos	pos	neg	pos	pos	neg

correlation with the data obtained from the FISH analysis described above (Table 3).

Cells grown in stem cell media are tumorigenic and maintain EGFR expression

In order to test whether the cell cultures established in stem cell media were tumorigenic we subcutaneously injected cells from the GBM_CPH029p7 NB, NGBM_CPH036p6 NB and NGBM_CPH047p3m1 NB cell cultures into the flanks of nude mice. At the end of experiment, tumors had developed in all mice. EGFR and EGFRvIII protein and mRNA expressions were analyzed by WB and Q-RT-PCR. As can be seen in Fig. 7A, EGFRvIII expression was not detected in the original GBM_CPH029 xenograft tumor at passage 7, and as such neither in the established cell culture nor in the resulting xenograft tumor. On the other hand, EGFR could be readily detected both in the NB

1521



Fig. 6 – EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions are maintained *in vitro*. Quantitative Real-Time PCR analyses of A) EGFR and B) EGFRvIII in tumor xenografts (white bars) and derived cell cultures (gray bars). Q-RT-PCR reactions are presented as mean ± SD. C) EGFR expression in NGBM_CPH048 xenografts and cell cultures. D) Western blot analysis of EGFRvIII expression in cell cultures derived from NGBM_CPH047 xenografts of different passages. For detection of EGFRvIII by Western blotting, the mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII L8A4 antibody was used. NB = Neurobasal media. NR6 are mouse fibroblasts expressing EGFRvIII (M), high levels of EGFR (W) and medium levels of EGFR (WA).

1522

EXPERIMENTAL CELL RESEARCH 317 (2011) 1513-1526

Table 5 – EGFR ratio in xenografts and derived cell cultures.

	EGFR ratio	P-value*
NGBM_CPH0I7p4	2.08	0.0033
NGBM_CPH0I7p4 NBp8	1.89	0.0000
NGBM_CPH036p6	1.43	0.0050
NGBM_CPH036p6 NBp6	1.61	0.0002
NGBM_CPH047p2 mousel	7.32	0.0104
NGBM_CPH047p2 mousel NBp8	2.94	0.0030
NGBM_CPH047p3 mousel	7.03	0.0112
NGBM_CPH047p3 mousel NBp6	4.55	0.0080
NGBM_CPH047p4 mousel	10.35	0.0108
NGBM_CPH047p4 mousel NBp5	4.46	0.0065
NGBM_CPH048p4	23.53	0.0001
NGBM_CPH048p4 NBp16	11.41	0.0000
NGBM_CPH048p5	25.96	0.0000
NGBM_CPH048p5 NBp11	9.65	0.0000

cell culture and in the tumor xenografts (Figs. 7A and B). The NGBM_CPH036p6 xenograft, the derived *in vitro* culture and there of derived secondary xenografts all expressed EGFR, whereas they were negative for EGFRvIII (Figs. 7A and B). Most importantly, all secondary xenografts derived from the NGBM_CPH047p3m1 *in vitro* culture expressed EGFRvIII, as did the original xenograft from which the cells were established (Figs. 7A and B). All samples analyzed from NGBM_CPH047p3m1 also expressed wild-type EGFR (Figs. 7A and B). IHC staining confirmed expression of EGFR in the secondary xenograft tumors (Fig. 7C). HE staining and expression of GFAP, as detected by IHC verified tumors of astrocytic origin (Fig. 7C).

Discussion

Here we describe the establishment of an in vivo and in vitro model of the human brain tumor GBM. In this model, expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII were maintained both in xenograft tumors growing subcutaneously on mice and in cell cultures established in stem cell conditions. Furthermore, EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions were preserved in xenograft tumors established from in vitro cultured cells. We found that EGFR was expressed in 47% of the patients as detected by IHC and 44% of the patients as detected by WB (tumors rated as xx and xxx were included), and as such was representative for what has been found in other studies with GBM [16,18,43]. In some cases the results regarding EGFR expression obtained from IHC and WB analyses were contradictory. This was most probably due to the heterogenic expression of EGFR, which was most evident in tumors expressing medium levels of EGFR. However, this was also apparent in tumor samples from GBM_CPH017, where EGFR expression was detected as high in

the diagnostic patient material (unpublished observations) whereas the piece of patient material that was xenografted into nude mice, and resultant xenograft tumors, were low for EGFR expression as detected by IHC. Humphrey et al. reported a similar discrepancy between patient tumor biopsies and derived xenografts, where they found one case to be highly positive for EGFR expression in the biopsy whereas the resultant xenograft tumor was negative [44]. However, in all other cases examined they found that EGFR expression, as detected by IHC, was identical between the biopsies and the derived xenografts, which is in line with our own results. The diagnostic material from GBM_CPH017 was shown to be amplified for the EGFR gene by FISH analysis. This is in line with previous data showing that in most cases, overexpression of EGFR is associated with EGFR gene amplification [21,36,44]. However, EGFR amplification has been found without overexpression of the EGFR protein [21,45]. This would explain the low expression of EGFR as detected by IHC in the presence of EGFR amplification in xenograft tumors derived from GBM_CPH017. Nevertheless, EGFR mRNA expression in the GBM_CPH017 patient material xenografted into mice and resultant xenograft tumors was comparable with mRNA expression in GBM_CPH029 and GBM_CPH048, which were both found to be amplified for EGFR. This indicates that there is a post-transcriptional regulation that is responsible for the low EGFR expression present in GBM_CPH017.

In addition to overexpression of wild-type EGFR, about one third of primary GBM express the tumor specific deletion variant EGFRvIII which lacks the extracellular, ligand binding domain and which shows low but constitutive activation [16-18,43,46,47]. In our study, expression of EGFRvIII was always accompanied by expression of the wild-type receptor, and never occurred de novo in xenografts or cell cultures. Even though GBM_CPH047 was negative for EGFRvIII expression in the patient material as assessed by WB, Q-RT-PCR analysis showed presence of EGFRvIII transcript. This discrepancy could either be due to differences in sensitivity of the methods or to heterogeneous distribution of EGFRvIII in the tumor. Focal expression of EGFRvIII has been reported by others, and as sampling then could affect EGFRvIII detection, caution should be taken when analyzing tumor biopsies for the expression of EGFRvIII [22,27]. Heterogenic expression of EGFRvIII might also be an obstacle when establishing in vitro cultures from EGFRvIII expressing tumors. This was evident in GBM_CPH029, in which all xenograft passages before and subsequent passage 7 were positive for EGFRvIII expression. However, the xenograft tumor analyzed from passage 7 was negative. From this tumor we established a cell culture, which was also negative for EGFRvIII expression. However, EGFRvIII expression was not lost in vivo, as subsequent xenograft passages expressed EGFRvIII, indicating that the lack of EGFRvIII expression in passage 7 and the derived cell culture is a consequence of heterogenic EGFRvIII expression and a result of sampling. Previous reports have shown that EGFRvIII expression in most cases is associated with EGFR amplification, even though EGFRvIII expression can also occur

Fig. 7 – EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions are maintained in xenografts derived from *in vitro* cultured cells. EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in patient tumor, primary xenografts, cell cultures and secondary xenografts from GBM_CPH029, GBM_CPH036 and GBM_CPH047 as assessed by A) Western blotting and B) Quantitative Real-time PCR. U87MG is an established glioma cell line, stably transfected with EGFR (U87MG-EGFR) and EGFRvIII (U87MGvIII) respectively. NR6 are mouse fibroblasts expressing EGFRvIII (M), high levels of EGFR (W) and medium levels of EGFR (WA). C) IHC analysis of GFAP and EGFR expressions in secondary xenograft tumors fibrodagnosis. ×400 magnification. For detection of EGFRvIII by Western blotting, the mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII L8A4 antibody was used.



E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2 0 1 1) 1 5 1 3 - 1 5 2 6

without EGFR amplification in a minority of cases [21,22,48]. We observed EGFRvIII expression in xenografts from GBM_CPH029 and GBM_CPH047, which were shown to be amplified for *EGFR* by FISH and harboring gain of *EGFR* by MLPA analyses respectively. These data are thus in good correlation to previous reports and strengthen the hypothesis that the EGFRvIII mutation occur subsequent to *EGFR* gene amplification [48].

Based on previous results, EGFR amplification and EGFRvIII expression has been considered to be in vivo phenomenon as these are invariable lost in vitro [26,27]. In an extensive study by Pandita and colleagues it was shown that subpopulations of cells with EGFR amplification, present in the original patient tumor, were selected for when grown as xenografts [27]. Furthermore, when both wild-type and EGFRvIII amplification were present, there was a selection for the mutated version. In our study, we could not detect any consistent increase in neither EGFR nor EGFRvIII expression in the xenografts as compared to the original patient tumor, and in most cases the EGFR amplification status in the xenograft tumors was consistent with what was found in the patients. This is also consistent with the study by Humphrey et al., who showed that the EGFR amplification pattern observed in GBM biopsies was preserved in derived xenograft tumors [44]. In addition, in our study, both EGFR and EGFRvIII were continuously expressed in xenograft tumors that co-expressed both receptors, even after several passages. However, we did see a selection for a mutated version of EGFR in xenografts derived from GBM_CPH048. Selection for rearranged EGFR genes after several passages in GBM xenografts has been reported previously [49]. However, as the mutated protein in the GBM_CPH048 xenografts appeared already in passage 1, we find it likely that this rearrangement was present, either at undetectable levels or heterogeneously expressed, also in the parental tumor. This mutated EGFR was larger than the wild-type receptor and could involve duplication of the tyrosine kinase (TK) and calcium-mediated internalization (CAIN) domains, as has been shown to occur in human glioma cells [50,51].

To date, only one established glioma cell line with EGFR amplification, and none with endogenous EGFRvIII expression, has been reported [52,53]. Even though *EGFR* gene amplification has been shown to be maintained in vivo, cell lines established from the same original patient tumors fail to show any EGFR amplification [26,27]. Pandita et al., showed loss of amplified EGFRvIII in cell cultures established from GBM xenograft tumors harboring this amplification, and thus suggested that there is a selection against EGFRvIII in vitro [27]. However, the cells were grown in traditional media in the presence of serum. This could be of importance when considering a stem cell origin of GBM, as NSC are known to differentiate upon serum exposure [54,55]. Indeed, glioma cell lines established in the presence of serum have been shown to be less representative for the original patient tumor than cell lines established in so-called stem cell conditions [33]. As such, it is possible that stem cell-associated characteristics, important for GBM tumorigenicity, could be lost in traditional, serum-containing culture conditions. One could speculate that EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions might be examples of such characteristics, and preliminary data from our own laboratory strengthen this hypothesis (unpublished data). In the postnatal brain, EGFR is expressed in neurogenic regions also containing neuronal precursor cells [56]. Holland and co-workers have reported the importance of EGFR signaling in the genesis of gliomas from immature cells of the brain [57]. They showed that when introducing constitutively active mutant EGFR into glial precursor cells or astrocytes under the Nestin- and GFAP promoters respectively, lesions with similarities to human gliomas were induced. This occurred more frequently when mutant EGFR was expressed from the Nestin promoter than from GFAP, indicating that the tumors arose more efficiently from immature cells of the glial lineage than from mature astrocytes [57]. Furthermore, activated EGFR signaling, through overexpression of EGFR or EGFRvIII, in post-natal murine neural stem cells (NSC) led to enhanced proliferation, survival and blocked neural differentiation, and EGFRvIII expression promoted a glial cell fate [58]. This is consistent with the hypothesis that stem cell-like cells are involved in the genesis of gliomas and that EGFR signaling is involved in this process.

By culturing GBM cells in stem cell conditions, we could show that EGFR expression was maintained at the same level as in the xenografts from which the cells were derived. Furthermore, gain of EGFR, possibly reflecting EGFR amplification, as detected by MLPA, was present in the in vitro cultured cells. However, it did seem as if the ratio of EGFR was lower in the cell cultures than in the tumor xenografts, although this did not have a substantial effect on EGFR transcript or protein expression. This is in contrast to previous results showing that EGFR mRNA expression was lower in in vitro cultured cells than in the xenografts from which they were derived [26]. This loss of EGFR expression has furthermore been suggested to be linked to loss of tumorigenicity [26,27]. In our study, in vitro cultured cells grown in stem cell conditions, were able to form tumors in immunodeficient mice and as such still maintained their tumorigenic potential. In addition, xenografts derived from the in vitro cultured cells seemed to have higher EGFR protein expression than the original tumor xenograft, indicating that the capability to express EGFR at high levels is preserved in vitro, even though its expression might be dependent upon additional factors present in vivo. However, this is purely speculative and needs further clarification. Most importantly, when grown as neurospheres in stem cell conditions, EGFRvIII expression was maintained. Furthermore, when these cells were used for subcutaneous transplantation into nude mice, the resulting xenograft tumors also expressed EGFRvIII. Thus, when establishing in vitro cultures of glioma cells it is crucial to use culturing conditions that favor the growth of tumor bCSC, and which will maintain the geno- and phenotype of the original tumor.

In conclusion, we have established xenograft tumors and cell cultures from human GBM that maintain the expressions of EGFR and EGFRvIII. In this *in vivo/in vitro* model, it will be possible to further investigate the functional role of these receptors, and response to targeted therapy, in GBM malignancy.

Funding

This work was supported the Danish Cancer Society (journal number DP 04087) and the Ministry of Interior and Health (journal number 2006-12103-254).

Acknowledgments

We thank technicians Pia Pedersen, Jette Christiansen, Mette Moldaschl and Hanne Rose for skilful technical assistance, and Medical Solutions for performing the FISH analyses.

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2011) 1513-1526

REFERENCES

- P. Kleihues, H. Ohgaki, Primary and secondary glioblastomas: from concept to clinical diagnosis, Neuro Oncol. 1 (1999) 44–51.
 H. Ohgaki, P. Kleihues, Genetic pathways to primary and
- secondary glioblastoma, Am. J. Pathol. 170 (2007) 1445–1453.
 K. Watanabe, O. Tachibana, K. Sata, Y. Yonekawa, P. Kleihues, H. Ohgaki, Overexpression of the EGF receptor and p53 mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas, Brain Pathol. 6 (1996) 217–223.
- [4] A.J. Ekstrand, N. Longo, M.L. Hamid, J.J. Olson, L. Liu, V.P. Collins, C.D. James, Functional characterization of an EGF receptor with a truncated extracellular domain expressed in glioblastomas with EGFR gene amplification, Oncogene 9 (1994) 2313–2320.
- [5] R. Nishikawa, X.D. Ji, R.C. Harmon, C.S. Lazar, G.N. Gill, W.K. Cavenee, H.J. Huang, A mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human glioma confers enhanced tumorigenicity, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 7727–7731.
- [6] H.S. Huang, M. Nagane, C.K. Klingbeil, H. Lin, R. Nishikawa, X.D. Ji, C.M. Huang, G.N. Gill, H.S. Wiley, W.K. Cavenee, The enhanced tumorigenic activity of a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human cancers is mediated by threshold levels of constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation and unattenuated signaling, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 2927–2935.
- [7] L. Damstrup, P.M. Wandahl, L. Bastholm, F. Elling, P.H. Skovgaard, Epidermal growth factor receptor mutation type III transfected into a small cell lung cancer cell line is predominantly localized at the cell surface and enhances the malignant phenotype, Int. J. Cancer 97 (2002) 7–14.
 [8] M.W. Pedersen, V. Tkach, N. Pedersen, V. Berezin, H.S. Poulsen,
- [8] M.W. Pedersen, V. Tkach, N. Pedersen, V. Berezin, H.S. Poulsen, Expression of a naturally occurring constitutively active variant of the epidermal growth factor receptor in mouse fibroblasts increases motility, Int. J. Cancer 108 (2004) 643–653.
- [9] C.A. Learn, T.L. Hartzell, C.J. Wikstrand, G.E. Archer, J.N. Rich, A.H. Friedman, H.S. Friedman, D.D. Bigner, J.H. Sampson, Resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibition by mutant epidermal growth factor receptor variant III contributes to the neoplastic phenotype of glioblastoma multiforme, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (2004) 3216–3224.
- [10] M.W. Pedersen, N. Pedersen, L.H. Ottesen, H.S. Poulsen, Differential response to gefitinib of cells expressing normal EGFR and the mutant EGFRvIII, Br. J. Cancer 93 (2005) 915–923.
- [11] J.A. Boockvar, D. Kapitonov, G. Kapoor, J. Schouten, G.J. Counelis, O. Bogler, E.Y. Snyder, T.K. McIntosh, D.M. O'Rourke, Constitutive EGFR signaling confers a motile phenotype to neural stem cells, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 24 (2003) 1116–1130.
- [12] B. Li, M. Yuan, I.A. Kim, C.M. Chang, E.J. Bernhard, H.K. Shu, Mutant epidermal growth factor receptor displays increased signaling through the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/AKT pathway and promotes radioresistance in cells of astrocytic origin, Oncogene 23 (2004) 4594-4602.
- [13] R.B. Luwor, H.J. Zhu, F. Walker, A.A. Vitali, R.M. Perera, A.W. Burgess, A.M. Scott, T.G. Johns, The tumor-specific de2-7 epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) promotes cells survival and heterodimerizes with the wild-type EGFR, Oncogene 23 (2004) 6095–6104.
- [14] J. Marshall, Clinical implications of the mechanism of epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors, Cancer 107 (2006) 1207–1218.
- [15] L.J. Layfield, C. Willmore, S. Tripp, C. Jones, R.L. Jensen, Epidermal growth factor receptor gene amplification and protein expression in glioblastoma multiforme: prognostic significance and relationship to other prognostic factors, Appl. Immunohistochem. Mol. Morphol. 14 (2006) 91–96.
- [16] L. Liu, L.M. Backlund, B.R. Nilsson, D. Grander, K. Ichimura, H.M. Goike, V.P. Collins, Clinical significance of EGFR amplification and

the aberrant EGFRvIII transcript in conventionally treated astrocytic gliomas, J. Mol. Med. 83 (2005) 917–926.
[17] A.B. Heimberger, D. Suki, D. Yang, W. Shi, K. Aldape, The natural

- [17] A.B. Heimberger, D. Suki, D. Yang, W. Shi, K. Aldape, The natural history of EGFR and EGFRvIII in glioblastoma patients, J. Transl. Med. 3 (2005) 38.
- [18] A.B. Heimberger, R. Hlatky, D. Suki, D. Yang, J. Weinberg, M. Gilbert, R. Sawaya, K. Aldape, Prognostic effect of epidermal growth factor receptor and EGFRvIII in glioblastoma multiforme patients, Clin. Cancer Res. 11 (2005) 1462–1466.
- [19] C. Houillier, J. Lejeune, A. Benouaich-Amiel, F. Laigle-Donadey, E. Criniere, K. Mokhtari, J. Thillet, J.Y. Delattre, K. Hoang-Xuan, M. Sanson, Prognostic impact of molecular markers in a series of 220 primary glioblastomas, Cancer 106 (2006) 2218–2223.
- primary glioblastomas, Cancer 106 (2006) 2218–2223.
 [20] A.L. Quan, G.H. Barnett, S.Y. Lee, M.A. Vogelbaum, S.A. Toms, S.M. Staugaitis, R.A. Prayson, D.M. Peereboom, G.H. Stevens, B.H. Cohen, J.H. Suh, Epidermal growth factor receptor amplification does not have prognostic significance in patients with glioblastoma multiforme, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 63 (2005) 695–703.
- [21] N. Shinojima, K. Tada, S. Shiraishi, T. Kamiryo, M. Kochi, H. Nakamura, K. Makino, H. Saya, H. Hirano, J. Kuratsu, K. Oka, Y. Ishimaru, Y. Ushio, Prognostic value of epidermal growth factor receptor in patients with glioblastoma multiforme, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 6962–6970.
- [22] K.D. Aldape, K. Ballman, A. Furth, J.C. Buckner, C. Giannini, P.C. Burger, B.W. Scheithauer, R.B. Jenkins, C.D. James, Immunohistochemical detection of EGFRvIII in high malignancy grade astrocytomas and evaluation of prognostic significance, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 63 (2004) 700–707.
- [23] A.B. Lassman, M.R. Rossi, J.J. Raizer, L.E. Abrey, F.S. Lieberman, C.N. Grefe, K. Lamborn, W. Pao, A.H. Shih, J.G. Kuhn, R. Wilson, N.J. Nowak, J.K. Cowell, L.M. DeAngelis, P. Wen, M.R. Gilbert, S. Chang, W.A. Yung, M. Prados, E.C. Holland, Molecular study of malignant gliomas treated with epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors: tissue analysis from North American Brain Tumor Consortium Trials 01-03 and 00-01, Clin. Cancer Res. 11 (2005) 7841–7850.
- [24] I.K. Mellinghoff, M.Y. Wang, I. Vivanco, D.A. Haas-Kogan, S. Zhu, E.Q. Dia, K.V. Lu, K. Yoshimoto, J.H. Huang, D.J. Chute, B.L. Riggs, S. Horvath, L.M. Liau, W.K. Cavenee, P.N. Rao, R. Beroukhim, T.C. Peck, J.C. Lee, W.R. Sellers, D. Stokoe, M. Prados, T.F. Cloughesy, C.L. Sawyers, P.S. Mischel, Molecular determinants of the response of glioblastomas to EGFR kinase inhibitors, N. Engl. J. Med. 353 (2005) 2012–2024.
- [25] J.N. Rich, D.A. Reardon, T. Peery, J.M. Dowell, J.A. Quinn, K.L. Penne, C.J. Wikstrand, L.B. Van Duyn, J.E. Dancey, R.E. McLendon, J.C. Kao, T.T. Stenzel, B.K. Ahmed Rasheed, S.E. Tourt-Uhlig, J.E. Herndon, J.J. Vredenburgh, J.H. Sampson, A.H. Friedman, D.D. Bigner, H.S. Friedman, Phase II trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma, J. Clin. Oncol. 22 (2004) 133–142.
- [26] S.H. Bigner, P.A. Humphrey, A.J. Wong, B. Vogelstein, J. Mark, H.S. Friedman, D.D. Bigner, Characterization of the epidermal growth factor receptor in human glioma cell lines and xenografts, Cancer Res. 50 (1990) 8017–8022.
- [27] A. Pandita, K.D. Aldape, G. Zadeh, A. Guha, C.D. James, Contrasting in vivo and in vitro fates of glioblastoma cell subpopulations with amplified EGFR, Genes Chromosomes Cancer 39 (2004) 29–36.
- [28] R. Galli, E. Binda, U. Orfanelli, B. Cipelletti, A. Gritti, S. De Vitis, R. Fiocco, C. Foroni, F. Dimeco, A. Vescovi, Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 7011–7021.
- [29] T.N. Ignatova, V.G. Kukekov, E.D. Laywell, O.N. Suslov, F.D. Vrionis, D.A. Steindler, Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro, Glia 39 (2002) 193–206.
- [30] S.K. Singh, I.D. Clarke, M. Terasaki, V.E. Bonn, C. Hawkins, J. Squire, P.B. Dirks, Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 5821–5828.

1526

E X P E R I M E N T A L C E L L R E S E A R C H 3 1 7 (2 0 1 1) 1 5 1 3 - 1 5 2 6

- [31] S.K. Singh, C. Hawkins, I.D. Clarke, J.A. Squire, J. Bayani, T. Hide, R.M. Henkelman, M.D. Cusimano, P.B. Dirks, Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells, Nature 432 (2004) 396–401.
- [32] X. Yuan, J. Curtin, Y. Xiong, G. Liu, S. Waschsmann-Hogiu, D.L. Farkas, K.L. Black, J.S. Yu, Isolation of cancer stem cells from adult glioblastoma multiforme, Oncogene 23 (2004) 9392–9400.
- [33] J. Lee, S. Kotliarova, Y. Kotliarov, A. Li, Q. Su, N.M. Donin, S. Pastorino, B.W. Purow, N. Christopher, W. Zhang, J.K. Park, H.A. Fine, Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines, Cancer Cell 9 (2006) 391–403.
- [34] K. Rygaard, M. Spang-Thomsen, Quantitation and gompertzian analysis of tumor growth, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 46 (1997) 303–312.
- [35] T. Gerdes, M. Kirchhoff, T. Bryndorf, Automatic analysis of multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification products (exemplified by a commercial kit for prenatal aneuploidy detection), Electrophoresis 26 (2005) 4327–4332.
- [36] A.J. Ekstrand, C.D. James, W.K. Cavenee, B. Seliger, R.F. Pettersson, V.P. Collins, Genes for epidermal growth factor receptor, transforming growth factor alpha, and epidermal growth factor and their expression in human gliomas in vivo, Cancer Res. 51 (1991) 2164–2172.
- [37] J.L. Eller, S.L. Longo, D.J. Hicklin, G.W. Canute, Activity of anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody C225 against glioblastoma multiforme, Neurosurgery 51 (2002) 1005–1013.
- [38] A. Marquez, R. Wu, J. Zhao, J. Tao, Z. Shi, Evaluation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) by chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH) and immunohistochemistry (IHC) in archival gliomas using bright-field microscopy, Diagn. Mol. Pathol. 13 (2004) 1–8.
- [39] M. Moroni, S. Veronese, S. Benvenuti, G. Marrapese, A. Sartore-Bianchi, F. Di Nicolantonio, M. Gambacorta, S. Siena, A. Bardelli, Gene copy number for epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and clinical response to antiEGFR treatment in colorectal cancer: a cohort study, Lancet Oncol. 6 (2005) 279–286.
- [40] A.J. Wong, S.H. Bigner, D.D. Bigner, K.W. Kinzler, S.R. Hamilton, B. Vogelstein, Increased expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in malignant gliomas is invariably associated with gene amplification, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84 (1987) 6899–6903.
- [41] H.S. Gunther, N.O. Schmidt, H.S. Phillips, D. Kemming, S. Kharbanda, R. Soriano, Z. Modrusan, H. Meissner, M. Westphal, K. Lamszus, Glioblastoma-derived stem cell-enriched cultures form distinct subgroups according to molecular and phenotypic criteria, Oncogene 27 (2008) 2897–2909.
- [42] F. Doetsch, I. Caille, D.A. Lim, J.M. Garcia-Verdugo, A. varez-Buylla, Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. Cell 97 (1999) 703–716.
- [43] R. Nishikawa, T. Sugiyama, Y. Narita, F. Furnari, W.K. Cavenee, M. Matsutani, Immunohistochemical analysis of the mutant epidermal growth factor, deltaEGFR, in glioblastoma, Brain Tumor Pathol. 21 (2004) 53–56.
- [44] P.A. Humphrey, A.J. Wong, B. Vogelstein, H.S. Friedman, M.H. Werner, D.D. Bigner, S.H. Bigner, Amplification and expression of

the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in human glioma xenografts, Cancer Res. 48 (1988) 2231–2238.

- [45] J. Schlegel, G. Stumm, K. Brandle, A. Merdes, G. Mechtersheimer, N.E. Hynes, M. Kiessling, Amplification and differential expression of members of the erbB-gene family in human glioblastoma, J. Neurooncol. 22 (1994) 201–207.
- [46] R.A. Fenstermaker, M.J. Ciesielski, Deletion and tandem duplication of exons 2–7 in the epidermal growth factor receptor gene of a human malignant glioma, Oncogene 19 (2000) 4542–4548.
- [47] D.K. Moscatello, M. Holgado-Madruga, D.R. Emlet, R.B. Montgomery, A.J. Wong, Constitutive activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by a naturally occurring mutant epidermal growth factor receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 200–206.
- [48] L. Frederick, X.Y. Wang, G. Eley, C.D. James, Diversity and frequency of epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in human glioblastomas, Cancer Res. 60 (2000) 1383–1387.
- [49] H.M. Goike, A.C. Asplund, E.H. Pettersson, L. Liu, D. Sanoudou, V.P. Collins, Acquired rearrangement of an amplified epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) gene in a human glioblastoma xenograft, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 58 (1999) 697–701.
- [50] M.J. Čiesielski, R.A. Fenstermaker, Oncogenic epidermal growth factor receptor mutants with tandem duplication: gene structure and effects on receptor function, Oncogene 19 (2000) 810–820.
- [51] R.A. Fenstermaker, M.J. Ciesielski, G.J. Castiglia, Tandem duplication of the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase and calcium internalization domains in A-172 glioma cells, Oncogene 16 (1998) 3435–3443.
- [52] J. Filmus, M.N. Pollak, J.G. Cairncross, R.N. Buick, Amplified, overexpressed and rearranged epidermal growth factor receptor gene in a human astrocytoma cell line, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 131 (1985) 207–215.
- [53] C. Thomas, G. Ely, C.D. James, R. Jenkins, M. Kastan, A. Jedlicka, P. Burger, R. Wharen, Glioblastoma-related gene mutations and over-expression of functional epidermal growth factor receptors in SKMG-3 glioma cells, Acta Neuropathol. (Berl.) 101 (2001) 605–615.
- [54] F.H. Gage, J. Ray, L.J. Fisher, Isolation, characterization, and use of stem cells from the CNS, Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 18 (1995) 159–192.
- [55] R. McKay, Stem cells in the central nervous system, Science 276 (1997) 66–71.
 [56] C.S. Weickert, M.J. Webster, S.M. Colvin, M.M. Herman, T.M. Hyde,
- [56] C.S. Werckert, M.J. Websett, S.M. Coffit, M.M. Hernhalt, L.M. Hyde, D.R. Weinberger, J.E. Kleinman, Localization of epidermal growth factor receptors and putative neuroblasts in human subependymal zone, J. Comp. Neurol. 423 (2000) 359–372.
 [57] E.C. Holland, W.P. Hively, R.A. Depinho, H.E. Varmus, A
- [57] E.C. Holland, W.P. Hively, R.A. Depinho, H.E. Varmus, A constitutively active epidermal growth factor receptor cooperates with disruption of G1 cell-cycle arrest pathways to induce glioma-like lesions in mice, Genes Dev. 12 (1998) 3675–3685.
- [58] A. Ayuso-Sacido, J.A. Moliterno, S. Kratovac, G.S. Kapoor, D.M. O'Rourke, E.C. Holland, J.M. Garcia-Verdugo, N.S. Roy, J.A. Boockvar, Activated ECFR signaling increases proliferation, survival, and migration and blocks neuronal differentiation in post-natal neural stem cells, J. Neurooncol. 97 (2010) 323–337.

5. Results - Manuscript II

Differentiation of human glioblastoma multiforme stem-like cells leads to down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII expression and decreased tumorigenic and stem-like cell potential

Running title: EGFR/EGFRvIII expression is lost upon differentiation

By:

Marie-Thérése Stockhausen^a, Karina Kristoffersen^a, Marie-Louise Stobbe Olsen^a and Hans Skovgaard Poulsen^a

^aDepartment of Radiation Biology, The Finsen Center, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

Submitted to Cancer Biology & Therapy September, 2013

Abstract

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is the most common and devastating primary brain tumor among adults. Despite recent treatment progress, most patients succumb to their disease within 2 years from diagnosis. Current research have highlighted the importance of a subpopulation of cells, assigned brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC), to play a pivotal role in GBM malignancy. bCSC are identified by their resemblance to normal neural stem cells (NSC), and it is speculated that the bCSC have to be targeted in order to improve treatment outcome for GBM patients. One hallmark of GBM is aberrant expression and activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and expression of a deletion variant EGFRvIII. In the normal brain, EGFR is expressed in neurogenic areas where also NSC are located and it has been shown that EGFR is involved in regulation of NSC proliferation, migration and differentiation. This led us to speculate if EGFR and EGFRvIII are involved in the regulation of bCSC. In this study we use GBM neurosphere cultures, known to preserve bCSC features. We demonstrate that EGFR and EGFRvIII are down regulated upon differentiation and moreover that when EGFR signaling is abrogated, differentiation is induced. Furthermore, we show that differentiation leads to decreased tumorigenic and stem cell-like potential of the neurosphere cultures and that by specifically inhibiting EGFR signaling it is possible to target the bCSC population. Our results suggest that differentiation therapy, possibly along with anti-EGFR treatment would be a feasible treatment option for patients with GBM, by targeting the bCSC population.

Introduction

Glioblastoma multiforme is the most common and aggressive solid tumor occurring in the brain of adults. Despite progress in recent years, the median survival after diagnosis remains around 15 months(1). There are some molecular hallmarks of GBM, of which amplification and/or mutation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) belong to the most common. The most frequent mutation is the vIII variant (EGFRvIII) which arises from deletion of exons 2-7, rendering the receptor constitutively active and unable of ligand binding(2). Both over expression of wild-type EGFR and expression of EGFRvIII have been linked to a more aggressive phenotype and dismal prognosis of GBM(3-6). However, even though EGFR and variants thereof are believed to play a role in GBM tumorigenicity, clinical trials with EGFR inhibitors have shown inconsistent results(7-9). Therefore, a deeper knowledge regarding the functional role(s) of EGFR and EGFRvIII in GBM is needed. Until recently, a major obstacle in the EGFR/EGFRvIII research has been that endogenous EGFR over expression and EGFRvIII expression are lost when GBM cells are grown during traditional serum-containing in vitro conditions(10;11). However, in a previous publication from our laboratory we showed that GBM cell cultures established during serum-free stem cell conditions, traditionally used for in vitro growth of neural stem cells (NSC), maintained endogenous expression of EGFR and EGFRvIII(12). This is in line with other reports showing that GBM cultures grown during stem cell conditions maintain the geno- and phenotypes of the original tumor better than GBM cells cultured during serum-containing conditions(13). These stem cell conditions are believed to preserve and promote growth of so-called brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC), a population of cancer cells found in GBM which share characteristics with normal NSC. bCSC are defined by their self-renewing potential, their expression of stem cell markers and their capacity to give rise to cells of the three neural lineages, namely astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and neurons, upon differentiation(14-18). The bCSC have been assigned a role in tumor angiogenesis and treatment resistance, and upon intra cranial transplantation onto immunocompromised mice, it has been shown that is the bCSC that are responsible of forming tumors in vivo(19-22). Thus it is likely that the bCSC are involved in the initiation and progression of brain tumors such as GBM and that treatment directed against the bulk of the tumor cells fails to give long term responses because the bCSC are unaffected and able to recapitulate the tumor. There is thus a rationale for using stem cell established cultures in experimental GBM research, in order to better understand factors that are important for the bCSC and GBM maintenance.

2

As mentioned above, bCSC are defined by their self-renewing capacity and their ability to differentiate. These are features that potentially could be used in differentiation based cancer therapy targeting bCSC, as differentiation might lead to hampered self-renewing capacity and reduced production of progenies that are able to populate the tumor. One example of this is acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) in which poorly differentiated leukemia cells populate the bone marrow and blood, and compete with the production of normal blood cells. Upon induced differentiation therapy with *all*-trans-retinoic acid (RA), these immature cells are forced to differentiate and thereby lose their malignant potential(23;24).

In this study, we investigated the impact of induced differentiation on the endogenous expression of EGFR and EGFRvIII in human derived GBM neurosphere cultures in order to elucidate their roles in GBM tumorigenicity.

Materials and methods

Cell culture and reagents

Establishment and characterization of the human derived GBM xenograft (NGBM_CPH047) and the *in vitro* GBM cell culture (NGBM_CPH047p3m1) used in this study has been previously described and show endogenous EGFRvIII expression(12). All cells were maintained as neurosphere cultures in Neurobasal®–A media (NB) (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) with the following additives: N2, B27, bFGF (10ng/ml), EGF (10ng/ml), L-glutamine, penicillin (50U/ml) and streptomycin (50µg/ml) (all from Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark), in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and 21% O₂ at 37°C. Fresh media was added twice a week and spheres were mechanically dissociated at every passage. For experiments, cells were dissociated, counted and plated in NB media plus all additives as above or in DMEM with the addition of FCS (10%), penicillin (50U/ml) and streptomycin (50µg/ml) prior to initiation of treatment with *all*-trans-retinoic acid (RA) (10µM, Sigma-Aldrich, Broendby, Denmark) or AG1478 (1, 5 or 10µM, Calbiochem, Hellerup, Denmark) for 12 to 14 days. In control experiments DMSO was added at the same volume as the drugs, if not stated otherwise.

Primary sphere assay

Single cells from acutely dissociated GBM xenograft tissue (NGBM_CPH047) were plated in 96well microwell plates at a density of 10 cells/ μ l and directly treated with 0 or 5 μ M AG1478. 0 μ M AG1478 was used as a control in this assay. At day 14, the number of spheres per well was scored and the primary sphere frequency was calculated.

Western Blotting

Whole cell protein lysates were separated on 3-8% NuPAGE TA gels or on 4-12% NuPAGE Bis-Tris gels (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) and electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark). The membranes were then blocked for 1 hour (hr) at room temperature (RT) and incubated with primary antibodies in 5% non-fat milk overnight (ON) at 4°C followed by secondary antibodies for 1 hr at RT. Blots were developed using the SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL) and the Biospectrum Imaging System (UVP, Upland, CA). Primary antibodies used: goat polyclonal anti-EGFR (Fitzgerald Industries International, Concorde, MA), mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII (L8A4, a kind gift from Dr. Darrell Bigner, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC), mouse

monoclonal anti-GFAP (Cell Signaling, Boston, MA), rabbit polyclonal anti-EGFR [pY¹⁰⁸⁶] (Biosource, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and rabbit anti-GAPDH (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA).

Quantitative Real-time PCR (Q-RT-PCR)

GBM neurosphere cultures were harvested, quick frozen in liquid N₂ and stored at -80°C until used. Total RNA was purified with the RNeasy Mini kit and QIAshredder (both from Qiagen Denmark, Copenhagen, Denmark) as described by the manufacturer. All RNA was DNase treated using the RNase-Free DNase Set from Qiagen Denmark (Copenhagen, Denmark) according to the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was synthesized using the SuperscriptTM III Platinum® Two step qRT-PCR kit with SYBR® Green (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark) which was also used for quantitative real-time PCR (Q-RT-PCR) reactions. Relative quantification of gene expression levels was performed according to the comparative Ct method. All data was normalized to the expression of three housekeeping genes (*TOP1*, *EIF4A2* and *CYC1*) included in the human geNorm house-keeping gene selection kit (Primerdesign, Southampton, UK). PCR reactions were optimized to distinguish between *EGFR* and *EGFRvIII* expression as previously described(12). Primers used were: *EGFR* forward, 5' –TCC TTG GGA ATT TGG AAA TT- 3'; *EGFR* reverse, 5' –GGC ATA GGA ATT TTC GTA GTA CAT- 3'; *EGFRvIII* forward, 5' –ATG CGA CCC TCC GGG ACG- 3'; *EGFRvIII* reverse, 5' –ATC TGT CAC CAC ATA ATT ACC T- 3' [16]; *GFAP* forward, 5' -CGC TGG TAG AGG AGG AG- 3'; *GFAP* reverse, 5' -CTG GGG TTA AGA AGC AGC AGC. 3'.

MTT

MTT assays were performed using the 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay according to the manufacturer's instructions (Sigma, Broendby, Denmark). Briefly, neurospheres were dissociated and cells were plated in a 96-well cell culture plate at a density of 8 x 10^4 cells per well and allowed to grow ON. Drugs were added at the indicated concentrations where after the plates were incubated for 12 days at 37°C, 5% CO₂, 21% O₂. At the end of experiment, 20µl 5mg/ml MTT solution (dissolved in sterile water) was added to each well and incubated for 4 hours before addition of 100 µl solubilization buffer (10% SDS, 0.03M HCl). Next day, the absorbance was read at 570nm using a Synergy2 microplate reader with the Gen5, Microplate Data Collection & Analysis Software (Biotek, Winooski, Vermont, USA). A reference

filter at 690nm was used to subtract background absorbance. Each experimental condition was tested in sextuplicates and repeated at least two times.

Soft Agar

Dissociated neurosphere cells $(1 \times 10^{5}/\text{ml})$ were casted in semisolid agar with either DMEM + 10% FCS or NB media including all supplements as described above, in the presence of either RA (10µM) or AG1478 (5µM or 10µM). At day 14, the colonies were stained with a 0.005% Crystal Violet solution and the number of colonies was manually counted.

Sub-sphere analysis

Neurospheres were mechanically dissociated and seeded at a density of 1×10^6 cells in either DMEM + 10% FCS or NB media including all supplements as described above and allowed to grow ON. RA (10µM) or AG1478 (5 or 10µM) or the corresponding volume DMSO as a control was added to the cells, which were then incubated for 12 days for pre-treatment. Adherent and suspension cells were then collected by centrifugation, dissociated and diluted in NB media with all additives. 10 or 100 cells/well were then plated in 96-well plates and allowed to form spheres. The total number of spheres was counted manually after 2 weeks.

Results

Serum and RA induce differentiation of human GBM cells

In this study we have used a GBM cell culture established during stem cell conditions in the absence of serum. In this culture system the cells grow as neurospheres and share characteristics with normal NSC(25). We have recently shown that such cultures maintain important features of GBM such as expression of EGFR and EGFRvIII(12), whereas other studies have shown that GBM cells grown during traditional cell culture conditions in the presence of serum fail to maintain EGFR and EGFRvIII expression(10;11). In addition, it has been shown that bCSC are able to differentiate in vitro upon serum exposure(17). As a first experiment we therefore wished to study the effect of serum on our GBM neurosphere culture with endogenous EGFR and EGFRvIII expression. Upon serum exposure, some, but not all, neurospheres became adherent and cells started to migrate out from the spheres (Figure 1A). The adherent cells grew with a differentiated phenotype, with neurite-like extensions. Q-RT-PCR analysis confirmed up regulation of the astrocytic marker glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Figure 1B), verifying that serum exposure indeed induces differentiation of GBM neurosphere cells. As an additional differentiation agent, RA has in previous studies been shown to induce differentiation of GBM neurosphere cells in vitro(26;27). Indeed, RA induced both morphological differentiation and up regulation of GFAP mRNA in our cells, although not as effectively as serum (data not shown and Figure 1C).

EGFR and EGFRvIII expression are lost upon induced differentiation

Having verified that serum and RA induce differentiation of our neurosphere cells, we investigated the impact of differentiation on EGFR and EGFRvIII expression. For this we grew the cells in serum containing media or treated them with RA in NB media. We first examined the mRNA level of both EGFR and EGFRvIII. As shown in Figure 2A and 2B, both EGFR and EGFRvIII mRNA were down regulated upon induced differentiation with either serum or RA. Furthermore, differentiation led to down regulation of both EGFR and EGFRvIII protein expression (Figure 2C). Although RA was not as effective in inducing GFAP up regulation as serum (Figure 1C and Figure 2C), there was no major difference in EGFR and EGFRvIII down regulation (Figure 2C).

Inhibition of EGFR signaling leads to differentiation of GBM cells and reduced cell viability

The above results led us to speculate if EGFR and EGFRvIII signaling were coupled to a less differentiated cell phenotype and that these receptors could be involved in maintaining an

undifferentiated pool of neurosphere cells. Therefore, we inhibited EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling with the tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) AG1478. Exposure to AG1478 led to decreased phosphorylation of EGFR (pY1086) (Figure 3A) along with reduced number of viable cells (Figure 3B), smaller neurospheres in culture and in some cases also adherent and morphologically differentiated cells (Figure 3C and data not shown). In addition, treatment of GBM neurosphere cells with AG1478 led to up regulation of GFAP mRNA (Figure 3D) and protein in a concentration dependent manner (Figure 3E), indicating that active EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling is involved in maintaining a less differentiated cell phenotype.

Induced differentiation or inhibition of EGFR signaling leads to decreased tumorigenicity and reduced stem cell potential

Having verified that differentiation leads to down regulation of EGFR/EGFRvIII and that inhibition of EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling with AG1478 leads to differentiation, we wished to investigate which impact EGFR/EGFRvIII had on the tumorigenic capacity and stem cell potential of our GBM cells. Therefore, we performed a soft agar assay, reflecting the *in vitro* tumorigenic potential of the cells. Here, it was evident that both induced differentiation with RA and inhibition of EGFR/EGFRvIII with AG1478 led to decreased ability to grow without anchorage as measured by reduced colony formation (Figure 4A). Although serum alone did not reduce colony formation, the colonies were clearly smaller than colonies formed in NB media alone (Figure 4B). In addition, when serum was combined with RA colony formation was clearly reduced, both in comparison to colonies formed in NB media alone and in comparison to colonies formed in the presence of RA in NB media (Figure 4A). In a sub-sphere assay, reflecting the number of cells with self-renewing potential, i.e. an indirect measurement of the number of stem cells present, the capacity to form spheres was markedly hampered after induced differentiation with serum or inhibition of EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling with AG1478 (Figure 4C). However, sub-sphere formation after pre-treatment with RA in NB media was increased as compared to NB media alone and spheres formed were also larger (Figure 4C and data not shown).

It is considered that the number of bCSCs in a primary culture, i.e. the first passage when a tumor is established as an *in vitro* culture, can be identified by their ability to form neurospheres during clonogenic dilution(28;29). Therefore the fraction of GBM cells forming spheres in the primary culture can be interpreted as a semi-quantification of the bCSC population in the tumor. To investigate the impact of EGFR/EGFRvIII on primary neurosphere formation and thus indirect the

8

effect on the bCSC population we therefore performed a primary sphere assay in the presence of AG1478. As shown in Figure 4D, our results indicate that upon AG1478 exposure, primary sphere formation was significantly reduced.

In conclusion, our data together imply that functional EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling is important for maintaining an undifferentiated cell phenotype and bCSC potential in GBM neurosphere cultures.

Discussion

Here we show that induced differentiation with serum or RA led to down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII expression in human GBM. Furthermore, when inhibiting EGFR and EGFRvIII signaling with an EGFR specific TKI, differentiation was induced. In addition, down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII, as a result of induced differentiation or inhibition of their signaling, led to decreased *in vitro* tumorigenic capacity and reduced bCSC potential of the GBM cells.

Over the last decade, several studies have identified a population of cells in GBM, with resemblance to normal NSC regarding self-renewal and multi differentiation potential and therefore designated bCSC(14-18). These bCSC have been suggested to be responsible for treatment resistance and recapitulating tumor growth in GBM patients(13;14;16;18-22). However, the question regarding how to identify and target the bCSC still remains unanswered. The CD133 marker has gained much attention as a suitable bCSC marker, yet several studies have now shown that also cells without CD133 expression have stem cell potential and are able to form tumors in vivo and also that there are several distinct pools of bCSC that coexist within the same tumor(30;31). Nevertheless, even if the exact molecular profile of bCSC in GBM is presently unknown, it is likely the bCSC that have to be targeted in order to inhibit tumor growth, and especially remission. Therefore it is of importance to identify factors that are involved in bCSC maintenance and as such could be used for bCSC directed cancer therapy. The cell of origin for bCSCs still needs to be elucidated. Clinically, most GBM are located in association to neurogenic areas of the brain such as the subventricular zone (SVZ) lining the lateral ventricles and in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus. It is also in these areas where normal NSC are most abundant(32;33), and it is therefore not farfetched to speculate that these cells could be involved the genesis of bCSC and tumor initiation(32;34). Furthermore, EGFR is expressed in neurogenic regions of the brain such as the SVZ(35), and it has been shown that EGFR is involved in the regulation of NSC proliferation, differentiation and migration(36-38). It is thus likely that EGFR also plays a role in bCSC. We have in a recent study shown that expression of EGFR and especially EGFRvIII is maintained in GBM neurosphere cultures in the presence of EGF and bFGF(12), and others have shown that such cultures promote and preserve growth of bCSC(13). It is, furthermore, well known that GBM cells lose the expression of EGFRvIII and over expression of EGFR in cultures established under in vitro growth conditions which contain serum(11). Our results here show that when GBM neurosphere cultures are grown in the presence of serum, they are induced to differentiate, as shown by a prominent up regulation of GFAP. This is also in line with other studies

showing that serum cultured neurosphere cells express more GFAP and Tuj1 as compared to their NB cultured counterparts(13). These data imply that when grown in the presence of serum, differentiation of the GBM neurosphere cells is stimulated. Along with differentiation, we observed a down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII, both at mRNA and protein levels. This led us to the conclusion that when GBM cells are grown in the presence of serum, EGFR and EGFRvIII expression are lost due to induced differentiation, and that this might explain the previous lack of success of establishing GBM cultures with endogenous EGFR and EGFRvIII expression as the majority of studies have used serum containing *in vitro* conditions(11).

RA has been shown to induce GBM neurosphere cell differentiation *in vitro* as shown by changes in morphology and up regulation of differentiation markers(26;27). Treatment with RA in our study also resulted in morphological differentiation and up regulation of GFAP. However, the increase in GFAP expression was not as prominent as after serum exposure. This is in contrast to what was shown by Campos *et al.*, who showed that RA was a better inducer of astrocytic differentiation than serum(26). Despite these differences, we concluded that RA induces differentiation of GBM neurosphere cells. As with serum induced differentiation, exposure of GBM neurosphere cells to RA resulted in down regulation of both EGFR and EGFRvIII expression.

EGFR and EGFRvIII have been coupled to a cancer stem-like cell (CSC) phenotype. For example, EGFR knock-down in EGFR positive GBM neurosphere cultures led to differentiation and less malignant tumors in vivo(39) and in another study EGFR inhibition resulted in reduced sphere formation in the presence of EGF in EGFR positive neurosphere cultures(40). In breast cancer, EGFRvIII has been shown to contribute to the CSC phenotype as it was correlated to increased expression of stem cell related genes in primary breast cancer samples and led to increased sphere formation in vitro and tumor formation in vivo(41). Furthermore, in GBM it has been demonstrated that EGFRvIII is co-expressed with CD133 and that these EGFRvIII/CD133 expressing cells have elevated sphere forming capacity(42). Previous studies have shown that differentiation induced by RA targets bCSC in GBM as shown by down regulation of stem cell markers, decreased colony formation in soft agar and a decreased number of CD133 positive cells(26;27). Our results here show that induced differentiation of GBM cells in vitro led to down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII along with decreased ability of anchorage independent growth, colony formation in soft agar, and sub-sphere formation, indicating that both EGFR and EGFRvIII are involved in bCSC maintenance. However, in these assays there were some differences regarding the effect of serumand RA induced differentiation. In the soft agar assay, RA was a potent inhibitor of colony

formation, whereas it actually increased both the number of spheres formed and their size in the sub-sphere assay. On the contrary, serum failed to inhibit colony formation in the soft agar assay, although colonies formed were clearly smaller than colonies formed in the control. Furthermore, in the sub-sphere assay serum exposure led to a decrease in the sphere forming potential. One major difference between the two assays performed in this study is that in the sub-sphere assay, differentiation was induced prior to formation of spheres whereas in the soft agar assay the cells were treated while forming colonies. As such, the outcome on sphere- and colony formation cannot be entirely compared. Still, the differences might be explained by the magnitude of differentiation, and as such it seems as if RA is a weaker inducer of differentiation than serum (Figure 5). If RA targets bCSC to differentiate into progenitor cells that are able of limited self-renewal but proliferate faster(43) this would explain the increased sphere number and size in the sub-sphere assay when RA treatment is relieved and also the low GFAP expression observed after induced differentiation. On the other hand serum might induce a close-to terminal differentiation of bCSC or progenitor cells which explains the higher GFAP expression and decreased sphere number in the sub-sphere assay after dissociation. Still, these cells might retain some tumorigenic potential, although not stem cell characteristics, and as such can form colonies in soft agar. However, one could speculate that upon dissociation these cells would not be able to form new colonies or spheres, as was the result in the sub-sphere assay.

If EGFR and EGFRvIII are important for bCSC maintenance in GBM, one could speculate that it would be possible to target bCSC by inhibiting EGFR and downstream signaling, and that such inhibition would result in differentiation of the bCSC and thus reduced bCSC and tumorigenic potential. Soeda *et al.* showed that EGF addition increased the CD133-positive population in bCSC cultures and that this increase could be inhibited by blockage of EGFR signaling(44). In addition, in a recent study it was shown that when inhibiting EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling with AG1478 in breast cancer cell lines transfected with EGFRvIII, the fraction of aldefluor-positive cells, as a read out for CSC, was decreased(41). Indeed, when we inhibited EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling with AG1478, a concentration dependent up regulation of GFAP was observed indicating increased differentiation. Again, the up regulation was smaller than with RA and serum. There are, however, several explanations to this. First, the cell cultures we investigate most probably only contain a minority population of bCSC. Second, it is most likely that there are several groups of different types of bCSC and they might not all be equal regarding their molecular profiles(31). This has also been shown in breast cancer where EGFRvIII was expressed in a subset of the CSC(41). As such, EGFR

and EGFRvIII might not be expressed on all bCSC present. Therefore, when targeting the bCSC through EGFR and EGFRvIII, the molecular effect might not be as substantial as when differentiation is induced by serum or RA, which targets all the cells in the culture. Even though, we still observed an effect on cell viability and *in vitro* tumorigenic potential from AG1478 treatment. Furthermore, as an indirect quantification of the bCSC population, inhibition of EGFR/EGFRvIII with AG1478 in both the sub-sphere and primary sphere assays resulted in a significantly reduced sphere forming capacity. This indicates that EGFR/EGFRvIII are involved in bCSC maintenance and that it would be possible to target bCSC that express EGFR/EGFRvIII through inhibition of EGFR signaling. However, as discussed above, bCSC only constitute a fraction of the total number of tumor cells, and it is likely that not all bCSC express EGFR or EGFRvIII. It has recently been shown that GBM tumors can be divided into several sub groups depending on gene expression, possibly reflecting tumor origin(45;46). Therefore we believe that it is of importance to identify other potential therapeutic targets, specific for each tumor sub group and other bCSC subsets, and use these in combination with anti-EGFR therapy, along with differentiation inducing agents, in the treatment of GBM.

In conclusion, based the presented results vi suggest that active EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling plays an important role for maintaining the stem cell features of a subset of bCSC in EGFR/EGFRvIII positive GBM and for these cells to uphold their tumorigenic potential.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank technicians Mette Villingshøj and Pia Pedersen for skilful technical assistance.

Reference List

- 1. Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 2005;352:987-96.
- Ekstrand AJ, Longo N, Hamid ML et al. Functional characterization of an EGF receptor with a truncated extracellular domain expressed in glioblastomas with EGFR gene amplification. *Oncogene* 1994;9:2313-20.
- Huang HS, Nagane M, Klingbeil CK et al. The enhanced tumorigenic activity of a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human cancers is mediated by threshold levels of constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation and unattenuated signaling. *J.Biol.Chem.* 1997;272:2927-35.
- 4. Nishikawa R, Ji XD, Harmon RC et al. A mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human glioma confers enhanced tumorigenicity. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 1994;91:7727-31.
- Shinojima N, Tada K, Shiraishi S et al. Prognostic value of epidermal growth factor receptor in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. *Cancer Res.* 2003;63:6962-70.
- Torp SH, Helseth E, Dalen A, Unsgaard G. Relationships between Ki-67 labelling index, amplification of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene, and prognosis in human glioblastomas. *Acta Neurochir.(Wien.)* 1992;117:182-6.
- Lassman AB, Rossi MR, Raizer JJ et al. Molecular study of malignant gliomas treated with epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors: tissue analysis from North American Brain Tumor Consortium Trials 01-03 and 00-01. *Clin.Cancer Res.* 2005;11:7841-50.
- Mellinghoff IK, Wang MY, Vivanco I et al. Molecular determinants of the response of glioblastomas to EGFR kinase inhibitors. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 2005;353:2012-24.
- Rich JN, Reardon DA, Peery T et al. Phase II trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma. *J.Clin.Oncol.* 2004;22:133-42.
- Bigner SH, Humphrey PA, Wong AJ et al. Characterization of the epidermal growth factor receptor in human glioma cell lines and xenografts. *Cancer Res.* 1990;50:8017-22.
- Pandita A, Aldape KD, Zadeh G, Guha A, James CD. Contrasting in vivo and in vitro fates of glioblastoma cell subpopulations with amplified EGFR. *Genes Chromosomes.Cancer* 2004;39:29-36.
- Stockhausen MT, Broholm H, Villingshoj M et al. Maintenance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in an in vivo and in vitro model of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Exp.Cell Res.* 2011;317:1513-26.
- 13. Lee J, Kotliarova S, Kotliarov Y et al. Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. *Cancer Cell* 2006;9:391-403.
- 14. Galli R, Binda E, Orfanelli U et al. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 2004;64:7011-21.
- Ignatova TN, Kukekov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov ON, Vrionis FD, Steindler DA. Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. *Glia* 2002;39:193-206.
- 16. Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M et al. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. *Cancer Res.* 2003;63:5821-8.
- 17. Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature* 2004;432:396-401.
- Yuan X, Curtin J, Xiong Y et al. Isolation of cancer stem cells from adult glioblastoma multiforme. *Oncogene* 2004;23:9392-400.
- 19. Bao S, Wu Q, McLendon RE et al. Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. *Nature* 2006.
- Bao S, Wu Q, Sathornsumetee S et al. Stem Cell-like Glioma Cells Promote Tumor Angiogenesis through Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor. *Cancer Res.* 2006;66:7843-8.
- 21. Lathia JD, Gallagher J, Myers JT et al. Direct in vivo evidence for tumor propagation by glioblastoma cancer stem cells. *PLoS.One.* 2011;6:e24807.

- 22. Liu G, Yuan X, Zeng Z et al. Analysis of gene expression and chemoresistance of CD133+ cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. *Mol.Cancer* 2006;5:67.
- Massard C, Deutsch E, Soria JC. Tumour stem cell-targeted treatment: elimination or differentiation. *Ann.Oncol.* 2006;17:1620-4.
- Sell S. Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. *Crit Rev.Oncol.Hematol.* 2004;51:1-28.
- Kristoffersen K, Villingshoj M, Poulsen HS, Stockhausen MT. Active Notch signaling affects growth and stem cell-like features in glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cultures. *Submitted.* 2012.
- Campos B, Wan F, Farhadi M et al. Differentiation therapy exerts antitumor effects on stemlike glioma cells. *Clin.Cancer Res.* 2010;16:2715-28.
- Ying M, Wang S, Sang Y et al. Regulation of glioblastoma stem cells by retinoic acid: role for Notch pathway inhibition. *Oncogene* 2011;30:3454-67.
- 28. Engstrom CM, Demers D, Dooner M et al. A method for clonal analysis of epidermal growth factor-responsive neural progenitors. *J.Neurosci.Methods* 2002;117:111-21.
- Mori H, Ninomiya K, Kino-oka M et al. Effect of neurosphere size on the growth rate of human neural stem/progenitor cells. *J.Neurosci.Res.* 2006;84:1682-91.
- Joo KM, Kim SY, Jin X et al. Clinical and biological implications of CD133-positive and CD133-negative cells in glioblastomas. *Lab Invest* 2008;88:808-15.
- Piccirillo SG, Combi R, Cajola L et al. Distinct pools of cancer stem-like cells coexist within human glioblastomas and display different tumorigenicity and independent genomic evolution. *Oncogene* 2009;28:1807-11.
- Kukekov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov O et al. Multipotent stem/progenitor cells with similar properties arise from two neurogenic regions of adult human brain. *Exp.Neurol.* 1999;156:333-44.

- Lee A, Kessler JD, Read TA et al. Isolation of neural stem cells from the postnatal cerebellum. *Nat.Neurosci.* 2005;8:723-9.
- 34. Lim DA, Cha S, Mayo MC et al. Relationship of glioblastoma multiforme to neural stem cell regions predicts invasive and multifocal tumor phenotype. *Neuro.Oncol.* 2007;9:424-9.
- 35. Weickert CS, Webster MJ, Colvin SM et al. Localization of epidermal growth factor receptors and putative neuroblasts in human subependymal zone. *J.Comp Neurol.* 2000;423:359-72.
- 36. Aguirre A, Rubio ME, Gallo V. Notch and EGFR pathway interaction regulates neural stem cell number and self-renewal. *Nature* 2010;467:323-7.
- Ayuso-Sacido A, Moliterno JA, Kratovac S et al. Activated EGFR signaling increases proliferation, survival, and migration and blocks neuronal differentiation in post-natal neural stem cells. *J.Neurooncol.* 2010;97:323-37.
- Boockvar JA, Kapitonov D, Kapoor G et al. Constitutive EGFR signaling confers a motile phenotype to neural stem cells. *Mol.Cell Neurosci.* 2003;24:1116-30.
- Mazzoleni S, Politi LS, Pala M et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression identifies functionally and molecularly distinct tumor-initiating cells in human glioblastoma multiforme and is required for gliomagenesis. *Cancer Res.* 2010;70:7500-13.
- Howard BM, Gursel DB, Bleau AM, Beyene RT, Holland EC, Boockvar JA. EGFR signaling is differentially activated in patient-derived glioblastoma stem cells. *J.Exp.Ther.Oncol.* 2010;8:247-60.
- Del Vecchio CA, Jensen KC, Nitta RT, Shain AH, Giacomini CP, Wong AJ. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Variant III Contributes to Cancer Stem Cell Phenotypes in Invasive Breast Carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 2012;72:2657-71.
- 42. Wong A, Mitra S, Del Vecchio CA, Shirboll S. Expression of EGFRvIII in brain tumor stem cells. *J.Clin.Oncol.* 26, 15s. 2012.
- Dirks PB. Brain tumor stem cells: bringing order to the chaos of brain cancer. *J.Clin.Oncol.* 2008;26:2916-24.

- 44. Soeda A, Inagaki A, Oka N et al. Epidermal growth factor plays a crucial role in mitogenic regulation of human brain tumor stem cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 2008;283:10958-66.
- Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R et al. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. *Cancer Cell* 2006;9:157-73.
- 46. Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E et al. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell* 2010;17:98-110.

Figure Legends

Figure 1. GBM neurosphere cells can be induced to differentiate *in vitro*. A) GBM neurosphere cells grow with a differentiated morphology upon serum exposure. Scale bar shows 100 μ m. B) GFAP mRNA is up regulated in GBM neurosphere cells when grown in serum containing media. C) RA induces up regulation of GFAP mRNA in GBM neurosphere cells. Q-RT-PCR reactions are presented as mean mRNA expression ± SD. Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-sided t-test. *** = p<0.005.

Figure 2. EGFR and EGFRvIII are down regulated in GBM neurosphere cells upon differentiation. Q-RT-PCR analyses showing down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII mRNA in GBM neurosphere cells upon A) serum exposure and B) RA treatment. Q-RT-PCR reactions are presented as mean mRNA expression \pm SD. Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-sided t-test. *** = p<0.005 and ** =p<0.01. C) WB showing down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII protein after induced differentiation with serum or RA as shown by up regulation of GFAP.

Figure 3. Abrogation of EGFR signaling with the TKI AG1478 reduces cell viability and leads to induced differentiation. A) WB showing reduced phosphorylation of EGFR upon AG1478 treatment. B) AG1478 (10 μ M) exposure leads to a decrease in the number of viable cells as measured by MTT. C) Photographs of GBM neurospheres showing reduced sphere size upon AG1478 treatment. Scale bar shows 100 μ m. D) Bar chart showing GFAP mRNA up regulation by Q-RT-PCR in two independent experiments after AG1478 (10 μ M) exposure. E) GFAP protein is up regulated in a concentration dependent manner upon AG1478 exposure. Q-RT-PCR reactions and MTT results are presented as mean mRNA expression and viability \pm SD respectively. Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-sided t-test. *** = p<0.005 and ** =p<0.01.

Figure 4. GBM neurosphere tumorigenicity and stem cell-like potential is reduced upon induced differentiation and after EGFR inhibition. A) Soft agar assay showing reduced colony formation after induced differentiation or AG1478 treatment. Data are presented as mean \pm SD of two independent experiments performed in duplicates. B) Representative pictures of soft agar assay using either NB media or DMEM+10%FCS. C) Sub-sphere assay showing reduced sphere forming potential after pre-treatment with serum (DMEM+10%FCS), RA or AG1478 as compared to

spheres formed in NB media only. Data presented are from one out of two independent experiments performed in sextuplicates and are presented as mean number of spheres \pm SD. D) Primary sphere formation is reduced upon abrogation of EGFR signaling with AG1478. Data is presented as mean number of spheres \pm SD. Statistical significance was calculated between treated and corresponding control, if not indicated otherwise, using Student's two-sided t-test. *** = p<0.005, ** = p<0.01 and * = p<0.05.

Figure 5. Schematic view of proposed serum- and RA induced differentiation of bCSC. Serum induces a close-to terminal differentiation of immature cancer cells such as bCSC and progenitor cells. The resulting cells lose EGFR and EGFRvIII expression while up regulating GFAP expression. However, the cells still retain some tumorigenic potential and proliferate, although they are not able to self-renew. RA induces less differentiation than serum as visible by less up regulation of GFAP. In addition, the cells retain some capacity of self-renewal and proliferation and as such they could represent some stage of progenitor cell differentiation. However, both EGFR and EGFRvIII expression are lost upon differentiation, indicating that these receptors are expressed in an immature and undifferentiated cell type such as the bCSC.











6. Results - Manuscript III

Level of Notch activation determines the effect on growth and stem cell-like features in glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cultures

Running title: Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells

By:

Karina Kristoffersen^a, Mette Villingshøj^a, Hans Skovgaard Poulsen^a and Marie-Thérése Stockhausen^a

^aDepartment of Radiation Biology, The Finsen Center, Section 6321, Copenhagen University Hospital, Blegdamsvej 9, DK-2100 Copenhagen, Denmark

Cancer Biology & Therapy, 14(7):625-637 2013

Cancer Biology & Therapy 14:7, 625–637; July 2013; © 2013 Landes Bioscience

Level of Notch activation determines the effect on growth and stem cell-like features in glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cultures

Karina Kristoffersen, Mette Villingshøj, Hans Skovgaard Poulsen, and Marie-Thérése Stockhausen*

Department of Radiation Biology; The Finsen Center, Section 6321; Copenhagen University Hospital; Copenhagen, Denmark

Keywords: glioblastoma multiforme, neurosphere cultures, brain cancer stem-like cells, Notch signaling, Notch activity, DAPT, ICN-1

Abbreviations: bCSC, brain cancer stem-like cells; DAPT, N-[N-(3,5-difluorophenacetyl-1-alanyl)]-S-phenylglycine t-butyl ester; GBM, glioblastoma multiforme; GSI, γ -secretase inhibitor; ICN-1, intracellular Notch-1 domain; NSC, neural stem cells; G₀/G₁, cell cycle phase where the cells are non-dividing

<u>Background</u>: Brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC) are cancer cells with neural stem cell (NSC)-like properties found in glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) and they are assigned a central role in tumor initiation, progression and relapse. The Notch pathway is important for maintenance and cell fate decisions in the normal NSC population. Notch signaling is often deregulated in GBM and recent results suggest that this pathway plays a significant role in bCSC as well. We therefore wished to further elucidate the role of Notch activation in GBM-derived bCSC.

<u>Results</u>: GBM neurosphere cultures with high endogenous Notch activation displayed sensitivity toward Notch inhibition with regard to tumorigenic features as demonstrated by increased G_q/G_1 population and reduced colony formation capacity. Of the NSC-like characteristics, only the primary sphere forming potential was affected, while no effect was observed on self-renewal or differentiation. In contrast, when Notch signaling was activated a decrease in the G_q/G_1 population and an enhanced capability of colony formation was observed, along with increased self-renewal and dedifferentiation.

<u>Methods</u>: Human-derived GBM xenograft cells were cultured as NSC-like neurosphere cultures. Notch modulation was accomplished either by blocking the pathway using the γ -secretase inhibitor DAPT or by activating it by transfecting the cells with the constitutive active Notch-1 receptor.

<u>Conclusion</u>: Based on the presented results we propose that active Notch signaling plays a role for cell growth and stem cell-like features in GBM neurosphere cultures and that Notch-targeted anti-bCSC treatment could be feasible for GBM patients with high endogenous Notch pathway activation.

Introduction

Gliomas are the most common primary brain tumors (PBT) in adults with an yearly incidence of approximately 6/100000 in Western countries.¹ They are traditionally categorized as derived from glial tissue and further distinction is made based on their grade of anaplasia of which the astrocytic glioma, glioblastoma multiforme (GBM, WHO Grade IV) displays the highest degree. GBM accounts for 50–60% of gliomas² and is recognized as the most aggressive PBT in adults with a median survival around 15 mo.³ The majority of GBMs are often difficult to operate, due to their location and infiltrative growth pattern, and non-surgical treatments (chemo- and radiation therapy) are often ineffective.⁴⁵ As such, relapse is almost certain, which is why GBM thus far is considered incurable and new treatment modalities are in high demand. Increasing evidence imply that a population of

stem-like cells exist within the heterogeneous cell mass that comprise brain tumors, including GBM. These are, among others, designated brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC) as they show close resemblance to the normal neural stem cells (NSC) of the human brain. The bCSC have been shown to drive tumor initiation and progression in an orthotopic GBM model6 and they are furthermore thought to exert a significant role in tumor angiogenesis, treatment resistance, and relapse,7-9 making them an interesting target in the search for improving GBM treatment. Using the serum-free neurosphere culture system and analysis, adopted from work with NSC, bCSC can be identified in vitro based on their NSC-like characteristics, namely, neurosphere formation, self-renewal, multipotency, and expression of NSC markers.¹⁰ In addition to NSC characteristics, bCSC are tumorigenic and capable of mimicking the characteristics of the original patient tumor when transplanted onto immunocompromised mice.12,13,15

*Correspondence to: Marie-Thérése Stockhausen; Email: marie.stockhausen@regionh.dk Submitted: 01/22/13; Revised: 02/08/13; Accepted: 04/07/13 http://dx.doi.org/10.4161/cbt.24595

www.landesbioscience.com

Cancer Biology & Therapy

625

RESEARCH PAPER

Results from our lab and others have shown that GBM cell cultures established during stem cell conditions more closely mirror the original patient tumor and maintain important GBM hallmarks, such as amplification and/or mutation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR),^{16,17} than GBM cells grown in the traditional serum containing culture systems. As such, establishing GBM neurosphere cell cultures that retain stem cell-like potential and GBM characteristics has provided us with a valuable model of the human disease for the present work.

The Notch signaling pathway is evolutionarily conserved and has a diverse impact on several cellular pathways and functions depending on the cellular context, the activating ligand as well as intervention from additional signaling pathways. The involvement of Notch in cell-fate decisions during development of the nervous system was originally outlined through studies in D. melanogaster, and it has been demonstrated that Notch signaling influences the balance between the NSC pool and its differentiated progeny through both lateral inhibition as well as inductive and restrictive cell fate determination.¹⁸⁻²⁵ The Notch receptors have been associated with cells in neurogenic areas such as the subventricular zone, the dentate gyrus, and the rostromigratory stream of the postnatal mammalian brain,26-28 all areas where NSC are abundant.²⁹⁻³¹ Clinically, GBM are often located in close association to such areas,4,32 thus it is no surprise that Notch pathway components often are found aberrantly expressed in GBM and thereof derived neurosphere cultures.^{16,33,38} Furthermore, it has been suggested that Notch activity plays a central role in bCSC survival, tumorigenicity, and resistance mechanisms.36,39-44

In the present study, we seek to further dissect the relevance of Notch signaling in bCSC by investigating the importance of an active Notch pathway in GBM neurosphere cultures. We show that human-derived GBM xenograft cells cultured during NSC conditions in vitro contain cells with NSC-like characteristics. We further found that Notch pathway activation differed between

the cultures investigated and that inhibition of Notch signaling, using the y-secretase inhibitor (GSI) DAPT, which inhibits the activating cleavage of the Notch receptor,44 hampered cell growth and primary sphere formation only in GBM neurosphere cultures with high endogenous Notch activity. However, endogenous Notch activity did not seem to be important for additional stem cell characteristics such as self-renewal and differentiation status. On the contrary, by introducing a constitutively active form of the Notch-1 receptor (ICN-1) and thereby exogenously activate the pathway, both cell growth and stem cell characteristics could be affected in all cultures. Taken together these results suggest that Notch signaling is important for the growth of GBM neurosphere cells with high endogenous Notch expression and activation and that Notch activity can be increased to a level where it influences the NSC-like characteristics of all cultures. Thus, Notch-directed GBM therapy for targeting the bCSC population is likely a promising alternative or supplement to existing treatment regimes.

Results

GBM neurosphere cultures harbor neural stem-like cells. In the past decade several groups have identified and characterized bCSC from GBM based on their ability to form neurospheres during stem cell culturing conditions, their self-renewing capacity based on sub-sphere formation, their multi-differentiation potential and the expression of NSC markers.^{10,11,14} Here GBM neurosphere cultures were established from human-derived GBM xenograft tissue as previously described.¹⁷ All cultures observed were able to form both primary spheres and spheres after dissociation, i.e., sub-spheres (Fig. 1A). To test the self-renewing capacity of the sphere-forming cells, sub-sphere formation was quantified as the number of spheres formed per 100 cells plated to approximately 35–45 spheres (Fig. 1B). It should be noticed



Figure 1. Neural stem-like cells are present in GBM xenografts. (A) Representative pictures of a primary and a sub sphere culture. Scale bar shows 100 µ.M. (B) Sub sphere formation in later cultures. Bar chart represents the mean number of sub spheres formed per 100 cells plated ± SEM. (C) Representative sphere formed from a single cell. (D) Representative pictures of differentiated sphere cells expressing GFAP (astrocytic marker), CNPase (oligodendrocytic marker), or βIII-tubulin (neuronal marker) upon serum addition. Expression was detected by immunocytochemical staining. WB analysis of the NSC marker Nestin in (E) subcutaneous GBM xenografts and (F) thereof derived neurosphere cultures.

Cancer Biology & Therapy

that the sub-sphere forming potential varied between passages, in most cases increasing with increasing passage number (Fig. S1), indicating an enrichment of sphere forming cells in the culture. All cultures were, furthermore, able to form spheres from a single cell plated (Fig. 1C). Together these data indicate that the sphere-forming cells are self-renewing. To test whether multipotent cells were present in the cultures, dissociated sphere cells were subjected to serum-containing media in order to induce differentiation. Addition of serum made the cells grow adherently with a more differentiated morphology (data not shown). Immunocytochemical detection of GFAP, BIII-tubulin, and CNPase demonstrated that all cultures contained cells expressing neuronal and/or glial markers upon differentiation (Fig. 1D), suggesting that the cultures harbored cells with multi-differentiating potential. Finally, all three xenografts and thereof derived following passages of neurosphere cultures expressed high levels of the stem cell marker Nestin (Fig. 1E and F), compared with the commercial U251 GBM cell line used as a positive control⁴⁵ (data not shown). All cultures have been injected intracranially into SCID mice and grown as orthotopic tumors (unpublished data), and similar cultures have been re-implanted and successfully established as secondary subcutaneous tumors on the flanks of nude mice,17 together suggesting that cells within the neurosphere cultures have maintained their tumorigenic potential. Based on these results we believe that the neurosphere cultures used in this study can be categorized as harboring a bCSC population.

GBM neurosphere cultures express varying levels of Notch-1 and the Notch transcriptional target Hes-1. The Notch receptors, their ligands and downstream mediators have been found aberrantly expressed in various grades and types of gliomas, commercial glioma cells lines as well as in glioma-derived neurosphere cultures and it has been demonstrated that the Notch pathway plays a role in glioma cell survival and maintenance.^{16,33,39,40} We therefore wished to determine the Notch-1 protein level and the activity of the Notch pathway, as assessed by the Notch transcriptional target Hes-1, in the GBM neurosphere cultures and xenograft tumors used in this study. As shown in Figure 2A subcutaneous xenograft tumors from which the in vitro cultures were established expressed Notch-1 at various levels and the expression of Notch-1 was higher in the 029 and 036 xenografts than in the 048 xenograft. This expression pattern was also evident in the corresponding neurosphere cultures (Fig. 2B). Expression of the Notch target Hes-1 was likewise higher in the 029 and 036 xenografts and in vitro cultures, as compared with 048 (Fig. 2A and B). Taken together, the Notch-1 expression and pathway activation seems to be maintained from the xenografts to the in vitro cultures. Furthermore, we classified the 029 and 036 xenografts and cultures as having high endogenous Notch-1 expression and Notch pathway activation as compared with the 048 xenograft and culture which we classified as having low expression and activation.

Notch inhibition induces cell cycle arrest without cell death in cultures with high endogenous Notch expression and activity. To investigate the effect of Notch pathway inhibition on our in vitro cultures, dissociated neurosphere cells were treated with 5 μ M DAPT for 2 weeks, where after the cells were harvested



Figure 2. Expression of Notch-1 and the Notch target Hes-1 is maintained from xenograft to culture. Basal protein expression of the Notch-1 receptor and the Notch transcriptional target Hes-1 in (A) subcutaneous xenograft tumors from which the neurosphere cultures used in this study were derived and in (B) the xenograft-derived GBM neurosphere cultures.

for analyses. Q-RT-PCR analysis showed that the Hes-1 mRNA level was reduced in the 029 and 036 cultures upon DAPT treatment as compared with control (Fig. 3A). However, no effect was observed in the 048 culture. On protein level downregulation of Hes-1 was observed in the 029 and 036 cultures both after 2 weeks (Fig. 3B) and 3 d (Fig. 3D), whereas the downregulation was not as evident in the 048 culture, verifying the results from the Q-RT-PCR analyses. Thus, it is possible to hamper Notch signaling in cultures with high endogenous Notch-1 expression, whereas Notch signaling in cultures with low Notch activity is less affected by γ -secretase inhibition.

To explore the effect of Notch inhibition on a functional level, cell cycle analysis was performed. Dissociated neurosphere cells were treated with 5 µM DAPT for three days and subsequently fixed and labeled with propidium iodide for flowcytometric quantification of DNA content. Upon analysis of the cell cycle, we found the G_0/G_1 , non-dividing cell fraction to be elevated by approximately 10% in the DAPT treated 029 and 036 cells, whereas there was no consistent response in the 048 cells as evident by the large error bars (Fig. 3C). We were concerned that the increase in the 029 and 036 G0/G1 population reflected a decrease in the sub-G0/G1, dead cell fraction. However, when quantifying the fraction of dead cells in these cultures using trypan blue staining the total number of dead cells was not decreased upon treatment with neither 5 nor 10 µM DAPT (data not shown and Fig. S2). To further explore this, we analyzed the expression level of different apoptotic- and cell cycle markers upon treatment with 5 µM DAPT for three days. As shown in Figure 3D no change in the apoptotic markers cleaved caspase-3 or BAX could be observed upon Notch inhibition. The cell cycle regulator CDK4 was likewise not affected while a slight upregulation of the cell cycle inhibitor p21 could be detected in the 036 culture which correlates with inhibition of the cell cycle.

Tumorigenicity is obstructed by Notch inhibition in cultures with high Notch activation. We then tested if Notch inhibition targeted additional in vitro tumorigenic features of the GBM neurosphere cells such as the ability to grow independently of anchorage and cell–cell contact. As such, cells left untreated (DAPT-naïve) or cells pretreated with DAPT or DMSO were

www.landesbioscience.com

Cancer Biology & Therapy



Figure 3. Notch inhibition more profoundly affects cultures with high Notch expression and activation. (A) Q-RT-PCR analysis of Hes-1 mRNA expression. Bars represent mean normalized Hes-1 mRNA expression ± SEM in control and DAPT treated cultures from two independent experiments performed in duplicates. Comparisons of means between control and treated were based on the unpaired t-test performed on the normalized data. Stars represent the difference between the mean of control and treated. **P < 0.01. (B) WB detection of Hes-1 protein in DAPT and DMSO treated cultures. In (A and B) the cells were treated with 5 μ M DAPT or DMSO for 2 weeks. (C) Cell cycle analysis of neurosphere cultures treated with 5 μM DAPT or DMSO for 3 days. Bars represent the difference in the G_0 G. fraction ± SEM between the DMSO control and the DAPT treated samples from three independent experiments. Positive bars correspond to an increase in the G_n/G₁ fraction in the DAPT treated samples compared with the control. Comparisons of means between control and treatment were based on the paired t-test performed on the untransformed data. Stars represent the difference between the mean of control and treated. **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001. (D) WB detection of Hes-1, cell cycle regulators (CDK4 and p21), and apop totic markers (cleaved caspase-3 and BAX) in neurosphere cells treated with 5 μM DAPT or DMSO for 3 d.

plated in semi-solid agar with the addition of DAPT or DMSO. The number of clonogenic colonies formed was evaluated after two weeks. As displayed in Figure 4A, no effect on the colony formation was seen when DAPT-naïve cells were subjected to this assay. However, pretreatment with DAPT almost abolished the ability to form colonies in the 029 and 036 cultures (Fig. 4B), suggesting that these cells had lost some of their malignant phenotype. Again, no effect and thus no decrease in colony formation was observed in the low Notch expressing 048 culture. Representative pictures of a DAPT responsive culture are shown in Figure 4C.

DAPT treatment hampers neurosphere formation in primary culture but not in later passages and does not affect differentiation level. When GBM cells from tumor tissue are initially plated in NB-media in order to establish a primary in vitro culture, the bCSC can be identified by their ability to form neurospheres which are assumed to be clonal or aggregated proliferating cell aggregates.^{47,48} Thus the fraction of GBM cells

forming spheres in the primary culture can be interpreted as a semi-quantification of the stemlike cell population in the tumor. To study the importance of Notch signaling for the primary neurosphere growth and thus quantifying the size of the bCSC fraction, single cells from acutely dissociated subcutaneous xenograft GBM tissue were subjected to a primary sphere forming assay with the addition of different concentrations of DAPT. In this assay, we included additional subcutaneous xenograft tumors derived from two other GBM patients, 017p4 and 047p2, with low and high Notch-1 expression, respectively (Fig. 5B). The relative fraction of spheres formed per total number of cells plated is presented in Figure 5A. The ability to form spheres in the primary culture was notably inhibited in a DAPT concentration-dependent manner in the 029p5, 036p8, 036p15, and 047p2 cultures whereas no effect was observed in the 017p4 and 048p7 cultures. In Figure 5B, the Notch-1 expression in the xenograft tumors, from which the cultures used in the primary sphere assay were established, is presented. Together the results in Figure 5A and B indicate that DAPT treatment only affects primary sphere formation in cultures derived from xenografts defined as having high Notch-1 expression.

Others have shown that Notch pathway blockade reduces the self-renewal capacity in both normal NSC and in GBM sphere cultures as demonstrated by reduced sub-sphere formation upon γ -secretase inhibitor (GSI) treatment.^{41,49} In order to investigate if Notch activity was important for the self-renewing capacity in our GBM neurosphere cultures, neurosphere cells were subjected to a sub-sphere assay with the addition of DAPT. The assay was performed both on DAPT-

naïve and pretreated cells as with the soft-agar assay. As shown in **Figure 5C and D** no inhibitory effect of DAPT on sub-sphere formation in either of the setups was observed.

Stem-like cells have the capacity to uphold an immature state and produce more differentiated daughter cells,^{47,50,51} and it is suggested that Notch expressing cells during normal development are prevented from undergoing differentiation.⁵² To test if Notch activity plays a role in maintaining an undifferentiated pool of cells within our GBM neurosphere cultures, naïve or pretreated neurosphere cells, in parallel to the sub-sphere assay were harvested for WB analyses of markers representing the three neural lineages; GFAP for astrocytes, CNPase for oligodendrocytes, and β III-tubulin for neurons. As shown in **Figure 5E and F**, no consistent change in the expression of these differentiation markers was detected in either the naïve or pretreated GBM neurosphere cells. Furthermore, no effect on the expression of the NSC marker Nestin was observed (**Fig. S3**).

Cancer Biology & Therapy

Notch activation affects neurosphere stem cell characteristics and increases tumorigenicity. In order to study the effect of Notch pathway activation, we introduced a truncated, constitutively active form of the Notch-1 receptor (ICN-1) into our GBM neurosphere cultures by transient transfection. A time profile of total Notch-1 expression in ICN-1 and mock transfected neurosphere cells is shown in Figure 6A. Four hours after transfection a double band could be detected, where the upper band most likely represents the uncleaved transmembrane domain of endogenous Notch-1 and the lower band the intracellular Notch-1 domain, indicating successful transfection. At 20 and 40 h, the expression was further elevated compared with the mock transfected cells. It should be noticed that the transfection efficiency in general was highest in the 048 culture (-75%) and lowest in the 029 culture (<25%) and that it subsided after approximately 9 d, estimated as the fraction of green fluorescent cells (data not shown). When transfected cells were subjected to cell cycle analysis a decrease in the fraction of cells in the G0/G1 phase could

be detected in all three cultures (Fig. 6B). The 048 culture displayed the largest decrease in the G0/G1 fraction, while the 029 culture did not respond to the same degree. Again, we were concerned that the decrease in the G_0/G_1 fraction reflected an increase in the sub-G0/G1 fraction. Therefore, ICN-1 and mock transfected cells were subjected to a soft-agar assay and the number of colonies was scored after 2 weeks. In general the ICN-1 transfected cells produced larger colonies than the mock transfected cells, indicating an increased cell cycle (representative photos are shown in Fig. 6C). When quantified, an increase in the colony forming potential was observed in the ICN-1 transfected cells as compared with the mock transfected cells (Fig. 6D). This effect was more pronounced in the low Notch-1 expressing 048 culture. Finally, as DAPT treatment did not affect the stem cell characteristics of the neurosphere cells as exemplified by lack of effect on sub-sphere formation and differentiation status (Fig. 5B and C), we performed the same experiments on ICN-1 transfected cells to explore if these stem cell characteristics could be affected by increasing the Notch activity. As demonstrated in Figure 6E, a slight increase in the number of sub-spheres formed was observed upon ICN-1 transfection. When analyzing the expression of neuronal and glial markers after ICN-1 transfection (Fig. 6F) all three markers were downregulated in the 029 culture implying de-differentiation, while the 036 and 048 cultures only showed downregulation of one of the markers, β IIItubulin and GFAP respectively. The modest effect on sub-sphere

www.landesbioscience.com



Figure 4. Notch inhibition hampers in vitro tumorigenic potential. Colony formation assay in softagar with the addition of 10 μ M DAPT or DMSO performed on (A) DAPT-naïve cells or (B) DAPTpretreated cells. Bars shows the relative mean of colonies formed after 14 d ± SEM. Stars represent the difference between the mean of control and treated. **P* < 0.05, ****P* < 0.001. (C) Representative photos of the colony formation assay.

> formation and differentiation level might be due to the fact that the analyses were performed on the whole culture and not only the ICN-1 transfected cells. However, the above outlined results indicate that it is possible to activate Notch signaling to a degree where it affects the stem cell characteristics of the GBM neurosphere cultures.

Discussion

Given the potential role for bCSC in tumor development, maintenance, resistance to therapy, and relapse, it is of great importance to further understand the mechanism(s) involved in bCSC regulation. In the present study we have investigated the role of Notch signaling for the stem cell-like and tumorigenic potential of GBM neurosphere cells. We have established GBM neurosphere cultures from human-derived GBM xenografts and identified these as harboring cells with bCSC features. All cultures investigated in this study expressed Notch-1 and the downstream target Hes-1 at various levels. In cultures with high Notch-1 and Hes-1 expression, inhibition of Notch signaling led to decreased cell growth as displayed by decreased number of clonogenic colonies, most likely as a consequence of cell cycle inhibition. In opposite, when introducing a constitutively activated variant of Notch-1, an increase in cell growth was obtained. Furthermore, both the self-renewing capacity and de-differentiation level were increased in all cultures upon Notch activation. These stem-like

Cancer Biology & Therapy



Figure 5. DAPT treatment affects primary neurosphere formation but not sub sphere formation or differentiation level. (A) Primary sphere formation assay performed on acutely dissociated GBM xenograft cells with the addition of 0, 1, 5, or 10 μ M DAPT. Notice that 0 μ M DAPT was used as control for 029p5, 036p8, 047p2, and 048p7, while DMSO was used for 017p4 and 036p15. (B) WB detection of Notch-1 in xenograft tumor tissue from which the acutely dissociated GBM cells for the primary sphere assay were derived. (C) Sub-sphere formation assay performed on naïve cells treated with 5 μ M DAPT or DMSO or (D) pretreated cells with the addition of 10 μ M DAPT or DMSO. In (A, C, and D) bars show relative mean of spheres formed after 14 d ± SEM. Stars represent the difference between the mean of control and treated. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001. N.A., not analyzed. (**C and F**) WB detection of markers for differentiation in neurosphere cells treated in parallel to (**C and D**) respectively. GFAP for astrocytes, BIII-tubulin for neurons, and CNPase for Oligodendrocytes. Naïve cells are displayed in (E) and pretreated in (F).

features were, however, not affected by inhibition of endogenous Notch signaling. Nevertheless, as the primary sphere forming capacity was clearly reduced upon Notch inhibition, our data together imply that active Notch signaling plays a role in maintaining the bCSC population in the high Notch-1 expressing GBM cultures.

Others have shown that the Notch receptors and components of the Notch signaling pathway are differently expressed in GBM as well as in GBMderived cultures.^{16,33-37} In consensus, two of the cultures used in this study, the 029 and 036 cultures, showed elevated expression of the Notch-1 receptor and Hes-1 as compared with the 048 culture, indicating that the Notch pathway has a higher activation level in the former cultures. It should be considered that additional Notch receptors (Notch-2-4) and downstream targets, other than Hes-1, could be of importance for the outcome of Notch activity in these cultures and we can therefore not exclude that 048 has high Notch pathway activity. However, as this culture in general displayed insensibility toward Notch inhibition, this is not a likely scenario. Substantiating this, Hes-1 expression was most prominently downregulated upon DAPT treatment, as has been shown by others,40,41 in cultures that were also affected on a functional level, namely the 029 and 036 cultures. Hes-1 is a member of the bHLH family and mediates Notch signaling by acting as a transcriptional repressor and thousands of potential binding sites for Hes-1 have been identified.53 Thus attenuation of Hes-1 expression has multiple potential functional effects. It is moreover important to hold in mind that several additional Notch targets have been reported. Besides Hes-2-7, also the bHLH transcriptional repressors Hey-1, -2, and -L,54 GFAP55 that, apart from being an astrocytic marker, also is expressed in postnatal NSC,56, the NSC marker Nestin^{58,59} as well as the cell cycle regulators p21 and Cyclin D1^{46,60,61} have been suggested as Notch targets and the list continues to elongate. Thus, as active Notch signaling has multiple targets and each target affects even more downstream mediators, it is naïve to conclude that Hes-1 is the sole

explanation for the effects observed upon Notch modulation. Nevertheless, the functional effect of Hes-1 seems to be more prominent and severe than the effect of the other Hes proteins

630

Cancer Biology & Therapy

(reviewed in ref. 62). Furthermore, the data presented here suggest that the effect of γ -secretase inhibition can be predicted by the Hes-1 expression level, as DAPT treatment only had a functional effect on GBM neurosphere cultures with high endogenous Hes-1 expression. It could therefore be speculated that Hes-1 could either be used as a predictive marker for Notch-directed targeted therapy or function as a therapeutic target iself.

To explore the functional role of Notch in our neurosphere cultures, different cellular in vitro assays evaluating cell growth were utilized. These assays combined can be interpreted as a measurement of the in vitro tumorigenic potential of the cells examined. Notch inhibition resulted in an increase in the G_0/G_1 cell fraction of the 029 and 036 cultures, whereas 048 remained unaffected. Furthermore, no obvious change in the number of dead cells was observed in 029 and 036, and an increase of p21 was seen in 036, a phenomenon also described by others.46 These data indicate that inhibition of Notch signaling in GBM neurosphere cells with high endogenous Notch activity leads to cell cycle arrest or slowing of the cell cycle without induction of cell death, a notion supported by our results showing progression through G_0/G_1 upon artificial Notch activation. Others have shown that Notch-1 knock down leads to upregulation of p21 together with cell cycle arrest in G₀/G₁.^{46,61} These studies were however performed in different cancer types and they moreover detected an increase in apoptosis which is in contrast to our findings. Nevertheless, our results support previously published data on the effect of Notch inhibition on the cell cycle in NSC and various cancer types including GBM40,46,60,61,63,64 and as such we suggest that Notch activity is involved in GBM neurosphere cell growth and perhaps more specifically in the G_0/G_1 -S phase transition. This statement is further supported by our results from the soft-agar clonogenic growth assay, which is a commonly used in vitro tumorigenic assay as it evaluates the capa-



Figure 6. Transfection with ICN-1 results in opposite effect from DAPT treatment and affects stem cell characteristics. (A) Expression of total Notch-1 in cultures transfected with ICN-1 or Mock plasmid after 0, 2, 4, 20, or 40 h. (B) Cell cycle analysis of neurosphere cultures transfected with ICN-1 or Mock plasmid after 0, 2, 4, 20, or 40 h. (B) Cell cycle analysis of neurosphere cultures transfected with ICN-1 or Mock and Icf for 3 d. Bars represent the difference in the G₀/G₁ fraction ± SEM between Mock and ICN-1 transfected samples from at least two independent experiments performed in mono- or duplicates. Negative bars correspond to a decrease in the G₀/G₁ fraction in the ICN-1 transfected samples comparisons of means between Mock and ICN-1 transfected samples comparisons of means between Mock and ICN-1 transfected samples comparisons of means between Mock and ICN-1 transfected samples comparisons of means between Mock and ICN-1 were based in the paired t-test performed on the untransformed data. (**C**) Representative photos of soft-agar assay performed on cells transfected with ICN-1 or Mock. (**D**) Quantification of colonies formed after 14 d ± 5EM. (**E**) Sub sphere formation assay performed on cells transfected with ICN-1 or Mock. (**D**) Quantification of colonies formed after 14 d ± 5EM. (**E**) Sub sphere formation assay performed on cells transfected with ICN-1 or Mock. Bars shows the relative mean of colonions formed after 14 d ± 5EM. (**E**) Sub sphere formed after 14 d ± 5EM. For (**B**, **D**, **and E**) stars represent the difference between the mean of control and treated. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01. (**F**) WB detection of markers for differentiation in neurosphere cells treated parallel to (**E**). GFAP for astrocytes, glill-tubulin for neurons, and CNPase for oligodendrocytes.

and then subjected to the assay the clonogenic growth potential

was clearly reduced in the 029 and 036 cultures, which is in line with previous data from Fan et al.⁴⁰ This discrepancy between

naïve and pretreated cells might reflect that Notch inhibition

bility for anchorage- and cell–cell contact independent clonogenic growth, a capability only cancer cells posses.^{65,66} We did not observe any difference in colony formation when naïve cells were treated with DAPT. However, when the cells were pretreated

www.landesbioscience.com

Cancer Biology & Therapy

631

©2013 Landes Bioscience. Do not distribute

leads to increased differentiation of neurosphere forming cells, as has been shown by others in NSC, glioma cells and bCSC, 34,41,52 into lineage restricted progenitor cells that are still able to proliferate and form colonies. Progenitor cells do, however, not have the capability to self-renew and become proliferative exhausted over time (reviewed in refs. 67 and 68) and therefore DAPTpretreated neurosphere forming cells that had have differentiated into progenitor cells would not form colonies upon replating. On the opposite, when the cells were transfected with the constitutively activated Notch-1 receptor we found an elevated capability to form colonies in soft agar. The effect of Notch activation was observed in all 3 cultures. However, as with the cell cycle analysis it was more prominent in 048, most likely due to the high transfection efficiency in this culture as compared with the other cultures. It could also be speculated that cells with high endogenous Notch activation, like the 029 and 036 cultures, do not benefit from increased ICN-1 levels to the same degree as the 048 culture with low Notch activation. Nevertheless, the above discussed results suggest that activated Notch signaling leads to increased clonogenic proliferation and thus enhanced malignant potential.

The above data support results recently published by Fan et al., who showed that Notch inhibition using different γ -secretase inhibitors led to decreased cell viability and Hes-1 expression in GBM neurosphere cultures whereas transfection of the cells with the intracellular Notch-2 receptor resulted in increased cell growth.⁴⁰ They stated that Notch-2 activation was sufficient to promote GBM neurosphere cell growth. It is however important to point out that γ -secretase inhibitors do not specifically target one Notch receptor, but instead inhibit activation of all 4 receptors. As such, it is at this point not possible to conclude if the two receptors are equally important for GBM neurosphere cell growth or if there is some kind of redundancy between the two receptors with regard to their functional relevance.

The role of Notch signaling during normal development including NSC regulation is firmly established; however, we are only beginning to elucidate its role in bCSC regulation.^{36,40-42} NSC and bCSC are commonly identified by their sphere forming capacity in culture, and thus the number of spheres formed in primary culture from acutely dissociated tumor tissue can be interpreted as a semi-quantification of the bCSC population in the tumor tissue sample. A correlation between primary neurosphere formation and survival of glioma patients has been suggested69,70 and it has been shown that the vast majority of GBM tumors could be established and maintained as neurosphere cultures, whereas lower grade gliomas mostly lacked this ability.70 We have successfully established neurosphere cultures from every human-derived GBM xenograft tumor attempted in this and previous studies.¹⁷ Furthermore, here we show that the ability for primary neurosphere formation could be reduced in a DAPT concentration-dependent manner in cultures with high endogenous Notch activity, indicating a decline in the bCSC population in the primary culture upon Notch inhibition. These observations are in line with previously published results showing that GSI treatment decreases the number of primary spheres formed from GBM and normal $\ensuremath{\mathsf{NSC}^{41}}$ and support the idea of Notch inhibition as a way to target the bCSC population and improve patient survival. One might question, that despite the low level of Notch-1 protein in the 017p4 xenograft, these cells were still able to form spheres in the primary culture. This observation does, however, merely imply that additional pathways play a role for the bCSC capacity in the sphere forming GBM cells with low Notch activity.

Surprisingly, when the sphere assay was performed on latter passage cultures, no effect of DAPT treatment on neurosphere formation was observed. Thus, it seems as if Notch activity is only important for maintenance of the bCSC in the primary culture and not in later passages. This hypothesis was supported=when we found no or little effect of DAPT on the expression of differentiation markers, which suggests that the differentiation level of the cultures was maintained despite of Notch inhibition. Taken together, these data suggest that although it is possible to inhibit neurosphere growth in primary cell cultures, neither the self-renewing capacity nor differentiation level, both reflecting stem-like features, are dependent on Notch signaling in any of our long-term neurosphere cultures, although Notch-1 expression and activity, as assessed by Hes-1 expression, are maintained.

One might argue that the primary, sub-sphere, and soft-agar assays all reflect a stem cell feature, namely the capability to form proliferating cell aggregates, and Notch inhibition as such should result in similar outcome in the different assays. There are, however, fundamental differences between the three assays. First of all, the soft-agar assay differs from the sub-sphere assay, as the cells are embedded in a semi-solid agar with no possibility of cell-cell contact and signaling and are thus dependent on growth factors in the media and endogenic signaling for proliferative activity. In contrast, in the sub-sphere assay the cells float around in the media and are able to interact and as such, the formation of a neurosphere is not by certainty the result of clonogenic growth in the sub-sphere assay, which is in contrast to the case in the soft-agar assay. Furthermore, the cell-cell interaction in the sub-sphere assay might enable activation of additional pathways that overrule the Notch inhibition. Indeed pathways, such as the EGFR, Wnt, and SHH pathways, have been shown to be important for bCSC maintenance and growth^{71,72} (and reviewed in ref. 73), and it has furthermore been demonstrated that aggregation promotes proliferation of NSC.48 This functional redundancy of pathways might reflect the fact that normal stem cells are crucial for upholding the organism and thus have multiple possibilities for self maintenance and protection. Second, when acutely dissociated cells from the xenograft tumor biopsy initially were subjected to NB-media, no cell sorting was performed. As such, all the different cell types present in the tumor were most likely present during establishment of the primary neurosphere culture. Over time and with increasing passages, the NB-media would select for cells with stem cell-like potential and their derivates, and fully differentiated cells that were present in the original tumor, such as stromal and endothelial cells would be eliminated. As activation of Notch signaling requires receptor-ligand interaction and as Notch signaling is known to occur between two adjacent cells (although cell autonomous ligand-receptor interaction has been demonstrated74), it is reasonable to speculate that the Notch signaling is activated by different means in

©2013 Landes Bioscience. Do not distribute.

Cancer Biology & Therapy

the primary culture as compared with later passage cultures. In that context, it has been shown that the Notch-1 receptor and the Notch ligands Dll-1 and -3 and Jag-1 and -2 are expressed in different brain regions²⁶ and thus most likely by different cell types and that Dll-4 is expressed by GBM endothelial cells.75 This means that in the primary sphere assay, Notch signaling in the bCSC could be activated by ligand-bearing cells of different origin, while it in the later passage cultures occurs between cells of the same origin. As such, it is possible that these two scenarios lead to different Notch activation levels in the primary and later passages cultures, and also that there is a threshold level for Notch activity, over which it has an influence on the stem cell-like features of the bCSC. Indeed, it has been shown that modulation of Notch activity has different outcome depending on the endogenous Notch activation level in NSC.76 One could thus argue that in the primary culture Notch activity would be activated over the threshold level and thereby able to exert its effect on the bCSC population, whereas the activity would be below the threshold level in the later passage culture, and thus inhibition of Notch signaling would have no or little effect on the stem cell characteristics. This hypothesis was substantiated by our results using artificially activated Notch signaling. Here we did obtain an effect on the sub-sphere forming potential and differentiation level. The effect was not as convincing as the effect on the cell growth potential, but there was nevertheless a tendency toward an increase in the number of sub-spheres and a decrease in the expression of differentiation markers suggesting that the bCSC population was expanded. This was further supported by an increase in the clonogenic growth potential observed in the soft-agar assay when using constitutively activated Notch. Thus, even if inhibition of endogenous Notch signaling did not affect the stem cell characteristics of later passage neurosphere cultures, the Notch activity could be artificially boosted to a level where it indeed affected the stem cell-like potential.

Another explanation for the lack of effect from DAPT treatment on the stem-cell features in later passages could be that the bCSC population displaying Notch activity might only constitute a small fraction of the entire culture. It is thus not unlikely that the effect from Notch inhibition on the bCSC characteristics is too subtle to be appropriately detected. However, as we detected a pronounced decrease in clonogenic cell growth possibly due to reduced cell cycling upon inhibition of endogenous Notch signaling, our results indicate that also tumor cells without stem cell-like features, representing a non-bCSC population, are affected by Notch inhibition as has been shown by others.^{34,39}

In conclusion, we have shown that it is possible to target both the tumorigenic potential and the stem cell-like features of GBM neurosphere cells by Notch pathway modulation and that Notch inhibition only affects cells with high endogenous Notch activity. The differences in Notch expression and activation, leading to differences in sensitivity toward Notch inhibition might reflect that the neurosphere cultures used in this study belong to different subtypes of GBM. Indeed, it has recently been published that GBM tumors can be divided into several subclasses based on their molecular expression profile and clinical appearance.^{35,38,77} As such the 029 and 036 cultures might belong to a subclass characterized by Notch activation, whereas the 048 culture could belong to a subtype in which Notch signaling is of less importance. Taken together we suggest that using a treatment regime that includes Notch inhibition together with stratifying patients according to Notch pathway activity using, e.g., subtype profiling, could improve the prognosis for GBM patients by reducing both the bCSC and the non-bCSC populations.

Materials and Methods

Ethics statement. In a previous study¹⁷ patient GBM material (GBM_CPH017, GBM_CPH029, GBM_CPH036, GBM_CPH047, and GBM_CPH048) was obtained from surgery at Copenhagen University Hospital, Denmark, approved by the Scientific Ethical Committee for Copenhagen and Frederiksberg: (KF) 01-034/04 with the patients' informed consent and maintained over several passages as subcutaneous xenografts on the flank of nude mice, according to Danish legislation.

Establishing and maintaining GBM xenografts as in vitro neurosphere cultures. Neurosphere cultures were established from acutely dissociated patient-derived subcutaneous xenograft tumors and maintained in NB-media (Neurobasal-A media supplemented with 1× B-27 supplement, 1× L-glutamine, 10 ng/ ml basic fibroblastic growth factor (bFGF), 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF), 1% Pen Strep (penicillin-streptomycin) (all from Invitrogen), and 10 ng/ml leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (Chemicon) as previously described.¹⁷ The cells were cultivated in uncoated cell culture flasks (NUNC) in a humidified chamber with 5% CO, at 37 °C. Fresh media was added twice a week and spheres were mechanically dissociated at every passage. Three different neurosphere cultures were used in the present study: GBM_CPH029p7, NGBM_CPH036p7, and NGBM_ CPH048p6, unless otherwise stated, corresponding to three different patient-derived xenograft tumors. pX indicates the mouse passage from which the individual cultures were established. The prefix "N" refers to that the xenograft has been transplanted onto rats for a period to remove mouse hepatitis infection. For simplicity, the three cultures are designated 029, 036, and 048 respectively.

Modulation of Notch signaling in neurosphere cultures. For Notch inhibition studies, neurospheres were dissociated into single cells and plated in NB-media in either petri dishes (10 cm Ø, Nunc) for pretreatment or directly in a suitable assay plate (see below) and allowed to grow overnight (ON) unless otherwise stated. The latter will be designated DAPT-naïve cells. N-[N-(3,5-difluorophenacetyl-L-alanyl)]-S-phenylglycine t-butyl ester (DAPT, y-secretase inhibitor [GSI] IX, Calbiochem) dissolved in dimethyl-sulfoxide (DMSO) hybri-max (Sigma) was added the following day, unless otherwise stated, at a concentration of either 1, 5, or 10 µM. Equal volumes of DMSO were used as control, unless stated otherwise. Pretreated cells were re-dissociated at day seven, plated in a suitable assay plate corresponding to the DAPT-naïve cells and re-treated with compounds equivalent to pre-treatment. The DAPT concentrations used in this study were based on previous studies using DAPT and additional γ -secretase inhibitors.40,41,44,63

www.landesbioscience.com

Cancer Biology & Therapy

For Notch activation studies, the following plasmid vectors were used: pcDNA3.1(+)-i.c.Notch-1 (kindly provided by J. Aster) coding for the constitutively activated intracellular Notch-1 domain (ICN-1) and pcDNA3.1(+) (Invitrogen) used as a control. Neurospheres were dissociated into single cells and transfected for 3 h with 3 μ g plasmid using 12 μ L Lipofectamine 2000 in Opti-MEM Reduced Serum Medium (both from Invitrogen). Transfection efficiency was estimated by co-transfection with pEGFP-N1 (Clontech) and manual scoring of the proportion of cells expressing EGFP by fluorescence microscopy. Following transfection, the cells were re-plated in NB-media and left for one day before subjected to an assay unless otherwise mentioned.

Differentiation and immunocytochemistry. Spheres were mechanically dissociated into single cells and plated in an 8-well chamber slide (NUNC) in 100 μ l of NB-media at a density of 25-100 cells/µl. An amount of 300 µl Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM), with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) and 1% Pen Strep (all from Invitrogen) was added. The cells were left to differentiate for 7 d and subsequently fixed using a 1:1 mix of acetone and methanol, permeabilized in a Triton X-100 solution and blocked using 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma). The cells were then incubated ON with primary antibody diluted in 1% BSA in PBS followed by tetramethyl rhodamine isothiocyanate (TRITC) conjugated secondary antibody. Object glasses were mounted with Glycergel (Dako). TRITC was excitated at 557 nm and positive cells were visualized using Nikon Eclipse TS100 microscope, Nikon digital camera DXM1200F, and software NIS-Elements F 3.0 Nikon. Primary antibodies: Rabbit polyclonal anti-Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP, Dako), Mouse monoclonal anti-CNPase [11-5B] (Abcam) and Mouse monoclonal anti-tubulin, β III isoform [TU-20] (β III-tubulin, Chemicon). Secondary antibodies: TRITC-Conjugated polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse IgG, TRITC-Conjugated polyclonal swine anti-rabbit IgG (both from Dako).

Western blotting. Whole cell lysates were prepared from cell pellets by sonication in ice-cold RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL [pH 7.4], 1% NP40, 0.25% Na-deoxycholate, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitor mixture II and III (Calbiochem). Protein concentrations were determined using the BCA protein assay (Pierce) according to manufactures instructions. For western blotting (WB) 30-50 μg protein was separated on either 4-12% NuPAGE Bis-Tris gels or 3-8% NuPAGE Tris-Acetat gels (Invitrogen) and electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Invitrogen) according to manufacturers' protocol. The membranes were then blocked for 1 h in 5% non-fat milk at room temperature (RT) and incubated with primary antibody diluted in 5% non-fat milk ON at 4 °C followed by horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated secondary antibodies for 1 h at RT. Blots were developed using the SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate (Thermo Scientific) and the UVP, BioSpectrum AC Imaging System and VisionWorks LS software (UVP). Primary antibodies: goat polyclonal anti-Notch-1 [S-20], rabbit polyclonal anti-GAPDH (all from Santa Cruz), rabbit polyclonal anti-Hes-1 (kindly provided by Dr Tetsou

Sudo, Toray Industries Inc.), mouse monoclonal anti-Nestin [10C2], mouse monoclonal anti-Tubulin, β III isoform [TU-20] (both from Chemicon), rabbit monoclonal anti-cleaved caspase-3 [5A1E], rabbit monoclonal anti-BAX, mouse monoclonal anti-CDK4 [DCS156], mouse monoclonal p21 Waf1/ Cip1 [DCS60], rabbit monoclonal anti- α -Tubulin [11H10] (all from Cell Signaling), rabbit polyclonal anti-Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP, Dako), mouse monoclonal anti-CNPase [11–5B], (Abcam). Secondary antibodies: rabbit polyclonal antimouse IgG, rabbit polyclonal anti-goat IgG and swine polyclonal anti-rabbit IgG (all from Dako).

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction. Total RNA was extracted from cell pellets using QIAshredder columns and RNeasy Mini Kit (both from Qiagen) according to manufacturer's protocol. All RNA was DNase treated using the RNase-Free DNase Set from Qiagen. cDNA was synthesized followed by RNase H treatment according to manufacturers protocol using SuperScript III Platinum Two Step q-RT-PCR kit with SYBR green (Invitrogen) which was also used for the subsequently quantitative real-time PCR (Q-RT-PCR) reactions. The $\Delta\Delta$ -Ct method was used for calculating the normalized gene expression. All data was normalized to the expression of three housekeeping genes (TOP1, CYC1, and EIF4A2) included in the human geNorm housekeeping gene selection kit (Primerdesign). Primers used: Hes-1 forward: 5'-AGCGGGCGCA GATGAC-3', Hes-1 reverse: 5'-CGTTCATGCA CTCGCTGAA-3'.

Primary sphere assay. Single cells from acutely dissociated xenograft tissue were plated in 96-well plates at a density of 10 cells/ μ l in 200 μ l NB-media and directly treated with 1, 5, or 10 µM DAPT. For control 0 µM DAPT or equal volumes of DMSO was added. At day 14, the number of spheres per well was scored and primary sphere frequency calculated. It should be mentioned that the cultures presented in the primary sphere assay are not derived from the same xenograft tumor passage as the cultures used in the additional in vitro experiments, although they are derived from the same original patient tumor. The cultures presented in the primary sphere assay are NGBM_ CPH017p4, NGBM_CPH029p5, NGBM_CPH036p8, NGBM_ CPH036p15, NGBM_CPH047p2, and NGBM_CPH048p7. For simplicity, the cultures are designated 017p4, 029p5, 036p8, 036p15, 047p2, and 048p7 respectively. 017p4 and 047p2 are xenograft tumors derived from two additional patient tumors and only used in this assay. Furthermore, the 017p4 tumor has been cultured in vitro in NB-media between the primary xenograft tumor and the xenograft tumor from which the primary sphere assay was performed. For the 029p5, 038p8, 047p2, and 048p7 cultures, 0 μM DAPT was used as a control. For the 017p4 and 036p15, DMSO was the control.

Sub-sphere assay. Dissociated neurosphere cells from later passages, either transfected with ICN-1, DAPT-naïve, or pretreated with 10 μ M DAPT as described above, were plated in 96-well plates at 100 cells per well in 200 μ l NB-media. Cells were treated with 0, 5 or 10 μ M DAPT and the total number of spheres was scored after 2 weeks. In addition dissociated sphere cells were plated by limiting dilution at 0.5 cells/well without modulation for observation of single cell-derived spheres.

634

Cancer Biology & Therapy

Cell cycle analysis. Dissociated sphere cells were either transfected with ICN-1 or treated with 5 μ M DAPT for 72 h where after the cells were harvested, fixed in 70% ice cold ethanol and resuspended in a propidium iodide solution (50 μ g/ml of propidium iodide, 10 mM Tris, 5 mM MgCl₂, 10 μ g/ml of ribonuclease A, and 1 μ l/ml of NP-40 (propidium iodide and ribonuclease A were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich). DNA content of the samples was quantified using a FACS Canto flow-cytometer and data were analyzed using the FACS Diva software program (BD Biosciences).

Soft-agar assay. 1×10^5 dissociated neurosphere cells, either transfected with ICN-1, DAPT-naïve, or pretreated with 10 μ M DAPT as described above, were plated in semisolid agar with NB-media in a 6-well plate. DAPT-naïve and pretreated cells were supplemented with 10 μ M DAPT in the assay. At day 14, the colonies were stained with 0.005% crystal violet and the number of colonies was visualized by the UVP BioSpectrum AC Imaging System (UVP) and manually quantified.

Statistics. Except for western blot analyses, data from in vitro cellular assays were obtained from at least 3 independent experiments each performed in duplicates or more unless otherwise stated. The primary sphere assay was, however, only performed

8.

References

- Ohgaki H, Kleihues P. Population-based studies on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations in astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2005; 6/4/79-89; PMID:15977639.
- Filippini G, Falcone C, Boiardi A, Broggi G, Bruzzone MG, Caldiroli D, et al.; Brain Cancer Register of the Fondazione IRCCS (Istituto Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico) Istituto Neurologico Carlo Besta. Prognostic factors for survival in 676 consecutive patients with newly diagnosed primary glioblastoma. Neuro Oncol 2008; 10:79-87; PMID:17993634; http://dx.doi.org/10.1215/15228517-2007-038
- 3. Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, et al.; European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumour and Radiation Oncology Groups; National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. Lancet Oncol 2009; 10:459-66; PMID:19269895; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2055(09)70025-7
- Gobus JH, Kuhlenbeck H. The subependymal cell plate (matrix) and its relationship to brain tumors of the ependymal type. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1944; 31:-35; http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00005072-194401000-00001
- Guillamo JS, Lisovoski F, Christov C, Le Guérinel C, Defer GL, Peschanski M, et al. Migration pathways of human glioblastoma cells xenografied into the immunosuppressed rat brain. J Neurooncol 2001; 52:205-15; PMID:11519850; http://dx.doi. org/10.1023/A:1010620420241
- Lathia JD, Gallagher J, Myers JT, Li M, Vasanji A, McLendon RE, et al. Direct in vivo evidence for tumor propagation by glioblastoma cancer stem cells. PLoS One 2011; 6:e24807; PMID:21961046; http://dx.doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024807
- 547 (1997) 2017 (2017) 2017

www.landesbioscience.com

once and in sextuplicates, as repeats were not possible. Data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) unless otherwise stated. For statistic analyses data was log-transformed and comparisons of means between control and treatment were based on the 1-way ANOVA test at 0.05 significance level unless otherwise stated.

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflict of interest was disclosed.

Acknowledgments

We thank statistician Susanne Rosthøj for assistance performing the statistical analysis and technician Pia Pedersen for skilful technical assistance. We thank the following organizations for funding the project: The Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Copenhagen (211-0610/09-3012); Dansk Kraeftforsknings fond; Kong Christian den Tiendes Fond; Civilingenioer Frode V. Nyegaard og Hustrus Fond and Harboefonden.

Supplemental Materials

Supplemental materials may be found here: www.landesbioscience.com/journals/cbt/article/24595.

- Liu G, Yuan X, Zeng Z, Tunici P, Ng H, Abdulkadir IR, et al. Analysis of gene expression and chemoresistance of CD133+ cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. Mol Cancer 2006; 5:67: PMID:17140455; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-5-67
- Bao S, Wu Q, McLendon RE, Hao Y, Shi Q, Hjelmeland AB, et al. Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. Nature 2006; 444:756-60; PMID:17051156; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature05236
- Ignatova TN, Kulekov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov ON, Vrionis ED, Steindler DA, Human corrical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. Glia 2002; 39:193-206; PMID:12203386; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ glia.10094
- Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J, et al. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res 2003; 63:5821-8; PMID:14522905.
- Galli R, Binda E, Orfanelli U, Cipelletti B, Gritti A, De Vitis S, et al. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. Cancer Res 2004; 64:7011-21; PMID:15466194; http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1364
- Yuan X, Currin J, Xiong Y, Liu G, Waschsmann-Hogiu S, Farkas DL, et al. Isolation of cancer stem cells from adult glioblastoma multiforme. Oncogene 2004; 23:9392-400; PMID:15558011; http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/sj.onc.1208311
- Günther HS, Schmidt NO, Phillips HS, Kemming D, Kharbanda S, Soriano R, et al. Glioblastomaderived stem cell-enriched cultures form distinct subgroups according to molecular and phenotypic criteria. Oncogene 2008; 27:2897-909; PMID:18037961; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210949
- http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210949
 15. Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 2004; 432:396-401; PMID:15549107; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ nature03128

- Lee J, Kotliarova S, Kotliarov Y, Li A, Su Q, Donin NM, et al. Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. Cancer Cell 2006; 9:391-403; PMID:16607959; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2006.03.030
- Stockhausen MT, Broholm H, Villingshøj M, Kirchhoff M, Gerdes T, Kristoffersen K, et al. Maintenance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in an in vivo and in vitro model of human glioblastoma multiforme. Exp Cell Res 2011; 317:1513-26; PMID:21514294; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2011.04.001
- Nye JS, Kopan R, Axel R. An activated Notch suppresses neurogenesis and myogenesis but not gliogenesis in mammalian cells. Development 1994; 120:2421-30; PMID:7956822.
- Lewis J. Neurogenic genes and vertebrate neurogenesis. Curr Opin Neurobiol 1996; 6:3-10; PMID:8794055; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(96)80002-X
- Brennan K, Tateson R, Lewis K, Arias AM. A functional analysis of Notch mutations in Drosophila. Genetics 1997; 147:177-88; PMID:9286678.
- Wang S, Sdrulla AD, diSibio G, Bush G, Nofziger D, Hicks C, et al. Notch receptor activation inhibits oligodendrocyte differentiation. Neuron 1998; 21:63-75; PMID:9697852; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80515-2
- Lewis J. Notch signalling and the control of cell fare choices in vertebrates. Semin Cell Dev Biol 1998; 9:583-9; PMID:9892564; http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/ scdb.1998.0266
- Tanigaki K, Nogaki F, Takahashi J, Tashiro K, Kurooka H, Honjo T. Notch1 and Notch3 instructively restrict bFGF-responsive multipotent neural progenitor cells to an astroglial fate. Neuron 2001; 29:45-55; PMID:1182080; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00179-9
- Hämmerle B, Tejedor FJ. A novel function of DELTA-NOTCH signalling mediates the transition from proliferation to neurogenesis in neural progenitor cells. PLoS One 2007; 2:e1169; PMID:18000541; http://dx.doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001169

Cancer Biology & Therapy

- Udolph G. Notch signaling and the generation of cell diversity in drosophila neuroblast lineages. In: Reichrath J, Reichrath S, ed(s). Notch signaling in embryology and cancer. New York, USA: Landes Bioscience and Springer+Business Media, 2012: 47-60.
- Stump G, Durrer A, Klein AL, Liutolf S, Suter U, Taylor V. Notch1 and its ligands Delta-like and Jagged are expressed and active in distinct cell populations in the postnatal mouse brain. Mech Dev 2002; 114:153-9; PMID:12175503; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0925-4773(02)00043-6
- Mizutani K, Yoon K, Dang L, Tokunaga A, Gaiano N. Differential Notch signalling distinguishes neural stem cells from intermediate progenitors. Nature 2007; 449:351-5; PMID1:7721509; http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/nature06090
- Beatus P, Lendahl U. Notch and neurogenesis. J Neurosci Res 1998; 54:125-36; PMID:9788272; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19981015)54:2<125::AID-JNR1>3.0.CO2-2-G
- Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Björk-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, et al. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 1998; 4:1313-7; PMID:9809557; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/3305
- Kukekov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov O, Davies K, Scheffler B, Thomas LB, et al. Multipotent stern/ progenitor cells with similar properties arise from two neurogenic regions of adult human brain. Exp Neurol 1999; 156:333-44; PMID:10328940; http://dx.doi. org/10.1006/exnr.1999.7028
- Quiñones-Hinojosa A, Sanai N, Soriano-Navarro M, Gonzalez-Perez O, Mirzadeh Z, Gil-Perotin S, et al. Cellular composition and cytoarchitecture of the adult human subventricular zone: a niche of neural stem cells. J Comp Neurol 2006; 494:415-34; PMID:16320258; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cnc.20798
- Slowik F, Pásztor E, Szöllösi B. Subependymal Gliomas. Neurosurg Rev 1979; 2:79-86; http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/BF01649832
- Margareto J, Leis O, Larrarte E, Idoate MA, Carrasco A, Lafuente JV. Gene expression profiling of human gliomas reveals differences between GBM and LGA related to energy metabolism and notch signaling pathways. J Mol Neurosci 2007; 32:53-63; PMID:17873288; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12031-007-0008-5
- Kanamori M, Kawaguchi T, Nigro JM, Feuerstein BG, Berger MS, Miele L, et al. Contribution of Notch signaling activation to human glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurosurg 2007; 106:417-27; PMID:17367064; http://dx.doi.org/10.3171/jns.2007.106.3.417
 Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano
- Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano RH, Wu TD, et al. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. Cancer Cell 2006; 9:157-73; PMID:16530701; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.02.019
 Zhang XP, Zheng G, Zou L, Liu HL, Hou LH, Zhou
- Zhang XP, Zheng G, Zou L, Liu HL, Hou LH, Zhou P, et al. Notch activation promotes cell proliferation and the formation of neural stem cell-like colonies in human glioma cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2008; 307:101-8: PMID:17849174; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s11010-007-9589-0
- Hulleman E, Quarto M, Vernell R, Masserdotti G, Colli E, Kros JM, et al. A role for the transcription factor HEY1 in glioblastoma. J Cell Mol Med 2009; 13:136-46; PMID:183636382; http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00307.x
- Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, et al.; Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. Cancer Cell 2010; 17:98-110; PMID:20129251; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.020

- Purow BW, Haque RM, Noel MW, Su Q, Burdick MJ, Lee J, et al. Expression of Norch-1 and its ligands, Delta-like-1 and Jaged-1, is critical for glioma cell survival and proliferation. Cancer Res 2005; 65:2353-63; PMID:15781650; http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1890
- Fan X, Khaki L, Zhu TS, Soules ME, Talsma CE, Gul N, et al. NOTCH pathway blockade depletes CD133positive glioblastoma cells and inhibits growth of tumor neurospheres and xenografus. Stem Cells 2010; 28:5-16; PMID:19904829.
- Hu YY, Zheng MH, Cheng G, Li L, Liang L, Gao F, et al. Notch signaling contributes to the maintenance of both normal neural stem cells and patientderived glioma stem cells. BMC Cancer 2011; 11:82; PMID:21342503; http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-11-82
- Wang J, Wang C, Meng Q, Li S, Sun X, Bo Y, et al. siRNA targeting Notch-1 decreases glioma stem cell proliferation and tumor growth. Mol Biol Rep 2012; 39:2497-503; PMID:21667253; http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s11033-011-1001
- Hovinga KE, Shimizu F, Wang R, Panagiotakos G, Van Der Heijden M, Moayedpardazi H, et al. Inhibition of notch signaling in glioblastoma targets cancer stem cells via an endothelial cell intermediate. Stem Cells 2010; 28:1019-29; PMID:20506127; http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/stem.429
- Wang J, Wakeman TP, Lathia JD, Hjelmeland AB, Wang XF, White RR, et al. Notch promotes radioresistance of glioma stem cells. Stem Cells 2010; 28:17-28; PMID:19921751.
- Aihara M, Sugawara K, Torii S, Hosaka M, Kurihara H, Saito N, et al. Angiogenic endothelium-specific nestin expression is enhanced by the first intron of the nestin gene. Lab Invest 2004; 84:1581-92; PMID1:15502861; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.3700186
- Wang Z, Zhang Y, Li Y, Banerjee S, Liao J, Sarkar FH. Down-regulation of Notch-1 contributes to cell growth inhibition and apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 2006; 5:483-93; PMID:16546962; http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0299
- Engstrom CM, Demers D, Dooner M, McAuliffe C, Benoit BO, Stencel K, et al. A method for clonal analysis of epidermal growth factor-responsive neural progenitors. J Neurosci Methods 2002; 117:111-21; PMID:12100976; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0270(02)00074-2
- Mori H, Ninomiya K, Kino-oka M, Shofuda T, Islam MO, Yamasaki M, et al. Effect of neurosphere size on the growth rate of human neural stem/progenitor cells. J Neurosci Res 2006; 84:1682-91; PMID:17044035; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21082
 Gilbert CA, Daou MC, Moser RP, Ros AH. Gamma-
- Gilbert CA, Daou MC, Moser RP, Ross AH. Gammasecretase inhibitors enhance temozolomide treatment of human gliomas by inhibiting neurosphere repopulation and xenograft recurrence. Cancer Res 2010; 70:6870-9; PMID:20736377; http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1378
- Fuchs E, Tumbar T, Guasch G. Socializing with the neighbors: stem cells and their niche. Cell 2004; 116:769-78; PMID:15039280; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00255-7
- Alam S, Sen A, Behie LA, Kallos MS. Cell cycle kinetics of expanding populations of neural stem and progenitor cells in vitro. Biotechnol Bioeng 2004; 88:332-47; PMID:15486940; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ bit.20246
- Hitoshi S, Alesson T, Tropepe V, Donoviel D, Elia AJ, Nye JS, et al. Notch pathway molecules are essential for the maintenance, but not the generation, of mammalian neural stem cells. Genes Dev 2002; 16:846-58; PMID:11937492; http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/ gad.975202
- Bau, 27 J202
 Heisig J, Weber D, Englberger E, Weise C, Wei C, Gessler M. Transcriptional regulation by Hey and Hes bHLH factors. At: The Notch Meeting V, Athens, Greece 2011.
 - Cancer Biology & Therapy

- Katoh M, Katoh M. Integrative genomic analyses on HES/HEY family: Notch-independent HES1, HES3 transcription in undifferentiated ES cells, and Notchdependent HES1, HES5, HEY1, HEY2, HEYL transcription in fetal tissues, adult tissues, or cancer. Int J Oncol 2007; 31:461-67 PMID:17611704.
- Ge W, Martinowich K, Wu X, He F, Miyamoto A, Fan G, et al. Notch signaling promotes astrogliogenesis via direct CSL-mediated glial gene activation. J Neurosci Res 2002; 69:848-60; PMID:12205678; http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/jnr.10364
- 6. Imura T, Kornblum HI, Sofroniew MV. The predominant neural stem cell isolated from postnatal and adult forebrain but not early embryonic forebrain expresses GFAP. J Neurosci 2003; 23:2824-32; PMID:12684469.
- Doetsch F, Caillé I, Lim DA, García-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla A. Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. Cell 1999; 97:703-16; PMID:10380923; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80783-7
- Mellodew K, Suhr R, Uwanogho DA, Reuter I, Lendahl U, Hodges H, et al. Nestin expression is lost in a neural stem cell line through a mechanism involving the proteasome and Notch signalling. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 2004; 151:13-23; PMID:15246688; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.devbrainres.2004.03.018
 Shih AH, Holland EC. Notch signaling enhances

Do not distribute

Bioscience.

©2013 Landes

- Shih AH, Holland EC. Notch signaling enhances nestin expression in gliomas. Neoplasia 2006; 8:1072-82; PMID:17217625; http://dx.doi.org/10.1593/ neo.06526
- Cohen B, Shimizu M, Izrailit J, Ng NF, Buchman Y, Pan JG, et al. Cyclin D1 is a direct target of JAG1mediated Notch signaling in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010; 123:113-24; PMID:19915977; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10549-009-0621-9
- Guo D, Ye J, Dai J, Li L, Chen F, Ma D, et al. Norch-1 regulates Akt signaling pathway and the expression of cell cycle regulatory proteins cyclin D1, CDK2 and p21 in T-ALL cell lines. Leuk Res 2009; 33:678-85; PMID:19091404; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2008.10.026
- Fischer A, Gessler M. Delta-Notch--and then? Protein interactions and proposed modes of repression by Hes and Hey bHLH factors. Nucleic Acids Res 2007; 35:4583-96; PMID:17586813; http://dx.doi. org/10.1093/nar/gkm477
 Borghese L, Dolezalova D, Opitz T, Haupt S, Leinhaas
- 63. Borghese L, Dolezalova D, Opitz T, Haupt S, Leinhaas A, Steinfarz B, et al. Inhibition of notch signaling in human embryonic stem cell-derived neural stem cells delays G1/S phase transition and accelerates neuronal differentiation in vitro and in vivo. Stem Cells 2010; 28:955-64; PMID:20235098; http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/stem.408
- 64. Yoon JH, Kim SA, Kwon SM, Park JH, Park HS, Kim YC, et al. 5'-Nitro-indirubinoxime induces G1 cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in salivary gland adenocarcinoma cells through the inhibition of Notch-1 signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010; 1800:352-8; PMID:1991.4349; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2009.11.007
- Freedman VH, Shin SI. Cellular turnorigenicity in nude mice: correlation with cell growth in semi-solid medium. Cell 1974; 3:355-9; PMID:4442124; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/0002-8674(7)90050-6
 Suzuki F, Suzuki K, Nikaido O. An improved soft agar
- Suzuki F, Suzuki K, Nikaido O. An improved soft agar method for determining neoplastic transformation in vitro. J Tissue Cult Methods 1983; 8:109-13; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01842703
- Singh SK, Clarke ID, Hide T, Dirks PB. Cancer stem cells in nervous system tumors. Oncogene 2004; 23:7267-73; PMID:15378086; http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207946
- Dirks PB. Brain tumor stem cells: bringing order to the chaos of brain cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26:2916-24; PMID:18539973; http://dx.doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2008.17.6792

636

- Pallini R, Ricci-Vitiani L, Banna GL, Signore M, Lombardi D, Todaro M, et al. Cancer stem cell analysis and clinical outcome in patients with glioblas-toma multiforme. Clin Cancer Res 2008; 14:8205-12; PMID:19088037; http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1078-0433 CCP.08.0644 0432.CCR-08-0644
- 70. Laks DR, Masterman-Smith M, Visnyei K, Angenieux
- Laks DR, Masterman-Smith M, Visnyei K, Angenieux B, Orozco NM, Foran I, et al. Neurosphere forma-tion is an independent predictor of clinical outcome in malignant glioma. Stem Cells 2009; 27:980-7; PMID:19353526; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/stem.15
 Soeda A, Inagaki A, Oka N, Ikegame Y, Aoki H, Yoshimura SI, et al. Epidermal growth factor plays a crucial role in mitogenic regulation of human brain tumor stem cells. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:10958-66; PMID:18292095; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M704025200 M704205200
- M/04205200 Clement V, Sanchez P, de Tribolet N, Radovanovic I, Ruiz i Altaba A. HEDGEHOG-GLI1 signaling regulates human glioma growth, cancer stem cell self-renewal, and tumorigenicity. Curr Biol 2007; 17:165-72; PMID:17196391; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. 72. cub.2006.11.033
- 73. Sutter R, Yadirgi G, Marino S. Neural stem cells, tumour stem cells and brain tumours: dangerous rela-tionships? Biochim Biophys Acta 2007; 1776:125-37; PMID:17868999.
- PMID:17868999.
 74. Sakamoto K, Ohara O, Takagi M, Takeda S, Katsube K. Intracellular cell-autonomous association of Norch and its ligands: a novel mechanism of Norch signal modifi-cation. Dev Biol 2002; 241:313-26; PMID:11784114; http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2001.0517
 75. Zhu TS, Costello MA, Talsma CE, Flack CG, Crowley JG, Hamm LL, et al. Endothelial cells create a stem cell niche in glioblastoma by providing NOTCH ligands that nurrure self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells. Cancer Res 2011; 71:6061-72; PMID:21788346; http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4269
- 76. Guentchev M, McKay RD. Notch controls proliferation and differentiation of stem cells in a dose-dependent manner. Eur J Neurosci 2006; 23:2289-96; PMID:16706837; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-0560.2006.0276 9568.2006.04766.x
- 5765.2006.04766.x Brennan C, Momota H, Hambardzumyan D, Ozawa T, Tandon A, Pedraza A, et al. Glioblastoma subclasses can be defined by activity among signal transduction pathways and associated genomic alterations. PLoS One 2009; 4:e7752; PMID:19915670; http://dx.doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007752 77.

www.landesbioscience.com

Cancer Biology & Therapy





Supplementary Figure S1. Sub-sphere formation in different passages of the 029 culture. Sub sphere assay performed on different *in vitro* passages of the same neurosphere culture revealed a tendency to increased sub sphere formation with increasing passage number. The 029 culture is used as an example, but the trend was the same with the 036 and the 048 cultures. Dot-plot shows the number of spheres formed per 100 cells plated. Lines represent mean number of spheres. pX = in vitro passage number. Comparisons of means from one passage to another were based on the unpaired t-test performed on the untransformed data. Stars represent the difference between the mean of two passages. *: p<0.05, **: p<0.01, ***: p<0.001.



Supplementary Figure S2. Dead cell count. For quantification of the proportion of dead cells, dissociated neurosphere cells were plated in NB-media, 3000 cells at 10 cells/µl, in a 6 well plate and treated with 10µM DAPT or DMSO. At day 3, 6 and 9, cells from duplicate wells were harvested, dissociated and stained with Trypan Blue Stain 0.4% (Invitrogen, Taastrup, Denmark). The proportion of dead cells was quantified as the number of Trypan Blue positive cells counted in a hemocytometer. The bar chart shows mean number of dead cells +/- SEM in neurosphere cultures treated with 10µM DAPT or DMSO. Comparisons of means between treated and control on a specific day were based on the unpaired t-test performed on the untransformed data. Stars represent the difference between the mean of control and treated. *: p<0.05. N.A. = not analyzed. No decrease in the total number of dead cells in the high Notch expressing 029 and 036 cultures treated with DAPT could be observed. Experiments with 5µM showed the same tendency (data not shown).



Supplementary Figure S3. Protein expression of Nestin in DAPT naïve neurosphere cells treated with 5μM DAPT. When neurosphere cells were dissociated and directly treated with 5μM DAPT and subsequent harvested for protein analysis by WB, no change in the expression of the NSC marker Nestin could be detected when compared to DMSO treated cells. 7. Results - Manuscript IV

Inhibition of Notch signaling alters the phenotype of orthotopic tumors formed from glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cells but does not hamper intracranial tumor growth

Running title: Notch signature in brain cancer stem-like cells tumor formation

By:

Karina Kristoffersen^a, Mette Kjølhede Nedergaard^b, Mette Villingshøj^a, Rehannah Borup^c, Helle Broholm^d, Andreas Kjær^b, Hans Skovgaard Poulsen^a and Marie-Thérése Stockhausen^a

 ^a Department of Radiation Biology, The Finsen Center, Section 6321, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark
 ^b Department of Biomedical Sciences, Endocrinology Research Section, Panum Instituttet, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark
 ^c Center for Genomic Medicine, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark
 ^d Department of Neuropathology, The Diagnostic Center, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

A revised version of the manuscripts has been submitted to BMC Cancer October, 2013

ABSTRACT

Background: Brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC) are cancer cells with neural stem cell (NSC)-like properties found in the devastating brain tumor Glioblastoma Multiforme (GBM). bCSC are proposed a central role in tumor initiation, progression, treatment resistance and relapse and as such present a promising target in GBM research. The Notch signaling pathway is often deregulated in GBM and we have previously characterized GBM derived bCSC cultures based on their expression of the Notch-1 receptor and found that it could be used as predictive marker for the effect from Notch inhibition. The aim of the present project was therefore to further elucidate the significance of Notch activity for the tumorigenic properties of GBM derived bCSC.

Methods: Human derived GBM xenograft cells have previously been established as NSC-like neurosphere cultures. Notch inhibition was accomplished by exposing the cells to the γ -secretase inhibitor DAPT, prior to gene expression analysis and intracranial injection into immunocompromised mice.

Results: By analyzing the expression of several Notch pathway components, we found that the cultures indeed displayed different Notch signatures. Surprisingly, when DAPT treated cells were injected into the brain of immunocompromised mice, no increase in survival was obtained regardless of Notch pathway signature and Notch inhibition. We did however observe a decrease in the expression of the stem cell marker Nestin, an increase in the proliferative marker Ki-67 and an increased number of abnormal vessels in tumors formed from DAPT treated, high Notch-1 expressing cultures, when compared to the control.

Conclusion: Based on the presented results we propose that Notch inhibition partly induces differentiation of bCSC, and selects for a cell type that more strongly induces angiogenesis if the treatment is not sustained. However, this more differentiated cell type might prove to be more sensitive to conventional therapies.

INTRODUCTION

The brain tumor glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is among the most lethal malignancies in adults and it affects 3.5/100,000 persons every year in western countries¹. The survival probability is 57% the first year after diagnosis and recurrence is reported in 99% of patients within 7 years² why GBM thus fare is considered incurable. Brain cancer stem-like cells (bCSC) present a novel target in the search for improved anti-GBM therapy as they are suggested to play a pivotal role in tumor initiation, progression, treatment resistance and relapse³⁻⁸. The bCSC are characterized by their neural stem cell (NSC)-like features and tumorigenic properties, as they possess self-renewing and multipotent abilities as well as *in vivo* tumor forming potential^{3, 9-11}. The search for regulators that might be of importance for maintenance of the bCSC population is thus considered a key quest in GBM research. The Notch signaling pathway is known to be important for maintenance of the normal NSC population during development as this pathway regulates the balance between the NSC pool and its differentiated progeny^{12, 13}, and it is believed that the outcome of Notch signaling in cancer reflects its role in the development of the corresponding normal tissue. In this context it has been demonstrated that Notch signaling is deregulated in GBM¹⁴⁻¹⁶ and that bCSC are sensitive to Notch inhibition¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Elevated expression of Notch signaling pathway component has recently been associated with the classical GBM sub-type identified by global gene expression¹⁹. Sub-grouping of GBM tumors based on gene expression could potentially assist clinicians in the future when stratifying patients to the most optimal targeted treatment as has been the case for receptor tyrosine kinase HER2 and the estrogen receptor positive breast cancers²⁰⁻²². Thus, by classifying GBM tumors into several sub-types it might be possible to identify new molecular targets, essential for maintenance of a specific sub-type. In line with this, we have previously shown that the level of Notch activity determines the effect of Notch inhibition in GBM neurosphere cultures in vitro, as growth and stem cell-like features only were affected in cultures with high Notch expression and activity 23 .

In the present study, we sought to further classify the GBM neurosphere cultures previously used²³ by micro array analysis and assign them a possible Notch signature. In addition, the cultures were established as intracranial tumors in order to further determine the relevance of active Notch signaling for tumor formation. We found that neurosphere cultures with high endogenous Notch-1 expression, and high Notch pathway signature, formed tumors with a more infiltrative phenotype than neurosphere cultures with low Notch-1, and Notch pathway signature. However, in contrast to what was expected, we did not observe increased survival when we injected cells pretreated with

the Notch inhibitor DAPT as compared to a control treatment. We did, however, find that some of the tumors formed from DAPT treated cultures displayed lower levels of the stem cell marker Nestin and increased number of proliferative cells as well as abnormal vessels. We suggest that, despite indications of increased aggressiveness, bCSC targeted anti-Notch treatment in combination with traditional therapy might be feasible, as Notch inhibition possibly sensitizes the bCSC population to chemo- and radiation therapy by inducing them to differentiate.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

GBM neurosphere cultures

Establishment and characterization of the neurosphere cultures used in this study has previously been described^{23, 24}. In short, neurosphere cultures were established from acutely dissociated patient derived subcutaneous xenograft tumors and maintained in NB-media (Neurobasal –A media supplemented with 1X B-27 Supplement, 1X L-glutamine, 10ng/ml Basic Fibroblastic Growth Factor (bFGF), 10ng/ml Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF), 1% Pen Strep (Penicillin-Streptomycin) (all from Invitrogen) and 10ng/ml Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF, Chemicon)). The cells were cultivated in cell culture flasks (Nunc) in a humidified chamber with 5 % CO₂ at 37°C. Fresh media was added twice a week and spheres were mechanically dissociated at every passage. Neurosphere cultures used in the present study were: GBM_CPH029p7, NGBM_CPH036p7 and NGBM_CPH048p6. pX indicates the xenograft mouse passage from which the individual cultures were established. The prefix "N" refers to that the xenograft has been transplanted onto nude rats for a period to remove mouse hepatitis infection. For simplicity, the cultures will in the following be designated 029, 036 and 048 respectively.

Preparation of samples for micro array analysis

Neurosphere cells were dissociated and $1-1.5*10^6$ cells were plated in 10ml NB-media in a petri dish (10cm Ø, Nunc) and treated the next day with 10µM DAPT (N-[N-(3,5-Difluorophenacetyl-L-alanyl)]-S-phenylglycine *t*-Butyl Ester (γ -secretase inhibitor (GSI) IX, Calbiochem) dissolved in dimethyl-sulfoxide (DMSO) hybri-max (Sigma)), equal volumes of DMSO for control or left untreated. 24 hours after treatment the cells were harvested and total RNA was extracted from cell pellets using QIAshredder columns and RNeasy Mini KIT (both from Qiagen) according to manufacturers' protocol. All RNA was DNase treated using the RNase-Free DNase Set from Qiagen.

Micro array analysis

RNA was amplified and labeled using the Ambion WT Expression Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to manufacturers' instructions. 250ng total RNA was used as input. The labeled samples were hybridized to the Human Gene 1.0 ST GeneChip array (Affymetrix). The arrays were washed and stained with phycoerytrin conjugated streptavidin (SAPE) using the Affymetrix Fluidics

Station® 450, and the arrays were scanned in the Affymetrix GeneArray® 3000 scanner to generate fluorescent images, as described in the Affymetrix GeneChip® protocol. Cell intensity files (CEL files) were generated in the GeneChip Command Console Software (AGCC) (Affymetrix). The data were modeled using the RMA (Robust Multichip Average) approach, followed by mean one step Probe Set summarization giving each gene a single expression value, all done using the Bioconductor affy library in the software package R.

Hierarchical cluster visualization of predefined Gene lists

A gene list representing genes involved in the KEGG_Notch_signaling_pathway was downloaded from the Molecular signatures Database v. 3.1 from the Broad Institute (MSigDB, http://www.broadinstitute.org/gsea/msigdb/index.jsp). Overlap between the downloaded gene list and the probes on the microarray was generated using the NetAffx database. Overlapping probe sets were selected based on overlap in gene symbol between annotated probes on the microarray and the gene list. Hierarchical cluster visualization was performed using dChip using Euclidean distance and average linkage clustering.

Intracranial growth of GBM neurosphere cells

Neurosphere cells were dissociated and $3*10^6$ cells were plated in 25ml NB-media in a culture flask (Nunc). DAPT was added the following day at a 10µM concentration and equal volumes of DMSO were added to the control. After seven days of treatment the cells were harvested by centrifugation (300xg), mechanically dissociated and re-suspended in warm NB-media at 10,000cells/µl. Parallel cell pellets were harvested and snap frozen in liquid N₂ for protein analysis (see below). 10µl cell suspension (100,000 cells) was injected into the brains of 6-9 weeks old female C.B-17 SCID mice: The mouse was anesthetized by *i.p.* administration of Hypnorm-Midazolam (1ml/100g body weight) and the head was fixed in a stereotactic frame (KOPF model 963, 926-B and 922: Better Hospital Equipment Corp). A short longitudinal incision was made in the scalp exposing the *calvarium*. Using a micro-drill, a burr-hole was made in the skull 1.5mm right of the *sutura saggitalis* and 0.5mm posterior to *bregma*. GBM neurosphere cells were injected at the depth of 2.0-2.5mm at a rate of 60nl/sec using a 100µl syringe with a 25-gauge needle (SGE100RN: World Precision Instruments, UK) placed in a micro infusion pump (Micro 4 pump and MicroSyringePump Controller: World Precision Instruments and KOPF model 1770-C: Better Hospital Equipment Corp). When injection was finished the needle was withdrawn after 1 min.

Bupivacain (0.2mg/100g body weight) and Lidocain (1mg/100g body weight) were administrated in the incision site for local anesthetic before the skin was closed with an Ethicon 5-0 prolene suture. 4-6 mice were injected in each group and tumor formation was monitored by frequently observing and weighing the animals. 1-2 additional mice were injected per group for *in situ* tumor visualization by CT/FET-PET scanning (FET: *O*-(2-[F]flouroethyl)-L-tyrosine) under Hypnorm-Midazolam anesthesia, but survival was used as the primary endpoint in this study. Mice were humanly euthanized when they showed tumor related symptoms such as a hunched position, bristly and greasy fur, lethargy, neurological signs and/or weight loss. Subsequently the brains were gently removed from the cranial cavity and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde that after 24 hours was exchanged for EtOH 70%. For immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis the brains were sliced by coronally cutting the brain in the incision site and embedding the pieces in paraffin. From the block anterior to the incision site, 4µm histological sections were prepared for IHC (see below).

Protein purification and Western blotting

Whole cell lysates were prepared from cell pellets by sonication in ice-cold RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL (pH 7.4), 1 % NP40, 0.25 % Na-deoxycholate, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitor mixture II and III (Calbiochem). Protein concentrations were determined using the BCA protein assay (Pierce, Herley, Denmark) according to manufactures' instructions. For western blotting (WB) 50 µg protein was separated on a 4-12 % NuPAGE Bis-Tris gel and electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (both from Invitrogen) according to manufacturers' protocol. The membranes were then blocked for 1 hour in 5% non-fat milk at room temperature (RT) and incubated with primary antibody diluted in 5% non-fat milk ON at 4°C, followed by horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated secondary antibodies for 1 hour at RT. Blots were developed using the SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate (Thermo Scientific) and the UVP, BioSpectrum® AC Imaging System and VisionWorks®LS software (UVP). Primary antibodies: Goat polyclonal anti Notch-1 [S-20] (diluted 1:100, Santa Cruz #sc-23304), Rabbit polyclonal anti Hes-1 (diluted 1:2000, kindly provided by Dr. Tetsou Sudo, Toray Industries inc., Kamakura, Japan) and Rabbit monoclonal anti α-Tubulin [11H10] (diluted 1:1000, Cell Signaling #2125). Secondary antibodies: Rabbit polyclonal anti goat IgG (diluted 1:2000, Dako #P0217) and Swine polyclonal anti rabbit IgG (diluted 1:1000, Dako #P0449).
Immunohistochemistry

IHC was performed on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue. For each of the three tumor-types in each of the two treatment groups, we stained histological sections (4µM) from three different mice with hematoxylin and eosin for normal histological evaluation and with antibodies detecting four different molecular markers. All IHC stainings were performed manually. Briefly, formalinfixed and paraffin-embedded slides were melted for one hour at 60°C, followed by deparaffination in xylene and rehydration. Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched by treating with 0.3% hydrogen-peroxide in water for 30 minutes. Antigen retrieval was performed by immersing the sections in water bath containing citrate buffer (DAKO, Denmark) for 30 minutes at 95°C. Subsequently, the slides were blocked for 20 min in PBS with 2% horse serum before incubation with primary antibody diluted in blocking buffer over night at 4°C followed by biotinylated universal secondary antibody (anti-rabbit and -mouse IgG) and horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated Avidin/Biotin Complex (ABC) reagent (secondary antibody and ABC reagent were both diluted 1:50 and incubated for 30-60 minutes at RT, Vector Kit #PK-6200). The signal was developed by Diaminobenzidine (DAB, BioGenex #HK153-5KE) for 5 minutes. Finally the sections were counterstained with Mayer's haematoxylin, dehydrated with increasing concentrations of ethanol and mounted with DPX (Sigma-Aldrich). For negative controls the primary antibodies were omitted. Primary antibodies used: Nestin (diluted 1:10,000, Millipore #NG1853940), Notch-1 (diluted 1:200, Cell Signaling #3608), CD31 (detecting both human and murine CD31, diluted 1:50, Abcam # ab28364) and Ki-67 (diluted 1:100, Abcam # ab8191). Light microscopy of the IHC sections was carried out using the Olympus BX51 microscope, the Olympus D71 camera and the Cell^A 2.5 (Build 1163) Olympus Soft Imaging Solutions GmbH software.

RESULTS

Micro array analysis and Notch signature

We have previously categorized the 029 and 036 neurosphere cultures as having high endogenous Notch-1 expression and Notch pathway activation, as indicated by high Hes-1 expression, when compared to the 048 culture which we have classified as having low Notch-1 expression and activation. We have also shown that Notch inhibition by DAPT treatment did not affect the 048 culture to the same degree as the 029 and 036 cultures²³. To elaborate this, we have performed a global genome expression analysis and used this to establish a Notch signature of the three cultures. The expression of selected Notch pathway components is shown in Figure 1A. (For the expression of all Notch pathway components included in the "KEGG_Notch_signaling_pathway" gene set, see Supplementary Figure: S1). As displayed in Figure 1A, with regard to the majority of the Notch components shown, the 048 culture differs from the 029 and 036 cultures. Notably, the Notch-1, -2 and -3 receptors, the ligands Delta-like (Dll) -1, Jagged-1 and -2, and the downstream targets Hes-1 and Hey-1 are all down regulated in 048 compared to 029 and 036, indicating a higher activity of the Notch pathway in the two latter cultures. Moreover, the ligands Dll-3 and -4 were up-regulated in the 036 culture as compared to the 029 and 048 cultures.

We then analyzed the expression of the same genes in cultures treated with 10μ M DAPT or equal volumes of DMSO for 24 hours. As seen in Figure 1B Hes-1 and Hey-1 were down regulated upon DAPT treatment in all three cultures verifying successful Notch inhibition. Furthermore the γ -secretase sub-unit PSENEN was likewise down regulated in all cultures, while the DLL-1 was up regulated and DLL-3 and Jagged-2 showed the same tendency.

Different neurosphere cultures give rise to intracranial tumors with different features, but all display GBM characteristics

To extend our *in vitro* findings, that the different patient derived neurosphere cultures display different characteristics such as growth- and expression patterns (as presented above and in²³ we engrafted the neurosphere cells *in vivo* in order to examine whether the cultures also formed dissimilar tumors. When injected into the brains of immunocompromised mice, all neurosphere cultures formed intracranial tumors verifying their tumorigenic potential. However, there was a considerable difference in the time from injection to that the mouse had to be euthanized, between the cultures. In Figure 2A, the survival in weeks of mice injected with control treated 029, 036 or 048 cells is presented. Mice injected with 036 cells survived the longest namely 29.60 weeks (95%)

CI: 20.88-38.32), while mice injected with 029 neurosphere cells survived approximately 17.20 weeks (95% CI: 15.58-18.82) and mice injected with 048 cells had the shortest survival at 6.25 weeks (95% CI: 4.73-7.77). Furthermore, mice injected with 036 cells showed the highest variability in survival, from 19 to 38 weeks, while mice injected with 048 cells survived from 5-7 weeks. The histological appearance of the tumors also varied greatly, especially when comparing the 029 and 036 tumors with the 048 tumors. Representative H&E sections of tumors formed from control treated neurosphere cultures are displayed in Figure 2B. In general, the 048 tumors were mostly uniform in appearance with a well defined border between the tumor and the surrounding normal brain parenchyma whereas the 029 and 036 tumors were much more disorganized with no clear border and especially the 036 tumors moreover tended to home to the ventricles (For additional H&E pictures, see Supplementary Figure S2). Using CT/FET-PET scanning we were furthermore able to detect in situ tumor formation in mice injected with cells from each of the three cultures and it was as such possible to follow tumor growth in real time. In Figure 2C, coronal views of the CT/FET-PET scannings of one representative mouse at week 1, 4, 5 and 6 after injection with 048 neurosphere cells are presented. The mouse was euthanized at week 7. Histological GBM hallmarks were evident in tumors from all of the neurosphere cultures used (029, 036 and 048) and representative H&E stainings showing mitosis, invasion, necrotic areas and excessive vascularization are shown in Figure 2D. It should be noticed that the vessels did not exhibit an abnormal/malignant phenotype. Finally, by evaluating the expression of the Notch-1 receptor in the intracranial tumors using IHC staining, we found that the 048 tumors tended to display a weaker coloration when compared to the 029 and 036 tumors indicating a lower expression of Notch-1 in these tumors, which is in good correlation with our in vitro observations. Representative pictures are displayed in Figure 2E.

Notch inhibition in neurosphere cells does not hamper intracranial tumor formation and growth

We have previously demonstrated that pre-treating the 029 and 036 cells with DAPT almost abolished their ability to form clonogenic colonies in soft agar possibly as a consequence of slowing of the cell cycle, whereas no effect was seen on the 048 cells ²³. To determine if inhibition of Notch signaling prior to xenograftment also affected the ability of intracranial tumor growth, we treated the 029, 036 and 048 neurosphere cells with 10 μ M DAPT *ex vivo* for seven days and then injected 100,000 viable cells orthotopically into the brains of C.B-17 SCID mice. DMSO was used as a control treatment. Each individual mouse was monitored frequently during the experiment and was

euthanized when it showed tumor related symptoms or considerable weight loss (Supplementary Figure S3).

To test if Notch signaling was inhibited in the injected cells at the time of intracranial injection, the Notch-1 protein level and the activity of the Notch pathway, as assessed by Hes-1 expression were analyzed in DAPT and control treated samples that were generated in parallel to the cells injected. As expected, Notch-1 and Hes-1 were expressed at higher levels in the control treated 029 and 036 cultures as compared to the 048 culture (Figure 3A), which supports our previous findings that the 029 and 036 cultures have a high Notch activation level as compared to the 048 culture²³. Furthermore, a prominent down regulation of Hes-1, indicative for Notch pathway inhibition, could be detected in 029 and 036 DAPT treated samples when compared to the control, whereas the down regulation was not as evident in the 048 culture. We thus concluded that Notch signaling was inhibited in the DAPT treated cells that were intracranially injected. However, as displayed in Figure 3B and D, there was no statistical difference in survival between mice injected with DAPT treated 029 cells when compared to DMSO (p= 0.32) or DAPT treated 048 cells when compared to DMSO (p=0.22), indicating that there was no major difference in intracranial tumor growth between the control and DAPT treated groups. There was, however, a tendency towards decreased survival for mice injected with DAPT treated 036 cells when compared to DMSO treated 036 cells (p=0.047) (Figure 3C).

Histological appearance differed between tumors

Three tumors from each group were evaluated by histological analyses. As could be visualized by H&E staining, there was a tendency towards that DAPT treated 036 cells formed highly vascularized tumors with large voluminous vessels (representative H&E pictures are shown in Figure 4). Three out of three 036 DAPT tumors evaluated demonstrated this phenotype which was also observed in one out of three 029 DAPT tumors. No obvious difference was observed between 048 DMSO and DAPT tumors (additional pictures are shown in supplementary Figure S2). The stem cell marker Nestin, was evaluated by staining intensity, distinguishing between if all tumors cells were highly positive or if they in general displayed a more pale coloration, or if there existed areas within the tumor tissue that were negative (marked "+" and "(+)" respectively in Table 1). This way we found that all DMSO tumors, regardless of origin showed high expression of Nestin in all tumor cells. The same was the case for all 048 DAPT tumors. In contrast three out of three 029 DAPT tumors and one out of three 036 DAPT tumors showed a decreased expression of Nestin,

either by displaying a general weaker staining in the tumor cells (exemplified by 029 in Figure 4H) or by containing areas with almost no Nestin positive cells (exemplified by 036 in Figure 4J). The proliferation marker Ki-67 was analyzed by evaluating the fraction of Ki-67 positive nuclei. In Table 1 less than 25% positive nuclei is annotated "+" and more that 25% is annotated "++". As such, we found no difference in the fraction of proliferative cells between 029 DMSO and DAPT tumors as well as in 048 DMSO and DAPT tumors. In contrast the 036 DMSO tumors displayed the lowest fraction of proliferative cells and surprisingly, this fraction increased in the 036 DAPT tumors.

Finally, the endothelial cell marker CD31 was assessed by observing the presence of abnormal vessels. No abnormal vessels in the section was assigned "-", few abnormal vessels (1-10) was assigned "(+)" and high density of abnormal vessels was assigned "+". None of the DMSO tumors displayed any abnormal vessels (Table 1). Abnormal vessels were observed in one out of three of the 029 DAPT tumors and three out of three of the 036 DAPT tumors. Furthermore, two out of three 048 DAPT tumors showed a few small abnormal vessels.

DISCUSSION

In the latter years researchers have attempted to sub-type GBM based on global gene expression and proteomics^{19, 25, 26}. In the future this sub-typing is thought to assist clinicians in stratifying GBM patients to the most optimal treatment as has proven possible with MGMT methylation and temozolomide (TMZ, Temodal®) treatment²⁷. As such, it is believed that the different sub-types display molecular hallmarks that are of specific importance for each sub-type. Accordingly, the Notch signaling pathway has been associated with the classical sub-type¹⁹. We have previously shown that the 029 and 036 patient derived xenograft tumors and thereof derived neurosphere cultures could be characterized as having high Notch-1 and Hes-1 expression while 048 tumors and cultures were characterized as having low Notch-1 and Hes-1 expression ²³, indicating that they belong to different GBM sub-types. In the present study we have sought to elaborate this finding, by analyzing the global gene expression pattern of the three cultures and further study the effect of Notch inhibition on intracranial tumor growth. Here, we find that the 029 and 036 cultures show greater correlation to each other with regard to expression of a panel of Notch pathway components than compared to the 048 culture. Components that were less expressed in 048 as compared to 029 and 036 were among others the Notch-1-3 receptors and the Notch target genes Hes-1 and Hey-1, indicating a lower Notch signaling pathway activity. On the other hand, the Notch-4 receptor and the transcriptional target Hes-5 were up regulated in 048 as compared to 029 and 036. The Notch-4 receptor has been implicated in the formation of mouse mammary tumors²⁸ and in maintenance of stem cells in breast cancer²⁹ and it has furthermore been suggested as a therapeutic target in triple negative breast cancers³⁰. However, the function of Notch-4 in GBM remains undetermined. As Hes-5 is expressed in the 048 culture this indicates that the Notch signaling pathway is active also in this culture although the effects of inhibiting it are less pronounced as compared to 029 and 036²³. Moreover, Hes-5 seems to be up-regulated in 048 upon DAPT treatment, while downregulated in 029, suggesting that Hes-5 expression is regulated by different means in the 048 culture. However, it is worth mentioning that Hes-5 knock-outs during embryogenesis are less severe than Hes-1 knock-outs, indicating an inferior role for Hes-5 in neural stem cells (reviewed in Fischer *et al.* $(2007)^{31}$). One might argue, that expression of the γ -secretase sub-unit PSENEN and the ADAM metalloprotease ADAM-17 in 048 also indicates high Notch pathway activation. However, these are not exclusively modulators of Notch pathway activity. E.g. γ -secretase is also involved in the cleavage of among others the beta-amyloid precursor protein (APP)³². Taken together, the three cultures examined in the present project display different activation of the Notch

signaling pathway, with the 029 and 036 most likely representing cultures with elevated Notch signaling signature as compared to the 048 culture.

When the cells were injected into the brains of SCID mice and allowed to form tumors, the histological appearance of the tumors also varied with the 029 and 036 tumors displaying a more diffuse and infiltrative growth pattern as compared to the 048 tumors that formed large, well bordered tumors. These observations could indicate that an endogenous high Notch activity leads to a more invasive and thus aggressive phenotype. In line with this, it has been suggested that the level of Notch-1 expression increases with tumor grade in gliomas³³ and that Notch promotes migration and invasiveness of glioma cells, possibly through activation of β -catenin and NF κ B signaling³⁴. However, considering the fact that the 048 neurosphere cells formed tumors much faster than especially the 036 cells, one might speculate that massive well defined tumors are the result of fast growth and expansion of the tumor cells that displace the normal brain parenchyma simply by mass effect, while infiltrative growth is a slower process due to degradation of tissue barriers. This is supported by observations that most 048 tumors were clearly detectable macroscopically both by the formation of a doomed head and by a heavily enlarged right hemisphere indicating a large mass within the brain that had dislocated the scalp. In contrast, mice injected with 029 and especially 036 cells, rarely displayed these objective signs of a tumor mass.

We have previously shown that the 029 and 036 neurosphere cultures were sensitive to Notch inhibition as exemplified by reduced *in vitro* clonogenic growth potential upon pretreatment with the Notch inhibitor DAPT²³ when compared to the DMSO control. However, when the pretreated cells were injected into the brains of SCID mice, no increased survival was observed when compared to tumor formation from control treated cells. Thus pretreatment of the neurosphere cells with DAPT did not reduce tumor formation, indicating that it is not possible to eliminate all tumor forming cells by Notch inhibition. Surprisingly, DAPT treatment of the 036 cells actually seemed to decrease survival and thus form tumors more rapidly than the control treated 036 cells. This discrepancy might reflect that, when we previously performed the *in vitro* clonogenic assay, we continued the treatment throughout the assay period, whereas when the cells were injected into the mice, DAPT was removed and the treatment ceased. Although Notch inhibition might not have been halted immediately after DAPT removal, it is most likely that the Notch signaling was restored *in vivo*, which has also been observed by others¹⁸. The lack of positive effect from Notch treatment on survival is in contrast to previous reports showing that GSI treatment prior to engraftment significantly prolonged survival of the mice¹⁸. Fan and colleagues suggested that this was due to

ablation of bCSC by Notch inhibition. They did, however, not observe any difference between treatment and control groups by histological evaluation of H&E sections¹⁸. In the present study, we found that DAPT treatment of the 029 and especially the 036 neurosphere cells resulted in tumors with large voluminous vessels. When evaluating the endothelial cell marker CD31 we found that these vessels tended to be disorganized and abnormal. Taken together, these results might lead to speculations that *ex vivo* Notch inhibition in neurosphere cells with high endogenous Notch activity selects for a more angiogenic cell phenotype *in vivo*. In line with this, it has been shown that inhibition of the Notch ligand Dll-4 leads to increased angiogenesis, although the vessels are non-functional^{35, 36} and it is moreover been speculated if targeting Dll-4 could improve anti-angiogenic therapy by triggering excessive but malfunctional angiogenesis^{36, 37}.

Regarding normal neural stem cells, it has been shown that the Notch pathway is essential for maintaining the undifferentiated phenotype and that inhibition of the pathway leads to differentiation³⁸⁻⁴⁰. If active Notch signaling in the same way plays a role for maintenance of the immature state of the bCSC population in the culture but is not essential for the growth of GBM neurosphere cells in vivo, one might speculate that Notch inhibition merely leads to differentiation of the bCSC cells as it previously has been demonstrated^{16, 17, 41}, rather than killing them as others have suggested¹⁸. In line with this, it has been demonstrated that some GSIs, including DAPT are unable to kill bCSC⁴². As such, it could be speculated that the DAPT treatment in our study targeted the bCSC population by differentiating them and as such, the cells injected into mice were more differentiated progenitor cells that were still able to form tumors. This is supported by the findings that some of the 029 and 036 tumors established from DAPT treated cells seemed to have lower levels of the stem cell marker Nestin, evaluated by IHC. This decrease of Nestin positive cells upon Notch inhibition has also been reported *in vitro*⁴¹ and Nestin has moreover been proposed as a direct transcriptional target of the Notch pathway activity in GBM⁴³. Furthermore, in the case of 036, the DMSO tumors displayed fewer proliferating cells than the DAPT tumors which correlates with suggestions that progenitor cells proliferate faster than the more immature stem cells^{44.46}. In addition, it has been demonstrated that bCSC can transdifferentiate into endothelial cells⁴⁷, and an intriguing thought might be that Notch inhibition induces differentiation of at least some of the bCSC down an alternative lineage, namely towards endothelial cells, which might explain the appearance of malignant vessels in the tumors generated from DAPT treated neurosphere cells. Taken together, these data suggest that Notch inhibition by DAPT treatment leads to a more differentiated phenotype with a higher proliferative index, abnormal vasculature and perhaps even

decreased survival. Apart from differentiation, these are all indications of the Notch pathway being a tumor suppressor. Indeed it has been demonstrated that Notch is considered a tumor suppressor in different cancer types, as exemplified in the embryonal brain tumor medulloblastoma. Here Notch-1 and Notch-2 were showed to have opposite effects with Notch-1 acting as a tumor suppressor and Notch-2 as an oncogene⁴⁸. However, GSI treatment targets all four Notch receptors. Moreover, if inhibition of Notch signaling partly induces differentiation of the bCSC population into faster proliferating progenitor cells and cells with endothelial cell function, and if considering the implications that bCSC can be accounted for the chemo- and radio resistance seen in GBM patients, maybe a combination of traditional therapy targeting the highly proliferative cancer cells together with Notch inhibition that differentiate and thus sensitize the bCSC population to the traditional treatment⁴⁹ would be feasible. However, this is highly speculative and future studies will need to verify this hypothesis. Nevertheless, based on the initial results of this manuscript, we believe that the Notch signaling pathway presents a potential target for future anti-bCSC treatment and that a regimen that includes Notch inhibition would improve the therapy for GBM patients.

ACKNOWLEGDEMENT

We thank Babloo Lukram for assistance performing the immunohistochemistry. We thank the following organizations for funding the project: The Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Copenhagen (211-0610/09-3012); Dansk Kraeftforsknings Fond; Kong Christian den Tiendes Fond; Civilingenioer Frode V. Nyegaard og Hustrus Fond and Harboefonden

REFERENCES

- Ohgaki,H. & Kleihues,P. Population-based studies on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations in astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 64, 479-489 (2005).
- 2. Filippini, G. *et al.* Prognostic factors for survival in 676 consecutive patients with newly diagnosed primary glioblastoma. *Neuro. Oncol.* 10, 79-87 (2008).
- 3. Lathia, J.D. *et al.* Direct in vivo evidence for tumor propagation by glioblastoma cancer stem cells. *PLoS. ONE.* 6, e24807 (2011).
- Bao,S. *et al.* Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. *Nature* 444, 756-760 (2006).
- Bao,S. *et al.* Stem cell-like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cancer Res.* 66, 7843-7848 (2006).
- 6. Liu, G. *et al.* Analysis of gene expression and chemoresistance of CD133+ cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. *Mol. Cancer* 5, 67 (2006).
- 7. Huang, Q. *et al.* Glioma stem cells are more aggressive in recurrent tumors with malignant progression than in the primary tumor, and both can be maintained long-term in vitro. *BMC. Cancer* 8, 304 (2008).
- Mariani,C.L., Kouri,J.G., & Streit,W.J. Rejection of RG-2 gliomas is mediated by microglia and T lymphocytes. J. Neurooncol. 79, 243-253 (2006).
- 9. Ignatova, T.N. *et al.* Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. *Glia* 39, 193-206 (2002).
- Singh,S.K. *et al.* Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. *Cancer Res.* 63, 5821-5828 (2003).
- 11. Singh,S.K. et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432, 396-401 (2004).
- 12. Chiba, S. Notch signaling in stem cell systems. Stem Cells 24, 2437-2447 (2006).
- 13. Beatus, P. & Lendahl, U. Notch and neurogenesis. J. Neurosci. Res. 54, 125-136 (1998).
- Margareto, J. *et al.* Gene expression profiling of human gliomas reveals differences between GBM and LGA related to energy metabolism and notch signaling pathways. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 32, 53-63 (2007).
- 15. Lee, J. *et al.* Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. *Cancer Cell* 9, 391-403 (2006).
- Purow,B.W. *et al.* Expression of Notch-1 and its ligands, Delta-like-1 and Jagged-1, is critical for glioma cell survival and proliferation. *Cancer Res.* 65, 2353-2363 (2005).
- 17. Hu,Y.Y. *et al.* Notch signaling contributes to the maintenance of both normal neural stem cells and patient-derived glioma stem cells. *BMC. Cancer* 11, 82 (2011).

- Fan,X. *et al.* NOTCH pathway blockade depletes CD133-positive glioblastoma cells and inhibits growth of tumor neurospheres and xenografts. *Stem Cells* 28, 5-16 (2010).
- 19. Verhaak,R.G. *et al.* Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell* 17, 98-110 (2010).
- Marty, M. et al. Randomized phase II trial of the efficacy and safety of trastuzumab combined with docetaxel in patients with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive metastatic breast cancer administered as first-line treatment: the M77001 study group. J. Clin. Oncol. 23, 4265-4274 (2005).
- 21. McGuire,W.L., Horwitz,K.B., Pearson,O.H., & Segaloff,A. Current status of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. *Cancer* 39, 2934-2947 (1977).
- 22. Bezwoda,W.R., Derman,D., De Moor,N.G., Lange,M., & Levin,J. Treatment of metastatic breast cancer in estrogen receptor positive patients. A randomized trial comparing tamoxifen alone versus tamoxifen plus CMF. *Cancer* 50, 2747-2750 (1982).
- 23. Kristoffersen,K., Villingshøj,M., Poulsen,H., & Stockhausen,M. Level of Notch activation determines the effect on growth and stem cell-like features in glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cultures. *Unpuplished data*(2013).
- 24. Stockhausen, M.T. *et al.* Maintenance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in an in vivo and in vitro model of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Exp. Cell Res.* 317, 1513-1526 (2011).
- 25. Phillips,H.S. *et al.* Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. *Cancer Cell* 9, 157-173 (2006).
- 26. Brennan, C. *et al.* Glioblastoma subclasses can be defined by activity among signal transduction pathways and associated genomic alterations. *PLoS. ONE.* 4, e7752 (2009).
- 27. Hegi,M.E. *et al.* MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 352, 997-1003 (2005).
- Raafat, A. *et al.* Rbpj conditional knockout reveals distinct functions of Notch4/Int3 in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* 28, 219-230 (2009).
- 29. Harrison, H. *et al.* Regulation of breast cancer stem cell activity by signaling through the Notch4 receptor. *Cancer Res.* 70, 709-718 (2010).
- 30. Speiser, J. et al. Notch-1 and Notch-4 biomarker expression in triple-negative breast cancer. Int. J. Surg. Pathol. 20, 139-145 (2012).
- 31. Fischer, A. & Gessler, M. Delta-Notch--and then? Protein interactions and proposed modes of repression by Hes and Hey bHLH factors. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 4583-4596 (2007).
- 32. Evin,G. *et al.* Candidate gamma-secretases in the generation of the carboxyl terminus of the Alzheimer's disease beta A4 amyloid: possible involvement of cathepsin D. *Biochemistry* 34, 14185-14192 (1995).
- Xu,P. et al. Differential expression of Notch family members in astrocytomas and medulloblastomas. Pathol. Oncol. Res. 15, 703-710 (2009).

- 34. Zhang,X. *et al.* Notch1 promotes glioma cell migration and invasion by stimulating beta-catenin and NF-kappaB signaling via AKT activation. *Cancer Sci.* 103, 181-190 (2012).
- 35. Noguera-Troise, I. *et al.* Blockade of Dll4 inhibits tumour growth by promoting non-productive angiogenesis. *Nature* 444, 1032-1037 (2006).
- Thurston,G., Noguera-Troise,I., & Yancopoulos,G.D. The Delta paradox: DLL4 blockade leads to more tumour vessels but less tumour growth. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 7, 327-331 (2007).
- Sainson, R.C. & Harris, A.L. Anti-Dll4 therapy: can we block tumour growth by increasing angiogenesis? *Trends Mol. Med.* 13, 389-395 (2007).
- Borghese, L. *et al.* Inhibition of notch signaling in human embryonic stem cell-derived neural stem cells delays G1/S phase transition and accelerates neuronal differentiation in vitro and in vivo. *Stem Cells* 28, 955-964 (2010).
- 39. Hitoshi, S. *et al.* Notch pathway molecules are essential for the maintenance, but not the generation, of mammalian neural stem cells. *Genes Dev.* 16, 846-858 (2002).
- Imayoshi,I., Sakamoto,M., Yamaguchi,M., Mori,K., & Kageyama,R. Essential roles of Notch signaling in maintenance of neural stem cells in developing and adult brains. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 3489-3498 (2010).
- 41. Zhen,Y., Zhao,S., Li,Q., Li,Y., & Kawamoto,K. Arsenic trioxide-mediated Notch pathway inhibition depletes the cancer stem-like cell population in gliomas. *Cancer Lett.*(2009).
- 42. Monticone, M. *et al.* z-Leucinyl-leucinyl-norleucinal induces apoptosis of human glioblastoma tumor-initiating cells by proteasome inhibition and mitotic arrest response. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 7, 1822-1834 (2009).
- 43. Shih,A.H. & Holland,E.C. Notch signaling enhances nestin expression in gliomas. *Neoplasia*. 8, 1072-1082 (2006).
- 44. Dirks,P.B. Brain tumor stem cells: bringing order to the chaos of brain cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 26, 2916-2924 (2008).
- 45. Bleau, A.M. *et al.* New strategy for the analysis of phenotypic marker antigens in brain tumorderived neurospheres in mice and humans. *Neurosurg. Focus.* 24, E28 (2008).
- 46. Yang,Z.J. & Wechsler-Reya,R.J. Hit 'em where they live: targeting the cancer stem cell niche. *Cancer Cell* 11, 3-5 (2007).
- 47. He,H., Niu,C.S., & Li,M.W. Correlation between glioblastoma stem-like cells and tumor vascularization. *Oncol. Rep.* 27, 45-50 (2012).
- Fan,X. *et al.* Notch1 and notch2 have opposite effects on embryonal brain tumor growth. *Cancer Res.* 64, 7787-7793 (2004).
- 49. Wang, J. et al. Notch promotes radioresistance of glioma stem cells. Stem Cells 28, 17-28 (2010).

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Gene expression analysis revealed different Notch signatures between the GBM neurosphere cultures investigated. A) Expression of selected Notch pathway components in the 029, 036 and 048 neurosphere culture. B) Expression of the same components in the same neurosphere cultures treated with 10μ M DAPT or equal volumes of DMSO for 24 hours. In both A) and B) the expression level is relative to the mean expression of the respective gene in the three or six samples respectively.

Figure 2. GBM neurosphere cells forms tumors with different phenotypes when injected into mouse brains. A) Survival in weeks of mice injected with 029, 036 or 048 neurosphere cells treated with the control substance DMSO for 1 week prior to injection. Column statistics were generated using the GraphPad Prism 4 software (GraphPad Software, http://www.graphpad.com). B) Representative H&E staining of the tumors displayed in A). C) CT/FET-PET scans of a mouse injected with DMSO treated 048 cells at week one, four, five and six after injection. D) Representative H&E pictures of the intracranial tumors showing characteristics of high grade gliomas i.e. mitosis and invasion and GBM specific hallmarks i.e. necrosis and excessive vasculature. Green arrows indicate mitotic cells. E) Representative immunohistochemical stainings of the Notch-1 receptor in tumors formed from 029, 036 and 048 neurosphere cells, respectively. Scale bar shows 50µm.

Figure 3. No survival benefit for mice injected with DAPT treated GBM neurosphere cells. A) Protein expression of the Notch-1 receptor and the Notch transcriptional target Hes-1 in GBM neurosphere cells treated with DMSO for control (-) or 10μ M DAPT (+) for seven days, prior to intracranial injection. B-D) Kaplan-Meyer plots showing the fractionated survival of mice injected with B) 029, C) 036 or D) 048 cells pretreated for one week with either 10μ M DAPT or equal volumes of DMSO. p-values represents the comparison of survival curves by log-rank test in the GraphPad Prism 4 software.

Figure 4. Histology and expression of the stem cell marker Nestin, the proliferative marker Ki-67 and the endothelial cell marker CD31 differed between tumors formed from DAPT and DMSO treated neurosphere cells. A-F) H&E of representative tumors from each treatment group of the three tumor-types. Scale bar shows 1mm. G-L) Immunodetection of the stem cell marker Nestin. Positive cells stain dark brown in the cytoplasm. Scale bar shows 200µM. M-R) Immunodetection of the proliferative marker Ki-67. Positive nuclei are stained dark brown. Scale bar shows 100µM. S-Y) Immunodection of the endothelial marker CD31. Normal vessels are shown as strait brown stripes in the section, while abnormal vessels are detected as disorganized vessels often with multiple endothelial cells constituting the vessel wall. Scale bar shows 100µM. The pictures are not by certainty from the same tumor.

Table 1: Evaluation of Nestin, Notch-1, Hes-1, CD31 and Ki-67 expression in brain sections from mice injected intracranial with DAPT or DMSO treated neurosphere cells. For each of the three tumor-types in each treatment group, we stained histological sections of three different mice. Markings represent for Nestin: "+" = all tumors cells were highly positive for Nestin, "(+)" = either a more pail coloration of the tumor tissue in general or areas within the tumor tissue that are negative for Nestin. For Ki-67: "+" = less than 25% positive nuclei and "++" = more than 25% positive nuclei. For CD31: "-" = no abnormal vessels, "(+)" = between 1 and 10 abnormal vessel in the section.

Supplementary Figure S1: Gene expression analysis revealed different Notch signatures between the GBM neurosphere cultures investigated. Expression of all Notch components from the "KEGG Notch signaling pathway" gene set downloaded from the "Molecular Signature Database v3.1" on the *http://www.broadinstitute.org/gsea/msigdb/index.jsp* webpage. The expression level is relative to the mean expression of the respective gene in the three or six samples respectively.

Supplementary Figure S2: H&E pictures of the tumors evaluated by IHC. Scale bar shows 1mm.

Supplementary Figure S3: Weight curves of the individual mouse throughout the experiment period. Each individual mouse was monitored frequently during the experiment and was euthanized when it showed tumor related symptoms or considerable weight loss.









Table 1

Table 1: Expression of different markers in orthotopic GBM tumors derived from GBM neurosphere cells pretreated with 10μM DAPT or DMSO for control									
Cells injected	Pretreated with	Nestin	Ki-67	CD31					
029		+	++	-					
	DMSO	+	N.A.	-					
		+	++	-					
		(+)	++	-					
	DAPT	(+)	++	-					
		(+)	++	+					
036		+	+	-					
	DMSO	+	+	-					
		+	+	-					
	DAPT	(+)	++	+					
		+	++	+					
		+	++	+					
048		+	++	-					
	DMSO	+	N.A.	N.A.					
		+	++	-					
	DAPT	+	++	-					
		+	++	(+)					
		+	++	(+)					

26

_







8. Summarizing discussion and perspectives

It has repeatedly been demonstrated that tumor cells with stem cell-like properties can be cultured from human GBM by using conditions that selects for the expansion of NSC^{3,11,71}. It is moreover well established that EGFR and Notch signaling plays an important role in the balance between the normal NSC population and its differentiated progeny and increasing evidence suggests that these pathways also are involved in the maintenance of the bCSC population in GBM. This PhD project adds to the existing knowledge of the functional role of EGFR and Notch signaling in GBM derived bCSC stem cell-like features and tumorigenic properties.

An overview of the naming of patient tumors and corresponding xenografts and cultures established in manuscript I and investigated in manuscripts II, III and IV are presented in Table 1.

8.1 Establishing and characterizing an in vivo/in vitro model of glioblastoma multiforme

A good experimental model, for any human disease, is a model that resembles the human condition as close as possible. *In vitro* models are popular as they are easy and fast to work with, fairly cheap and very favorable when screening for potential new targets and when studying specific molecular pathways and (their role in) cellular phenotypes hypothesized to be important for e.g. a specific tumor type. *In vivo* models are more laborious, but they offer valuable insight into tumor-host interactions and a platform for testing the potential of promising new therapeutic targets. The lack

Table 1. Naming of the patient tumors and corresponding xenografts and neurosphere cultures established in MANUSCRIPT I and investigated in MANUSCRIPTS II, III and IV, unless otherwise stated.							
Patient tumor	Subcutaneous xenografts	Neurosphere culture	Manuscript				
GBM_CPH017	NGBM_CPH017p4	017p4	Ш				
GBM_CPH029	GBM_CPH029p7	029p7 or 029	III, IV				
	NGBM_CPH029p5 2H	029p5	Ш				
GBM_СРН036	NGBM_CPH036p6	036p6	N.A.				
	NGBM_CPH036p7	036p7 or 036	III, IV				
	NGBM_CPH036p8	036p8	III				
	NGBM_CPH036p15	036p15	Ш				
GBM_СРН047	NGBM_CPG047p2 1V	047p2	III				
	NGBM_CPG047p2 1H	047p2 1H	N.A.				
	NGBM_CPH047p3m1	047p3 or 047	II				
	NGBM_CPH047p3m2	047p3m2	N.A.				
	NGBM_CPH047p4m1	047p4	N.A.				
GRM CDH048	NGBM_CPH048p4	048p4	N.A.				
	NGBM_CPH048p5	048p5	N.A.				
	NGBM_CPH048p6	048p6 or 048	III, IV				
	NGBM_CPH048p7	048p7	III				

The p-number immediately following the patient tumor number refers to the mouse passage from which the neurosphere culture has been established from. The prefix "N" refers to the tumor has been passaged over nude rats to remove mouse hepatitis. N.A. = not further investigated

of a good and reliable experimental model for GBM has been an issue especially when exploring tumor specific targeted therapies as traditional serum-containing *in vitro* culturing methods of GBM cells have been shown to result in loss of important tumor hallmarks. E.g. EGFR amplification and mutations are lost already after few passages in serum-containing media and these cultures do as such not exhibit very good resemblance to clinical GBM tissue^{3,55}. As an alternative, scientists have used commercial glioma and GBM cell lines that have been modulated to express these hallmarks (as discussed in section 2.1.1). However, these cell lines are likewise grown in serum-containing media and do not resemble patient tumor tissue³.

In recent years it has become clear that GBM can be sub-typed further than into primary and secondary GBM, and that this sub-typing most likely has an influence on prognosis and treatment outcome, as exemplified by MGMT methylation status and gene expression profile, discussed in section 2.1. Thus, the few commercially available cell lines are not able to embrace the broad diversity found within the human disease. As a consequence, great effort has been put into developing new and more reliable experimental in vitro GBM models that represent as many aspects of human GBM as possible. During the past decade, the serum-free neurosphere culture method, outlined in section 2.2.1, has gained increasing acceptance. It has been developed based on the findings that a population of cancer stem-like cells seems to drive the malignant features of leukemia¹⁰⁰ and from experience in working with normal NSC (reviewed in Chaichana *et al.* $(2006)^{68}$). This led to the identification of a stem cell-like brain cancer cell for the first time in 2002 by Ignatova et al.¹¹ and in the following years several reports of a tumorigenic brain cancer stemlike cell population has been published^{70-72,79}. It has subsequently been demonstrated that the serumfree GBM cultures exhibit characteristics of normal NSC, show better resemblance to the patient tumor than serum-cultured GBM cells and furthermore have tumorigenic potential when transplanted onto immunocompromised mice^{3,56,79}

8.1.1 Establishing an experimental GBM model

We have exploited the serum-free approach to establish an experimental in vivo/in vitro GBM model that maintains hallmarks of the original patient tumor (MANUSCRIPT I). The reason for using a subcutaneous xenograft intermediate station was to assure continuous availability of fresh (and frozen) tumor tissue for establishing both new xenograft tumors as well as in vitro cultures for our experimental GBM model representing different patient tumors. This way we were also able to test if the tumor tissue available continued to express the patient tumor hallmarks of interest throughout xenograft passaging. A GBM patient tumor is commonly referred to as a very heterogeneous tumor, with areas of necrosis and vascular proliferation being GBM hallmarks. If the tumor biopsy available for scientific purposes was mostly necrotic, it would make it difficult to establish it in any experimental model, which might have been the case in MANUSCRIPT I were only 50% of patient tumors were successfully established as xenograft tumors. It has furthermore been suggested that the gene expression profile within one tumor can vary from one area to another⁵³ and as such, the biopsy specimen we had was not by certainty a good representative for the tumor as a whole. However, if bCSC are present in the biopsy, they should be able to regenerate a representative patient tumor xenograft as the cancer stem cell hypothesis states and which has been reported in previous studies^{3,56}. Our results support these findings as we have shown that the expression of EGFR and EGFRvIII, as detected in the original patient tumor, can be maintained throughout several xenograft passages (MANUSCRIPT I). One exception is the xenograft passage GBM_CPH029p7 and thereof derived neurosphere cultures that seemed to be deprived of EGFRvIII expression whereas previous and latter xenograft passages were positive for this marker (MANUSCRIPT I, Fig. 3A and 3C). It has previously been reported that approximately 50% of the GBM cells in a tumor sample were EGFRvIII positive as assessed by flowcytometric analyses²⁴. Vital et al. have suggested that intratumoral heterogeneity might be a result of genetic changes occurring throughout tumor development. As such, early changes would be present in the majority of tumor cells, while later changes only would be present in a subset of tumor cells⁵³. It could as such be speculated that the EGFRvIII mutation is a fairly late event during tumor progression, thus leading to the existence of different bCSC populations within the same tumor. I.e. some bCSC and their progeny will be EGFRvIII positive and some bCSC and progeny will be EGFRvIII negative and incapable of regenerate that particular property when transplanted as xenograft onto mice. This scenario could explain why the xenograft passage 7 was the only passage derived from patient tumor GBM_CPH029 lacking EGFRvIII expression. In addition to maintenance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expression, the expression of the Notch-1 receptor was also maintained throughout in vivo passaging as displayed in Figure 12.

When we initially established the xenograft tumors *in vitro*, we did parallel cultures in serum-free neurobasal (NB + additives) and serum-containing (DMEM+10% FCS) culture media respectively. However, almost all of the serum-cultured cells (25 out of 27) failed in supporting the growth of the GBM cells, and were excluded as they either were very slow growing or expressed mouse actin and thus most likely were contaminated by normal mouse cells (data not shown). In contrast, more than 50% (16 out of 27) of xenografts established in NB-media were successfully established as neurosphere cultures and free of mouse actin (Table 1 above, **MANUSCRIPT I**, Fig. 5B and data not shown). The difference in the number of established NB-cultures between the above statement and Table 1 in **MANUSCRIPT I** is due to the fact that more than one xenograft passage from each of the five patient tumors was established as NB-cultures (except from patient tumor GBM_CPH017, see Table 1 above). We, as such, concluded that establishment of GBM *in vitro* cultures during serum-free culture conditions improve the success rate as compared to serum-containing cultures and maintain important patient tumor hallmarks.



Figure 12: Expression of Notch-1 is maintained from patient tumor throughout xenograft passaging. Basal protein expression detected by western blotting of the Notch-1 receptor in patient tumor tissue and thereof derived different xenograft passages. 017: GBM_CPH017, 029: GBM_CPH029, 036: GBM_CPH036, 048: GBM_CPH048. The Notch-1 expression in the GBM_CPH047 patient tumor and thereof derived xenograft passages has not yet been determined. PT: Patient tumor, XpX: xenograft passage X, XNpX: xenograft passage X after the tumor has been passaged over nude rats to remove mouse hepatitis. GAPDH was used a loading control. Notice that the protein levels between the different tumors cannot be compared as they are not run on the same blot.

8.1.2 Characterization of GBM neurosphere cultures

In our model we used a xenograft intermediate station between the patient tumor and establishment of the neurosphere cultures, whereas others have established neurosphere cultures directly from patient tumor tissue^{3,56}. However, both approaches seem to be an advanced model compared to serum containing cultures as they 1) improved the success rate as discussed above and 2) show a better resemblance to the patient counterpart with respect to genomic alterations, gene expression^{3,56} and tumor specific markers as we demonstrated that the expression of EGFR/EGFRvIII and Notch-1 were maintained from *in vivo* xenografts throughout several passages of *in vitro* culturing (**MANUSCRIPT I**, Fig. 6 and **MANUSCRIPT III**, Fig. 2 and Figure 13 below). Moreover, by using a broader panel of patient tumors as the basis for experimental cell cultures it is possible to achieve a more authentic overall picture of the human disease, as all GBM sub-types are more likely to be covered by the model as compared to the traditional serum cultured commercial cell lines. It should however be held in mind that although patient tumor sub-types can be reflected in corresponding xenografts, sub-typing of *in vitro* cultures is not yet confirmed comparable with patient tumor sub-types¹.

As outlined in section 2.3, the neurosphere culture system supports growth of stem cell-like GBM cells, bCSC, that are believed to play a pivotal role in tumor initiation, progression, angiogenesis, treatment resistance and relapse. And as bCSC are believed to harbor NSC-like potential, the neurosphere cultures offer insight to the mechanisms behind the maintenance of bCSC. In support, the neurosphere cultures established in the present project could be characterized as having NSC-like potential. Besides the neurosphere cultures presented in **MANUSCRIPT III**, Fig. 1, we have also verified that cultures established from the NGBM_CPH047p2 xenografts exhibit NSC-like characteristics as they to formed neurospheres in primary culture and showed self-renewing and multipotent capacity. Neurosphere cultures established from NGBM_CPH017 tumors have not yet been attempted verified this way, although they grow as neurospheres in NB-media and form orthotopic tumors when injected intracranially into immunodeficient mice (data not shown).

It is important to mention that the neurosphere cultures are not purely composed of bCSC but rather a mix of more or less differentiated GBM cells^{72,115}. Although many have reported that it is feasible to sort and isolate the bCSC population, there are continuous dispute about how to identify the bCSC. The NSC marker CD133 is to some extent still the golden standard when identifying and sorting a GBM stem cell-like cell population both from tumor tissue and cultures^{14,17,26,71}. However



Figure 13: Expression of Notch-1 is maintained throughout *in vitro* **passaging**. Basal protein expression detected by western blotting of the Notch-1 receptor in different passages of patient derived neurosphere cultures. 029: GBM_CPH029p7, 036: NGBM_CPH036p7, NGBM_CPH048p6 (pX following the patient tumor name corresponds to the mouse passages from which the culture was derived). pX above the blots corresponds to the neurosphere passage. GAPDH was used a loading control. Notice that the protein levels between the different tumors cannot be compared as they are not run on the same blot.

reports on CD133 negative cells forming tumors^{121,123} that furthermore gives rise to CD133 positive cells¹²² raise question about the reliability for this marker as a marker for the self-renewing and tumor-forming GBM cell population²⁷⁴. The same accounts for using side-population sorting, that is based on the differential efflux of the Hoechst 33342 dye by the ABC (ATP-binding Cassette, ABCG2 in humans) multidrug transporter expressed by a minor population of GBM cells believed to be $bCSC^{275-277}$, as also ABCG2 negative cells has been shown to exhibit tumorigenic potential²⁷⁶. Moreover, the side-population has recently been shown to be stroma derived and primarily composed of endothelial cells, and thus not stem cells or cancer cells²⁷⁸. It has, in addition, been demonstrated by flow cytometry that the CD133 population is not comparable with the sidepopulation²⁷⁹. The Nestin promoter has been used as a driver in genetically modified models as described in section 2.2.2, and Nestin has also been reported expressed in other cancers such as pancreatic, breast, ovarian, thyroid and prostate cancer²⁸⁰ and has furthermore been suggested as a therapeutic target in malignant melanoma 281 . Nestin is also the stem cell marker we have had most success with detecting at the protein level (data not shown). Due to the uncertainties of specific bCSC markers, functional assays have gained increasing attention when identifying bCSC. As described in section 2.2.1 and 2.3.2 and as demonstrated in MANUSCRIPT II, III and IV, bCSC can be identified by means of their the stem cell characteristics, such as sphere formation, self-renewal and multipotency along side with the tumorigenic potential, with the latter being the clinically most important feature. And perhaps, the need for sorting and analyzing the bCSC population on its own might be more important when studying specific mechanisms within this cell population. In the case of modeling GBM, the neurosphere culture as a whole might be more relevant as it, at least to some extent, mimics the heterogeneity seen in the human tumor tissue. Either way, it has been shown that both a presumably isolated bCSC population¹⁷ as well as the unsorted neurosphere culture are able to recapitulate the heterogenicity and characteristics exhibited by the patient tumor of origin (MANUSCRIPT I and IV and²⁸²) and thus fulfill the cancer stem cell hypothesis. It can as such be concluded that when establishing human GBM cells in vitro, regardless of origin, it is crucial that the culturing conditions used support the growth and maintenance of bCSC in order to preserve the geno- and pheno-type of the original patient tumor. And even with the lack of a specific molecular profile for the bCSC, it is most likely that targeting this cell population will lead to improved therapy and hence better prognosis for GBM patients^{107,114,115}

8.1.3 Going back in vivo – can differences in the cultures explain differences in growth pattern?

During the time-frame of this thesis project, at least one neurosphere culture derived from each of the five original patient tumors has been established both as subcutaneous and orthotopic tumors in immunodeficient mice, and has as such been verified to retain the tumorigenic potential (**MANUSCRIPTS I** and **IV**, and unpublished data). As described in section 2.2.2, although more laborious, an orthotopic tumor model is believed to be a more accurate model than a subcutaneous model, as the micro environment, in this case the brain parenchyma and stroma, better mimics the original tumor micro environment with regard to vascularization, available growth factors, stromal-, and other non-malignant cells making up tumor cell niches⁹². Furthermore, GBM cells established as orthotopic xenografts better resemble the human counterpart than subcutaneous xenografts⁹¹. The three neurospheres cultures used for orthotopic tumor formation in the present study, the

GBM_CPH029p7 (029), NGBM_CPH036p7 (036) and NGBM_CPH048p6 (048) cultures (MANUSCRIPT IV), all formed tumors with unique GBM characteristics, such as necrosis and micro vascular proliferation but also atypical mitosis and invasion was detected (MANUSCRIPT IV, Fig. 2). However, the *in vitro* growth could not predict how the tumors grew *in vivo*. In vitro, the 029 and 036 cultures were fast growing, formed large dense spheres and had to be passaged at least once a week, while the 048 culture formed less densely packed spheres and was only passaged once every two weeks (data not shown). However, intracranial tumor formation revealed a very different picture were mice injected with 048 cells survived maximum 7 weeks, mice injected with 029 cells maximum 19 weeks and 036 mice survived as long as 38 weeks or 9,5 months. The histological appearance of the tumors was also very different. The 048 tumors consisted of a large, in general uniform and well bordered, central tumor with occasional small islands of tumor tissue located elsewhere. The 036 tumors tended to be located in, and/or in proximity to, the ventricles and were more infiltrative. In addition, some of the 036 tumors had large, although non-malignant looking, vessels. Finally the 029 tumors showed the most pronounced infiltrative behavior and were also located in, and/or in close proximity, to the ventricles. High expression of EGFR has been linked to a poor prognosis⁴⁶ and as the 048 showed a higher level of EGFR (MANUSCRIPT I, Fig. 3 and 6, and Appendix 1) compared to the 036 and 029, most likely do to EGFR amplification (MANUSCRIPT I, Table 3 and 5), this might at least partly explain why the 048 tumors grew much faster than the 029 and especially 036 tumors in vivo. However, it does not explain the discrepancy between the growth in vitro and in vivo respectively. This might be explained by the observation that the 029 and 036 tumors grew more infiltrative and it could be speculated that infiltrative growth is a slower process due to degradation of tissue barriers as also discussed in MANUSCRIPT IV. It could also be speculated that the difference in growth rate between in vivo and in vitro conditions is due to the difference in micro environment. The 029 and especially the 036 tumors were located in and around the ventricles, a phenomenon also observed by others⁹⁷, and perhaps these cultures more closely resemble cells within these areas, and therefore home to these locations. Normal NSC are known to be naturally present in the sub-ventricular areas and perhaps the cells within the 029 and 036 cultures are more bCSC like, than cells in the 048 culture. However, when evaluating the expression of the stem cell marker Nestin (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 1), this does not seems to be the case, as there is no major difference in Nestin expression between the cultures. Instead, maybe the bCSC population in 029 and 036 represents a different sub-type than in the 048. Indeed, it has been reported, that different bCSC cultures can be obtained from the core and the periphery of the tumor respectively, although derived from a common ancestor²⁸³. It could be speculated that this is a result of early and late genomic alterations⁵³ as described above. In addition, a three dimensional GBM model has been proposed were the hypoxic gradient in the tumor defines the molecular and phenotypic characteristics of the tumor cells with the more immature GBM cells being present near the hypoxic core of the tumor²⁸⁴. In line with this, it has been demonstrated that stem cell features are promoted by hypoxia^{129,131}. It must, however, be considered that different hypoxic areas can be present within the same tumor as evident by the observation of different necrotic areas when evaluating the H&E sections in MANUSCRIPT IV, data not shown. Taken together, in this study, the tumor specimen available from each patient tumor might have been from different locations within the tumor and thus could represent different bCSC populations. This is further supported when examining the expression of neurogenic genes in the untreated cultures (Appendix 3). Here the expression pattern of 029 and 036 cultures were more alike whereas the 048 culture almost showed an opposite expression pattern, indicating that the different cultures represent two distinct types of GBM, both of which contain cells with tumor initiating capacity. The difference between the examined cultures might be a result of the tumors belonging to different GBM tumor sub-types and thus originate from different cell types as has been suggested by Woehrer *et al.*². However, this is still speculative and additional analyses are required to clarify this.

8.1.4 Visualizing the orthotopic GBM model

In order to be able to use an orthotopic tumor model for pre-clinical research it has to be possible to monitor tumor growth and response to treatment while the animals are still alive. As GBM is a neurological condition, the symptoms are as diverse as the location of the tumor in the brain as outlined in section 2.1. However, apart from other brain tumors and brain metastases, these symptoms can also be caused by none malignant conditions such as blood vessel malformation, infection, hemorrhage, infarction, multiple sclerosis etc.²⁸⁵. Different biomarkers implicating a malignant condition have been identified in the blood plasma, such as the inflammation marker FTL (representative proteins-ferretin light chain)²⁸⁶. Also biomarkers directly found to be altered in GBM patients compared to healthy controls, such as S100A9 (member of the Ca²⁺ signaling cascade) and CNDP1 (carnosine dipeptidase-1)²⁸⁶ and biomarkers known from the literature to be closely associated with high-grade gliomas and GBM, such as YLK-40²⁸⁷ and GFAP²⁸⁸, have been suggested as potential plasma biomarkers. However, plasma biomarkers are at present not used as a diagnostic tool.

To confirm the presence of an intracranial tumor, different real time imaging techniques can be utilized. For this Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)-scanning is currently the imaging modality of choice²⁸⁹. In a T1-weighed MRI image with the addition of gadolinium as contrast the tumor is typically seen as a contrast enhanced ring that is believed to represent densely packed neoplastic cells with abnormal vessel structure and a central dark core that represents necrosis, while in a T2weighted image (does not rely on contrast) the tumor area appears as a bright zone representing edema. However, several studies have shown that the area of enhancement on MRI is not an exact representation of the actual tumor border as infiltrative tumor cells can be found beyond a 2 cm. margin^{28,290}. Another pitfall is that the contrast enhancement is not by definition brain tumor tissue as other lesions such as abscesses, metastases and tumor-like demyelating lesions in a person with tumefactive multiple sclerosis²⁹¹ also result in enhancement ²⁹². Thus MRI gives the suspicion of a brain tumor, however, it has to be confirmed and graded by pathological analysis of a stereotactic biopsy or a craniotomy. As such, neuropathologists give the final diagnosis of GBM by H&E staining and further determine if it is of primary or secondary origin by IHC analyses of EGFR, p53, IHD1 etc.⁶. Furthermore, MRI-scans do not visualize the actual tumor but the blood flow and fluid in and around the tumor, representing edema. This can lead to false-positive results when evaluating response to treatment and it has been suggested that the tumor shrinkage seen after bevacizumab treatment is caused by normalization of the blood vessels²⁹³ and it is as such the diminished edema rather than tumor shrinkage that is visualized, a phenomena also referred to as pseudo-response²⁹⁴.

Positron Emission Tomography (PET)-scanning is a way to non-invasively measure metabolic processes *in vivo*. By injecting a radioactive tracer that specifically binds to or is taken up by the tumor cells, the actual tumor cells can be visualized. A PET scan is often combined with a CT-scan as no anatomic information is visible in the PET image (Figure 14A). Moreover, CT-scanning by itself is not very usable for visualizing brain tumors as it has low resolution in soft tissue such as the brain (Figure 14B). However, when a CT image is combined with a PET image where the tumor cells emit a brighter signal than the surrounding non-malignant tissue, it is possible to anatomically locate the tumor bulk (Figure 14C). Different tracers can be utilized for PET: FDG (2-deoxy-2-¹⁸Fflouro-D-glucose) is a glucose analogue, which also is absorbed in normal brain tissue and inflammatory tissue and as such gives a high background signal. Due to the low specificity of FDG in the brain, this tracer is not routinely used for brain tumor imaging²⁹⁵. FLT (¹⁸F-3'-fluoro-3'deoxy-L-thymidine) is a thymidine analogue, that, because of its inability to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is dependent on leaky vessels²⁹⁶, and again this could lead to pseudo response when evaluating e.g. anti-angiogenic treatment as described above. For the present project we used the tyrosine analogue FET (O-(2-[F]flouroethyl)-L-tyrosine) tracer as it has shown great specificity when detecting brain tumors in patients^{297,298}. FET enters the cancer cells by uptake mediated by amino acid transporters but is not incorporated into proteins. It is believed that the low background in non-malignant tissue is mainly due to selective uptake into the cancer cells by the L-type amino acid carrier system (reviewed in Langen et al. (2006)²⁹⁹). In consensus, we found the FET tracer to be highly specific for detecting intracranial tumors from our neurosphere GBM cells and tumor formation was confirmed by histological analyses in all mice displaying an intracranial FET signal (MANUSCRIPT IV and data not shown). However, the lack of a FET signal was not synonymous with no tumor, as mice that were euthanized without visible tumor as detected by FET, had detectable tumor tissue by H&E staining. These tumors were nevertheless rather small. E.g. one mouse was euthanized at day 8 after injection, with no detectable intracranial FET signal, although a small lesion of established tumor cells could be observed in the H&E section (Figure 15), which indicates that the tumor has to be above a certain size in order to be detected by CT/FET-PET. Of more practical orientation we did experience some difficulties when injecting the tracer

intravenously (i.v.)as the anesthetic gas (isoflouran) initially used turned out to be vasocontracting, a phenomenon also experienced by colleagues (Personal communication with technical staff at the Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Copenhagen). As a solution we were advised to switch to hypnorm-medizolam as it is known to be vaso-dilating. However, SCID^h-mice repeatedly sedation tolerate poorly. and approximately two mice per group in the study presented in MANUSCRIPT IV were euthanized due to symptoms that most likely were not caused by



Figure 14: Live imaging of intracranial tumor tissue in the orthotopic GBM model. A) FET-PET image, B) CT image, C) CT image combined with FET-PET image. The images were obtained by injecting *O*-(2-[F]flouroethyl)-L-tyrosine (FET) and recording the signal after 20 minutes under hypnorm-midazolam anesthesia.

^h spontaneous mutant T & B cell deficient mice

tumor growth, although this is merely speculation as tumor tissue could be detected in the brain by histology afterwards. Nonetheless, these mice were not included in the survival data presented in **MANUSCRIPT IV** (Fig. 2A, Fig. 4B-D and Supplementary Fig. S3). An alternative when performing frequent PET-scannings could be to use NMRIⁱ-nu mice that presumably tolerate the repeated sedation better (unpublished data). In addition, when analyzing the brains by H&E staining, from mice euthanized solely due to tumor related signs, we found that histological tumor size not was proportional with survival as some mice had small tumors, but severe weight loss. These small tumors were often located in the ventricle system (**MANUSRIPT IV**, Supplementary Fig. S3) and the symptoms as such could be a results of increased intra ventricular pressure (hydrocephalus)³⁰⁰.

Taken together, the *in vivo/in vitro* model utilized as the basis in this project, where neurosphere cultures were established from patient derived GBM xenografts, represents a reliable GBM model as important tumor characteristics and bCSC features are maintained throughout the model. Furthermore, the established neurosphere cultures could be injected orthotopically into the brains of immunedeficient mice where they formed intracranial tumors verifying the tumorigenic potential of

the cells. Thus, with some adjustments regarding imaging, this model could serve as an invaluable tool when examining the functional role of promising GBM specific targets and when testing the effect of potential new anti-GBM therapies on tumor initiation and growth. In this regard, preliminary data have demonstrated that it is possible to detect luciferase transfected 048p6 cells by bio-luminescence at week one after intracranial injection (Appendix 4).



Figure 15: Early detection of tumor cells in the mouse brain. H&E staining of brain sections from a mouse euthanized eight days after injection with 048 cells at two different magnifications. No PET signal could be observed in this mouse (data not shown).

8.2 Studying the role of EGFR and Notch signaling in bCSC

The above discussed *in vivo/in vitro* model has made out the backbone when we explored the significance of the EGFR and Notch signaling pathways, known to be important for the maintenance and features of normal NSC and also believed to play a role in bCSC and GBM malignancy.

Although anti-EGFR treatment for other cancer types, such as non-small-cell lung cancer, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and metastatic colorectal carcinoma (reviewed in Nedergaard *et al.* $(2012)^{161}$), have proved valuable in the clinic, successful targeting of the EGFR pathway in GBM is still in large unachieved. One example is the lack of effect from cetuximab on glioma cell growth *in vitro*²⁰¹ and on the response rate and survival of recurrent GBM patients when added to an irrinotican and bevacizumab treatment regimen¹⁹⁷. However, as EGFR has been implicated in many cancer types including GBM, where amplification of the *EGFR* gene often is accompanied by the mutant variant EGFRvIII (MANUSCRIPT I and^{55,301}), and moreover has been associated with the

i spontaneous mutant t-cell deficient mice

immature cells of the nervous system and bCSC, targeting of EGFR might still be feasible under innovative setups as will be discussed below. The Notch pathway is, as EGFR, known to be important in the normal NSC population and is likewise deregulated in GBM. Mutations of the Notch receptors have been found in other cancer types²⁵⁹, however, Notch mutations are not common in GBM and exogenous activation of the receptor alone has proven inefficient for generating lesions in the SVZ²³⁰. Nevertheless, an increasing interest for the role of this pathway in GBM has emerged in the latter years.

8.2.1 Expression of EGFR and Notch in the in vivo/in vitro GBM model

As described in section 2.4.2, EGFR is over expressed in 50-60% of GBM and mutated in 40-50% of which EGFRvIII is the most common. This is in line with our observations as 44%-47% of the patient tumors we have established in our *in vivo/in vitro* model (MANUSCRIPT I, Table 1) were positive for EGFR as assessed by WB and IHC respectively. In contrast only four (five, when counting in the GBM_CPH047 tumor, that was EGFRvIII negative in the patient tumor, but positive in the following xenografts and neurosphere cultures) out of 36 patient tumors were positive for the EGFRvIII. This could be an inconsistency caused be the heterogenic nature of GBM as discussed in MANUSCRIPT I and therefore EGFRvIII might be absent in the tumor biopsy available for the project although expressed in other areas of the tumor. However, tumors positive for EGFRvIII were also positive for EGFR expression as assessed either by WB or IHC which supports previous reports on EGFRvIII predominantly being expressed in tumors with EGFR amplification¹⁷⁶. To summarize: of the five patient tumors established as neurosphere cultures and explored in the present project, we found that the 017p4 and 036p7 were possibly EGFR wild type, the 029p7 and 048p6 were possibly amplified for EGFR, while the 047p2 and 047p3 cultures were found to be EGFRvIII positive as well as possibly EGFR amplified. It should be noticed that previous and later in vivo passages of GBM_CPH029 were found to be EGFRvIII positive (MANUSCRIPT I and discussed in section 8.1.1).

With regard to expression of Notch pathway components we initially categorized the xenografts and thereof derived neurosphere cultures based on the expression of the Notch-1 receptor, the downstream target Hes-1 and the overall response to Notch inhibition by DAPT treatment (MANUSCRIPT III). This resulted in three cultures (029p7, 036p7 and 047p2) being characterized as having high endogenous Notch-1 expression and activation, while two cultures (017p4 and 048p6) were characterized as having low expression and activation. Others have reported difference in the expression of Notch and Hes between GBM samples^{105,302} and low activation of the Notch pathway has been linked to progressive gliomas and thus secondary GBM³⁰³, while others have shown that Notch-1 expression increases with increasing glioma grade²¹¹. In contrast, increased expression of Notch pathway components have been reported in low grade gliomas compared to GBM²⁰⁸. However, the GBM tumor tissue used in this project has not been compared to lower grades of gliomas or normal brain tissue and the level of Notch expression can as such not be categorized as high or low compared to these tissue types. Moreover, the present GBM samples have all been diagnosed as primary GBM (MANUSCRIPT I) and as the study by Verhaak et al. (outlined in section 2.1.1) demonstrate, the level of Notch expression can be associated to a specific GBM sub-type¹, which will be discussed below.

When evaluating the gene expression of selected glioma and Notch components (Appendix 1 and 2) from the gene expression analysis performed in MANUSCRIPT IV, it becomes evident that the neurosphere cultures examined indeed are different. (Notice that the 017p4 culture is not included in this analysis and that the 047p3 culture for simplicity reasons is displayed only in the cluster analysis in the appendix, while absent in MANUSCRIPT IV). As shown in Appendix 1, the 048p6 culture displayed increased expression of EGFR as compared to the other three cultures, verifying this culture as having the highest degree of EGFR amplification (MANUSCRIPT I). This culture also showed the highest level of the negative regulator PTEN, which might indicate a low signaling through the PI3-K/AKT pathway, however, the gene expression data is inconclusive in that regard as different PI3-K and AKT transcripts lack uniform up- or down-regulation compared to the other cultures (Appendix 1a). The 047p3 culture showed the lowest level of the EGFR ligands EGF and TGF- α which might be explained by the EGFRvIII status of this culture (MANUSCRIPT I) and thus the independence of an autocrine growth factor loop¹⁶⁴. Furthermore, this culture showed increased expression of the AKT homolog 2 and 3 compared to the other three cultures, in line with studies suggesting that EGFRvIII has an increased signaling through the PI3-K/AKT pathway^{173,175}, as outlined in section 2.4.2. The 029p7 and the 036p7 showed the closest resemblance in this Glioma gene expression analysis (Appendix 1a). The same is the case when evaluating the expression of the Notch signaling pathway, except for some of the genes, e.g. 036p7 showed the highest expression of Dll-4 in the second cluster (Appendix 2a). Interestingly, as described in section 8.1.3, the 036 orthotopic tumors displayed a higher degree of vessels compared to tumors from the other cell cultures (MANUSCRIPT IV), which we also have observed in the subcutaneous tumors (data not shown) and Dll-4-Notch signaling has recently been linked to large blood vessels²⁷² and increased tumor angiogenesis²⁷³. The 048p6 culture almost displayed an opposite Notch signature profile when compared to the 029p7 and 036p7 cultures as the Notch-1, 2- and -3 receptors, the ligands Dll-1, Jagged-1 and -2, and the downstream targets Hes-1, Hey-1 (MANUSCRIPT IV, Fig. 1) as well as the transcription factor CSL (RBPJ, Appendix 2a) all were expressed at a lower level in 048p6, which might explain the difference in response to Notch inhibition observed in MANUSCRIPT III (discussed below). The 047p3 culture mostly resembles the 029p7 and 036p7 (Appendix 2a), although, with regard to the third cluster, it in general displayed the lowest expression compared to the other three cultures (e.g. Hes-1 and Jagged-1 and -2). Surprisingly 047p3 showed same expression level of Notch-1 (and Notch-3) as 048p6, which is in contrast to our findings in MANUSCRIPT III, Fig 5B, where we characterize 047p2 as having high Notch-1 expression. However, the results are from two different 047 xenograft passages (p3 and p2 respectively) and the characterization in MANUSCRIPT III was based on protein level, while the cluster analysis was based on mRNA level, and the discrepancy might as such be due to post-transcriptional regulation of the Notch-1 receptor. E.g. the RNA-binding protein Musashi-1 has been shown to regulate Notch expression in the embryonal brain tumor medulloblastoma as well as in GBM304,305 and, furthermore, several GBM-specific micro-RNAs (miRs) have identified to be involved in the Notch pathway of which e.g. the miR-137 inhibited Notch-1³⁰⁶. Nevertheless, it is evident from the gene expression analysis of Notch pathway components, that the four cultures examined, displayed different Notch signatures with the 029p7 and 036p7 being most alike.

When comparing overall gene expression analysis with the sub-typing studies described in section 2.1.1, it becomes obvious that no good correlation of the neurosphere cultures analyzed in this project and the different sub-types suggested by Verhaak et al.¹, Brennan et al.⁴⁸ and Phillips et al.²² can be made. As an example, the classical sub-type in the Verhaak study and the EGFR core in the Brennan study are characterized by increased expression of EGFR, which fits with the 048p6 cultures (MANUSCRIPT I). However, Verhaak and Brennan also ascribe up regulated Notch signaling to the classical sub-type and EGFR core respectively, which do not match the 048p6 profile (MANUSCRIPT III and IV). In contrast, Phillips assigned increased EGFR expression to the Proliferative and Mesenchymal sub-type, while they did not find altered expression of the Notch receptors in any of the sub-types. However, these sub-type classifications were based on several hundred glioma samples of both grade III and IV origin. Moreover, the expression characteristics were not exclusive for the individual sub-type, as well as overlap between the sub-types in the different studies could be observed (reviewed in Woehrer *et al.* $(2013)^2$ and Huse *et al.* $(2011)^{307}$). As such, the expression profiles established for GBM cells grown as neurosphere cultures in the present project are not immediately comparable with previously published sub-type profiles, but it must be considered that further sub-classification within the sub-types could be present. It should furthermore be held in mind that the three studies described in section 2.1.1 only represent a subset of sub-classification studies all with variations in the sub-typing, although the features distinguishing between a mesenchymal and a proneural sub-type in general were consistent (reviewed in Huse et al. (2011)³⁰⁷). Regardless, establishing GBM cells as neurosphere cultures, still must be considered a superior model as compared to serum-containing cultures, as discussed above, as it better maintains patient tumor characteristics as well and GBM hallmarks and as such mimic the patient disease better³.

8.2.2 Are there similarities between the role of EGFR and Notch in the in vitro model?

It is important to emphasize that the experiments and results in MANUSCRIPT II and III cannot be directly compared as 1) the GBM neurosphere cultures analyzed display different molecular expression profiles as described above and 2) the setup varied a bit with regard to the cellular assays utilized in the two studies (e.g. the sub-sphere and the soft-agar assays), which will be outlined below. With that in mind, a comparison of the results in the two studies will nevertheless be performed in the following in an attempt to decipher the similarities and/or differences between the functionality of EGFR and Notch, respectively, in the neurosphere cultures and thus the bCSC population. An overview of the results obtained in MANUSCRIPT II and III is displayed in Table 2. One might speculate that only tumors that show increased expression and activation of a specific pathway should be stratified to therapy targeting this pathway as suggested with regard to the subtype classification. In consensus, it has been suggested that amplification of EGFR improves response to EGFR inhibition by TKIs, if it is combined with low levels of activated AKT ^{187,188,308} and that EGFRvIII positive tumors are more sensitive to cetuximab treatment, than EGFRvIII negative tumors²⁰². Furthermore, we have shown that only neurosphere cultures characterized as having high endogenous Notch pathway activation were sensitive towards anti-Notch treatment by GSI (MANUSCRIPT III). To explore the functional role of EGFR/EGFRvIII and Notch signaling in bCSC we therefore utilized the 047p3 neurosphere culture demonstrated to express

Table 2. Overview of the <i>in vitro</i> results obtained in MANUSCRIPT II and III											
Treatment	Primary	Sub-sphere		Differen-	Soft-agar		Viability				
AG1478		Naive N.A.				N.A.					
DAPT	 Л	-	-	-	-	Л	-				
ICN-1	N.A.	Û	Û	Ţ	Û	N.A.	N.A.				
RA	N.A.	N.A.	Û	Û	Ū	N.A.	N.A.				
Serum	N.A.	N.A.	Ū	Û	-	N.A.	N.A.				

 ${f I}_{-}$: Inhibitory effect from treatment in the respective assay, compared to the control

- : No effect or no consistent effect from treatment in the respective assay, compared to the control

1 : Promoting effect from treatment in the respective assay, compared to the control

N.A.: Not analyzed

EGFR/EGFRvIII (MANUSCRIPT II) and the 029p7, 036p7 and 048p6 cultures, representing high and low Notch-1 expressing neurosphere cultures, respectively (MANUSCRIPT III and IV).

Even before the first reports on bCSC, it was demonstrated that EGFR knock-out in the glioma cell line U87MG led to differentiation and reduced growth and colony forming potential³⁰⁹. In addition, NSC are known to proliferate in response to EGFR ligands such as EGF, bFGF, and withdrawal of growth factors has been shown to induce differentiation^{60,62}. As increased grade of anaplasia or dedifferentiation is linked to increased aggressiveness, it could be speculated that EGFR signaling plays a role in upholding the immature state of bCSC important for maintaining the malignancy of the tumor. Likewise is it known that active Notch signaling is important for maintaining the balance between the undifferentiated NSC population and its differentiated progeny. Thus, as NSC are a possible origin for bCSC, and as Notch signaling has been suggested to drive expression of the NSC marker Nestin²³⁰, it is not farfetched that Notch signaling also plays a role in the maintenance of bCSC, as also has been suggested by others^{26,267,268}. Taken together, both EGFR and Notch signaling are proposed a role in bCSC maintenance, the cancer cell population believed to be a promising target in novel anti-GBM treatment.

The sphere forming potential is a well established NSC/bCSC characteristic and sphere formation has furthermore been correlated to clinical outcome of high-grade gliomas³¹⁰. As such, we have interpreted the number of neurospheres formed when the primary culture was established in serum-free media as a pseudo quantification of the bCSC population present in the tumor tissue from which the culture was established. This way we tested if inhibition of EGFR/EGFRvIII by the TKI AG1478 or Notch inhibition by the GSI DAPT had an effect on the primary sphere formation and thus on the supposed bCSC population. Indeed, we found that AG1478 reduced the number of primary spheres in all the cultures analyzed this way (047p2 is displayed in **MANUSCRIPT II**, Fig. 4D. Data not shown for 029p5^j and 048p7. 017pX and 036pX were not analyzed), while Notch inhibition only affected the sphere forming capacity in the high Notch-1 expressing cultures (029p5, 036p8, 036p15 and 047p2, **MANUSCRIPT III**, Fig. 5A). Thus, these results indicate that primary

^j The NGBM_CPH029p5 xenograft was positive for EGFRvIII in contrast to GBM_CPH029p7
sphere formation to some degree is dependent on EGFR and Notch signaling and that both EGFR/EGFRvIII and Notch inhibition affect the bCSC population in the tumor. It could be speculated if AG1478 also would have hampered primary sphere formation in 017pX and 036px as these were categorized as having normal EGFR expression (section 8.2.1) in line with the above discussion regarding that sensitivity to a pathway inhibitor requires abnormal signaling through that specific pathway, however, this remains to be explored. The results from the primary sphere formation is in line with others showing that primary glioma (and NSC) sphere formation was inhibited by GSI²⁶⁷ and reports showing that the number of primary spheres was significantly increased along with an increase in sphere size when GBM cells were established in serum-free media in presence of EGF and bFGF compared to establishment in the absence of growth factors¹⁰⁸. It could be argued that the lack of growth factors would induce differentiation of the GBM cells as described in section 2.1.1, however, the authors did not find increased differentiation in the cultures that were established deprived of growth factors¹⁰⁸. Moreover, differentiation studies are mainly performed on already established cultures^{62,72}, and later passage cultures most likely are composed of a different cellular makeup compared to primary cultures that also would affect the bCSC potential in the cultures (discussed in MANUSCRIPT II and III).

In later in vitro passages we found that the 047p3 culture formed fewer spheres when subjected to EGFR inhibition (MANUSCRIPT II, Fig. 4C) in line with results from Kelly et al.¹⁰⁸, while no effect of Notch inhibition was observed in 029p7, 036p7 or 048p6, regardless of Notch signature (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 5 C and D) and in contrast to what previously has been reported²⁶⁷. The same was the case when evaluating the expression of differentiation markers after treatment with either AG1478 or DAPT. Here we found that AG1478 induced differentiation (MANUSCRIPT II, Fig. 3E), while no consistent effect on the differentiation markers could be detected upon DAPT treatment (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 5E and F). Also when testing the effect on neurosphere cell viability, we found that AG1478 reduced the quantity of viable 047p3 cells (MANUSCRIPT II, Fig. 3B) in line with a study by Soeda and colleagues²⁸², while no consistent results were obtained upon treatment with different concentrations of DAPT in the 029p7, 036p7 and 048p6 (data not shown), which is in contrast to other studies²⁶. AG1478 was evaluated after 12 days, whereas the DAPT treatment only was sustained for 3 days and the viability assays can as such not be directly compared as also emphasized above. Nonetherless, after three days of DAPT treatment we did see an effect on the cell cycle distribution (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 3A and 6B), and the time frame might thus, not have been enough to manifest as a decrease in the amount of viable cells. In fact, in a recent Master's thesis project from our laboratory it was demonstrated that the viability of 036p6 and 047p3 neurosphere cells was decreased after 14 days of DAPT treatment, although the EGFR inhibitor gefitinib seemed to inhibit the viability to a higher degree than $DAPT^{311}$.

It could be hypothesized that the different results from the functional stem cell assays discussed above, is a result of the different means by which EGFR and Notch signaling is activated. EGFR ligands are present in the media, and EGFR signaling can as such can be initiated by normal means in our cell cultures. Furthermore, as described above, certain requirements have been suggested to be important for obtaining an effect from TKIs such as EGFR amplification and mutations, a signature the 047p3 culture fulfill. Perhaps an EGFR wild type GBM neurosphere culture would not have been affected to the same degree. This does, however, not seem to be the case as the viability

of the 036p6 culture, characterized as possibly EGFR wild type, was affected by TKI treatment, as described above³¹¹. Moreover, with regard to sub-sphere formation, the same master's thesis project demonstrated that the sphere morphology of both the 036p6 and the 047p3 culture was affected by AG1478 and gefitinib³¹¹ and Soeda *et al.* did not find increased sensitivity towards the same TKIs in EGFRvIII positive glioma neurosphere cultures when compared to EGFRvIII negative cultures²⁸². As such, future studies needs to further compare the effect from EGFR inhibition on GBM neurosphere cultures with different EGFR/EGFRvIII expression. In contrast to EGFR activation, Notch signaling requires cell-cell interactions and is thus dependent on the presence of ligand expressing cells. As shown in Appendix 2a, ligands are expressed in the cultures (e.g. Dll-4 and Jagged-1), although at various levels and as such ligand activation of Notch signaling is plausible. Nevertheless, the ligand expressing cells in the culture can be different from the ligand expressing cells in vivo where the microenvironment is different, and the extracellular activation of the pathway might as such differ between in vivo and in vitro conditions (as discussed in MANUSCRIPT III), which might not be the case with EGFR. In addition, formation of an intracellular cell autonomous ligand-receptor complex, has been reported³¹², and it could be speculated if activation of the Notch receptor in this complex requires γ -secreatse, as the receptorligand complex remains inside the cell and the γ -secretase is embedded in the plasma membrane³¹². Moreover, a noncanonical Notch signaling pathway independent of activation by γ -secretase has been suggested³¹³. Thus, Notch signaling have alternatives to the canonical GSI sensitive pathway in order exert its downstream effects in vitro. These alternatives might be independent of γ secretase activity and thus insensitive to GSI, with regard to the stem cell features. However, this is highly speculative and further studies are required to clarify this. On the other hand, maybe DAPT is not a potent Notch inhibitor, which has been demonstrated by others³¹⁴, and it could be hypothesized that the effect from DAPT treatment differs between different cell populations and/or functions. When we activated signaling downstream from the Notch-1 receptor by means of transfection with the intracellular Notch-1 receptor (ICN-1), we were able to obtain an effect on the stem cell characteristics in all cell cultures (Table 2 and MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 6), verifying that active Notch signaling does play a role in the immature cell population in the neurosphere culture. In order to investigate the role of EGFR/EGFRvIII and Notch signaling on the tumorigenic potential of the neurosphere cells, we used the pseudo tumorigenic soft-agar assay. Both EGFR/EGFRvIII inhibition by AG1478 treatment (MANUSCRIPT II, Fig. 4A) and Notch inhibition by DAPT treatment (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 4B) reduced the number clonogenic colonies (for an overview see Table 2). However, Notch inhibition only affected colony formation when the neurosphere cells had been pre-treated before casted in the semisolid agar with additional DAPT treatment, while no effect could be observed, when the cells were plated directly in the assay, which is in line with the study by Fan et al.²⁶, but differs from our results with EGFR/EGFRvIII inhibition. Again, the two studies cannot be directly compared, but it could be speculated that EGFR inhibition targets the neurosphere cells by different means than Notch inhibition. Perhaps EGFR inhibition directly inhibits the clonogenic proliferation of the colony forming cells together with every proliferating cell in the culture, while Notch inhibition merely differentiate the colony forming cells into

proliferating progenitor cells that initially are able to form colonies, but lose that ability upon replating as also discussed in **MANUSRIPT III**. This speculation is in line with the inconsistent effect

on differentiation markers upon Notch inhibition observed in **MANUSCRIPT III**, fig. 5E and F and the established role of Notch as a regulator of the balance between the normal NSC and its more differentiated progeny as described in section 2.5.2, although further studies are required to clarify this.

When testing the effect of the differentiating agent RA, we found that although it down regulated the expression of EGFR/EGFRvIII, induced differentiation and inhibited the number of colonies formed in soft agar, it actually increased the number of spheres formed in the sub sphere assay, were EGFR inhibition decreased the number of sub-spheres (MANUSCRIPT II, Fig. 4A and B) (For overview, see Table 2). As a passing remark, RA treatment of GBM neurosphere cells has also been reported to down regulate the Notch pathway³¹⁵. This result is in contrast to other reports showing that RA inhibited GBM neurosphere formation³¹⁵. As described above, DAPT treatment also affected colony formation, but failed to hamper secondary sphere formation (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 4B and 5D). (It should again be emphasized that the assays cannot be directly compared). As discussed in the respective papers, the lack of inhibiting effect on sub-sphere formation from treatment with either RA or DAPT might be explained by these two treatments only partly differentiate the cells, and as such lead to the generation of faster proliferating progenitor cells. In MANUSCRIPT II, the treatment ceased upon seeding in the assay, while the treatment in MANUSCRIPT III was maintained throughout the experiment. This could explain why the number of spheres was increased in case of RA pretreatment, as it might have been fast proliferating progenitor cells without any inhibitory treatment, that were evaluated in the assay, while the continued DAPT treatment may have prevented this in MANUSCRIPT III. These results combined, suggest that the anti-proliferating effect of differentiating treatment of bCSC is reversible, and that it is as such crucial that either the treatment is continued, or that the supposedly generated progenitor cells are targeted by different means, such as conventional chemo therapy that targets fast proliferating cells, e.g. TMZ.

8.2.3 Functional role of Notch in the in vivo model

The results from the soft agar assay with DAPT treatment (**MANUSCRIPT III**, Fig. 4) made out the draft for the orthotopic *in vivo* studies of Notch function. It was our hypothesis that inhibition of Notch signaling targeted an undifferentiated clonogenic tumor initiating cell, possibly the bCSC, and that inhibition of this would hamper tumor growth, as has been demonstrated in the Fan study²⁶. However, pretreatment of the neurosphere cells with DAPT before injection did not improve the survival of the mice (**MANUSCRIPT IV**, Fig. 3B-D), regardless of the Notch signature of the cells injected (029p7, 036p7 and 048p6). In fact, mice injected with DAPT treated 036p7 cells tended to survive longer than mice injected with the control treated cells. The lack of tumor growth inhibition could be explained by the recapitulation of Notch signaling, when the GSI treatment was withdrawn upon intracranial injection. This is supported by the Hes-1 expression which was not obviously down regulated in the DAPT tumors as compared to the controls, when the mice were euthanized (IHC data not shown^k) which is in line with the results from Fan and co-workers. They, nevertheless, did obtain increased survival when the neurosphere cells were pretreated before

^k It should be noticed that, with regard to the present project, the IHC staining for Hes-1 has not been fully optimized, but the preliminary results implicate that Hes-1 is expressed at equal levels between the DAPT and control tumors.

intracranial injection²⁶. We did, however, find indications of increased differentiation as visualized by reduced Nestin expression, either focally or as a weaker staining throughout the tumor in general. In addition, we found an increased number of malignant appearing vessels in the tumors formed from pretreated 029p7 and 036p7 neurosphere cells (MANUSCRIPT IV, Fig. 4G-L, 4S-Y and Table 1). When taken the in vitro results into account (MANUSCRIPT III), the in vivo data (MANUSCRIPT IV) might implicate that Notch inhibition, like RA treatment (MANUSCRIPT II, Fig. 5), partly differentiate the bCSC, however, not enough to obtain detectable effects on the bCSC characteristics (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 5C-F) or decrease the tumor forming potential (MANUSCRIPT IV, Fig. 3B-D). However, if the treatment is sustained, as it was throughout replating in the soft-agar assay, the partly differentiated cells becomes proliferative exhausted and fail to form colonies (MANUSCRIPT III, Fig. 4B). However, if the treatment is not sustained, as was the case when the cells were intracranially injected in MANUSCRIPT IV, the cells might recapitulate their full potential by de-differentiation. The de-differentiation might not be back to the point of origin, at least not for all the cells, but instead to a bCSC sub-type with a different potential. This new potential might enable the bCSC to trans-differentiate into endothelial cells^{16,316} promoting tumor angiogenesis leading to the abnormal and malignant looking vessels as observed in MANUSCRIPT IV, Fig. 4S-V. Thus, Notch inhibition, if not sustained, might select for a phenotype that more strongly induces angiogenesis. Indeed, Notch signaling has been implicated in tumor angiogenesis. E.g. Notch ligands have been demonstrated to be expressed by endothelial cells adjacent to Notch/Nestin positive GBM cells³¹⁷. Furthermore, the Notch ligand Dll-4 has been shown to promote resistance to anti-angiogenic treatment, while inhibition of Notch signaling eliminated the resistance in an *in vivo* model²⁷² and reduced the number of endothelial cells in a 3D explant model³¹⁸. Moreover, inhibition of Dll-4 has been shown to increase the number of abnormal, mal-functional vessel and decrease tumor size³¹⁹⁻³²¹. Finally, the significance of Dll-4-Notch signaling has been verified in patient material, as a sub-set of tumors showed increased activation of the pathway along with increased edema²⁷³ indicative for leaky and malignant vessels³²². It should however be emphasized that MANUSCRIPT IV is a manuscript in preparation and additional experiments needs to be conducted in order to solidify the manuscript conclusion: The micro array data, needs to be validated by real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction. It would, moreover, be interesting to investigate if the abnormal vessels in the DAPT tumors are of murine or human origin, of which the latter would indicate trans-differentiation as discussed above. Finally, it would be interesting to test if sustained Notch (and/or Dll-4) inhibition throughout intracranial tumor formation, will hamper tumor growth and prolong the survival of the mice injected with high Notch expressing cells, as could be speculated based on our in vitro clonogenic assay (MANUSCRIPT III).

Overall the results obtained during this PhD project in some aspects support the literature with regard to the role of EGFR and Notch signaling in bCSC, while in other aspects we were not able to recapitulate the effect of treatment observed by others. Different setups and different inhibitors distinguish the studies, but also different GBM neurosphere cultures. As we observed differences in the gene expression profile as well as in the sensitivity to treatment between the cultures, this

project highlights the importance for stratified individual combination therapy that targets the different tumor cell populations from different angles, optimized for each sub-type.

8.3 Perspectives - combination of targeted therapy

8.3.1 EGFR-Notch interactions

The results presented in this PhD thesis indicate that EGFR/EGFRvIII and Notch signaling both play a role in bCSC maintenance and tumorigenicity and as such, to some degree play a similar role in the bCSC population. Indeed, as normal stem cells are pivotal for sustaining the organism, functional redundancy between several stem cell pathways, including the EGFR, and Notch pathways, ensure the possibility for maintenance of the stem cell population, and it is likely that this ability is present in the bCSC as well. This redundancy might be in terms of cross-talk between the pathways as reviewed in Katoh $(2007)^{323}$ and Doroquez and Rebay $(2007)^{324}$. There are several examples on interactions between Notch and EGFR signaling during normal development and in different cancer types³²⁴⁻³²⁹ and previous studies^{262,330} together with preliminary results from our own laboratory (Olsen $(2013)^{311}$ and data not shown), indicate that this interaction exist in glioma and GBM as well. As described in section 2.5.3, activation of RAS alone or in combination with Notch induced expansion of Nestin positive cells and resulted in gliomagenesis in a mouse model, whereas Notch activation on its own failed to do so^{230} . Even though the cell origin of bCSC has not yet been identified, increasing number of reports suggest that this role could be assigned to normal NSC. Thus, it could be speculated that increased EGFR signaling, either by amplification or mutation, drive oncogenic transformation in the NSC that exhibit endogenous Notch expression. Expansion of this, now tumor initiating bCSC population leads to increased Notch expression in the tumor. This hypothesis is supported by the sub-type studies discussed in section 2.1.1, as Notch pathway components were found up-regulated in the EGFR core⁴⁸. Furthermore, Purow and colleagues have shown that Notch-1 knock down led to decreased activation of EGFR promoter activity and as such resulted in down regulation of the receptor, whereas activation of Notch resulted in EGFR up regulation²⁶². Moreover, in the glioma cluster analysis displayed in Appendix 1b, AKT was down regulated upon DAPT treatment in all cultures, indicating a link between Notch signaling and a central signaling pathway downstream of EGFR. On the other hand, Notch independent Hes-1 up regulation has been demonstrated in gliomas and other tumors of the CNS and peripheral nervous system, possibly through a mechanism involving transforming growth factor (TGF)- α induced EGFR activation^{329,330}. Thus, EGFR-Notch-1 cross-talk is a two way street, where both pathways regulate each other on different levels of the signaling cascade.

8.3.2 Implementation in the clinic

In the recent years, increased understanding of molecular abnormalities occurring in GBM has given rise to the development and use of targeted therapy in the search for an improved treatment, and optimally, a cure for this malignancy. Up until know, most targeted therapies have been aiming at a single molecule or pathway, deregulated in the cancer in question. One exception is the anti-angiogenic treatment, where different drugs target the same feature. The same could be the case when targeting the bCSC population. If different bCSC populations exists within the same tumor and/or in different tumors, all displaying treatment resistant and tumorigenic potential, and each

population has a unique expression profile as discussed in section 8.2.1, it could be tempting to speculate that each population rely on different signaling pathways in order to maintain their population, although redundant pathways also must be considered, as well as cross-talk between pathways as discussed above. As such, in order to target the different bCSC populations a combination of targeted therapies must be considered, also in order to inhibit redundant pathways that might result in treatment failure. If the goal is to differentiate the bCSC in order to sensitize them to conventional therapy one could either target different pathways in concert and/or combine this with a more general differentiation therapy such as RA. As outlined in section 8.2, RA treatment down regulates both EGFR/EGFRvIII (MANUSCRIP II) and Notch²⁷¹, again indicating these pathways to be important for maintaining the bCSC population and thus presenting a novel strategy for bCSC directed anti-GBM therapy.

As discussed in section 8.2.2, DAPT might not be the Notch inhibitor of choice as it, above offtarget effects due to additional γ -secretase substrates, does not seem to fully inhibit Notch signaling. Alternatives to DAPT as a GSI inhibitor could be the GSI-18 or MRK-003 used in the study by Fan *et al.* of where MRK-003 seemed to be superior²⁶, although the unspecific nature of GSI still should be considered. Inhibiting Notch by different means than GSI could be the neural microRNA miR-326, that has been shown to be cytotoxic to bCSC *in vitro* and reduced tumor growth *in vivo*³³¹. Several inhibitors (TKIs, mAbs, miRNAs, immunotoxins etc.) for EGFR have already emerged, some of which are in the clinic as outlined in section 2.4.3, and there are most likely more to come.

One of the major problems with the treatment today, is the resistance that inevitably leads to relapse and death. But by targeting the bCSC population it might be possible to prevent this. bCSC are believed to promote treatment resistance possibly as a result of endogenous expression of multidrug resistance pumps, DNA mismatch repair genes etc. as outlined in section 2.3.3. In line with this, it has been shown that GSI treatment, targeting the bCSC population, in combination with TMZ, targeting the tumor bulk, was superior to TMZ alone, when tested both *in vitro* on GBM neurosphere cultures and *in vivo* in a subcutaneous model³³². Moreover, Notch inhibition has also been demonstrated to enhance the effect from radiation therapy^{271,318}. If the EGFR and Notch pathways, to some extent, are redundant, it is possible that EGFR signaling likewise plays a role in treatment resistance. Indeed, a bCSC population expressing EGFR has been linked to resistance to chemo- and radiation therapy⁴⁶.

Taken together, targeting the bCSC population from different angles by using both specific signaling pathway targeted therapy, in concert with more a general differentiation therapy might increase the chance for targeting all the different bCSC populations and their redundant pathways in the tumor and thereby sensitize them to more conventional chemo- and radiation therapy. However, there is most likely a limit to the amount of anti-cancer drugs a GBM patient can tolerate, even though most of the treatment would be specifically targeted and thus less likely to result in severe side effects. Therefore, stratification of patients is necessary. As discussed in section 8.2.2, only patients that show increased expression and activation of a specific pathway should be stratified to therapy targeting the pathway in question, as we have shown was the case with Notch inhibition (MANUSCRIPT III). Sup-typing of GBM patients could be an effective tool for stratifying patients to the most optimal treatment. However, from a clinical point of view, this is not yet feasible, as no improved treatment for the individual sub-type can be offered at the moment. So for the time being,

when testing novel anti-EGFR and anti-Notch targets in the clinic, patients should be stratified by examining the expressed signature of the individual pathways.

9. Conclusion

The results included in this thesis support indications from previous published data, that a GBM model that supports the growth of NSC-like GBM cells, namely the bCSC, is an advanced model, when compared to traditional serum containing cultures of GBM. By transplanting patient GBM tumor tissue onto the flanks of nude mice and from there establish neurosphere cultures in serum-free media, we obtained an *in vivo/in vitro* model that maintained expression of amplified EGFR and the mutant variant EGFRvIII, as well as the expression of the Notch-1 receptor (section 8.1). In addition, we show that EGFR and Notch signaling to some extent plays a role in the maintenance of bCSC and tumorigenic characteristics *in vitro*. We furthermore show that differentiating treatment of the neurosphere cultures down regulated EGFR/EGFRvIII expression, while others have showed the same being the case for Notch-1 expression as discussed in section 8.2. We did, however, not obtain an inhibitory effect on *in vivo* tumor growth from Notch inhibition, although we did observe histological changes in tumors formed from high Notch-1 expressing DAPT treated cultures.

Overall, the results obtained during this thesis project add to the existing literature on the subject and further implicate that EGFR and Notch signaling present promising targets for bCSC directed anti-GBM therapy. Whether the two signaling pathways in concert affects all bCSC in the tumor, or whether they each supports the growth and immature state of distinct bCSC subpopulations has not yet been clarified. However, it is likely that the two pathways exert redundancy through cross-talk by affecting the expression of the other receptor or by promoting downstream signaling independent of the default receptor as described in section 8.3.

Taken together, we suggest that an anti-GBM therapy that combines targeting of the bCSC populations by means of EGFR and Notch inhibition and differentiating therapy with conventional therapy that targets more differentiated tumor cells potentially could prevent the current inevitable relapse and thus improve the prognosis and survival of GBM patients with abnormal activation of the EGFR and Notch pathways.

10. References

- Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, Miller CR, Ding L, Golub T, Mesirov JP, Alexe G, Lawrence M, O'Kelly M, Tamayo P, Weir BA, Gabriel S, Winckler W, Gupta S, Jakkula L, Feiler HS, Hodgson JG, James CD, Sarkaria JN, Brennan C, Kahn A, Spellman PT, Wilson RK, Speed TP, Gray JW, Meyerson M, Getz G, Perou CM and Hayes DN. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell* 17, pp. 98-110, 2010
- 2. Woehrer A, Marosi C, Widhalm G, Oberndorfer S, Pichler J and Hainfellner JA. Clinical neuropathology practice guide 1-2013: Molecular subtyping of glioblastoma: ready for clinical use? *Clin. Neuropathol.* 32, pp. 5-8, 2013
- Lee J, Kotliarova S, Kotliarov Y, Li A, Su Q, Donin NM, Pastorino S, Purow BW, Christopher N, Zhang W, Park JK and Fine HA. Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. *Cancer Cell* 9, pp. 391-403, 2006
- 4. Ohgaki H and Kleihues P. Population-based studies on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations in astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 64, pp. 479-489, 2005
- 5. Filippini G, Falcone C, Boiardi A, Broggi G, Bruzzone MG, Caldiroli D, Farina R, Farinotti M, Fariselli L, Finocchiaro G, Giombini S, Pollo B, Savoiardo M, Solero CL and Valsecchi MG. Prognostic factors for survival in 676 consecutive patients with newly diagnosed primary glioblastoma. *Neuro. Oncol.* 10, pp. 79-87, 2008
- 6. Poulsen H. [Primære hjernetumorer hos voksne]. Report. Available at: <u>http://www.radiationbiology.dk/userfiles/files/hjernetumorer voksne.pdf</u>. *Radiation Biology, Copenhagen University Hospital*, 2011.
- 7. Poulsen н. [Voldsom stigning i nve tilfælde af aggresiv hjernekræft]. Available at: http://www.cancer.dk/Nyheder/nyhedsartikler/2012kv4/Kraftig+stigning+i+hjernesvulster.htm. Accessed: 21-3-2013. www.cancer.dk, updated: 11-2-2012.
- 8. Lonn S, Klaeboe L, Hall P, Mathiesen T, Auvinen A, Christensen HC, Johansen C, Salminen T, Tynes T and Feychting M. Incidence trends of adult primary intracerebral tumors in four Nordic countries. *Int. J. Cancer* 108, pp. 450-455, 2004
- 9. Perry J, Okamoto M, Guiou M, Shirai K, Errett A and Chakravarti A. Novel therapies in glioblastoma. *Neurol. Res. Int.* 2012, pp. 428565, 2012
- 10. Sathornsumetee S and Rich JN. Designer therapies for glioblastoma multiforme. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1142, pp. 108-132, 2008
- 11. Ignatova TN, Kukekov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov ON, Vrionis FD and Steindler DA. Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. *Glia* 39, pp. 193-206, 2002
- 12. Singh SK, Clarke ID, Hide T and Dirks PB. Cancer stem cells in nervous system tumors. Oncogene 23, pp. 7267-7273, 2004
- 13. Bao S, Wu Q, McLendon RE, Hao Y, Shi Q, Hjelmeland AB, Dewhirst MW, Bigner DD and Rich JN. Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. *Nature* 444, pp. 756-760, 2006
- 14. Liu G, Yuan X, Zeng Z, Tunici P, Ng H, Abdulkadir IR, Lu L, Irvin D, Black KL and Yu JS. Analysis of gene expression and chemoresistance of CD133+ cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. *Mol. Cancer* 5, pp. 67, 2006
- 15. Bao S, Wu Q, Sathornsumetee S, Hao Y, Li Z, Hjelmeland AB, Shi Q, McLendon RE, Bigner DD and Rich JN. Stem cell-like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cancer Res.* 66, pp. 7843-7848, 2006
- 16. He H, Niu CS and Li MW. Correlation between glioblastoma stem-like cells and tumor vascularization. *Oncol. Rep.* 27, pp. 45-50, 2012
- 17. Lathia JD, Gallagher J, Myers JT, Li M, Vasanji A, McLendon RE, Hjelmeland AB, Huang AY and Rich JN. Direct in vivo evidence for tumor propagation by glioblastoma cancer stem cells. *PLoS. ONE.* 6, pp. e24807, 2011

- 18. Ayuso-Sacido A, Graham C, Greenfield JP and Boockvar JA. The duality of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling and neural stem cell phenotype: cell enhancer or cell transformer? *Curr. Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 1, pp. 387-394, 2006
- 19. Pierfelice T, Alberi L and Gaiano N. Notch in the vertebrate nervous system: an old dog with new tricks. *Neuron* 69, pp. 840-855, 2011
- 20. Zandi R, Larsen AB, Andersen P, Stockhausen MT and Poulsen HS. Mechanisms for oncogenic activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Cell Signal*. 19, pp. 2013-2023, 2007
- 21. Stockhausen MT, Kristoffersen K and Poulsen HS. The functional role of Notch signaling in human gliomas. *Neuro. Oncol.* 12, pp. 199-211, 2010
- 22. Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano RH, Wu TD, Misra A, Nigro JM, Colman H, Soroceanu L, Williams PM, Modrusan Z, Feuerstein BG and Aldape K. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. *Cancer Cell* 9, pp. 157-173, 2006
- 23. Ohgaki H, Dessen P, Jourde B, Horstmann S, Nishikawa T, Di Patre PL, Burkhard C, Schuler D, Probst-Hensch NM, Maiorka PC, Baeza N, Pisani P, Yonekawa Y, Yasargil MG, Lutolf UM and Kleihues P. Genetic pathways to glioblastoma: a population-based study. *Cancer Res.* 64, pp. 6892-6899, 2004
- 24. Wikstrand CJ, McLendon RE, Friedman AH and Bigner DD. Cell surface localization and density of the tumor-associated variant of the epidermal growth factor receptor, EGFRVIII. *Cancer Res.* 57, pp. 4130-4140, 1997
- 25. Griffero F, Daga A, Marubbi D, Capra MC, Melotti A, Pattarozzi A, Gatti M, Bajetto A, Porcile C, Barbieri F, Favoni RE, Lo CM, Zona G, Spaziante R, Florio T and Corte G. Different response of human glioma tumor-initiating cells to epidermal growth factor receptor kinase inhibitors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, pp. 7138-7148, 2009
- 26. Fan X, Khaki L, Zhu TS, Soules ME, Talsma CE, Gul N, Koh C, Zhang J, Li YM, Maciaczyk J, Nikkhah G, Dimeco F, Piccirillo S, Vescovi AL and Eberhart CG. NOTCH pathway blockade depletes CD133-positive glioblastoma cells and inhibits growth of tumor neurospheres and xenografts. *Stem Cells* 28, pp. 5-16, 2010
- 27. Årsrapport 2011. Report. Available at: <u>https://www.sundhed.dk/content/cms/84/4684_dnor-%C3%A5rsrapport-2011.pdf</u>. Dansk Neuro Onkologisk Register, 2012.
- 28. Pathology & Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous system. Ed.: Kleihues P and Cavenee WK. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Lyon, France, 1997.
- 29. Poulsen HS. Department of Radiation Biology. Available at: <u>http://www.radiationbiology.dk/</u>. updated: 2013.
- 30. WHO classification of tumors of the central nervous system (4th edition). 2007.
- 31. Globus JH and Kuhlenbeck H. The subependymal cell plate (matrix) and its relationship to brain tumors of the ependymal type. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology* 3, pp. 1-35, 1944
- 32. Lim DA, Cha S, Mayo MC, Chen MH, Keles E, VandenBerg S and Berger MS. Relationship of glioblastoma multiforme to neural stem cell regions predicts invasive and multifocal tumor phenotype. *Neuro. Oncol.* 9, pp. 424-429, 2007
- 33. Jones TS and Holland EC. Standard of care therapy for malignant glioma and its effect on tumor and stromal cells. Oncogene2011
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, Belanger K, Brandes AA, Marosi C, Bogdahn U, Curschmann J, Janzer RC, Ludwin SK, Gorlia T, Allgeier A, Lacombe D, Cairncross JG, Eisenhauer E and Mirimanoff RO. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 352, pp. 987-996, 2005
- 35. Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, Ludwin SK, Allgeier A, Fisher B, Belanger K, Hau P, Brandes AA, Gijtenbeek J, Marosi C, Vecht CJ, Mokhtari K, Wesseling P, Villa S, Eisenhauer E, Gorlia T, Weller M, Lacombe D, Cairncross JG and Mirimanoff RO. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol*.2009

- 36. Weller M, Cloughesy T, Perry JR and Wick W. Standards of care for treatment of recurrent glioblastoma--are we there yet? *Neuro. Oncol.* 15, pp. 4-27, 2013
- 37. Patel M, Vogelbaum MA, Barnett GH, Jalali R and Ahluwalia MS. Molecular targeted therapy in recurrent glioblastoma: current challenges and future directions. *Expert. Opin. Investig. Drugs* 21, pp. 1247-1266, 2012
- 38. Kreisl TN, Kim L, Moore K, Duic P, Royce C, Stroud I, Garren N, Mackey M, Butman JA, Camphausen K, Park J, Albert PS and Fine HA. Phase II trial of single-agent bevacizumab followed by bevacizumab plus irinotecan at tumor progression in recurrent glioblastoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 27, pp. 740-745, 2009
- 39. Moller S, Grunnet K, Hansen S, Schultz H, Holmberg M, Sorensen M, Poulsen HS and Lassen U. A phase II trial with bevacizumab and irinotecan for patients with primary brain tumors and progression after standard therapy. *Acta Oncol.* 51, pp. 797-804, 2012
- 40. Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T, Hamou MF, de TN, Weller M, Kros JM, Hainfellner JA, Mason W, Mariani L, Bromberg JE, Hau P, Mirimanoff RO, Cairncross JG, Janzer RC and Stupp R. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 352, pp. 997-1003, 2005
- 41. Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Sata K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P and Ohgaki H. Overexpression of the EGF receptor and p53 mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. *Brain Pathol.* 6, pp. 217-223, 1996
- 42. Smith JS, Tachibana I, Passe SM, Huntley BK, Borell TJ, Iturria N, O'Fallon JR, Schaefer PL, Scheithauer BW, James CD, Buckner JC and Jenkins RB. PTEN mutation, EGFR amplification, and outcome in patients with anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma multiforme. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 93, pp. 1246-1256, 2001
- 43. McLendon R, Friedman A, Bigner D, Van Meir EG, Brat DJ, Mastrogianakis M, Olson JJ, Mikkelsen T, Lehman N and Aldape K. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature* 455, pp. 1061-1068, 2008
- 44. Sun L, Hui AM, Su Q, Vortmeyer A, Kotliarov Y, Pastorino S, Passaniti A, Menon J, Walling J, Bailey R, Rosenblum M, Mikkelsen T and Fine HA. Neuronal and glioma-derived stem cell factor induces angiogenesis within the brain. *Cancer Cell* 9, pp. 287-300, 2006
- 45. Beroukhim R, Getz G, Nghiemphu L, Barretina J, Hsueh T, Linhart D, Vivanco I, Lee JC, Huang JH, Alexander S, Du J, Kau T, Thomas RK, Shah K, Soto H, Perner S, Prensner J, Debiasi RM, Demichelis F, Hatton C, Rubin MA, Garraway LA, Nelson SF, Liau L, Mischel PS, Cloughesy TF, Meyerson M, Golub TA, Lander ES, Mellinghoff IK and Sellers WR. Assessing the significance of chromosomal aberrations in cancer: methodology and application to glioma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 104, pp. 20007-20012, 2007
- 46. Murat A, Migliavacca E, Gorlia T, Lambiv WL, Shay T, Hamou MF, de TN, Regli L, Wick W, Kouwenhoven MC, Hainfellner JA, Heppner FL, Dietrich PY, Zimmer Y, Cairncross JG, Janzer RC, Domany E, Delorenzi M, Stupp R and Hegi ME. Stem cell-related "self-renewal" signature and high epidermal growth factor receptor expression associated with resistance to concomitant chemoradiotherapy in glioblastoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 26, pp. 3015-3024, 2008
- 47. Guney S, Jardin F, Bertrand P, Mareschal S, Parmentier F, Picquenot JM, Tilly H and Bastard C. Several mechanisms lead to the inactivation of the CDKN2A (P16), P14ARF, or CDKN2B (P15) genes in the GCB and ABC molecular DLBCL subtypes. *Genes Chromosomes. Cancer* 51, pp. 858-867, 2012
- 48. Brennan C, Momota H, Hambardzumyan D, Ozawa T, Tandon A, Pedraza A and Holland E. Glioblastoma subclasses can be defined by activity among signal transduction pathways and associated genomic alterations. *PLoS. ONE.* 4, pp. e7752, 2009
- 49. Zhou Q, Wang S and Anderson DJ. Identification of a novel family of oligodendrocyte lineage-specific basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors. *Neuron* 25, pp. 331-343, 2000
- 50. Freije WA, Castro-Vargas FE, Fang Z, Horvath S, Cloughesy T, Liau LM, Mischel PS and Nelson SF. Gene expression profiling of gliomas strongly predicts survival. *Cancer Res.* 64, pp. 6503-6510, 2004

- 51. Yan H, Parsons DW, Jin G, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Yuan W, Kos I, Batinic-Haberle I, Jones S, Riggins GJ, Friedman H, Friedman A, Reardon D, Herndon J, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE, Vogelstein B and Bigner DD. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 360, pp. 765-773, 2009
- 52. Ichimura K, Pearson DM, Kocialkowski S, Backlund LM, Chan R, Jones DT and Collins VP. IDH1 mutations are present in the majority of common adult gliomas but rare in primary glioblastomas. *Neuro. Oncol.* 11, pp. 341-347, 2009
- 53. Vital AL, Tabernero MD, Crespo I, Rebelo O, Tao H, Gomes F, Lopes MC and Orfao A. Intratumoral patterns of clonal evolution in gliomas. *Neurogenetics*. 11, pp. 227-239, 2010
- 54. Noushmehr H, Weisenberger DJ, Diefes K, Phillips HS, Pujara K, Berman BP, Pan F, Pelloski CE, Sulman EP, Bhat KP, Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Hayes DN, Perou CM, Schmidt HK, Ding L, Wilson RK, Van Den Berg D, Shen H, Bengtsson H, Neuvial P, Cope LM, Buckley J, Herman JG, Baylin SB, Laird PW and Aldape K. Identification of a CpG island methylator phenotype that defines a distinct subgroup of glioma. *Cancer Cell* 17, pp. 510-522, 2010
- 55. Pandita A, Aldape KD, Zadeh G, Guha A and James CD. Contrasting in vivo and in vitro fates of glioblastoma cell subpopulations with amplified EGFR. *Genes Chromosomes. Cancer* 39, pp. 29-36, 2004
- 56. Vik-Mo EO, Sandberg C, Olstorn H, Varghese M, Brandal P, Ramm-Pettersen J, Murrell W and Langmoen IA. Brain tumor stem cells maintain overall phenotype and tumorigenicity after in vitro culturing in serum-free conditions. *Neuro. Oncol.* 12, pp. 1220-1230, 2010
- 57. Filmus J, Pollak MN, Cairncross JG and Buick RN. Amplified, overexpressed and rearranged epidermal growth factor receptor gene in a human astrocytoma cell line. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 131, pp. 207-215, 1985
- 58. Thomas C, Ely G, James CD, Jenkins R, Kastan M, Jedlicka A, Burger P and Wharen R. Glioblastoma-related gene mutations and over-expression of functional epidermal growth factor receptors in SKMG-3 glioma cells. *Acta Neuropathol.* 101, pp. 605-615, 2001
- 59. Reynolds BA and Weiss S. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. *Science* 255, pp. 1707-1710, 1992
- 60. Gritti A, Parati EA, Cova L, Frolichsthal P, Galli R, Wanke E, Faravelli L, Morassutti DJ, Roisen F, Nickel DD and Vescovi AL. Multipotential stem cells from the adult mouse brain proliferate and self-renew in response to basic fibroblast growth factor. J. Neurosci. 16, pp. 1091-1100, 1996
- 61. Gritti A, Frolichsthal-Schoeller P, Galli R, Parati EA, Cova L, Pagano SF, Bjornson CR and Vescovi AL. Epidermal and fibroblast growth factors behave as mitogenic regulators for a single multipotent stem cell-like population from the subventricular region of the adult mouse forebrain. *J. Neurosci.* 19, pp. 3287-3297, 1999
- 62. Reynolds BA and Weiss S. Clonal and population analyses demonstrate that an EGF-responsive mammalian embryonic CNS precursor is a stem cell. *Dev. Biol.* 175, pp. 1-13, 1996
- 63. McKay R. Stem cells in the central nervous system. *Science* 276, pp. 66-71, 1997
- 64. Gage FH, Ray J and Fisher LJ. Isolation, characterization, and use of stem cells from the CNS. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, pp. 159-192, 1995
- 65. Covey MV and Levison SW. Leukemia inhibitory factor participates in the expansion of neural stem/progenitors after perinatal hypoxia/ischemia. *Neuroscience* 148, pp. 501-509, 2007
- 66. Carpenter MK, Cui X, Hu ZY, Jackson J, Sherman S, Seiger A and Wahlberg LU. In vitro expansion of a multipotent population of human neural progenitor cells. *Exp. Neurol.* 158, pp. 265-278, 1999
- 67. Brewer GJ, Torricelli JR, Evege EK and Price PJ. Optimized survival of hippocampal neurons in B27-supplemented Neurobasal, a new serum-free medium combination. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 35, pp. 567-576, 1993
- 68. Chaichana K, Zamora-Berridi G, Camara-Quintana J and Quinones-Hinojosa A. Neurosphere assays: growth factors and hormone differences in tumor and nontumor studies. *Stem Cells* 24, pp. 2851-2857, 2006

- 69. Kukekov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov O, Davies K, Scheffler B, Thomas LB, O'Brien TF, Kusakabe M and Steindler DA. Multipotent stem/progenitor cells with similar properties arise from two neurogenic regions of adult human brain. *Exp. Neurol.* 156, pp. 333-344, 1999
- 70. Galli R, Binda E, Orfanelli U, Cipelletti B, Gritti A, De VS, Fiocco R, Foroni C, Dimeco F and Vescovi A. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 64, pp. 7011-7021, 2004
- 71. Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J and Dirks PB. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. *Cancer Res.* 63, pp. 5821-5828, 2003
- 72. Yuan X, Curtin J, Xiong Y, Liu G, Waschsmann-Hogiu S, Farkas DL, Black KL and Yu JS. Isolation of cancer stem cells from adult glioblastoma multiforme. *Oncogene* 23, pp. 9392-9400, 2004
- 73. Doetsch F, Caille I, Lim DA, Garcia-Verdugo JM and varez-Buylla A. Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. *Cell* 97, pp. 703-716, 1999
- 74. Suslov ON, Kukekov VG, Ignatova TN and Steindler DA. Neural stem cell heterogeneity demonstrated by molecular phenotyping of clonal neurospheres. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 99, pp. 14506-14511, 2002
- 75. Engstrom CM, Demers D, Dooner M, McAuliffe C, Benoit BO, Stencel K, Joly M, Hulspas R, Reilly JL, Savarese T, Recht LD, Ross AH and Quesenberry PJ. A method for clonal analysis of epidermal growth factor-responsive neural progenitors. J. Neurosci. Methods 117, pp. 111-121, 2002
- 76. Uchida N, Buck DW, He D, Reitsma MJ, Masek M, Phan TV, Tsukamoto AS, Gage FH and Weissman IL. Direct isolation of human central nervous system stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 97, pp. 14720-14725, 2000
- 77. Kania G, Corbeil D, Fuchs J, Tarasov KV, Blyszczuk P, Huttner WB, Boheler KR and Wobus AM. Somatic stem cell marker prominin-1/CD133 is expressed in embryonic stem cell-derived progenitors. *Stem Cells* 23, pp. 791-804, 2005
- 78. Mellodew K, Suhr R, Uwanogho DA, Reuter I, Lendahl U, Hodges H and Price J. Nestin expression is lost in a neural stem cell line through a mechanism involving the proteasome and Notch signalling. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 151, pp. 13-23, 2004
- 79. Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelman RM, Cusimano MD and Dirks PB. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature* 432, pp. 396-401, 2004
- 80. Huszthy PC, Daphu I, Niclou SP, Stieber D, Nigro JM, Sakariassen PO, Miletic H, Thorsen F and Bjerkvig R. In vivo models of primary brain tumors: pitfalls and perspectives. *Neuro. Oncol.* 14, pp. 979-993, 2012
- 81. Barth RF and Kaur B. Rat brain tumor models in experimental neuro-oncology: the C6, 9L, T9, RG2, F98, BT4C, RT-2 and CNS-1 gliomas. *J. Neurooncol.* 94, pp. 299-312, 2009
- 82. Samkange-Zeeb F, Schlehofer B, Schuz J, Schlaefer K, Berg-Beckhoff G, Wahrendorf J and Blettner M. Occupation and risk of glioma, meningioma and acoustic neuroma: results from a German case-control study (interphone study group, Germany). *Cancer Epidemiol.* 34, pp. 55-61, 2010
- 83. Samanic CM, De Roos AJ, Stewart PA, Rajaraman P, Waters MA and Inskip PD. Occupational exposure to pesticides and risk of adult brain tumors. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 167, pp. 976-985, 2008
- 84. He J, Yin Y, Luster TA, Watkins L and Thorpe PE. Antiphosphatidylserine antibody combined with irradiation damages tumor blood vessels and induces tumor immunity in a rat model of glioblastoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 15, pp. 6871-6880, 2009
- 85. Mariani CL, Kouri JG and Streit WJ. Rejection of RG-2 gliomas is mediated by microglia and T lymphocytes. J. Neurooncol. 79, pp. 243-253, 2006
- 86. Fomchenko EI and Holland EC. Mouse models of brain tumors and their applications in preclinical trials. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 12, pp. 5288-5297, 2006
- 87. Huse JT and Holland EC. Targeting brain cancer: advances in the molecular pathology of malignant glioma and medulloblastoma. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 10, pp. 319-331, 2010

- 88. Holland EC and Varmus HE. Basic fibroblast growth factor induces cell migration and proliferation after glia-specific gene transfer in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 95, pp. 1218-1223, 1998
- 89. Holland EC, Celestino J, Dai C, Schaefer L, Sawaya RE and Fuller GN. Combined activation of Ras and Akt in neural progenitors induces glioblastoma formation in mice. *Nat. Genet.* 25, pp. 55-57, 2000
- 90. Hu X, Pandolfi PP, Li Y, Koutcher JA, Rosenblum M and Holland EC. mTOR promotes survival and astrocytic characteristics induced by Pten/AKT signaling in glioblastoma. *Neoplasia*. 7, pp. 356-368, 2005
- 91. Taillandier L, Antunes L and Angioi-Duprez KS. Models for neuro-oncological preclinical studies: solid orthotopic and heterotopic grafts of human gliomas into nude mice. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 125, pp. 147-157, 2003
- 92. Rankin SL, Zhu G and Baker SJ. Review: insights gained from modelling high-grade glioma in the mouse. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neuropiol.* 38, pp. 254-270, 2012
- 93. Nowakowski RS and Hayes NL. CNS development: an overview. Dev. Psychopathol. 11, pp. 395-417, 1999
- 94. Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Bjork-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA and Gage FH. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nat. Med.* 4, pp. 1313-1317, 1998
- 95. Barres BA. A new role for glia: generation of neurons! Cell 97, pp. 667-670, 1999
- 96. Johansson CB, Momma S, Clarke DL, Risling M, Lendahl U and Frisen J. Identification of a neural stem cell in the adult mammalian central nervous system. *Cell* 96, pp. 25-34, 1999
- 97. Shiras A, Chettiar ST, Shepal V, Rajendran G, Prasad GR and Shastry P. Spontaneous transformation of human adult nontumorigenic stem cells to cancer stem cells is driven by genomic instability in a human model of glioblastoma. *Stem Cells* 25, pp. 1478-1489, 2007
- 98. Siebzehnrubl FA, Jeske I, Muller D, Buslei R, Coras R, Hahnen E, Huttner HB, Corbeil D, Kaesbauer J, Appl T, von HS and Blumcke I. Spontaneous In Vitro Transformation of Adult Neural Precursors into Stem-Like Cancer Cells. *Brain Pathol*.2008
- 99. Llaguno SA, Chen J, Kwon C, Jackson AL, Li Y, Burns DK, Alvarez-Buylla A and Parada LF. Malignant Astrocytomas Originate from Neural Stem/Progenitor Cells in a Somatic Tumor Supressor Mouse Model. *Cancer Cell* 15, pp. 45-56, 2009
- 100. Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, Minden M, Paterson B, Caligiuri MA and Dick JE. A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature* 367, pp. 645-648, 1994
- 101. Alam S, Sen A, Behie LA and Kallos MS. Cell cycle kinetics of expanding populations of neural stem and progenitor cells in vitro. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 88, pp. 332-347, 2004
- 102. Morshead CM, Craig CG and van der KD. In vivo clonal analyses reveal the properties of endogenous neural stem cell proliferation in the adult mammalian forebrain. *Development* 125, pp. 2251-2261, 1998
- 103. Morrison SJ, Shah NM and Anderson DJ. Regulatory mechanisms in stem cell biology. Cell 88, pp. 287-298, 1997
- 104. Doe CQ. Neural stem cells: balancing self-renewal with differentiation. Development 135, pp. 1575-1587, 2008
- 105. Gunther HS, Schmidt NO, Phillips HS, Kemming D, Kharbanda S, Soriano R, Modrusan Z, Meissner H, Westphal M and Lamszus K. Glioblastoma-derived stem cell-enriched cultures form distinct subgroups according to molecular and phenotypic criteria. *Oncogene* 27, pp. 2897-2909, 2008
- 106. Varghese M, Olstorn H, Sandberg C, Vik-Mo EO, Noordhuis P, Nister M, Berg-Johnsen J, Moe MC and Langmoen IA. A comparison between stem cells from the adult human brain and from brain tumors. *Neurosurgery* 63, pp. 1022-1033, 2008
- 107. Emmenegger BA and Wechsler-Reya RJ. Stem cells and the origin and propagation of brain tumors. J. Child Neurol. 23, pp. 1172-1178, 2008

- Kelly JJ, Stechishin O, Chojnacki A, Lun X, Sun B, Senger DL, Forsyth P, Auer RN, Dunn JF, Cairncross JG, Parney IF and Weiss
 S. Proliferation of human glioblastoma stem cells occurs independently of exogenous mitogens. *Stem Cells* 27, pp. 1722hmmmm-1733, 2009
- 109. Evers P, Lee PP, DeMarco J, Agazaryan N, Sayre JW, Selch M and Pajonk F. Irradiation of the potential cancer stem cell niches in the adult brain improves progression-free survival of patients with malignant glioma. *BMC. Cancer* 10, pp. 384, 2010
- 110. Uhrbom L, Dai C, Celestino JC, Rosenblum MK, Fuller GN and Holland EC. Ink4a-Arf loss cooperates with KRas activation in astrocytes and neural progenitors to generate glioblastomas of various morphologies depending on activated Akt. *Cancer Res.* 62, pp. 5551-5558, 2002
- 111. Holland EC. Progenitor cells and glioma formation. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 14, pp. 683-688, 2001
- 112. Nakano I and Kornblum HI. Brain tumor stem cells. Pediatr. Res. 59, pp. 54R-58R, 2006
- 113. Shiras A, Bhosale A, Shepal V, Shukla R, Baburao VS, Prabhakara K and Shastry P. A unique model system for tumor progression in GBM comprising two developed human neuro-epithelial cell lines with differential transforming potential and coexpressing neuronal and glial markers. *Neoplasia*. 5, pp. 520-532, 2003
- 114. Massard C, Deutsch E and Soria JC. Tumour stem cell-targeted treatment: elimination or differentiation. Ann. Oncol. 17, pp. 1620-1624, 2006
- 115. Dirks PB. Brain tumor stem cells: bringing order to the chaos of brain cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 26, pp. 2916-2924, 2008
- 116. Yang ZJ and Wechsler-Reya RJ. Hit 'em where they live: targeting the cancer stem cell niche. Cancer Cell 11, pp. 3-5, 2007
- 117. Stupp R and Hegi ME. Targeting brain-tumor stem cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 25, pp. 193-194, 2007
- 118. Bleau AM, Howard BM, Taylor LA, Gursel D, Greenfield JP, Lim Tung HY, Holland EC and Boockvar JA. New strategy for the analysis of phenotypic marker antigens in brain tumor-derived neurospheres in mice and humans. *Neurosurg. Focus.* 24, pp. E28, 2008
- 119. Johannessen TC, Bjerkvig R and Tysnes BB. DNA repair and cancer stem-like cells--potential partners in glioma drug resistance? *Cancer Treat. Rev.* 34, pp. 558-567, 2008
- 120. Kang MK, Hur BI, Ko MH, Kim CH, Cha SH and Kang SK. Potential identity of multi-potential cancer stem-like subpopulation after radiation of cultured brain glioma. *BMC. Neurosci.* 9, pp. 15, 2008
- 121. Prestegarden L, Svendsen A, Wang J, Sleire L, Skaftnesmo KO, Bjerkvig R, Yan T, Askland L, Persson A, Sakariassen PO and Enger PO. Glioma Cell Populations Grouped by Different Cell Type Markers Drive Brain Tumor Growth. *Cancer Res*.2010
- 122. Wang J, Sakariassen PO, Tsinkalovsky O, Immervoll H, Boe SO, Svendsen A, Prestegarden L, Rosland G, Thorsen F, Stuhr L, Molven A, Bjerkvig R and Enger PO. CD133 negative glioma cells form tumors in nude rats and give rise to CD133 positive cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 122, pp. 761-768, 2008
- 123. Beier D, Hau P, Proescholdt M, Lohmeier A, Wischhusen J, Oefner PJ, Aigner L, Brawanski A, Bogdahn U and Beier CP. CD133(+) and CD133(-) glioblastoma-derived cancer stem cells show differential growth characteristics and molecular profiles. *Cancer Res.* 67, pp. 4010-4015, 2007
- 124. Alvarez-Buylla A and Garcia-Verdugo JM. Neurogenesis in adult subventricular zone. J. Neurosci. 22, pp. 629-634, 2002
- 125. Cage TA, Pekmezci M, Prados M and Berger MS. Subependymal spread of recurrent glioblastoma detected with the intraoperative use of 5-aminolevulinic acid. *J. Neurosurg*.2013
- 126. Shah T, Jayasundar R, Singh VP and Sarkar C. In vivo MRS study of intraventricular tumors. J. Magn Reson. Imaging 34, pp. 1053-1059, 2011
- 127. Lee TT and Manzano GR. Third ventricular glioblastoma multiforme: case report. Neurosurg. Rev. 20, pp. 291-294, 1997

- 128. Kim YJ, Lee SK, Cho MK and Kim YJ. Intraventricular glioblastoma multiforme with previous history of intracerebral hemorrhage : a case report. J. Korean Neurosurg. Soc. 44, pp. 405-408, 2008
- 129. Morrison SJ, Csete M, Groves AK, Melega W, Wold B and Anderson DJ. Culture in reduced levels of oxygen promotes clonogenic sympathoadrenal differentiation by isolated neural crest stem cells. *J. Neurosci.* 20, pp. 7370-7376, 2000
- 130. Morrison SJ, White PM, Zock C and Anderson DJ. Prospective identification, isolation by flow cytometry, and in vivo selfrenewal of multipotent mammalian neural crest stem cells. *Cell* 96, pp. 737-749, 1999
- 131. Studer L, Csete M, Lee SH, Kabbani N, Walikonis J, Wold B and McKay R. Enhanced proliferation, survival, and dopaminergic differentiation of CNS precursors in lowered oxygen. *J. Neurosci.* 20, pp. 7377-7383, 2000
- 132. Brat DJ and Mapstone TB. Malignant glioma physiology: cellular response to hypoxia and its role in tumor progression. *Ann.* Intern. Med. 138, pp. 659-668, 2003
- 133. Evans SM, Judy KD, Dunphy I, Jenkins WT, Hwang WT, Nelson PT, Lustig RA, Jenkins K, Magarelli DP, Hahn SM, Collins RA, Grady MS and Koch CJ. Hypoxia is important in the biology and aggression of human glial brain tumors. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10, pp. 8177-8184, 2004
- 134. Kaur B, Khwaja FW, Severson EA, Matheny SL, Brat DJ and Van Meir EG. Hypoxia and the hypoxia-inducible-factor pathway in glioma growth and angiogenesis. *Neuro. Oncol.* 7, pp. 134-153, 2005
- 135. Zagzag D, Zhong H, Scalzitti JM, Laughner E, Simons JW and Semenza GL. Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in brain tumors: association with angiogenesis, invasion, and progression. *Cancer* 88, pp. 2606-2618, 2000
- 136. Diabira S and Morandi X. Gliomagenesis and neural stem cells: Key role of hypoxia and concept of tumor "neo-niche". *Med. Hypotheses* 70, pp. 96-104, 2008
- 137. Sell S. Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. Crit Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 51, pp. 1-28, 2004
- 138. Karsy M, Albert L, Tobias ME, Murali R and Jhanwar-Uniyal M. All-trans retinoic acid modulates cancer stem cells of glioblastoma multiforme in an MAPK-dependent manner. *Anticancer Res.* 30, pp. 4915-4920, 2010
- 139. Hunter T. The Croonian Lecture 1997. The phosphorylation of proteins on tyrosine: its role in cell growth and disease. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond B Biol. Sci.* 353, pp. 583-605, 1998
- 140. Hubbard SR, Mohammadi M and Schlessinger J. Autoregulatory mechanisms in protein-tyrosine kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 273, pp. 11987-11990, 1998
- 141. Schlessinger J. Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell 103, pp. 211-225, 2000
- 142. Carpenter G, Lembach KJ, Morrison MM and Cohen S. Characterization of the binding of 125-I-labeled epidermal growth factor to human fibroblasts. J. Biol. Chem. 250, pp. 4297-4304, 1975
- 143. Ullrich A, Coussens L, Hayflick JS, Dull TJ, Gray A, Tam AW, Lee J, Yarden Y, Libermann TA, Schlessinger J and . Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. *Nature* 309, pp. 418-425, 1984
- 144. Holbro T, Civenni G and Hynes NE. The ErbB receptors and their role in cancer progression. *Exp. Cell Res.* 284, pp. 99-110, 2003
- 145. de Bono JS and Rowinsky EK. The ErbB receptor family: a therapeutic target for cancer. *Trends Mol. Med.* 8, pp. S19-S26, 2002
- 146. Burgess AW. EGFR family: structure physiology signalling and therapeutic targets. Growth Factors 26, pp. 263-274, 2008
- 147. Weickert CS, Webster MJ, Colvin SM, Herman MM, Hyde TM, Weinberger DR and Kleinman JE. Localization of epidermal growth factor receptors and putative neuroblasts in human subependymal zone. *J. Comp Neurol.* 423, pp. 359-372, 2000

- 148. Aguirre A, Rubio ME and Gallo V. Notch and EGFR pathway interaction regulates neural stem cell number and self-renewal. *Nature* 467, pp. 323-327, 2010
- 149. Caric D, Raphael H, Viti J, Feathers A, Wancio D and Lillien L. EGFRs mediate chemotactic migration in the developing telencephalon. *Development* 128, pp. 4203-4216, 2001
- 150. Lillien L and Raphael H. BMP and FGF regulate the development of EGF-responsive neural progenitor cells. *Development* 127, pp. 4993-5005, 2000
- 151. Burrows RC, Wancio D, Levitt P and Lillien L. Response diversity and the timing of progenitor cell maturation are regulated by developmental changes in EGFR expression in the cortex. *Neuron* 19, pp. 251-267, 1997
- 152. Ayuso-Sacido A, Moliterno JA, Kratovac S, Kapoor GS, O'Rourke DM, Holland EC, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Roy NS and Boockvar JA. Activated EGFR signaling increases proliferation, survival, and migration and blocks neuronal differentiation in post-natal neural stem cells. *J. Neurooncol.* 97, pp. 323-337, 2010
- 153. Boockvar JA, Kapitonov D, Kapoor G, Schouten J, Counelis GJ, Bogler O, Snyder EY, McIntosh TK and O'Rourke DM. Constitutive EGFR signaling confers a motile phenotype to neural stem cells. *Mol. Cell Neurosci.* 24, pp. 1116-1130, 2003
- 154. Mazzoleni S, Politi LS, Pala M, Cominelli M, Franzin A, Sergi SL, Falini A, De PM, Bulfone A, Poliani PL and Galli R. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression identifies functionally and molecularly distinct tumor-initiating cells in human glioblastoma multiforme and is required for gliomagenesis. *Cancer Res.* 70, pp. 7500-7513, 2010
- 155. Eimer S, Dugay F, Airiau K, Avril T, Quillien V, Belaud-Rotureau MA and Belloc F. Cyclopamine cooperates with EGFR inhibition to deplete stem-like cancer cells in glioblastoma-derived spheroid cultures. *Neuro. Oncol.* 14, pp. 1441-1451, 2012
- 156. Eyler CE, Foo WC, LaFiura KM, McLendon RE, Hjelmeland AB and Rich JN. Brain cancer stem cells display preferential sensitivity to Akt inhibition. *Stem Cells* 26, pp. 3027-3036, 2008
- 157. Schlessinger J. Signal transduction by allosteric receptor oligomerization. Trends Biochem. Sci. 13, pp. 443-447, 1988
- 158. Stamos J, Sliwkowski MX and Eigenbrot C. Structure of the epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain alone and in complex with a 4-anilinoquinazoline inhibitor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, pp. 46265-46272, 2002
- 159. Zhang X, Gureasko J, Shen K, Cole PA and Kuriyan J. An allosteric mechanism for activation of the kinase domain of epidermal growth factor receptor. *Cell* 125, pp. 1137-1149, 2006
- 160. Jiang G and Hunter T. Receptor signaling: when dimerization is not enough. Curr. Biol. 9, pp. R568-R571, 1999
- 161. Nedergaard MK, Hedegaard CJ and Poulsen HS. Targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor in solid tumor malignancies. *BioDrugs.* 26, pp. 83-99, 2012
- 162. Lemmon MA and Schlessinger J. Regulation of signal transduction and signal diversity by receptor oligomerization. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19, pp. 459-463, 1994
- 163. Yarden Y and Sliwkowski MX. Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2, pp. 127-137, 2001
- 164. Kapoor GS and O'Rourke DM. Receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in gliomagenesis: pathobiology and therapeutic approaches. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 2, pp. 330-342, 2003
- 165. Molecular Cell Biology. W. H. Freeman and Company. New York, 2004.
- 166. Arteaga CL. Epidermal growth factor receptor dependence in human tumors: more than just expression? *Oncologist.* 7 Suppl 4, pp. 31-39, 2002
- 167. Ekstrand AJ, James CD, Cavenee WK, Seliger B, Pettersson RF and Collins VP. Genes for epidermal growth factor receptor, transforming growth factor alpha, and epidermal growth factor and their expression in human gliomas in vivo. *Cancer Res.* 51, pp. 2164-2172, 1991

- 168. Reardon DA and Wen PY. Therapeutic advances in the treatment of glioblastoma: rationale and potential role of targeted agents. *Oncologist.* 11, pp. 152-164, 2006
- 169. Ekstrand AJ, Sugawa N, James CD and Collins VP. Amplified and rearranged epidermal growth factor receptor genes in human glioblastomas reveal deletions of sequences encoding portions of the N- and/or C-terminal tails. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 89, pp. 4309-4313, 1992
- 170. Huang PH, Xu AM and White FM. Oncogenic EGFR signaling networks in glioma. Sci. Signal. 2, pp. re6, 2009
- 171. Frederick L, Wang XY, Eley G and James CD. Diversity and frequency of epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in human glioblastomas. *Cancer Res.* 60, pp. 1383-1387, 2000
- 172. Prigent SA, Nagane M, Lin H, Huvar I, Boss GR, Feramisco JR, Cavenee WK and Huang HS. Enhanced tumorigenic behavior of glioblastoma cells expressing a truncated epidermal growth factor receptor is mediated through the Ras-Shc-Grb2 pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, pp. 25639-25645, 1996
- 173. Li B, Yuan M, Kim IA, Chang CM, Bernhard EJ and Shu HK. Mutant epidermal growth factor receptor displays increased signaling through the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/AKT pathway and promotes radioresistance in cells of astrocytic origin. Oncogene 23, pp. 4594-4602, 2004
- 174. Nagane M, Lin H, Cavenee WK and Huang HJ. Aberrant receptor signaling in human malignant gliomas: mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *Cancer Lett.* 162 Suppl, pp. S17-S21, 2001
- 175. Moscatello DK, Holgado-Madruga M, Emlet DR, Montgomery RB and Wong AJ. Constitutive activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by a naturally occurring mutant epidermal growth factor receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, pp. 200-206, 1998
- 176. Aldape KD, Ballman K, Furth A, Buckner JC, Giannini C, Burger PC, Scheithauer BW, Jenkins RB and James CD. Immunohistochemical detection of EGFRvIII in high malignancy grade astrocytomas and evaluation of prognostic significance. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 63, pp. 700-707, 2004
- 177. Guha A, Feldkamp MM, Lau N, Boss G and Pawson A. Proliferation of human malignant astrocytomas is dependent on Ras activation. *Oncogene* 15, pp. 2755-2765, 1997
- 178. Lymbouridou R, Soufla G, Chatzinikola AM, Vakis A and Spandidos DA. Down-regulation of K-ras and H-ras in human brain gliomas. *Eur. J. Cancer* 45, pp. 1294-1303, 2009
- 179. Knobbe CB, Reifenberger J and Reifenberger G. Mutation analysis of the Ras pathway genes NRAS, HRAS, KRAS and BRAF in glioblastomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* 108, pp. 467-470, 2004
- 180. Gallia GL, Rand V, Siu IM, Eberhart CG, James CD, Marie SK, Oba-Shinjo SM, Carlotti CG, Caballero OL, Simpson AJ, Brock MV, Massion PP, Carson BS, Sr. and Riggins GJ. PIK3CA gene mutations in pediatric and adult glioblastoma multiforme. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 4, pp. 709-714, 2006
- 181. Huang CH, Mandelker D, Schmidt-Kittler O, Samuels Y, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Gabelli SB and Amzel LM. The structure of a human p110alpha/p85alpha complex elucidates the effects of oncogenic PI3Kalpha mutations. *Science* 318, pp. 1744-1748, 2007
- 182. Baeza N, Weller M, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P and Ohgaki H. PTEN methylation and expression in glioblastomas. Acta Neuropathol. 106, pp. 479-485, 2003
- 183. Zhou YH, Tan F, Hess KR and Yung WK. The expression of PAX6, PTEN, vascular endothelial growth factor, and epidermal growth factor receptor in gliomas: relationship to tumor grade and survival. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 9, pp. 3369-3375, 2003
- 184. Karpel-Massler G, Schmidt U, Unterberg A and Halatsch ME. Therapeutic inhibition of the epidermal growth factor receptor in high-grade gliomas: where do we stand? *Mol. Cancer Res.* 7, pp. 1000-1012, 2009

- 185. Rich JN, Reardon DA, Peery T, Dowell JM, Quinn JA, Penne KL, Wikstrand CJ, Van Duyn LB, Dancey JE, McLendon RE, Kao JC, Stenzel TT, Ahmed Rasheed BK, Tourt-Uhlig SE, Herndon JE, Vredenburgh JJ, Sampson JH, Friedman AH, Bigner DD and Friedman HS. Phase II trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 22, pp. 133-142, 2004
- 186. Pedersen MW, Pedersen N, Ottesen LH and Poulsen HS. Differential response to gefitinib of cells expressing normal EGFR and the mutant EGFRvIII. Br. J. Cancer 93, pp. 915-923, 2005
- 187. Haas-Kogan DA, Prados MD, Tihan T, Eberhard DA, Jelluma N, Arvold ND, Baumber R, Lamborn KR, Kapadia A, Malec M, Berger MS and Stokoe D. Epidermal growth factor receptor, protein kinase B/Akt, and glioma response to erlotinib. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 97, pp. 880-887, 2005
- 188. Haas-Kogan DA, Prados MD, Lamborn KR, Tihan T, Berger MS and Stokoe D. Biomarkers to predict response to epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors. *Cell Cycle* 4, pp. 1369-1372, 2005
- 189. Hoogenboom HR, Raus JC and Volckaert G. Cloning and expression of a chimeric antibody directed against the human transferrin receptor. *J. Immunol.* 144, pp. 3211-3217, 1990
- 190. Goldstein NI, Prewett M, Zuklys K, Rockwell P and Mendelsohn J. Biological efficacy of a chimeric antibody to the epidermal growth factor receptor in a human tumor xenograft model. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 1, pp. 1311-1318, 1995
- 191. Li S, Schmitz KR, Jeffrey PD, Wiltzius JJ, Kussie P and Ferguson KM. Structural basis for inhibition of the epidermal growth factor receptor by cetuximab. *Cancer Cell* 7, pp. 301-311, 2005
- 192. Jutten B, Dubois L, Li Y, Aerts H, Wouters BG, Lambin P, Theys J and Lammering G. Binding of cetuximab to the EGFRvIII deletion mutant and its biological consequences in malignant glioma cells. *Radiother. Oncol.* 92, pp. 393-398, 2009
- 193. Fukai J, Nishio K, Itakura T and Koizumi F. Antitumor activity of cetuximab against malignant glioma cells overexpressing EGFR deletion mutant variant III. *Cancer Sci.* 99, pp. 2062-2069, 2008
- 194. Patel D, Lahiji A, Patel S, Franklin M, Jimenez X, Hicklin DJ and Kang X. Monoclonal antibody cetuximab binds to and downregulates constitutively activated epidermal growth factor receptor vIII on the cell surface. *Anticancer Res.* 27, pp. 3355-3366, 2007
- 195. Yung WK, Albright RE, Olson J, Fredericks R, Fink K, Prados MD, Brada M, Spence A, Hohl RJ, Shapiro W, Glantz M, Greenberg H, Selker RG, Vick NA, Rampling R, Friedman H, Phillips P, Bruner J, Yue N, Osoba D, Zaknoen S and Levin VA. A phase II study of temozolomide vs. procarbazine in patients with glioblastoma multiforme at first relapse. *Br. J. Cancer* 83, pp. 588-593, 2000
- 196. Wong ET, Hess KR, Gleason MJ, Jaeckle KA, Kyritsis AP, Prados MD, Levin VA and Yung WK. Outcomes and prognostic factors in recurrent glioma patients enrolled onto phase II clinical trials. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 17, pp. 2572-2578, 1999
- 197. Hasselbalch B, Lassen U, Hansen S, Holmberg M, Sorensen M, Kosteljanetz M, Broholm H, Stockhausen MT and Poulsen HS. Cetuximab, bevacizumab, and irinotecan for patients with primary glioblastoma and progression after radiation therapy and temozolomide: a phase II trial. *Neuro. Oncol.* 12, pp. 508-516, 2010
- 198. Eller JL, Longo SL, Hicklin DJ and Canute GW. Activity of anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody C225 against glioblastoma multiforme. *Neurosurgery* 51, pp. 1005-1013, 2002
- 199. Eller JL, Longo SL, Kyle MM, Bassano D, Hicklin DJ and Canute GW. Anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody cetuximab augments radiation effects in glioblastoma multiforme in vitro and in vivo. *Neurosurgery* 56, pp. 155-162, 2005
- 200. Combs SE, Schulz-Ertner D, Roth W, Herold-Mende C, Debus J and Weber KJ. In vitro responsiveness of glioma cell lines to multimodality treatment with radiotherapy, temozolomide, and epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition with cetuximab. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 68, pp. 873-882, 2007
- 201. Hasselbalch B, Lassen U, Poulsen HS and Stockhausen MT. Cetuximab insufficiently inhibits glioma cell growth due to persistent EGFR downstream signaling. *Cancer Invest* 28, pp. 775-787, 2010

- 202. Wachsberger PR, Lawrence RY, Liu Y, Rice B, Daskalakis C and Dicker AP. Epidermal growth factor receptor mutation status and rad51 determine the response of glioblastoma to multimodality therapy with cetuximab, temozolomide, and radiation. *Front Oncol.* 3, pp. 13, 2013
- 203. McDermott U, Sharma SV, Dowell L, Greninger P, Montagut C, Lamb J, Archibald H, Raudales R, Tam A, Lee D, Rothenberg SM, Supko JG, Sordella R, Ulkus LE, lafrate AJ, Maheswaran S, Njauw CN, Tsao H, Drew L, Hanke JH, Ma XJ, Erlander MG, Gray NS, Haber DA and Settleman J. Identification of genotype-correlated sensitivity to selective kinase inhibitors by using high-throughput tumor cell line profiling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 104, pp. 19936-19941, 2007
- 204. T.H.Morgan. The theory of the gene. The American Naturalist 51, pp. 513-544, 1917
- 205. Notch Signaling in Embryology and Cancer. Ed.: Reichrath J and Reichrath S. Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media, LLC. New York, USA, 2012.
- 206. Androutsellis-Theotokis A, Leker RR, Soldner F, Hoeppner DJ, Ravin R, Poser SW, Rueger MA, Bae SK, Kittappa R and McKay RD. Notch signalling regulates stem cell numbers in vitro and in vivo. *Nature* 442, pp. 823-826, 2006
- 207. Imayoshi I, Sakamoto M, Yamaguchi M, Mori K and Kageyama R. Essential roles of Notch signaling in maintenance of neural stem cells in developing and adult brains. *J. Neurosci.* 30, pp. 3489-3498, 2010
- Margareto J, Leis O, Larrarte E, Idoate MA, Carrasco A and Lafuente JV. Gene expression profiling of human gliomas reveals differences between GBM and LGA related to energy metabolism and notch signaling pathways. J. Mol. Neurosci. 32, pp. 53-63, 2007
- 209. Kanamori M, Kawaguchi T, Nigro JM, Feuerstein BG, Berger MS, Miele L and Pieper RO. Contribution of Notch signaling activation to human glioblastoma multiforme. *J. Neurosurg.* 106, pp. 417-427, 2007
- 210. Casalbore P, Budoni M, Ricci-Vitiani L, Cenciarelli C, Petrucci G, Milazzo L, Montano N, Tabolacci E, Maira G, Larocca LM and Pallini R. Tumorigenic potential of olfactory bulb-derived human adult neural stem cells associates with activation of TERT and NOTCH1. *PLoS. ONE.* 4, pp. e4434, 2009
- 211. Xu P, Yu S, Jiang R, Kang C, Wang G, Jiang H and Pu P. Differential expression of Notch family members in astrocytomas and medulloblastomas. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* 15, pp. 703-710, 2009
- 212. Lasky JL and Wu H. Notch signaling, brain development, and human disease. Pediatr. Res. 57, pp. 104R-109R, 2005
- 213. Blaumueller CM, Qi H, Zagouras P and Artavanis-Tsakonas S. Intracellular cleavage of Notch leads to a heterodimeric receptor on the plasma membrane. *Cell* 90, pp. 281-291, 1997
- 214. Schroeter EH, Kisslinger JA and Kopan R. Notch-1 signalling requires ligand-induced proteolytic release of intracellular domain. *Nature* 393, pp. 382-386, 1998
- 215. Brou C, Logeat F, Gupta N, Bessia C, LeBail O, Doedens JR, Cumano A, Roux P, Black RA and Israel A. A novel proteolytic cleavage involved in Notch signaling: the role of the disintegrin-metalloprotease TACE. *Mol. Cell* 5, pp. 207-216, 2000
- 216. Mumm JS and Kopan R. Notch signaling: from the outside in. Dev. Biol. 228, pp. 151-165, 2000
- 217. Kurooka H and Honjo T. Functional interaction between the mouse notch1 intracellular region and histone acetyltransferases PCAF and GCN5. J. Biol. Chem. 275, pp. 17211-17220, 2000
- 218. Leong KG and Karsan A. Recent insights into the role of Notch signaling in tumorigenesis. Blood 107, pp. 2223-2233, 2006
- 219. Kadesch T. Notch signaling: the demise of elegant simplicity. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 14, pp. 506-512, 2004
- 220. Waltzer L, Logeat F, Brou C, Israel A, Sergeant A and Manet E. The human J kappa recombination signal sequence binding protein (RBP-J kappa) targets the Epstein-Barr virus EBNA2 protein to its DNA responsive elements. *EMBO J.* 13, pp. 5633-5638, 1994

- 221. Tun T, Hamaguchi Y, Matsunami N, Furukawa T, Honjo T and Kawaichi M. Recognition sequence of a highly conserved DNA binding protein RBP-J kappa. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22, pp. 965-971, 1994
- 222. Katoh M and Katoh M. Integrative genomic analyses on HES/HEY family: Notch-independent HES1, HES3 transcription in undifferentiated ES cells, and Notch-dependent HES1, HES5, HEY1, HEY2, HEYL transcription in fetal tissues, adult tissues, or cancer. *Int. J. Oncol.* 31, pp. 461-466, 2007
- 223. Ge W, Martinowich K, Wu X, He F, Miyamoto A, Fan G, Weinmaster G and Sun YE. Notch signaling promotes astrogliogenesis via direct CSL-mediated glial gene activation. J. Neurosci. Res. 69, pp. 848-860, 2002
- 224. Mizutani K, Yoon K, Dang L, Tokunaga A and Gaiano N. Differential Notch signalling distinguishes neural stem cells from intermediate progenitors. *Nature* 449, pp. 351-355, 2007
- 225. Martinez AA, Zecchini V and Brennan K. CSL-independent Notch signalling: a checkpoint in cell fate decisions during development? *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 12, pp. 524-533, 2002
- 226. Ishibashi M, Ang SL, Shiota K, Nakanishi S, Kageyama R and Guillemot F. Targeted disruption of mammalian hairy and Enhancer of split homolog-1 (HES-1) leads to up-regulation of neural helix-loop-helix factors, premature neurogenesis, and severe neural tube defects. *Genes Dev.* 9, pp. 3136-3148, 1995
- 227. Kageyama R, Ohtsuka T, Hatakeyama J and Ohsawa R. Roles of bHLH genes in neural stem cell differentiation. *Exp. Cell Res.* 306, pp. 343-348, 2005
- 228. Imura T, Kornblum HI and Sofroniew MV. The predominant neural stem cell isolated from postnatal and adult forebrain but not early embryonic forebrain expresses GFAP. *J. Neurosci.* 23, pp. 2824-2832, 2003
- 229. Imura T, Nakano I, Kornblum HI and Sofroniew MV. Phenotypic and functional heterogeneity of GFAP-expressing cells in vitro: differential expression of LeX/CD15 by GFAP-expressing multipotent neural stem cells and non-neurogenic astrocytes. *Glia* 53, pp. 277-293, 2006
- 230. Shih AH and Holland EC. Notch signaling enhances nestin expression in gliomas. Neoplasia. 8, pp. 1072-1082, 2006
- 231. Wang Z, Zhang Y, Li Y, Banerjee S, Liao J and Sarkar FH. Down-regulation of Notch-1 contributes to cell growth inhibition and apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 5, pp. 483-493, 2006
- 232. Guo D, Ye J, Dai J, Li L, Chen F, Ma D and Ji C. Notch-1 regulates Akt signaling pathway and the expression of cell cycle regulatory proteins cyclin D1, CDK2 and p21 in T-ALL cell lines. *Leuk. Res.* 33, pp. 678-685, 2009
- 233. Cohen B, Shimizu M, Izrailit J, Ng NF, Buchman Y, Pan JG, Dering J and Reedijk M. Cyclin D1 is a direct target of JAG1mediated Notch signaling in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 123, pp. 113-124, 2010
- 234. Poulson DF. Chromosomal Deficiencies and the Embryonic Development of Drosophila Melanogaster. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A 23, pp. 133-137, 1937
- 235. Beatus P and Lendahl U. Notch and neurogenesis. J. Neurosci. Res. 54, pp. 125-136, 1998
- 236. Bettenhausen B, Hrabe de AM, Simon D, Guenet JL and Gossler A. Transient and restricted expression during mouse embryogenesis of Dll1, a murine gene closely related to Drosophila Delta. *Development* 121, pp. 2407-2418, 1995
- 237. Henrique D, Adam J, Myat A, Chitnis A, Lewis J and Ish-Horowicz D. Expression of a Delta homologue in prospective neurons in the chick. *Nature* 375, pp. 787-790, 1995
- 238. Lewis J. Notch signalling and the control of cell fate choices in vertebrates. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 9, pp. 583-589, 1998
- 239. de la Pompa JL, Wakeham A, Correia KM, Samper E, Brown S, Aguilera RJ, Nakano T, Honjo T, Mak TW, Rossant J and Conlon RA. Conservation of the Notch signalling pathway in mammalian neurogenesis. *Development* 124, pp. 1139-1148, 1997
- 240. Chitnis A, Henrique D, Lewis J, Ish-Horowicz D and Kintner C. Primary neurogenesis in Xenopus embryos regulated by a homologue of the Drosophila neurogenic gene Delta. *Nature* 375, pp. 761-766, 1995

- 241. Henrique D, Hirsinger E, Adam J, Le R, I, Pourquie O, Ish-Horowicz D and Lewis J. Maintenance of neuroepithelial progenitor cells by Delta-Notch signalling in the embryonic chick retina. *Curr. Biol.* 7, pp. 661-670, 1997
- 242. Swiatek PJ, Lindsell CE, del Amo FF, Weinmaster G and Gridley T. Notch1 is essential for postimplantation development in mice. *Genes Dev.* 8, pp. 707-719, 1994
- 243. Ishibashi M, Moriyoshi K, Sasai Y, Shiota K, Nakanishi S and Kageyama R. Persistent expression of helix-loop-helix factor HES-1 prevents mammalian neural differentiation in the central nervous system. *EMBO J.* 13, pp. 1799-1805, 1994
- 244. Castella P, Wagner JA and Caudy M. Regulation of hippocampal neuronal differentiation by the basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors HES-1 and MASH-1. J. Neurosci. Res. 56, pp. 229-240, 1999
- 245. Ohtsuka T, Ishibashi M, Gradwohl G, Nakanishi S, Guillemot F and Kageyama R. Hes1 and Hes5 as notch effectors in mammalian neuronal differentiation. *EMBO J.* 18, pp. 2196-2207, 1999
- 246. Ohtsuka T, Sakamoto M, Guillemot F and Kageyama R. Roles of the basic helix-loop-helix genes Hes1 and Hes5 in expansion of neural stem cells of the developing brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, pp. 30467-30474, 2001
- 247. Sakamoto M, Hirata H, Ohtsuka T, Bessho Y and Kageyama R. The basic helix-loop-helix genes Hesr1/Hey1 and Hesr2/Hey2 regulate maintenance of neural precursor cells in the brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, pp. 44808-44815, 2003
- 248. Sommer L, Shah N, Rao M and Anderson DJ. The cellular function of MASH1 in autonomic neurogenesis. *Neuron* 15, pp. 1245-1258, 1995
- 249. Hammerle B and Tejedor FJ. A novel function of DELTA-NOTCH signalling mediates the transition from proliferation to neurogenesis in neural progenitor cells. *PLoS. ONE.* 2, pp. e1169, 2007
- 250. Radtke F and Raj K. The role of Notch in tumorigenesis: oncogene or tumour suppressor? *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 3, pp. 756-767, 2003
- 251. Tanigaki K, Nogaki F, Takahashi J, Tashiro K, Kurooka H and Honjo T. Notch1 and Notch3 instructively restrict bFGFresponsive multipotent neural progenitor cells to an astroglial fate. *Neuron* 29, pp. 45-55, 2001
- 252. Wang S, Sdrulla AD, diSibio G, Bush G, Nofziger D, Hicks C, Weinmaster G and Barres BA. Notch receptor activation inhibits oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Neuron* 21, pp. 63-75, 1998
- 253. Nye JS, Kopan R and Axel R. An activated Notch suppresses neurogenesis and myogenesis but not gliogenesis in mammalian cells. *Development* 120, pp. 2421-2430, 1994
- 254. Morrison SJ, Perez SE, Qiao Z, Verdi JM, Hicks C, Weinmaster G and Anderson DJ. Transient Notch activation initiates an irreversible switch from neurogenesis to gliogenesis by neural crest stem cells. *Cell* 101, pp. 499-510, 2000
- 255. Gaiano N, Nye JS and Fishell G. Radial glial identity is promoted by Notch1 signaling in the murine forebrain. *Neuron* 26, pp. 395-404, 2000
- 256. Chambers CB, Peng Y, Nguyen H, Gaiano N, Fishell G and Nye JS. Spatiotemporal selectivity of response to Notch1 signals in mammalian forebrain precursors. *Development* 128, pp. 689-702, 2001
- 257. Grandbarbe L, Bouissac J, Rand M, Hrabe de AM, rtavanis-Tsakonas S and Mohier E. Delta-Notch signaling controls the generation of neurons/glia from neural stem cells in a stepwise process. *Development* 130, pp. 1391-1402, 2003
- 258. Gaiano N and Fishell G. The role of notch in promoting glial and neural stem cell fates. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 25, pp. 471-490, 2002
- 259. Ellisen LW, Bird J, West DC, Soreng AL, Reynolds TC, Smith SD and Sklar J. TAN-1, the human homolog of the Drosophila notch gene, is broken by chromosomal translocations in T lymphoblastic neoplasms. *Cell* 66, pp. 649-661, 1991

- 260. Boulay JL, Miserez AR, Zweifel C, Sivasankaran B, Kana V, Ghaffari A, Luyken C, Sabel M, Zerrouqi A, Wasner M, Van ME, Tolnay M, Reifenberger G and Merlo A. Loss of NOTCH2 positively predicts survival in subgroups of human glial brain tumors. *PLoS. ONE.* 2, pp. e576, 2007
- 261. Zhang XP, Zheng G, Zou L, Liu HL, Hou LH, Zhou P, Yin DD, Zheng QJ, Liang L, Zhang SZ, Feng L, Yao LB, Yang AG, Han H and Chen JY. Notch activation promotes cell proliferation and the formation of neural stem cell-like colonies in human glioma cells. *Mol. Cell Biochem.* 307, pp. 101-108, 2008
- 262. Purow B, Sundaresan TK, Burdick MJ, Kefas B, Comeau L, Hawkinson M, Su Q, Kotliarov Y, Lee J, Zhang W and Fine HA. Notch-1 Regulates Transcription of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Through p53. *Carcinogenesis*2008
- 263. Hulleman E, Quarto M, Vernell R, Masserdotti G, Colli E, Kros JM, Levi D, Gaetani P, Tunici P, Finocchiaro G, Rodriguez YB, Capra M and Helin K. A role for the transcription factor HEY1 in glioblastoma. *J. Cell Mol. Med*. 2008
- 264. Purow BW, Haque RM, Noel MW, Su Q, Burdick MJ, Lee J, Sundaresan T, Pastorino S, Park JK, Mikolaenko I, Maric D, Eberhart CG and Fine HA. Expression of Notch-1 and its ligands, Delta-like-1 and Jagged-1, is critical for glioma cell survival and proliferation. *Cancer Res.* 65, pp. 2353-2363, 2005
- 265. Yin D, Xie D, Sakajiri S, Miller CW, Zhu H, Popoviciu ML, Said JW, Black KL and Koeffler HP. DLK1: increased expression in gliomas and associated with oncogenic activities. *Oncogene* 25, pp. 1852-1861, 2006
- 266. Bray SJ, Takada S, Harrison E, Shen SC and Ferguson-Smith AC. The atypical mammalian ligand Delta-like homologue 1 (Dlk1) can regulate Notch signalling in Drosophila. *BMC. Dev. Biol.* 8, pp. 11, 2008
- 267. Hu YY, Zheng MH, Cheng G, Li L, Liang L, Gao F, Wei YN, Fu LA and Han H. Notch signaling contributes to the maintenance of both normal neural stem cells and patient-derived glioma stem cells. *BMC. Cancer* 11, pp. 82, 2011
- 268. Wang J, Wang C, Meng Q, Li S, Sun X, Bo Y and Yao W. siRNA targeting Notch-1 decreases glioma stem cell proliferation and tumor growth. *Mol. Biol. Rep*.2011
- 269. Park DM, Jung J, Masjkur J, Makrogkikas S, Ebermann D, Saha S, Rogliano R, Paolillo N, Pacioni S, McKay RD, Poser S and Androutsellis-Theotokis A. Hes3 regulates cell number in cultures from glioblastoma multiforme with stem cell characteristics. *Sci. Rep.* 3, pp. 1095, 2013
- 270. Fan X, Matsui W, Khaki L, Stearns D, Chun J, Li YM and Eberhart CG. Notch pathway inhibition depletes stem-like cells and blocks engraftment in embryonal brain tumors. *Cancer Res.* 66, pp. 7445-7452, 2006
- 271. Wang J, Wakeman TP, Lathia JD, Hjelmeland AB, Wang XF, White RR, Rich JN and Sullenger BA. Notch promotes radioresistance of glioma stem cells. *Stem Cells* 28, pp. 17-28, 2010
- 272. Li JL, Sainson RC, Oon CE, Turley H, Leek R, Sheldon H, Bridges E, Shi W, Snell C, Bowden ET, Wu H, Chowdhury PS, Russell AJ, Montgomery CP, Poulsom R and Harris AL. DLL4-Notch signaling mediates tumor resistance to anti-VEGF therapy in vivo. *Cancer Res.* 71, pp. 6073-6083, 2011
- 273. Hindy N, Keyvani K, Pagenstecher A, Dammann P, Sandalcioclu IE, Sure U and Zhu Y. Activation status of Dll4- Notch signaling os correlated with angiogenic and clinical parameters in primary glioblastoma multiforme. *Unpuplished data*2013
- 274. Clement V, Dutoit V, Marino D, Dietrich PY and Radovanovic I. Limits of CD133 as a marker of glioma self-renewing cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 125, pp. 244-248, 2009
- 275. Kondo T, Setoguchi T and Taga T. Persistence of a small subpopulation of cancer stem-like cells in the C6 glioma cell line. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 101, pp. 781-786, 2004
- 276. Patrawala L, Calhoun T, Schneider-Broussard R, Zhou J, Claypool K and Tang DG. Side population is enriched in tumorigenic, stem-like cancer cells, whereas ABCG2+ and A. *Cancer Res.* 65, pp. 6207-6219, 2005
- 277. Golebiewska A, Brons NH, Bjerkvig R and Niclou SP. Critical appraisal of the side population assay in stem cell and cancer stem cell research. *Cell Stem Cell* 8, pp. 136-147, 2011

- 278. Golebiewska A, Bougnaud S, Stieber D, Brons NH, Vallar L, Hertel F, Klink B, Schrock E, Bjerkvig R and Niclou SP. Side population in human glioblastoma is non-tumorigenic and characterizes brain endothelial cells. *Brain*2013
- 279. Wu A, Oh S, Wiesner SM, Ericson K, Chen L, Hall WA, Champoux PE, Low WC and Ohlfest JR. Persistence of CD133+ cells in human and mouse glioma cell lines: detailed characterization of GL261 glioma cells with cancer stem cell-like properties. *Stem Cells Dev.* 17, pp. 173-184, 2008
- 280. Ishiwata T, Matsuda Y and Naito Z. Nestin in gastrointestinal and other cancers: effects on cells and tumor angiogenesis. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 17, pp. 409-418, 2011
- 281. Matsuda Y, Kure S and Ishiwata T. Nestin and other putative cancer stem cell markers in pancreatic cancer. *Med. Mol. Morphol.* 45, pp. 59-65, 2012
- 282. Soeda A, Inagaki A, Oka N, Ikegame Y, Aoki H, Yoshimura SI, Nakashima S, Kunisada T and Iwama T. Epidermal growth factor plays a crucial role in mitogenic regulation of human brain tumor stem cells. J. Biol. Chem. 2008
- 283. Piccirillo SG, Combi R, Cajola L, Patrizi A, Redaelli S, Bentivegna A, Baronchelli S, Maira G, Pollo B, Mangiola A, Dimeco F, Dalpra L and Vescovi AL. Distinct pools of cancer stem-like cells coexist within human glioblastomas and display different tumorigenicity and independent genomic evolution. *Oncogene* 28, pp. 1807-1811, 2009
- 284. Persano L, Rampazzo E, Della PA, Pistollato F and Basso G. The three-layer concentric model of glioblastoma: cancer stem cells, microenvironmental regulation, and therapeutic implications. *ScientificWorldJournal.* 11, pp. 1829-1841, 2011
- 285. Uddin S and Berman S. Neurological manifistations og glioblastoma multiforme differential diagnoses. Available at: <u>http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1156220-differential</u>. Accessed: 22-3-2013. *Medscape*, updated: 2012.
- 286. Gautam P, Nair SC, Gupta MK, Sharma R, Polisetty RV, Uppin MS, Sundaram C, Puligopu AK, Ankathi P, Purohit AK, Chandak GR, Harsha HC and Sirdeshmukh R. Proteins with altered levels in plasma from glioblastoma patients as revealed by iTRAQ-based quantitative proteomic analysis. *PLoS. ONE.* 7, pp. e46153, 2012
- 287. Iwamoto FM, Hottinger AF, Karimi S, Riedel E, Dantis J, Jahdi M, Panageas KS, Lassman AB, Abrey LE, Fleisher M, Deangelis LM, Holland EC and Hormigo A. Serum YKL-40 is a marker of prognosis and disease status in high-grade gliomas. *Neuro. Oncol.* 13, pp. 1244-1251, 2011
- 288. Jung CS, Foerch C, Schanzer A, Heck A, Plate KH, Seifert V, Steinmetz H, Raabe A and Sitzer M. Serum GFAP is a diagnostic marker for glioblastoma multiforme. *Brain* 130, pp. 3336-3341, 2007
- 289. Mukundan S, Holder C and Olson JJ. Neuroradiological assessment of newly diagnosed glioblastoma. J. Neurooncol. 89, pp. 259-269, 2008
- 290. Buckner JC, Brown PD, O'Neill BP, Meyer FB, Wetmore CJ and Uhm JH. Central nervous system tumors. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 82, pp. 1271-1286, 2007
- 291. Given CA, Stevens BS and Lee C. The MRI appearance of tumefactive demyelinating lesions. *AJR Am. J. Roentgenol.* 182, pp. 195-199, 2004
- 292. Smirniotopoulos JG, Murphy FM, Rushing EJ, Rees JH and Schroeder JW. Patterns of contrast enhancement in the brain and meninges. *Radiographics* 27, pp. 525-551, 2007
- 293. Jain RK. Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science 307, pp. 58-62, 2005
- 294. Wen PY, Macdonald DR, Reardon DA, Cloughesy TF, Sorensen AG, Galanis E, Degroot J, Wick W, Gilbert MR, Lassman AB, Tsien C, Mikkelsen T, Wong ET, Chamberlain MC, Stupp R, Lamborn KR, Vogelbaum MA, van den Bent MJ and Chang SM. Updated response assessment criteria for high-grade gliomas: response assessment in neuro-oncology working group. J. Clin. Oncol. 28, pp. 1963-1972, 2010
- 295. D'Souza MM, Sharma R, Tripathi M, Panwar P, Jaimini A and Mondal A. Novel positron emission tomography radiotracers in brain tumor imaging. *Indian J. Radiol. Imaging* 21, pp. 202-208, 2011

- 296. Shinomiya A, Kawai N, Okada M, Miyake K, Nakamura T, Kushida Y, Haba R, Kudomi N, Yamamoto Y, Tokuda M and Tamiya T. Evaluation of 3'-deoxy-3'-[18F]-fluorothymidine (18F-FLT) kinetics correlated with thymidine kinase-1 expression and cell proliferation in newly diagnosed gliomas. *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 40, pp. 175-185, 2013
- 297. Garzia L, Andolfo I, Cusanelli E, Marino N, Petrosino G, De MD, Esposito V, Galeone A, Navas L, Esposito S, Gargiulo S, Fattet S, Donofrio V, Cinalli G, Brunetti A, Vecchio LD, Northcott PA, Delattre O, Taylor MD, Iolascon A and Zollo M. MicroRNA-199b-5p impairs cancer stem cells through negative regulation of HES1 in medulloblastoma. *PLoS. ONE.* 4, pp. e4998, 2009
- 298. Hutterer M, Nowosielski M, Putzer D, Jansen NL, Seiz M, Schocke M, McCoy M, Gobel G, la FC, Virgolini IJ, Trinka E, Jacobs AH and Stockhammer G. [18F]-fluoro-ethyl-L-tyrosine PET: a valuable diagnostic tool in neuro-oncology, but not all that glitters is glioma. *Neuro. Oncol.* 15, pp. 341-351, 2013
- 299. Langen KJ, Hamacher K, Weckesser M, Floeth F, Stoffels G, Bauer D, Coenen HH and Pauleit D. O-(2-[18F]fluoroethyl)-Ltyrosine: uptake mechanisms and clinical applications. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 33, pp. 287-294, 2006
- 300. Romeo A, Naftel RP, Griessenauer CJ, Reed GT, Martin R, Shannon CN, Grabb PA, Tubbs RS and Wellons JC, III. Long-term change in ventricular size following endoscopic third ventriculostomy for hydrocephalus due to tectal plate gliomas. *J. Neurosurg. Pediatr.* 11, pp. 20-25, 2013
- 301. Idbaih A, Aimard J, Boisselier B, Marie Y, Paris S, Criniere E, Carvalho SR, Laigle-Donadey F, Rousseau A, Mokhtari K, Thillet J, Sanson M, Hoang-Xuan K and Delattre JY. Epidermal growth factor receptor extracellular domain mutations in primary glioblastoma. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 35, pp. 208-213, 2009
- 302. Cheung HC, Corley LJ, Fuller GN, McCutcheon IE and Cote GJ. Polypyrimidine tract binding protein and Notch1 are independently re-expressed in glioma. *Mod. Pathol.* 19, pp. 1034-1041, 2006
- 303. Somasundaram K, Reddy SP, Vinnakota K, Britto R, Subbarayan M, Nambiar S, Hebbar A, Samuel C, Shetty M, Sreepathi HK, Santosh V, Hegde AS, Hegde S, Kondaiah P and Rao MR. Upregulation of ASCL1 and inhibition of Notch signaling pathway characterize progressive astrocytoma. *Oncogene* 24, pp. 7073-7083, 2005
- 304. Sanchez-Diaz PC, Burton TL, Burns SC, Hung JY and Penalva LO. Musashi1 modulates cell proliferation genes in the medulloblastoma cell line Daoy. *BMC. Cancer* 8, pp. 280, 2008
- 305. Muto J, Imai T, Ogawa D, Nishimoto Y, Okada Y, Mabuchi Y, Kawase T, Iwanami A, Mischel PS, Saya H, Yoshida K, Matsuzaki Y and Okano H. RNA-binding protein Musashi1 modulates glioma cell growth through the post-transcriptional regulation of Notch and PI3 kinase/Akt signaling pathways. *PLoS. ONE.* 7, pp. e33431, 2012
- 306. Sun J, Gong X, Purow B and Zhao Z. Uncovering MicroRNA and Transcription Factor Mediated Regulatory Networks in Glioblastoma. *PLoS. Comput. Biol.* 8, pp. e1002488, 2012
- 307. Huse JT, Phillips HS and Brennan CW. Molecular subclassification of diffuse gliomas: seeing order in the chaos. *Glia* 59, pp. 1190-1199, 2011
- 308. Griffero F, Daga A, Marubbi D, Capra MC, Melotti A, Pattarozzi A, Gatti M, Bajetto A, Porcile C, Barbieri F, Favoni RE, Lo CM, Zona G, Spaziante R, Florio T and Corte G. Different response of human glioma tumor-initiating cells to EGFR kinase inhibitors. J. Biol. Chem. 2009
- 309. Tian XX, Lam PY, Chen J, Pang JC, To SS, Di-Tomaso E and Ng HK. Antisense epidermal growth factor receptor RNA transfection in human malignant glioma cells leads to inhibition of proliferation and induction of differentiation. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 24, pp. 389-396, 1998
- 310. Laks DR, Masterman-Smith M, Visnyei K, Angenieux B, Orozco NM, Foran I, Yong WH, Vinters HV, Liau LM, Lazareff JA, Mischel PS, Cloughesy TF, Horvath S and Kornblum HI. Neurosphere formation is an independent predictor of clinical outcome in malignant glioma. *Stem Cells* 27, pp. 980-987, 2009
- 311. Marie-Louise Stobbe Olsen. Epidermal growth factor receptor signaling and Notch signaling in glioblastoma multiforme. *Thesis/Dissertation*. Copenhagen, Denmark, 2013.

- 312. Sakamoto K, Ohara O, Takagi M, Takeda S and Katsube K. Intracellular cell-autonomous association of Notch and its ligands: a novel mechanism of Notch signal modification. *Dev. Biol.* 241, pp. 313-326, 2002
- 313. Gentle ME, Rose A, Bugeon L and Dallman MJ. Noncanonical Notch signaling modulates cytokine responses of dendritic cells to inflammatory stimuli. *J. Immunol.* 189, pp. 1274-1284, 2012
- 314. Monticone M, Biollo E, Fabiano A, Fabbi M, Daga A, Romeo F, Maffei M, Melotti A, Giaretti W, Corte G and Castagnola P. z-Leucinyl-leucinyl-norleucinal induces apoptosis of human glioblastoma tumor-initiating cells by proteasome inhibition and mitotic arrest response. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 7, pp. 1822-1834, 2009
- 315. Ying M, Wang S, Sang Y, Sun P, Lal B, Goodwin CR, Guerrero-Cazares H, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Laterra J and Xia S. Regulation of glioblastoma stem cells by retinoic acid: role for Notch pathway inhibition. *Oncogene* 30, pp. 3454-3467, 2011
- 316. Soda Y, Marumoto T, Friedmann-Morvinski D, Soda M, Liu F, Michiue H, Pastorino S, Yang M, Hoffman RM, Kesari S and Verma IM. Transdifferentiation of glioblastoma cells into vascular endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 108, pp. 4274-4280, 2011
- 317. Zhu TS, Costello MA, Talsma CE, Flack CG, Crowley JG, Hamm LL, He X, Hervey-Jumper SL, Heth JA, Muraszko KM, Dimeco F, Vescovi AL and Fan X. Endothelial cells create a stem cell niche in glioblastoma by providing NOTCH ligands that nurture self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* 71, pp. 6061-6072, 2011
- 318. Hovinga KE, Shimizu F, Wang R, Panagiotakos G, Van Der HM, Moayedpardazi H, Correia AS, Soulet D, Major T, Menon J and Tabar V. Inhibition of notch signaling in glioblastoma targets cancer stem cells via an endothelial cell intermediate. *Stem Cells* 28, pp. 1019-1029, 2010
- 319. Noguera-Troise I, Daly C, Papadopoulos NJ, Coetzee S, Boland P, Gale NW, Lin HC, Yancopoulos GD and Thurston G. Blockade of Dll4 inhibits tumour growth by promoting non-productive angiogenesis. *Nature* 444, pp. 1032-1037, 2006
- 320. Sainson RC and Harris AL. Anti-Dll4 therapy: can we block tumour growth by increasing angiogenesis? *Trends Mol. Med.* 13, pp. 389-395, 2007
- 321. Thurston G, Noguera-Troise I and Yancopoulos GD. The Delta paradox: DLL4 blockade leads to more tumour vessels but less tumour growth. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 7, pp. 327-331, 2007
- 322. Gagner JP, Law M, Fischer I, Newcomb EW and Zagzag D. Angiogenesis in gliomas: imaging and experimental therapeutics. *Brain Pathol.* 15, pp. 342-363, 2005
- 323. Katoh M. Networking of WNT, FGF, Notch, BMP, and Hedgehog signaling pathways during carcinogenesis. *Stem Cell Rev.* 3, pp. 30-38, 2007
- 324. Doroquez DB and Rebay I. Signal integration during development: mechanisms of EGFR and Notch pathway function and cross-talk. *Crit Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 41, pp. 339-385, 2006
- 325. Weijzen S, Rizzo P, Braid M, Vaishnav R, Jonkheer SM, Zlobin A, Osborne BA, Gottipati S, Aster JC, Hahn WC, Rudolf M, Siziopikou K, Kast WM and Miele L. Activation of Notch-1 signaling maintains the neoplastic phenotype in human Rastransformed cells. *Nat. Med.* 8, pp. 979-986, 2002
- 326. Fitzgerald K, Harrington A and Leder P. Ras pathway signals are required for notch-mediated oncogenesis. *Oncogene* 19, pp. 4191-4198, 2000
- 327. Yoo AS, Bais C and Greenwald I. Crosstalk between the EGFR and LIN-12/Notch pathways in C. elegans vulval development. *Science* 303, pp. 663-666, 2004
- 328. Miyamoto Y, Maitra A, Ghosh B, Zechner U, Argani P, Iacobuzio-Donahue CA, Sriuranpong V, Iso T, Meszoely IM, Wolfe MS, Hruban RH, Ball DW, Schmid RM and Leach SD. Notch mediates TGF alpha-induced changes in epithelial differentiation during pancreatic tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell* 3, pp. 565-576, 2003
- 329. Stockhausen MT, Sjolund J and Axelson H. Regulation of the Notch target gene Hes-1 by TGFalpha induced Ras/MAPK signaling in human neuroblastoma cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 310, pp. 218-228, 2005

- 330. Zheng Y, Lin L and Zheng Z. TGF-alpha induces upregulation and nuclear translocation of Hes1 in glioma cell. *Cell Biochem. Funct.* 26, pp. 692-700, 2008
- 331. Kefas B, Comeau L, Floyd DH, Seleverstov O, Godlewski J, Schmittgen T, Jiang J, diPierro CG, Li Y, Chiocca EA, Lee J, Fine H, Abounader R, Lawler S and Purow B. The neuronal microRNA miR-326 acts in a feedback loop with notch and has therapeutic potential against brain tumors. *J. Neurosci.* 29, pp. 15161-15168, 2009
- 332. Gilbert CA, Daou MC, Moser RP and Ross AH. Gamma-secretase inhibitors enhance temozolomide treatment of human gliomas by inhibiting neurosphere repopulation and xenograft recurrence. *Cancer Res.* 70, pp. 6870-6879, 2010

Appendix 1a: Glioma gene expression in NB cultures.



Gene expression analysis of KEGG_GLIOMA genes in the 029, 036, 047 and 048 neurosphere cultures. The expression level is relative to the mean expression of the respective gene in the four samples. 029: GBM_CPH029p7, 036: NGBM_CPH036p7, 047: NGBM_CPH047p3, 048: NGBM_CPH048p6. For material and methods, see **MANUSCRIPT IV**.



Appendix 1b: Glioma gene expression in DMSO and DAPT treated cultures.

Gene expression analysis of KEGG_GLIOMA genes in the 029, 036, 047 and 048 neurosphere cultures treated with DAPT or DMSO for control. The expression level is relative to the mean expression of the respective gene in the four samples. 029: GBM_CPH029p7, 036: NGBM_CPH036p7, 047: NGBM_CPH047p3, 048: NGBM_CPH048p6. For material and methods, see MANUSCRIPT IV.

Appendix 2a: Notch pathway gene expression in NB-cultures.



Gene expression analysis of KEGG_NOTCH_SIGNALING_PATHWAY genes in the 029, 036, 047 and 048 neurosphere cultures. The expression level is relative to the mean expression of the respective gene in the four samples. 029: GBM_CPH029p7, 036: NGBM_CPH036p7, 047: NGBM_CPH047p3, 048: NGBM_CPH048p6. For material and methods, see MANUSCRIPT IV.





Gene expression analysis of KEGG_NOTCH_SIGNALING_PATHWAY genes in the 029, 036, 047 and 048 neurosphere cultures treated with DAPT or DMSO for control. The expression level is relative to the mean expression of the respective gene in the four samples. 029: GBM_CPH029p7, 036: NGBM_CPH036p7, 047: NGBM_CPH047p3, 048: NGBM_CPH048p6. For material and methods, see MANUSCRIPT IV.





Gene expression analysis of NERVOUS_SYSTEM_DEVELOPMENT genes in the 029, 036, 047 and 048 neurosphere cultures. The expression level is relative to the mean expression of the respective gene in the four samples. 029: GBM_CPH029p7, 036: NGBM_CPH036p7, 047: NGBM_CPH047p3, 048: NGBM_CPH048p6. For material and methods, see **MANUSCRIPT IV**.

Appendix 4: Bio-luminescence detection of an intracranial xenograft tumor.



Bio-luminescence detection of an intracranial xenograft tumor in two SCID mice. The image is generated six days after intracranial injection of luciferase transfected 048p6 cells, by administrating the substrate luciferin *i.p.* approximately 20 minutes prior to acquisition under gas anesthesia. Image kindly lend from Mette Kjølhede Nedergaard.

Declaration of co-authorship

This declaration concerns the article: Maintenance of EGFR and EGFRvIII expressions in an in vivo and in vitro model of human glioblstoma multiforme.

A part of the thesis: A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme.

Submitted for the defense/obtainment of the PhD degree at the University of Copenhagen.

Name of the PhD student: Karina Kristoffersen

The proportion of the PhD students contribution to the article in question is evaluated from the following scale:

A. Has contributed to the co-operation (0-33%)

B. Has contributed considerably to the co-operation (34-66%)

C. Has predominantly executed the work independently (67-100%)

Declaration regarding specific elements	Extent
(14.)	(A,B,C)
1. Formulation/identification of the scientific problem that from theoretical questions need to be clarified. This includes a condensation of the problem to specific scientific questions that is judged to be answerable via experiments.	A
2. Planning of the experiments and methodology design, including selection of methods and method development.	А
3. Involvement in the experimental work.	В
4. Presentation, interpretation and discussion in a journal article format of the obtained data.	A

Signature of the co-authors:

Date	Name	Title	Signature
18/3-B	Marie-Therésé Stockhausen	MSc, PhD	Attric Hothlowom
14:03.13	Helle Broholm	MD	All
12/3-2013	Mette Villingshøj	MPH	Helle Villingher
15/3-0	Maria Kirchhoff	MSc	Maria Kinddharkosteljanetz
15/3 2019	Tommy Gerdes	MSc	The geographilized neurokirurgi
15	Michael Kosteljanetz	MD, DMSc	LULE VENERAL atd. NK 2092
15/3-2013	Mogens Spang-Thomsen	Professor	Blegdamsvej 9, 2100 København Ø
18/3-20	SHans Skovgaard Poulsen	MD, DMSc	

Signature of the PhD student: Kan Know

Declaration of co-authorship

This declaration concerns the article: Differentiation of human glioblastoma multiforme stem-like cells leads to down regulation of EGFR and EGFRvIII expression and decreased tumorigenic and stem cell potential.

A part of the thesis: A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme.

Submitted for the defense/obtainment of the PhD degree at the University of Copenhagen.

Name of the PhD student: Karina Kristoffersen

The proportion of the PhD students contribution to the article in question is evaluated from the following scale:

- A. Has contributed to the co-operation (0-33%)
- B. Has contributed considerably to the co-operation (34-66%)
- C. Has predominantly executed the work independently (67-100%)

Declaration regarding specific elements (14.)	Extent (A,B,C)
1. Formulation/identification of the scientific problem that from theoretical questions need to be clarified. This includes a condensation of the problem to specific scientific questions that is judged to be answerable via experiments.	A
2. Planning of the experiments and methodology design, including selection of methods and method development.	A
3. Involvement in the experimental work.	A
4. Presentation, interpretation and discussion in a journal article format of the obtained data.	В

Signature of the co-authors:

Date	Name	Title	Signature
18/3-13	Marie-Therésé Stockhausen	MSc, PhD	lumi/mla
12/3/13	Marie-Louise Stobbe Olsen	MSc	Mane Lento SC
18/3/13	Hans Skovgaard Poulsen	MD, DMSc	AL

Kai Kin

Signature of the PhD student:

Declaration of co-authorship

This declaration concerns the article: Level of Notch activation determines the effect on growth and stem cell-like features in glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cultures.

A part of the thesis: A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme.

Submitted for the defense/obtainment of the PhD degree at the University of Copenhagen.

Name of the PhD student: Karina Kristoffersen

The proportion of the PhD students contribution to the article in question is evaluated from the following scale:

- A. Has contributed to the co-operation (0-33%)
- B. Has contributed considerably to the co-operation (34-66%)
- C. Has predominantly executed the work independently (67-100%)

Declaration regarding specific elements (14.)	Extent (A,B,C)
1. Formulation/identification of the scientific problem that from theoretical questions need to be clarified. This includes a condensation of the problem to specific scientific questions that is judged to be answerable via experiments.	C
2. Planning of the experiments and methodology design, including selection of methods and method development.	С
3. Involvement in the experimental work.	C
4. Presentation, interpretation and discussion in a journal article format of the obtained data.	C

Signature of the co-authors:

Date	Name	Title	Signature
12/3-13	Mette Villingshøj	MPH	Hete Villingbei
18/8-13	Hans Skovgaard Poulsen	MD, DMSc	AL
1813-13	Marie-Therésé Stockhausen	MSc, PhD	Mitchham

Ka ...

Signature of the PhD student:
Declaration of co-authorship

This declaration concerns the article: Inhibition of Notch signaling alters the phenotype of orthotopic tumors formed from glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cells but does not hamper intracranial tumor growth.

A part of the thesis: A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme.

Submitted for the defense/obtainment of the PhD degree at the University of Copenhagen.

Name of the PhD student: Karina Kristoffersen

The proportion of the PhD students contribution to the article in question is evaluated from the following scale:

- A. Has contributed to the co-operation (0-33%)
- B. Has contributed considerably to the co-operation (34-66%)
- C. Has predominantly executed the work independently (67-100%)

Declaration regarding specific elements (14.)	Extent (A,B,C)
1. Formulation/identification of the scientific problem that from theoretical questions need to be clarified. This includes a condensation of the problem to specific scientific questions that is judged to be answerable via experiments.	C
2. Planning of the experiments and methodology design, including selection of methods and method development.	С
3. Involvement in the experimental work.	С
4. Presentation, interpretation and discussion in a journal article format of the obtained data.	С

Signature of the co-authors:

Date	Name	Title	Signature
15 3-13	Mette Kjølhede Nedergaard	MD	U.K. Nidogaard
14/3-13	Mette Villingshøj	MPH	Mette Villuleship
14/3-13	Rehannah Borup	MSc	Raigel Bonzol
14.033	Helle Broholm	MD	CL
15/3-13	Andreas Kjær	MD, PhD, DMSc	A >
18 3-13	Hans Skovgaard Poulsen	MD, DMSc	A
18/3-13	Marie-Therésé Stockhausen	MSc, PhD	Umi Anha

Signature of the PhD student:

166

Declaration of co-authorship

This declaration concerns the review article: *The functional role of Notch signaling in human gliomas.*

A part of the thesis: A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme.

Submitted for the defense/obtainment of the PhD degree at the University of Copenhagen.

Name of the PhD student: Karina Kristoffersen

The proportion of the PhD students contribution to the article in question is evaluated from the following scale:

- A. Has contributed to the co-operation (0-33%)
- B. Has contributed considerably to the co-operation (34-66%)
- C. Has predominantly executed the work independently (67-100%)

Declaration regarding specific elements	Extent (A,B,C)
Presentation, interpretation and discussion in a journal article format of the obtained data.	В

Signature of the co-authors:

Date	Name	Title	Signature
18/3-13	Marie-Therésé Stockhausen	MSc, PhD	misile
18/3/13	Hans Skovgaard Poulsen	MD, DMSc	Valt

Kai Ka

Signature of the PhD student:

Declaration of co-authorship

This declaration concerns the Book Chapter: Notch signaling and brain tumors.

A part of the thesis: A functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme.

Submitted for the defense/obtainment of the PhD degree at the University of Copenhagen.

Name of the PhD student: Karina Kristoffersen

The proportion of the PhD students contribution to the article in question is evaluated from the following scale:

- A. Has contributed to the co-operation (0-33%)
- B. Has contributed considerably to the co-operation (34-66%)
- C. Has predominantly executed the work independently (67-100%)

Declaration regarding specific elements	Extent (A,B,C)
Presentation, interpretation and discussion in a journal article format of the obtained data.	

Signature of the co-authors:

Date	Name	Title	Signature
18/3-13	Marie-Therésé Stockhausen	MSc, PhD	Inmit Aula
11/3/17	Hans Skovgaard Poulsen	MD, DMSc	1 Am

.

Signature of the PhD student: ____

PhD Thesis

Karina Kristoffersen, MSc

A Functional study of EGFR and Notch signaling in brain cancer stem-like cells from glioblastoma multiforme